

1973 Assembly Bill 300

Date published:
August 4, 1973

CHAPTER 90 , Laws of 1973
(Vetoed in Part)

AN ACT to amend and revise chapter 20 of the statutes, and to make diverse other changes in the statutes relating to state finances and appropriations constituting the executive budget bill of the 1973 legislature, and making appropriations.

The people of the state of Wisconsin, represented in senate and assembly, do enact as follows:

SECTION 1. 1.025 of the statutes is created to read:

1.025 United States jurisdiction in Adams County. The legislature consents to the conveyance by lease with option to purchase to the United States of the youthful offenders institution and the land on which it is located in the town of New Chester, Adams county, described as follows: The entire section 15, township 16 north, range 7 east of the fourth principal meridian, consisting of 640 acres, and upon the execution of said lease the state grants, cedes and confirms to the United States exclusive legislative jurisdiction over said place and tract, retaining concurrent jurisdiction solely to the extent that all legal process issued under the authority of the state may be served upon persons located on said place and tract. The authority herein granted shall

remain in effect for the duration of said lease and continue in effect in the event title passes to the United States at the termination of said lease.

SECTION 1e. Chapter 11 of the statutes is created to read:

CHAPTER 11
CODE OF ETHICS FOR STATE PUBLIC OFFICIALS

11.01 Declaration of policy. It is declared that high moral and ethical standards among state public officials are essential to the conduct of free government; that the legislature believes that a code of ethics for the guidance of state public officials will help them avoid conflicts of interest in public office, will improve standards of public service and will promote and strengthen the faith and confidence of the people of this state in their state public officials. It is the intent of the legislature that in its operations the board shall protect to the fullest extent possible the rights of individuals affected.

11.02 Definitions. In this chapter:

(1) "Anything of value" means any gift, favor, service or promise of future employment, but does not include reasonable fees and honorariums, actual and necessary expenses authorized under s. 11.09 or the exchange of seasonal, anniversary or customary gifts among relatives and friends.

(2) "Board" means the ethics board.

(3) "Business" means any corporation, partnership, proprietorship, firm, enterprise, franchise, association, organization, self-employed individual or any other legal entity which engages in profit-making activities.

(4) "Candidate for state public office" means any person who files nomination papers and a declaration under s. 8.10 (5), 8.15 (4) (b) or 8.20 (6) for the purpose of appearing on the ballot for election as a state public official, any person nominated for state office in an election through the write-in process and who files a declaration under s. 8.10 (5) or 8.15 (4) (b), or any person who is nominated by the governor for appointment to state public office to serve as a state public official and whose nomination is pending, but the term does not include candidates for the judiciary.

(5) "Department" means any office, department or independent agency created under ch. 14 or 15.

(6) "Immediate family" means any individual related to a state public official or a person appointed by the governor with the advice and consent of the senate as husband, wife or legal dependent.

(7) "Significant fiduciary relationship" means owning or controlling, directly or indirectly, at least 10% or \$5,000 of the outstanding stock of or at least 10% or \$5,000 of any business.

(8) "State public official" means all persons appointed by the governor with the advice and consent of the senate and all persons identified under s. 20.923, except officers and employes of the judiciary, trustees and employes of the investment board and teaching personnel of the university of Wisconsin system.

11.03 Financial disclosure. (1) All state public officials included under s. 20.923 except judicial officials, and all persons appointed by the governor with the advice and consent of the senate shall file the initial statement of economic interests within a time period specified by the board.

(2) Within 21 days after a person becomes a candidate for state public office other than a judicial office, such person shall file a statement of economic interests with the board.

~~(3) The secretary of state, upon receipt of properly completed nomination papers from a candidate for state public office or upon receipt of nomination papers from a write-in candidate for state public office under s. 8.20 (7), and each person who nominates a person to serve as an appointed state public official shall notify the board of the name of each person who becomes a candidate for state public office.~~ Vetoed in Part

(4) No person required to file a statement of economic interests under this section may take the oath of office or receive his salary or compensation until he files such statement of economic interests.

~~(5) Any statement filed or information received under this section shall be confidential except for in camera inspection by any court or prosecuting authority or where otherwise specified by law.~~ Vetoed in Part

(6) Each person required to file a statement under sub. (1) shall file updated statements no later than April 30 of each year.

11.04 Form of statement. (1) The person filing any statement of economic interests required under this chapter shall file the statement on a form prescribed by the board, and shall supply the following information to the board:

(a) The identity of every significant fiduciary relationship as of the date the statement is prepared and offices and directorships, held by him or a member of his immediate family.

(b) The identity and amount of bonds, debentures or debt obligations of a municipal corporation or other corporation in excess of \$5,000 held by him or his immediate family.

(c) The name of any creditor to whom he or a member of his immediate family owes \$3,000 or more, and the amount owed.

(2) The board, during an investigation of a verified complaint, may request the department of revenue to forward copies of state income tax returns and to provide access to appropriate information under s. 71.11 (44) regarding all persons required to file economic interest statements under s. 11.03, for the purpose of implementing this chapter.

11.05 Code of ethics. (1) The legislature hereby reaffirms that a state public official holds his position as a public trust, and any effort to realize personal gain through official conduct is a violation of that trust. This chapter shall not prevent any legislator, state public official or state public employe from accepting other employment or following any pursuit which in no way interferes with the full and faithful discharge of his duties to this state. The legislature further recognizes that in a representative democracy, the representatives are drawn from society and, therefore, cannot and should not be without all personal and economic interest in the decisions and policies of government; citizens who serve as state public officials or state public employes retain their rights as citizens to interests of a personal or economic nature; standards of ethical conduct for state public employes and state public officials need to distinguish between those minor and inconsequential conflicts that are unavoidable in a free society, and those conflicts which are substantial and material; and that state public officials may need to engage in employment, professional or business activities, other than official duties, in order to support their families and to maintain a continuity of professional or business activity,

or may need to maintain investments, which activities or investments do not conflict with the specific provisions of this chapter.

(2) No state public official may use his public position or office to obtain financial gain for himself or his immediate family, or for any business with which he is associated.

(3) No person may offer to give to a state public official or his immediate family, and no state public official or his immediate family may solicit or receive anything of value pursuant to an understanding that such state public official's vote, official actions or judgment would be influenced thereby.

(4) No state public official may use or disclose confidential information gained in the course of or by reason of his official position or activities in any way that could result in financial gain for himself or for any other person.

(5) No state public official may use or attempt to use his public position to influence or gain unlawful benefits, advantages or privileges for himself or others.

(6) No state public official may offer or give to a member or employe of a department, and no member or employe of a department may solicit or accept from any such person, anything of value, while the member or employe is associated with the department.

(7) No state public official and no business with which he has a significant fiduciary relationship may enter into any contract with a department which is to be paid in whole or in part out of state funds unless the contract has been awarded through a process of public notice and competitive bidding under s. 16.75 (1).

(8) No state public official and no business in which a state public official has a 10% or greater interest may enter into a lease of real property with this state, except that the board upon request may waive this subsection where it is in the best interests of this state.

(9) The attorney general shall not engage in the private practice of law during the period in which he holds that office.

(10) This section shall not be construed to prohibit a legislator from making inquiries for information on behalf of or representing a person before a department.

(11) The legislature recognizes that all state public officials should be guided by a code of ethics and thus:

(a) The director of the bureau of personnel shall adopt rules to implement a code of ethics consistent with this chapter for classified and unclassified state employes not included in s. 20.923, except university of Wisconsin system teaching personnel.

(b) The board of regents of the university of Wisconsin system shall establish a code of ethics for teaching personnel in the system.

(c) Counties and municipalities may and should establish a code of ethics for local public officials.

11.06 Action upon conflict. (1) (a) If any state public official who, in the discharge of his official duties, is required to take an action that is prohibited by this chapter, and would result in a conflict of interest, such state public official:

1. Shall not take such action.

2. Shall prepare a written statement describing the matter requiring action or decision, and the nature of the possible conflict of interest with respect to such action or decision.

3. Shall deliver copies of such statement to the board and to his immediate superior, if any.

4. In the case of a legislator, may deliver a copy of such statement to the presiding officer of the legislator's house. The presiding officer shall cause such statement to be printed in the journal and, upon request, shall excuse a legislator from votes, deliberations and other actions on the matter on which a possible conflict exists.

(b) If the state public official is not a legislator, his superior, if any, shall assign the matter to another employe who does not have a possible conflict of interest. If the state public official has no immediate superior, he may seek advice from the board to remove himself from influence over actions and decisions on the matter on which the possible conflict exists.

(2) The board shall review the statement describing the matter requiring action or decision and the nature of the possible conflict of interest, and may advise the state public official. Any person subject to this chapter may request of the board written advice regarding the propriety of any matter to which he is or may become a party. The board may authorize the executive secretary to act in its stead in instances where delay is of substantial inconvenience or detriment to the requesting party. Written advice issued under this subsection shall be confidential except that it may be included in materials referred to the appropriate body under s. 11.08 (10) (b) or may be subpoenaed by any court of record or legislative committee or house. No person except the person who initially requested preparation of the statement may make the contents of any written advice or other records of the board public. It shall be prima facie evidence of intent to comply with this chapter when a person refers a matter to the board and abides by the written advice.

(3) A state public official may request the board to obtain an advisory opinion from the attorney general on the application of this chapter to a given set of circumstances, real or hypothetical, or the board may request such an opinion on its own motion.

(4) Nothing in this section prohibits a legislator from making decisions concerning reimbursement of legislator expenses, salaries or salary-related benefits.

(5) The board may issue guidelines that shall be published as a class 1 notice under ch. 985.

11.07 Operation. (1) The office of the board shall be in Madison, but the board may, after proper public notice and in compliance with s. 66.77, meet or exercise any or all of its powers at any other place in this state.

(2) The board shall appoint an executive director and such personnel as it requires to carry out its duties. The executive director shall perform such duties as the board assigns to him in the administration of this chapter.

(3) All members and employes of the board shall file statements required by this chapter.

(4) Any action by the board shall require the affirmative vote of 4 of its members.

(5) No later than September 1 of each year, the board shall report to the legislature and the governor concerning its actions in the preceding fiscal year,

including a summary of its determinations; the names and duties of all persons employed by the board; and shall make such further reports on the matters within its jurisdiction and such recommendations for further legislation as it deems desirable. The report shall contain the current and complete text of all guidelines issued by the board.

11.08 Duties of the board. (1) The board shall:

(a) Adopt guidelines and procedures necessary to carry out this chapter. The board shall give prompt notice of the contents of such guidelines and procedures to state public officials affected thereby.

(b) Prescribe forms for statements required to be filed by this chapter, and furnish such forms to persons required to file such statements.

(c) Prepare and publish guidelines setting forth recommended uniform methods of reporting for use by persons required to file under this chapter.

(d) Accept and file any information voluntarily supplied that exceeds the requirements of this chapter.

(e) Preserve the statements filed with it for a period of 6 years from the date of receipt in such form, including microfilming, as will facilitate document retention.

(2) The joint committee on legislative organization shall be advisory to the board on all matters relating to the operation of the board.

(3) The board shall:

(a) Accept from any person, or make upon its own motion, a verified complaint in writing which shall state the name of the state public official or state public employe alleged to have committed a violation of this chapter and which shall set forth the particulars thereof. The board shall forward within 10 days a copy of the complaint to the state public official or state public employe who is accused. If no action on the verified complaint is taken by the board within 6 months, the complaint shall be void.

(b) Following the receipt or motion of a verified complaint, the board may make preliminary investigations with respect to alleged violation of this chapter. No preliminary investigation of the activities of any state public official may be initiated unless such state public official is notified in writing. The notice shall state the exact nature and purpose of the investigation, the individual's specific actions or activities to be investigated and a statement of such person's due process rights. After the preliminary investigation, the executive director shall prepare a staff recommendation to the board for further action.

(c) If, after such recommendation and investigation, the board finds that probable cause exists for believing the allegations of the complaint, it shall conduct a hearing on the matter which shall be held not more than 30 days after such finding. The board shall give the accused at least 20 days' notice of the hearing date. Such hearings shall be at closed session unless the accused petitions for a hearing open to the public. The rules of criminal evidence shall apply to such hearings. All evidence, including certified copies of records and documents which the board considers, shall be fully offered and made part of the record in the case. Every party shall be afforded adequate opportunity to rebut or offer countervailing evidence.

(4) The board shall have the same power to compel the attendance of witnesses and to issue subpoenas and summary process as is granted to legislative committees under ss. 13.31 and 13.32. Upon request of the accused, the board shall subpoena

named individuals to appear as witnesses at the hearing, if such action is necessary to compel their attendance.

(5) (a) During all stages of any investigation or proceeding conducted under this section, the accused or any person whose activities are under investigation shall be entitled to be represented by counsel of his own choosing. Prior to any hearing conducted under sub. (3) (c), the accused shall be permitted to challenge the sufficiency of any complaint brought against him and shall be afforded full discovery rights, including adverse examination of witnesses who will testify at the hearing. The board shall immediately disclose and forward to the accused or his counsel exculpatory evidence of any nature discovered by the board through its own investigation or by any other means.

(b) The accused or his representative shall have an adequate opportunity to examine all documents and records to be used at the hearing under sub. (3) (c) at a reasonable time before the date of the hearing as well as during the hearing, to bring witnesses, to establish all pertinent facts and circumstances, and to question or refute any testimony or evidence, including opportunity to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses.

(6) After the hearing the board shall, in written findings of fact and conclusions based thereon, make a determination whether or not probable cause exists concerning any misconduct by the accused constituting a violation of this chapter. If the board determines that no probable cause exists, it shall immediately send written notice of such determination to the accused and to the party who made the complaint. If the board determines that probable cause for misconduct exists, it shall refer the matter for appropriate prosecution to the district attorney in whose jurisdiction the alleged violation occurred. In making such referral, the board shall supply the district attorney with a written statement of its determination, as well as with such documents as it decides to release under sub. (10), but the board's statement of determination shall not be admissible as evidence in any court. If the district attorney fails to commence prosecution within 30 days, the board may notify the attorney general for appropriate action. The board shall give written notice of its action to the accused.

(8) In addition to the referrals in sub. (6), the board shall, if it finds probable cause concerning any misconduct by a state public official or state public employe constituting a violation of this chapter, submit such determination and copies of any records, reports and transcripts in its possession, together with any other relevant evidence:

(a) In the case of a legislator, to the appropriate house.

(b) In the case of a state public official or state public employe in the unclassified service in the executive branch of state government, to the appointing authority who may censure, suspend or remove him from office or employment.

(c) In the case of an employe in the unclassified service in the legislative branch of state government, to his appointing authority which may censure, suspend or remove him from office or employment.

(9) The board shall refer complaints concerning violation by a public official liable to impeachment to the assembly.

(10) (a) The board shall maintain a record of its investigations, inquiries and proceedings. Except for the determination provided in sub. (6), all records, transcripts of any investigations or inquiries of the board under this section shall be confidential and shall not be open to inspection by any person other than a member or employe of the board, or a state employe designated to assist the board.

(b) If the board finds probable cause for misconduct, it shall authorize the release to the district attorney, the attorney general or other official of any information, records, complaints, documents, reports and transcripts in its possession if such release is material to any matter being investigated or prosecuted by the district attorney or the attorney general. The accused state public official or state public employe cited by the declaration of probable cause may request the board to withhold any information, records, documents, reports and transcripts that were placed before the board on behalf of the accused or as a part of his defense. The board shall grant such a request.

(c) No member or employe of the board, no state employe designated to assist the board and no prosecuting officer or employe may divulge any matter deemed confidential by this subsection.

(d) This subsection shall not prohibit the exchange of confidential information between the attorney general and district attorney's office.

11.09 Public discussion of legislative issues; expenses. (1) Nothing in this chapter shall be interpreted as prohibiting the acceptance by a legislator of reimbursement for his actual and necessary expenses, the accepting of reasonable fees or honorariums for participating in public meetings or speaking engagements, or from accepting compensation for published works.

(2) In order to achieve the broadest possible public discussion and understanding of state government, the legislative process and the specific policy issues and proposals pending before the legislature, every member of the legislature is encouraged to address, or to meet with, clubs, conventions, special interest groups, political groups, schools and other gatherings, and to interpret these topics for, or discuss them with, interested persons and organizations. When addressing any such club, gathering or organization within his district or within this state, no member of the legislature may receive any compensation other than reimbursement for actual and necessary expenses and reasonable fees and honorariums.

(3) The board shall issue guidelines determining what amounts of fees or honorariums, if received by legislators under sub. (1), shall be reasonable.

(4) Any legislator who, under sub. (2), receives reimbursement for actual and necessary expenses in connection with any such engagement in excess of \$10 shall, within 60 days of its receipt, report the amount of the expense reimbursement received to the chief clerk of his house together with a brief statement describing the purpose for which the expense reimbursement was received.

11.10 Penalties. (1) Any person who violates this chapter or a code of ethics adopted or established under s. 11.05 (11) (a) or (b) shall be fined not less than \$100 nor more than \$5,000 or imprisoned not more than one year in the county jail or both.

(2) The penalty under sub. (1) does not limit the power of either house of the legislature to discipline its own members or to impeach a public official, or limit the power of a department to discipline its state public officials or state public employes.

(3) No prosecution for a violation of this chapter may be commenced more than 3 years after the date of the complaint under s. 11.08 (3) (a).

SECTION 1m. 13.095 of the statutes is amended to read:

13.095 Review of programs started with federal aid. State agencies responsible for the administration of federal contract or grant-in-aid programs shall promptly notify the federal aid management service of the department of administration whenever any program or project, financed wholly or partially from federal aids, would have to be

continued from state funds because federal aid will be or has been curtailed or withdrawn or because the federal program from which the aid was received has or will be expired. The federal aid management service under s. 16.545 shall promptly notify the joint committee on finance of all notifications received from state agencies. The 2 chairmen of the joint committee on finance ~~shall~~ may thereupon schedule a public hearing for the purpose of exploring alternatives with regard to the future in this state of the program for which federal aid ~~which~~ will be or has been reduced or eliminated. The chief executive officer of the department or independent agency administering such program shall appear at the hearing for the information of the joint committee. The joint committee shall submit its recommendations including suggested legislation to the legislature.

SECTION 2. 13.48 (1), (3), (10), (13) and (14) (a) of the statutes are amended to read:

13.48 (1) POLICY. The legislature finds and determines that it is necessary to improve the adequacy of the public building facilities that are required by the various state agencies including the educational institutions, for the proper performance of their duties and functions, and that it is in the interest of economy, efficiency and the public welfare that such improvement be accomplished by means of a long-range public building program, with funds to be provided by successive legislatures. ~~Projects in such~~ The long-range program shall include the necessary lands, new buildings, and all facilities and equipment required and also the remodeling, reconstruction, maintenance and re-equipping ~~re-equipping~~ of existing buildings and facilities, ~~but shall not include ordinary maintenance as determined by the building commission.~~

(3) STATE BUILDING TRUST FUND. In the interest of the continuity of the program, there shall be appropriated from the general fund to the state building trust fund as a nonlapsing building depreciation reserve, on July 1, 1965, and annually thereafter, a sum equal to ~~1-1/2%~~ 1-1/2% of the value of all state buildings, structures, utility plants and equipment therein excepting those under the jurisdiction of the highway commission, as appraised by the department of administration in each even-numbered year. Such appraisal shall be an estimate of the cost of reproduction of such buildings, structures and facilities, and shall be certified by the department of administration not later than November 20 of each even-numbered year to the incoming governor who shall include the sums so to be transferred in his budget. Such sums, together with all donations, gifts, bequests or contributions of money or other property and any additional appropriations or transfers made thereto by the legislature, shall constitute the state building trust fund. At such times as the commission directs, the governor shall authorize releases from this fund to become available for projects ~~in the long-range building program~~, and he shall direct the department of administration to allocate from this fund such amounts as are approved for these projects. In issuing such directions, the commission shall consider the cash balance in the state building trust fund, the necessity and urgency of the proposed improvement, employment conditions and availability of materials in the locality in which the improvement is to be made. The commission may authorize any project amounting to \$250,000 or less in accordance with priorities to be established by the commission and may adjust the priorities by deleting, substituting or adding new projects as needed to reflect changing program needs and unforeseen circumstances. The commission may enter into contracts for the construction of buildings for any state agency and shall be responsible for accounting for all funds released to projects. The commission may designate the department of administration or the agency for which the project is constructed to act as its representative in such accounting.

(10) APPROVAL BY COMMISSION. No state board, agency, officer, department, commission or body corporate shall enter into a contract or agreement for the construction, reconstruction, remodeling or addition to any building, structure, or facility, which involves a cost in excess of \$15,000 by any means whatsoever, without completion of final plans and arrangement for supervision of construction and prior approval by the commission, any other provision of law to the contrary notwithstanding and irrespective of the source of the funds to be used for such project. This section applies to the ~~department of natural resources and~~ highway commission only in respect to buildings, structures and facilities to be used for administrative, laboratory, residential, storage and public exhibition functions.

(13) EXEMPTION FROM LOCAL ORDINANCES AND REGULATIONS. Where any building, structure or facility is constructed for the benefit of or use of the state or any state agency, board, commission or department, ~~by any nonprofit corporation pursuant to the terms of any lease, sublease or other arrangement,~~ such construction shall be in compliance with all applicable state laws, codes and regulations but such construction shall not be subject to the ordinances or regulations of the municipality in which the construction takes place except zoning including without limitation because of enumeration, ordinances or regulations relating to ~~zoning~~, materials used, permits, supervision of construction or installation, payment of permit fees, or other restrictions of any nature whatsoever. This subsection applies to any construction ~~heretofore or~~ hereafter commenced.

Vetoed
in Part (14) (a) The commission ~~may shall, subject to s. 13.58 (9),~~ have the authority to sell or lease all or any part of the buildings and site sites including all farm lands of the present school for boys at Waukesha where such authority is not otherwise provided to an agency by law.

SECTION 3. 13.48 (14) (b) and (c) of the statutes are repealed.

SECTION 4. 13.48 (14) (d) and (e) of the statutes are renumbered 13.48 (14) (b) and (c).

SECTION 4m. 13.48 (17) and (18) of the statutes are created to read:

13.48 (17) ADVANCED LAND ACQUISITION. In the interest of preventing land speculation the commission may acquire property within the blocks bordered by East Washington Avenue, South Webster Street, East Wilson Street and South Hancock Street in the city of Madison for possible future construction.

(18) ACQUISITION OF OPEN SPACES. The commission may acquire property adjacent to or within 2 blocks of any state facility for the purpose of establishing and developing open green spaces and possible future construction.

SECTION 5. 13.53 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 5b. 13.54 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

13.54 (1) CREATION. There is created a commission on interstate cooperation in the legislative branch to consist of the governor or his designee, the lieutenant governor, the members of the joint committee on legislative organization and, in addition, 3 senators and 3 representatives to the assembly appointed as are standing committees in the respective houses, the executive secretary of the legislative council, the chief of the legislative reference bureau, and 2 state officials to be appointed by the governor. ~~The executive secretary of the legislative council shall serve as the nonvoting secretary of the commission.~~ Subject to approval by the joint committee on legislative organization, each member of the joint committee may nominate another legislator of his house and political party to serve on the interstate cooperation commission in his

place as an alternate voting member. Subject to s. 14.40 (6), alternates to attend specific meetings may be chosen as are persons to fill vacancies, and their terms shall expire when their mission is accomplished.

SECTION 5c. 13.56 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

13.56 (2) (title) REVIEW OF RULES AND CERTAIN GUIDELINES BY COMMITTEE. The committee shall promote adequate and proper rules by agencies and an understanding upon the part of the public respecting such rules. It may hold public hearings to investigate complaints with respect to guidelines adopted under s. 11.08 (1) (a) and to rules if it considers such complaints meritorious and worthy of attention and may, on the basis of the testimony received at such public hearings, suspend any rule or such guideline complained of by the affirmative vote of at least 6 members. If any rule or such guideline is so suspended, the committee shall as soon as possible place before the legislature, at any regular session and at any special session upon the consent of the governor, a bill to repeal the suspended rule or such guideline. If such bill is defeated, or fails of enactment in any other manner, the rule or such guideline shall stand and the committee may not suspend it again. If the bill becomes law, the rule or such guideline is repealed and shall not be enacted again unless a properly enacted law specifically authorizes the adoption of that rule or such guideline. The committee shall make a biennial report to the legislature and governor of its activities and include therein its recommendations.

~~SECTION 5d. 13.58 (9) of the statutes is created to read:~~

~~13.58 (9) The board shall approve all sales of land authorized under chs. 13, 36 and 46.~~ Vetoed in Part

SECTION 5e. 13.90 (7) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

13.90 (7) Supervise the development of programs for computer use and approve and monitor computer operations in the legislative process. All contracts for legislative computer equipment and services shall be signed by the chairman.

SECTION 5m. 13.92 (1) (d) and (e) of the statutes are created to read:

13.92 (1) (d) *Legislative computer use.* The legislative reference bureau shall coordinate and administer the scheduling and use of computer programs and machine time to facilitate application of computer and other modern office machine technology by both houses of the legislature and the service agencies under this subchapter.

(e) *Legislative printing.* Payments for the following costs shall be administered by the legislative reference bureau:

1. Providing duplicating services to the legislature and its service agencies.
2. Printing of legislative proposals, amendments, or slip laws and, when so ordered by either house, engrossed or enrolled proposals, under s. 35.05.
3. Printing of session laws under s. 35.15.
4. Printing of the Wisconsin Blue Book under s. 35.24.

SECTION 5s. 13.93 (3) of the statutes is created to read:

13.93 (3) PRINTING COSTS. Payments for the following costs shall be administered by the revisor of statutes bureau:

- (a) Printing of the Wisconsin statutes under s. 35.18.
- (b) Printing of the Wisconsin town law forms under s. 35.20.

(c) Printing of the Wisconsin annotations under s. 35.23.

(d) Printing of the administrative code and register under s. 35.93.

~~SECTION 51. 13.96 of the statutes is created to read:~~

~~13.96 Family environment and resources council. The family environment and resources council is established as a legislative service agency because of the public policy declared in s. 245.002 and because the subject matters of marriage and court actions affecting marriage are governed by the legislature through enactment of the family code. Section 13.45 applies to the council. For administrative and fiscal purposes only, the family environment and resources council is attached to the joint legislative council.~~

~~(1) MEMBERSHIP. The council shall consist of the chairmen of the senate committees on judiciary and insurance and on health, education and welfare and the chairmen of the assembly committees on judiciary, education and health and social services or a member of each such committee designated by the chairman thereof to serve in his place, and 14 members appointed by the joint legislative council for terms of 2 years from the October 1 next following their appointments and until their successors are appointed and qualified. Terms of judges and clergymen shall expire in even-numbered years and terms of other appointees shall expire in odd-numbered years. Each appointive member shall be a resident of the state who has demonstrated a special and continuing interest in family problems and their solution. The legislative council shall select the appointive members as follows: 3 judges who preside over courts having jurisdiction of legal actions under the family code, 3 clergymen, one attorney licensed to practice in the courts of this state, one college instructor or high school teacher, one family court commissioner or assistant commissioner, one county corporation counsel or assistant counsel, one county director or assistant director of public welfare or social services, one representative of a voluntary charitable agency providing aid to families and one representative each from the Wisconsin association for mental health, inc., and the Wisconsin family life association, inc.~~

Vetoed
in Part

~~(2) OFFICERS; MEETINGS; RULES. The council shall elect a chairman, 1st vice chairman, 2nd vice chairman, secretary and assistant secretary for a term of 2 calendar years and until their successors are duly elected and qualified. The council shall meet at least quarterly in each year, and may meet at such other times as the members determine or the chairman directs. The council shall follow the rules of procedure of the joint legislative council insofar as the same are appropriate to the conduct of its business, and under s. 13.45 (5) may adopt other rules in addition thereto or in place of any such appropriate rule.~~

~~(3) CONSULTING COMMITTEES. Within the limits of its appropriation, the family environment and resources council may appoint consulting committees consisting of members or nonmembers or both, the appointees of which shall receive their actual and necessary expenses.~~

~~(4) POWERS AND DUTIES. The family environment and resources council shall:~~

~~(a) Study the scope and operation of the laws of this state and surrounding states relating to marriage, to the support, protection and rights of children and other dependents and to court actions affecting marriage, examine recent supreme court decisions affecting the same, and prepare a biennial report of its findings, conclusions, recommendations and activities to be submitted to the legislative council, the legislature, the governor and the supreme court. Such findings shall include all vital facts and statistics that the family environment and resources council deems necessary and useful relating to marriages and actions affecting marriage in each county of this~~

state, to be compiled with the cooperation of the state registrar of vital statistics, the judicial council, the secretary of health and social services, the county clerk and family court commissioner of each county and the clerk of every court having jurisdiction over actions affecting marriage.

(b) Study the causes of family disintegration, and examine the need for future publicly and privately sponsored programs, activities, services and facilities which would tend to preserve and promote family unity and wholesome family life, with particular emphasis on counseling before marriage, mental health problems within families and the prevention of divorce.

(c) Investigate the effect of divorce on public welfare costs and programs, and make recommendations to improve marital stability and accomplish changes in such programs which could bring about a decrease in the number of divorces in this state involving likely welfare recipients and an eventual reduction in welfare costs.

(d) Have authority to conduct workshops and public hearings throughout the state, and to sponsor or participate in family conferences on a state or local level and to participate in such conferences on a regional, interstate or national level.

Vetoed
in Part

(e) Coordinate and stimulate the activities of county board councils on home life and family environment, as well as of other public and private organizations and such activities of the federal government as apply to this state.

(f) Have authority to receive and use gifts, grants, bequests and devises for the purposes and programs specified in this section, and for the establishment of a family life institute to develop or administer programs and projects for the improvement of family living. Such institute may be established in cooperation or conjunction with another state agency, a government-sponsored medical center or an institution of higher education.

(g) Employ such staff as is necessary to implement the duties assigned to it, within the limits of its appropriation. Such staff shall be appointed by the family environment and resources council outside the classified service and shall serve at its pleasure. The council staff and the staff administrator shall perform duties for the council comparable to those prescribed for the legislative council staff and executive secretary under § 13.91 except as to those duties set forth therein which are clearly inapplicable to the work and operation of the family environment and resources council.

SECTION 5u. 14.017 (3) of the statutes is created to read:

14.017 (3) HEALTH POLICY COUNCIL. (a) There is created in the executive office a health policy council. Members shall be appointed by the governor for staggered 3-year terms and shall include:

1. One member from each area-wide health planning agency established under P.L. 89-749, as amended.
2. Governmental, health care provider and consumer members representative of the geographical regions of the state.
3. Representation as required by P.L. 89-749.

(b) Not less than 51% of the members of the council shall be consumers of health care.

(c) The governor or his representative shall serve as chairman of the council.

(d) The administrator of the division of health policy and planning shall serve as the nonvoting secretary.

(e) Committees required to perform the functions of the council shall include members of the council and other persons appointed by the chairman. In the case where advisory councils are mandated in federal or state health and health-related legislation, such advisory councils shall be committees of the health policy council, and shall be so constituted as to meet the requirements of the appropriate laws and regulations.

SECTION 5v. 14.25 of the statutes is created to read:

14.25 Health policy council. The health policy council shall:

(1) Monitor, review and advise the division of health policy and planning regarding comprehensive health planning at the state and area-wide levels.

(2) Advise the executive office on matters relating to health policy, planning and program development.

(3) Review and make recommendations regarding the state's comprehensive health plan, including necessary evaluations of the effectiveness of programs conducted under the plan.

(4) Make recommendations to the division of health policy and planning on the expenditure of state health planning funds and federal categorical health grant appropriations.

(5) Review and make recommendations to public and private agencies regarding their health and health-related programs and planning proposals where necessary to assure a coordinated state health plan.

(6) Inform the public of its work.

SECTION 5w. 14.34 of the statutes is created to read:

14.34 Additional executive duties. As the second ranking executive officer of the state, the lieutenant governor shall have such additional duties as are assigned to him by the governor in writing. These may include:

(1) The designation by the governor of the lieutenant governor as his representative on any statutory commission, board or committee on which the governor is entitled to membership. Under such designation, the lieutenant governor shall perform in the place of the governor and shall have all authority and responsibility granted by law to the governor with regard to such membership.

(2) The designation by the governor of the lieutenant governor as his representative on any nonstatutory committee created by the governor under s. 14.019.

(3) The designation by the governor of the lieutenant governor to coordinate state services and programs under s. 14.03 and such other statutory responsibility of the governor for this purpose. The governor shall specify in writing to state agencies the nature, areas and extent of such designated authority.

(4) The designation by the governor of the lieutenant governor as his representative on any intergovernmental body created for the purpose of maintaining relationships with the federal government, state government, regional agencies or local government.

~~15.05 (2) DEPUTY TO SECRETARY. Each secretary shall select a deputy to hold the position of deputy at the pleasure of the secretary. The deputy shall exercise the secretary's powers, duties and functions in the secretary's absence, and shall perform such other duties as the secretary prescribes. The deputy shall either be selected from the classified service employes within the department, or he shall be the executive assistant appointed under sub. (3). This subsection also applies to the attorney general and to the state superintendent of public instruction.~~

Vetoed
in Part

~~(3) EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT. Each secretary may appoint, outside the classified service, an executive assistant to serve at his pleasure. At the discretion of the secretary, the executive assistant shall serve as the deputy under sub. (2) or shall perform such other duties as the secretary prescribes. This subsection also applies to the attorney general and to the state superintendent of public instruction.~~

SECTION 5y. 15.05 (5) of the statutes is created to read:

15.05 (5) DEPUTY AND ASSISTANT FUNDING APPROVALS. Positions authorized in subs. (2) and (3) shall be subject to funding approvals through the normal budgetary processes.

SECTION 7g. 15.07 (1) (b) 6 and (5) (k) of the statutes are created to read:

15.07 (1) (b) 6. Ethics board.

(5) (k) Members of the ethics board, \$25 per day.

SECTION 7m. 15.07 (2) (f) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 8. 15.07 (5) (i) of the statutes is created to read:

15.07 (5) (i) Members of the educational approval board, \$25 per day.

SECTION 8g. 15.07 (5) (j) of the statutes is created to read:

15.07 (5) (j) Members of the state fair park board, \$10 per day but not to exceed \$600 per year.

SECTION 8m. 15.101 (7) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

15.101 (7) DIVISION OF HEALTH POLICY AND PLANNING. The division of health policy and planning shall have the program responsibilities specified for the division under s. 140.82.

SECTION 8r. 15.103 of the statutes is created to read:

15.103 Same; specified divisions. (1) DIVISION OF HEALTH POLICY AND PLANNING. There is created a division of health policy and planning which is attached to the department of administration under s. 15.03. The administrator of this division and an assistant administrator shall be appointed by the governor, outside the classified service, to serve at the pleasure of the governor. The administrator and assistant administrator shall be appointed on the basis of recognized interest, administrative ability, training and experience in and knowledge of health planning.

SECTION 9. 15.105 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

15.105 (2) CLAIMS BOARD. There is created a claims board which is attached to the department of administration under s. 15.03. The claims board shall consist of a representative of the executive office designated by the governor, a representative of the department of administration designated by the secretary of administration, a representative of the department of justice designated by the attorney general and the

chairmen of the senate and assembly committees on finance or their designees appointed from the membership of the respective committees on finance.

SECTION 9m. 15.105 (7) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 9s. 15.107 (2) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 15. 15.311 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

15.311 Same; program responsibilities. The department of military affairs shall have the program responsibilities specified for the department under ch. 21.

SECTION 16. 15.315 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 18. 15.405 (7) of the statutes is amended to read:

15.405 (7) **MEDICAL EXAMINING BOARD.** There is created a medical examining board in the department of regulation and licensing. The medical examining board shall consist of 8 members appointed for staggered 4-year terms which shall commence on May 1. The terms of 2 members shall expire annually on April 30. Seven of the members shall be licensed doctors of medicine; one member shall be a licensed doctor of osteopathy. No person may be appointed to the examining board who is an instructor, stockholder or member of, or financially interested in, any school, college or university having a medical department, or of any school of osteopathy. The In lieu of a per diem, the secretary may shall receive such additional compensation as the examining board directs, but not less than \$1,900 annually.

SECTION 19. 15.437 of the statutes is created to read:

15.437 Same; councils. (1) **COUNCIL ON MUNICIPAL ACCOUNTING.** There is created in the department of revenue a council on municipal accounting. The council shall consist of the secretary of revenue, or his designee who shall serve as chairman, and 8 persons appointed by the secretary for staggered 4-year terms. Appointees shall include 6 persons nominated to the secretary by the following:

- (a) The league of Wisconsin municipalities.
- (b) The alliance of cities.
- (c) The Wisconsin county boards association.
- (d) The Wisconsin towns association.
- (e) The Wisconsin society of certified public accountants.
- (f) The municipal finance officers association, Wisconsin chapter.

SECTION 19m. 15.497 (3) of the statutes is created to read:

15.497 (3) **COUNCIL ON VIETNAM ERA VETERANS EDUCATION GRANTS.** There is created in the department of veterans affairs a council on Vietnam era veterans education grants consisting of the following 5 members: the chairman of the assembly committee on veterans and military affairs, the chairman of the senate committee on governmental and veterans affairs and one representative each of the higher educational aids board, the department of veterans affairs and student veterans groups, selected by the organization each represents.

SECTION 20. 15.53 of the statutes is created to read:

15.53 Arts board; creation. There is created an arts board to consist of 12 members appointed for staggered 3-year terms from among the citizens of the state who are known for their concern for the arts.

SECTION 21. 15.531 of the statutes is created to read:

15.531 Same; program responsibilities. The arts board shall have the program responsibilities specified for the board under subch. II of ch. 44.

~~SECTION 21m. 15.537 of the statutes is created to read:~~

~~**15.537 Same; councils.** (1) **Advisory councils.** Each of the advisory councils created in the arts board under this subsection shall serve the board in an advisory capacity in appropriate subject matter areas. No member of the arts board may serve as a voting member of an advisory council. Each advisory council shall consist of 7 members who are practicing artists or are knowledgeable in the subject matter area and who are selected by arts organizations in the subject matter area under rules adopted by the arts board under ch. 227. Such rules shall provide for statewide geographic distribution of members, shall establish length of terms and shall not permit the board to designate individual advisory council members.~~

Vetoed
in Part

- ~~(a) *Visual arts.* There is created in the arts board a visual arts council.~~
- ~~(b) *Music.* There is created in the arts board a music council.~~
- ~~(c) *Dance.* There is created in the arts board a dance council.~~
- ~~(d) *Theater.* There is created in the arts board a theater council.~~
- ~~(e) *Creative writing.* There is created in the arts board a creative writing council.~~
- ~~(f) *Cinema.* There is created in the arts board a cinema council.~~

SECTION 21s. 15.62 and 15.621 of the statutes are created to read:

15.62 Ethics board. There is created an ethics board consisting of 6 residents of this state appointed for staggered 6-year terms subject to the following conditions:

- (1) No member may hold any other office or employment in the government of this state or any political subdivision thereof or in any department.
- (2) No member, when appointed, for one year immediately prior to the date of appointment or while serving on the board, may have been a member of a political party, an officer or member of a committee in any partisan political club or organization or a candidate for any partisan elective public office. No member may become a candidate for or hold any such office while serving on the board.
- (3) Each member of the board shall be a U.S. citizen and a resident of this state.

15.621 Same; program responsibilities. The ethics board shall have the program responsibilities specified for the board under ch. 11.

SECTION 22. 15.67 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

15.67 Higher educational aids board; creation. There is created a higher educational aids board consisting of the state superintendent of public instruction and 15 members, appointed to serve at the pleasure of the governor. To represent public institutions of higher education, 3 members of the board of regents of the university of Wisconsin system and 2 members of the board of vocational, technical and adult education shall be appointed. To represent private institutions of higher education, 5 members of boards of trustees of independent colleges and universities in this state shall be appointed. To represent the general public, 5 members shall be appointed.

SECTION 23. 15.677 (1) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

15.677 (1) COUNCIL ON FINANCIAL AIDS. There is created in the higher educational aids board a council on financial aids. The council shall consist of 7 students and 7 financial aid administrators. The higher educational aids board shall establish appropriate procedures for the selection of students by representative student groups. To represent the university of Wisconsin system, 3 students shall be selected. To represent vocational, technical and adult education institutions, 2 students shall be selected. To represent private institutions of higher education, 2 students shall be selected. Insofar as practicable, the student selection procedures shall provide that within a reasonable period of time students from all institutions have an opportunity to serve on the committee. The Wisconsin association of student financial aids administrators shall select financial aids administrators. To represent the university of Wisconsin system, 3 financial aids administrators shall be

selected. To represent vocational, technical and adult education institutions, 2 financial aids administrators shall be selected. To represent private institutions of higher education, 2 financial aids administrators shall be selected.

SECTION 24. 16.008 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 25. 16.086 (5) (a) 1. a of the statutes, as affected by chapter 12, laws of 1973, is amended to read:

16.086 (5) (a) 1. a. The Unless otherwise defined in the pay schedule the total monthly amount appropriated authorized for all such merit increases and distributed during and each fiscal year of the biennium shall not exceed 4% of the applicable gross payroll for the month of May of the preceding fiscal year 80% of the amount which would be required if every employe eligible for a merit increase on July 1 were to receive an increase equal to one within range pay step or the portion thereof required to reach the maximum of the range; but if such 4% 80% is not an exact multiple of \$1, it shall be increased to the next higher \$1 multiple. The term "applicable gross payroll" Eligibility determinations shall be defined in the rules of the director.

SECTION 26. 16.086 (5) (a) 1. b of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

16.086 (5) (a) 1. b. Subject to maximum of the pay range, distribution of merit increases shall be in multiples of \$1.

SECTION 27. 16.086 (5) (a) 1. c of the statutes is amended to read:

16.086 (5) (a) 1. c. No appointing authority shall award an employe a merit ~~increase~~ increases exceeding a total of 2 intermediate within range pay steps during a fiscal year. Merit increases of 2 ~~intermediate~~ within range pay steps shall be granted by an appointing authority only for exceptionally meritorious service.

SECTION 28. 16.086 (5) (b) of the statutes is amended to read:

16.086 (5) (b) *Budget for pay increases.* Each department head shall, in submitting his budget to the governor or governor-elect and to the joint committee on finance, request an amount for ~~authorized employe pay increases~~ in accordance with the compensation plan in effect and the rules and statutes relating thereto and an amount estimated for merit increases authorized under par. (a) 1. a.

SECTION 29. 16.09 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 30. 16.11 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

16.11 (1) Appointments to, and promotions in the classified service, shall be made only according to merit and fitness, which shall be ascertained so far as practicable by

competitive examination. When the state becomes responsible for a function previously administered by another governmental agency, a quasi-public, or a private enterprise, or when positions in the unclassified service, excluding employes of the legislature, are determined to be more appropriately included in the classified service, the director shall determine appropriate eligibility, pay, employe benefits and status identified in ss. 16.22 and 16.30.

SECTION 30g. 16.425 of the statutes is created to read:

16.425 Summary of tax exemption devices. (1) **DECLARATION OF POLICY.** Because state policy objectives are sought and achieved by both governmental expenditures and tax exemption, and because both have an impact on the government's capacity to lower tax rates or raise expenditures, both should receive regular comprehensive review by the governor and the legislature in the budgetary process. This section seeks to facilitate such comprehensive review by providing for the generation of information concerning tax exemptions and other similar devices comparable to expenditure information.

(2) **DEFINITION.** For the purposes of this section "tax exemption device" means any tax provision which exempts, in whole or in part, certain persons, income, goods, services, or property from the impact of established taxes, including, but not limited because of failure of enumeration, to those devices known as tax deductions, tax allowances, tax exclusions, tax credits and tax exemptions.

(3) **REPORT ON TAX EXEMPTION DEVICES.** The department of revenue shall in each even-numbered year on the date prescribed for it by the secretary, furnish to the secretary a report detailing the approximate costs in lost revenue, the policy purposes and to the extent possible, indicators of effectiveness in achieving such purposes, for all state tax exemption devices, including those based on the federal internal revenue code, in effect at the time of the report. The report in 1974 need relate only to ch. 71 tax exemption devices. The report in 1976 need relate only to chs. 71 and 77 tax exemption devices. The report in 1978 need relate only to chs. 71, 72 and 77 tax exemption devices. The report in 1980 need relate only to chs. 71, 72, 76 and 77 tax exemption devices. The report in 1982 need relate only to chs. 70, 71, 72, 76 and 77 tax exemption devices. The report shall be prepared in such a manner as to facilitate the making of comparisons with the information reported in s. 16.46 (1) to (6).

SECTION 30r. 16.46 (7) of the statutes is created to read:

16.46 (7) The report of the department of revenue prepared under s. 16.425, together with the purposes and approximate costs in lost revenue of each new or changed tax exemption device provided in the proposed budget. This information shall be integrated with the rest of the information in this section in such a manner as to facilitate to the fullest extent possible, direct comparisons between expenditure information and tax exemption device information, as defined in s. 16.425.

SECTION 31. 16.475 of the statutes is amended to read:

16.475 Review in even-numbered years. If the governor determines that the implementation of budget priorities or the fiscal condition of the state requires adjustments in expenditures or revenues, he shall, ~~no later than January 18~~ on or before February 1 of the even-numbered year, or as otherwise provided by joint resolution, submit his recommendations in bill form to the joint committee on finance which shall introduce the bill without change in either house. Upon introduction, the bill shall be referred to that committee.

~~SECTION 31b. 16.50(3) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:~~

~~16.50 (3) It is unlawful for any department, except the legislature and the courts, to increase the pay of any employe or to expend money or incur any obligation except in accordance with an estimate submitted to the secretary as provided in sub. (1) and which shall have been approved by the secretary or the governor. No additional permanent positions, above the number authorized through the biennial budget or budget review process shall be granted without the approval of the joint committee on finance and the governor, except for positions created from funds received under s. 20.285 (1) (mb). No pay increase shall be approved unless it is at the rate or within the pay ranges prescribed in the compensation plan or as published in a collective bargaining agreement under subch. V of ch. 111.~~

SECTION 31d. ~~16.54 (1), (6) and (7) of the statutes are amended to read:~~

Vetoed
in Part

~~16.54 (1) Whenever the United States government shall make available funds for the education, the promotion of health, the relief of indigency, the promotion of agriculture or for any other purpose other than the administration of the tribal or any individual funds of Wisconsin Indians, the governor on behalf of the state is authorized to accept the funds so made available. In exercising the authority herein conferred, the governor may stipulate as a condition of the acceptance of the act of congress by this state such conditions as in his discretion may be necessary to safeguard the interests of this state. Any federal funds received in excess of the amounts appropriated in the biennial budget or budget review process, except federal funds received under ss. 20.285 (1) (mb) and 20.345 (3) (m) and (n), shall be made available for expenditure only upon the approval of the governor and the joint committee on finance.~~

~~(6) The governor may, except as provided in sub. (1), accept for the state the provisions of any act of congress whereby funds or other benefits are made available to the state, its political subdivisions, or its citizens, so far as the governor deems such provisions to be in the public interest; and to this end the governor may take or cause to be taken all necessary acts including (without limitation because of enumeration) the making of leases or other contracts with the federal government; the preparation, adoption and execution of plans, methods, and agreements; and the designation of state, municipal or other agencies to perform specific duties.~~

~~(7) The governor may, except as provided in sub. (1), accept for the state at all times the provisions of any act of congress whereby funds are made available to the state for any purpose whatsoever, including the school health program under the social security act, and perform all other acts necessary to comply with and otherwise obtain, facilitate, expedite, and carry out the required provisions of such acts of congress.~~

SECTION 31e. 16.85 (11) of the statutes is created to read:

16.85 (11) The secretary may delegate any of the work under this subchapter to the various state agencies when he determines that the best interests of the state will be served. All such delegation will be in writing and accompanied by the proper rules and guidelines the agencies must follow to ensure performance to the satisfaction of the secretary.

SECTION 31m. 16.86 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 31s. 16.87 of the statutes is amended to read:

16.87 Approval of contracts by secretary and governor; audit. Every contract for engineering or architectural service and every contract involving an expenditure of \$2,500 or more for construction work to be done for, or furnished to the state, or any department, board, commission or officer thereof, shall, before it becomes valid or

effectual for any purpose, have indorsed thereon in writing the approval thereof of the secretary or his designated assistant, and the all such contracts over \$15,000 shall also have approval of the governor; and no payment or compensation for work done under any contract involving \$2,500 or more, except highway contracts, shall be made unless the written claim therefor is audited and approved by the secretary.

SECTION 32. 17.14 (1) (g) of the statutes is created to read:

17.14 (1) (g) Failure to use the "Wisconsin Property Assessment Manual" provided under s. 73.03 (2a) and as required by s. 70.32 (1) and 70.34. The certification of any assessor removed under this paragraph may for sufficient reason be reinstated by the secretary of revenue after one year upon formal application for reinstatement.

SECTION 32c. 18.08 (5) of the statutes is created to read:

18.08 (5) (a) On or before June 30, 1975, there shall lapse into the building trust fund \$14,000,000 in investment earnings accruing to the capital improvement fund due to the investment of moneys resulting from the contracting of public debt under the authority of s. 20.866 (2) except for the investment earnings on bond revenues under the appropriations made by ss. 20.866 (2) (r), (t), (tp), (u), (ug), (ur) and (zz). Thereafter, all investment earnings accrued to the capital improvement fund shall continue in that fund to be available for the purposes provided in this chapter.

(b) All investment earnings accrued as of June 30, 1973, to the capital improvement fund due to the investment of moneys resulting from the contracting of public debt under the authority of s. 20.866 (2) (u), (ug) and (ur) shall lapse into the highway fund and such funds shall be used for meeting periodic principal, interest and premiums due, if any, on principal repayment and interest payments provided under s. 20.395 (5) (qa), (qb) and (qc). The department of administration shall calculate the amount to be lapsed and effect the lapse as soon as practicable after July 1, 1973. Thereafter, all investment earnings accrued to the capital improvement fund shall continue in that fund to be available for the purposes provided in this chapter.

~~SECTION 32g. 20.001 (3) (c) of the statutes is amended to read:
20.001 (3) (c) *Continuing appropriations.* Continuing appropriations, indicated by the abbreviation "C" in s. 20.005, are appropriations which are expendable until fully depleted or repealed by subsequent action of the legislature, except for revenues received under s. 16.54 which shall be limited to the amounts indicated in the schedule unless modified by the governor and the joint committee on finance under s. 16.54. The appropriations for any given year shall consist of the previous fiscal year ending balance together with the revenues received or new appropriation authority granted under ss. 20.100 to 20.899 during the current fiscal year. Dollar amounts shown in the schedule under s. 20.005 represent the most reliable estimates of the amounts which will be expended during any fiscal year, but shall not be limiting, except for revenues received under s. 16.54. Continuing appropriations are indicated in ss. 20.100 to 20.899 either by the introductory phrase, "as a continuing appropriation" or by the introductory phrase "all moneys received from"~~ Vetoed in Part

SECTION 32m. 20.002 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.002 (1) EFFECTIVE PERIOD OF APPROPRIATIONS. Unless otherwise provided appropriations shall become effective on July 1 of the fiscal year shown in the schedule under s. 20.005 and shall be expendable until the following June 30. If the legislature does not amend or eliminate any existing appropriation on or before July 1 of the odd-numbered years, such existing appropriations provided for the previous fiscal year shall be in effect in the new fiscal year and all subsequent fiscal years until amended or

eliminated by the legislature. If the biennial state budget has not been enacted on or before June 30 of the odd-numbered year, the department of administration may, for accounting purposes, adjust its appropriation account structure, beginning on July 1 of the odd-numbered year, to reflect the appropriation account structure in the biennial state budget.

Vetoed
in Part

~~SECTION 32r. 20.002 (18) of the statutes is amended to read:~~

~~20.002 (18) FEDERAL REDUCTION OR TERMINATION; EFFECT. All appropriations made in this Chapter are subject to the specific provision that when and if the federal government funding of any portion of a program is reduced or terminated, state participation in the program may shall be reduced by the governor in the same proportion as such federal reduction, such state reduction to be implemented by the responsible state agency. All appropriations made to match or secure federal funds are subject to the specific provision that in the event such funds are in excess of the amounts required to match federal funds, such funds shall be placed in unallotted reserve until approved for release by the governor and the joint committee on finance. Notwithstanding any other provisions of the statutes, local units of government are hereby authorized to make similar proportionate reductions in their support of such programs.~~

SECTION 32w. 20.002 (9) of the statutes is created to read:

20.002 (9) FEDERAL REVENUE SHARING. Revenue received in July of any year under the federal state and local fiscal assistance act, relating to the revenue due for the quarter ending on the previous June 30, shall be deemed accrued receipts as of the close of the fiscal year.

SECTION 33. 20.005 of the statutes, as it affects 1973-75 appropriations, is repealed and recreated to read:

20.005 State budget. (1) SUMMARY OF ALL FUNDS. The budget governing fiscal operations for the state of Wisconsin for all funds from July 1, 1973, to June 30, 1975, is summarized as follows:

GENERAL FUND CONDITION STATEMENT

GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUE	1973-74	1974-75
Estimated Balance July 1	\$ 198,291,000	\$ 163,710,400
Federal Revenue Sharing Carried Forward from 1971-73	68,000,000	-0-
Estimated Taxes	1,099,487,700	1,162,538,300
Estimated Departmental Revenues	55,507,500	58,138,700
Federal Revenue Sharing	50,991,000	52,235,000
ORAP balances applied	-0-	326,600
TOTAL AVAILABLE	\$1,472,277,200	\$1,436,949,000
Appropriations	1,321,784,600	1,431,176,500
Estimated Lapsed Balances	-13,217,800	-14,311,800
NET APPROPRIATIONS	\$1,308,566,800	\$1,416,864,700
Estimated Balance June 30	163,710,400	20,084,300

SUMMARY OF EXPENDITURES - ALL FUNDS

	1973-74	1974-75
General Purpose Revenue	\$1,321,784,600	\$1,431,176,500
Program Revenue	266,704,500	275,075,100
Program Revenue - Federal	533,529,600	557,195,300
Segregated Funds	602,893,700	637,332,200
Segregated Funds - Federal	<u>94,640,400</u>	<u>95,804,200</u>
SUBTOTAL	\$2,819,552,800	\$2,996,583,300
Local Tax Revenue	616,932,300	633,199,700
Bond Revenue	<u>160,540,800</u>	<u>-0-</u>
GRAND TOTAL	\$3,597,025,900	\$3,629,783,000

(2) **APPROPRIATIONS.** The following tabulation lists all appropriations authorized from annual and biennial appropriations and anticipated expenditures from sum sufficient and continuing appropriations for the programs and other purposes indicated. All appropriations are authorized from the general fund unless otherwise indicated. The letter abbreviations shown designating the type of appropriation apply to both years in the schedule unless otherwise indicated. In the schedule, appropriations which vary from the standard appropriation type definitions are indicated by an asterisk (*). The variation is specifically stated in the corresponding section in ss. 20.100 to 20.899.

SECTION 34. The amounts in the summaries and schedules in section 20.005 of the statutes, as they affect 1973-75 appropriations, are created to read:

CHAPTER 90

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE SOURCE TYPE 1973-74 1974-75

COMMERCE

20.115 AGRICULTURE, DEPARTMENT OF

(1) FOOD AND TRADE REGULATION									
(a)	General program operations	GPR	A	2,644,800	2,693,700				
(b)	Meat inspection	GPR	A	928,700	947,300				
(g)	Related services	PR	C	7,500	7,500				
(i)	Pesticide control	PR	C	24,700	24,700				
(j)	Weights and measures	PR	C	77,800	79,200				
(k)	Dairy trade practices	PR	C	106,300	106,900				
(m)	Federal funds	PR-F	C	943,600	962,200				

(1) PROGRAM TOTALS

GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES	3,573,500	3,641,000
PROGRAM REVENUE	1,159,900	1,180,500
FEDERAL	(943,600)	(962,200)
OTHER	(216,300)	(218,300)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES	4,733,400	4,821,500

(2) ANIMAL DISEASE AND PLANT PEST ERADICATION

(a)	General program operations	GPR	A	2,109,500	2,122,400				
(b)	Animal disease indemnities	GPR	B	10,000	10,000				
(g)	Related services	PR	C	700	700				
(h)	Sale of supplies	PR	C	23,000	23,000				
(i)	Mink research	PR	C	3,000	3,000				
(m)	Federal funds	PR-F	C	78,300	78,900				

(2) PROGRAM TOTALS

GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES	2,119,500	2,132,400
PROGRAM REVENUE	105,000	105,600
FEDERAL	(78,300)	(78,900)
OTHER	(26,700)	(26,700)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES	2,224,500	2,238,000

(3) MARKETING SERVICES

(a)	General program operations	GPR	A	847,900	858,600				
(b)	Fruit and vegetable grading	GPR	A	18,200	18,200				
(g)	Related services	PR	C	185,600	188,600				
(i)	Marketing orders	PR	C	45,000	45,000				
(j)	Grain regulation	PR	C	686,800	694,100				
(m)	Federal funds	PR-F	C	106,900	107,100				

(3) PROGRAM TOTALS

GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES	866,100	876,800
PROGRAM REVENUE	1,024,300	1,034,800
FEDERAL	(106,900)	(107,100)
OTHER	(917,400)	(927,700)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES	1,890,400	1,911,600

(4) STATE FAIR AND RELATED PROGRAMS

(a)	Aids to agricultural societies	GPR	A	20,000	20,000				
(b)	Aids to county and district fairs	GPR	A	340,000	340,000				
(c)	County and district fair administration	GPR	A	18,900	18,900				
(d)	Lease rental payments-Olympic ice rink	GPR	S	44,200	44,200				
(g)	Olympic ice rink operations	PR	C	49,900	49,900				
(h)	State fair	PR	A	1,919,600	1,911,600				
(i)	State fair-capital improvements	PR	C	0	0				
(j)	Principal repayment and interest-state fair dev.	PR	S	0	0				

(4) PROGRAM TOTALS

GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES	423,100	423,100
PROGRAM REVENUE	1,969,500	1,961,500
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES	2,392,600	2,384,600

(8) CENTRAL ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES

(a)	General program operations	GPR	A	635,900	639,800				
(h)	Sale of supplies	PR	C	4,000	4,000				

(8) PROGRAM TOTALS

GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES	635,900	639,800
PROGRAM REVENUE	4,000	4,000
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES	639,900	643,800

20.115 DEPARTMENT TOTALS

GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES	7,618,100	7,713,100
PROGRAM REVENUE	4,262,700	4,286,400
FEDERAL	(1,128,800)	(1,148,200)
OTHER	(3,133,900)	(3,138,200)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES	11,880,800	11,999,500

20.124 BANKING, OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER

(1) SUPERVISION OF BANKS AND RELATED FINANCIAL AGENCIES

(a)	Losses on public deposits	GPR	S	0	0				
(g)	Agency collections	PR	C	1,297,700	1,337,600				

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE	SOURCE TYPE	1973-74	1974-75
(h) Unclaimed funds	PR C	0	0
(u) State deposit fund	SEG S	0	0
2 0 . 1 2 4 D E P A R T M E N T T O T A L S			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		0	0
PROGRAM REVENUE		1,297,700	1,337,600
SEGREGATED FUNDS		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		1,297,700	1,337,600
<u>20.135 BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT,</u>			
D E P A R T M E N T O F			
(1) PROMOTION OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	589,900	596,700
(b) Industrial development advertising	GPR B	75,000	75,000
(g) Gifts and grants	PR C	1,000	1,000
(m) Federal aid	PR-F C	125,000	125,000
(x) SBIC fund	SEG C	0	0
2 0 . 1 3 5 D E P A R T M E N T T O T A L S			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		664,900	671,700
PROGRAM REVENUE		126,000	126,000
FEDERAL	(125,000)	(125,000)
OTHER	(1,000)	(1,000)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		790,900	797,700
<u>20.141 OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER OF</u>			
T H E C R E D I T U N I O N S			
(1) SUPERVISION OF CREDIT UNIONS			
(g) General program operations	PR C	460,300	457,200
2 0 . 1 4 1 D E P A R T M E N T T O T A L S			
PROGRAM REVENUE		460,300	457,200
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		460,300	457,200
<u>20.143 HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY</u>			
(1) FACILITATION OF CONSTRUCTION OF HOUSING			
(a) General program operations	GPR C	0	0
2 0 . 1 4 3 D E P A R T M E N T T O T A L S			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		0	0
<u>20.145 INSURANCE, OFFICE OF THE</u>			
C O M M I S S I O N E R			
(1) SUPERVISION OF THE INSURANCE INDUSTRY			
(g) General program operations	PR C	1,180,400	1,199,800
(1) PROGRAM TOTALS		1,180,400	1,199,800
PROGRAM REVENUE		1,180,400	1,199,800
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		1,180,400	1,199,800
(2) SUPERVISION OF EMPLOYE WELFARE FUNDS			
(g) General program operations	PR C	131,400	132,000
(2) PROGRAM TOTALS		131,400	132,000
PROGRAM REVENUE		131,400	132,000
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		131,400	132,000
(3) STATE PROPERTY INSURANCE FUND			
(b) Insurance fund guarantee	GPR S	0	0
(u) Administration	SEG A	82,800	82,800
(v) Operations and benefits	SEG C	1,100,000	1,200,000
(3) PROGRAM TOTALS		0	0
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		0	0
SEGREGATED FUNDS		1,182,800	1,282,800
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		1,182,800	1,282,800
(4) STATE LIFE INSURANCE FUND			
(u) Administration	SEG A	56,800	57,400
(v) Operations and benefits	SEG C	340,000	350,000
(4) PROGRAM TOTALS		396,800	407,400
SEGREGATED FUNDS		396,800	407,400
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		396,800	407,400
(5) WISCONSIN INDEMNITY FUND			
(u) Administration	SEG A	1,000	1,000
(v) Operations and benefits	SEG C	5,000	5,000
(5) PROGRAM TOTALS		6,000	6,000
SEGREGATED FUNDS		6,000	6,000
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		6,000	6,000
(6) INSURANCE SECURITY FUND			
(u) Insurance security fund receipts	SEG C	0	0
(v) Temporary workmen's compensation insurance fd	SEG C	0	0
(6) PROGRAM TOTALS		0	0
SEGREGATED FUNDS		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		0	0

CHAPTER 90

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE	SOURCE TYPE	1973-74	1974-75
20.145 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		0	0
PROGRAM REVENUE		1,311,800	1,331,800
SEGREGATED FUNDS		1,585,600	1,696,200
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		2,897,400	3,028,000
20.155 PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION			
(1) REGULATION OF PUBLIC SERVICES			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	25,200	25,600
(g) Utility and railroad regulation	PR C	1,629,000	1,597,700
(m) Federal aid: natural gas pipeline safety	PR-F C	24,300	24,300
(u) Motor transportation regulation	SEG A	736,600	737,500
20.155 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		25,200	25,600
PROGRAM REVENUE		1,653,300	1,622,000
FEDERAL	(24,300)	(24,300)
OTHER	(1,629,000)	(1,597,700)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		736,600	737,500
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		2,415,100	2,385,100
20.165 REGULATION AND LICENSING, DEPARTMENT OF			
(1) GENERAL ADMINISTRATION			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	115,800	118,200
(c) Clerical operations	GPR A	406,600	400,900
(1) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		522,400	519,100
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		522,400	519,100
(2) OCCUPATIONAL AND PROFESSIONAL REGULATION			
(g) Accounting examining board	PR C	25,900	25,900
(gg) Archs., engrs., designers and land surveyors exam. bd.	PR C	130,800	134,500
(gt) Athletic examining board	PR C	5,700	5,700
(hg) Basic science examining board	PR C	10,200	10,200
(ht) Chiropractic examining board	PR C	6,800	6,800
(i) Dentistry examining board	PR C	22,100	22,100
(ic) Hearing aid fitters & dealers examining board	PR C	3,900	3,900
(ig) Medical examining board	PR C	67,300	68,100
(it) Nurses, division of	PR C	253,900	259,000
(iv) Nursing education	PR C	17,700	19,200
(iw) Nursing home administrator examining board	PR C	24,300	24,800
(j) Optometry examining board	PR C	21,300	21,300
(jg) Pharmacy examining board	PR C	110,200	112,800
(jt) Pharmacy internship board	PR C	22,200	23,400
(jw) Psychology examining board	PR C	3,600	3,600
(k) Real estate examining board	PR C	316,800	322,400
(kg) Veterinary examining board	PR C	7,900	7,900
(kt) Watchmaking examining board	PR C	5,500	5,500
(2) PROGRAM TOTALS			
PROGRAM REVENUE		1,056,100	1,077,100
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		1,056,100	1,077,100
20.165 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		522,400	519,100
PROGRAM REVENUE		1,056,100	1,077,100
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		1,578,500	1,596,200
20.175 SAVINGS AND LOAN, OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER OF			
(1) SUPERVISION OF SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATIONS			
(g) General program operations	PR C	313,200	319,800
20.175 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
PROGRAM REVENUE		313,200	319,800
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		313,200	319,800
20.185 SECURITIES, OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER OF			
(1) REGULATION OF THE SALE OF SECURITIES			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	340,900	350,400
(1) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		340,900	350,400
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		340,900	350,400
(2) FRANCHISE INVESTMENT REGULATION			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	54,600	56,300
(2) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		54,600	56,300
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		54,600	56,300
20.185 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		395,500	406,700
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		395,500	406,700

COMMERCE
FUNCTIONAL AREA TOTALS

GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		9,226,100		9,336,200
PROGRAM REVENUE		10,481,100		10,557,900
FEDERAL	(1,278,100)	(1,297,500)
OTHER	(9,203,000)	(9,260,400)
BOND REVENUE		0		0
SEGREGATED FUNDS		2,322,200		2,433,700
FEDERAL	(0)	(0)
OTHER	(2,322,200)	(2,433,700)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		22,029,400		22,327,800

EDUCATION

20.215 ARTS BOARD

(1) SUPPORT OF ARTS PROJECTS				
(a) General program operations	GPR	A	45,200	49,100
(g) Gifts and grants	PR	C	0	0
(m) Federal grants	PR-F	C	175,000	200,000
2 0 . 2 1 5 D E P A R T M E N T			T O T A L S	
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			45,200	49,100
PROGRAM REVENUE			175,000	200,000
FEDERAL	(175,000)	(200,000)
OTHER	(0)	(0)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			220,200	249,100

20.225 EDUCATIONAL COMMUNICATIONS BOARD

(1) INSTRUCTIONAL TECHNOLOGY				
(a) General program operations	GPR	A	1,955,300	1,983,900
(b) Utilities and heating	GPR	S	89,700	89,700
(c) Principal repayment and interest	GPR	S	91,500	89,100
(g) Gifts and grants	PR	C	0	0
(h) Instructional material	PR	C	0	0
(m) Federal grants	PR-F	C	0	0
2 0 . 2 2 5 D E P A R T M E N T			T O T A L S	
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			2,136,500	2,162,700
PROGRAM REVENUE			0	0
FEDERAL	(0)	(0)
OTHER	(0)	(0)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			2,136,500	2,162,700

20.235 HIGHER EDUCATIONAL AIDS BOARD

(1) STUDENT SUPPORT ACTIVITIES				
(a) General program operations	GPR	A	655,300	709,600
(b) Tuition grants	GPR	S	4,500,000	5,600,000
(c) Loan forgiveness critical manpower occupations	GPR	S	0	65,000
(e) Minnesota-Wisconsin student reciprocity agreement	GPR	S	0	0
(f) Honor scholarships	GPR	S	700,000	700,000
(fa) Student loan interest	GPR	S	25,000	25,000
(fb) Indian student assistance	GPR	S	375,000	400,000
(fc) Talent incentive	GPR	S	835,000	835,000
(fd) Educational manpower grants	GPR	B	300,000	300,000
(fe) Wisconsin higher education grants	GPR	B	4,559,600	4,606,500
(g) student loans	PR	C	8,500,000	9,000,000
(h) Student interest payments	PR	C	420,000	450,000
(i) Gifts and grants	PR	C	0	0
(j) Centralized collections	PR	C	0	0
(k) Write-off of defaulted student loans	PR	C	0	0
(m) Federal interest payments	PR-F	C	2,600,000	3,200,000
(n) Federal aid, state operations	PR-F	C	0	0
(no) Federal aid, aids to individ. and organ.	PR-F	C	33,000	33,000
(1) P R O G R A M			T O T A L S	
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			11,949,900	13,241,100
PROGRAM REVENUE			11,553,000	12,683,000
FEDERAL	(2,633,000)	(3,233,000)
OTHER	(8,920,000)	(9,450,000)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			23,502,900	25,924,100

(2) INSTITUTIONAL SUPPORT ACTIVITIES				
(i) Gifts and grants	PR	C	0	0
(m) General program operations	PR-F	C	69,000	69,000
(n) Federal aid, state operations	PR-F	C	61,600	61,600
(no) Federal aid, aids to individ. and organ.	PR-F	C	0	0
(2) P R O G R A M			T O T A L S	
PROGRAM REVENUE			130,600	130,600
FEDERAL	(130,600)	(130,600)
OTHER	(0)	(0)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			130,600	130,600

(3) EDUCATIONAL OPPORTUNITY ACTIVITIES				
(a) General program operations	GPR	A	181,800	186,600
(i) Gifts and grants	PR	C	0	0

CHAPTER 90

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE	SOURCE TYPE	1973-74	1974-75
(m) Federal aids, state operations	PR-F C	106,700	106,700
(mo) Federal aid, aids to individ. and organ.	PR-F C	173,700	173,700
(3) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		181,800	186,600
PROGRAM REVENUE		280,400	280,400
FEDERAL	(280,400)	(280,400)
OTHER	(0)	(0)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		462,200	467,000
(4) DENTAL EDUCATION CONTRACT			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	1,305,000	1,362,000
(4) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		1,305,000	1,362,000
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		1,305,000	1,362,000
20.235 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		13,436,700	14,789,700
PROGRAM REVENUE		11,964,000	13,094,000
FEDERAL	(3,044,000)	(3,644,000)
OTHER	(8,920,000)	(9,450,000)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		25,400,700	27,883,700
<u>20.245 HISTORICAL SOCIETY</u>			
(1) COLLECTION AND PRESERVATION OF HISTORICAL MATERIAL			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	1,933,200	1,945,700
(b) Archeological society quarterly	GPR A	800	800
(c) Heat	GPR S	19,000	19,000
(d) Historic sites acquisition and development	GPR B	50,000	50,000
(f) Historic sites operations and maintenance	GPR A	125,500	128,500
(g) Fines and collections	PR C	502,000	513,900
(h) Trust funds	PR C	164,400	165,200
(m) Federal funds	PR-F C	80,000	80,000
20.245 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		2,128,500	2,144,000
PROGRAM REVENUE		746,400	759,100
FEDERAL	(80,000)	(80,000)
OTHER	(666,400)	(679,100)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		2,874,900	2,903,100
<u>20.250 MEDICAL COLLEGE OF WISCONSIN</u>			
(1) TRAINING OF HEALTH MANPOWER			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	2,228,100	2,267,100
20.250 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		2,228,100	2,267,100
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		2,228,100	2,267,100
<u>20.255 PUBLIC INSTRUCTION, DEPARTMENT</u>			
(1) <u>OF</u> EQUAL ED. OPPORTUNITY THROUGH EDUCATION AGENCIES			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	4,590,300	3,965,900
(b) Teacher aides and language training support	GPR A	2,112,600	0
(c) Direct aids for handicapped children	GPR S	62,100	73,100
(d) State aids for handicapped children	GPR S	30,481,500	35,508,000
(e) Home instruction aids for handicapped children	GPR S	267,700	300,200
(f) Elementary and high school aid	GPR B	425,288,500	457,243,300
Applied receipts	GPR B	0	0
NET APPROPRIATION		425,288,500	457,243,300
(fa) Elementary and high school aid federal revenue sharing	GPR S	0	0
(fb) Special tuition payments	GPR A	4,270,600	4,778,700
(fc) Cooperative educational service agencies	GPR A	754,500	767,800
(fd) Special needs	GPR B	650,000	5,350,000
(fe) State school lunch aid	GPR S	884,700	1,438,200
(fh) Transportation aids	GPR B	14,092,200	14,413,000
(h) Gifts, grants and trust funds	PR C	17,400	17,400
(hz) Gifts, grants and trust funds-aids to indiv. and organ.	PR C	1,700	1,700
(i) Publications	PR C	19,800	19,900
(j) School lunch-handling charges	PR C	600,000	600,000
(k) Negative aid payments	PR B	0	0
(m) Federal aids-state operations	PR-F C	3,280,000	3,321,300
(mn) Federal aids-local assistance	PR-F C	40,304,800	40,304,800
(mo) Federal aids-individuals and organizations	PR-F C	1,436,400	1,436,400
(q) Driver education-state operations	SEG A	94,600	96,400

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE	SOURCE TYPE	1973-74	1974-75
(r) Driver education-local assistance	SEG A	2,388,300	2,392,400
(s) School library aids	SEG C	1,740,000	1,890,000
(1) PROGRAM TOTALS		483,454,700	523,838,200
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		45,660,100	45,701,500
PROGRAM REVENUE		45,021,200 (45,062,500)
FEDERAL	(638,900 (639,000)
OTHER	(4,222,900	4,378,800
SEGREGATED FUNDS		533,337,700	573,918,500
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			
(2) EQUAL ED. OPPORTUNITY THROUGH RES. SCHOOLS FOR HAND. ST.			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	2,979,000	3,047,100
(b) Utilities and heating	GPR S	95,000	95,000
(c) Principal repayment and interest	GPR S	313,200	410,500
(g) Activity therapy	PR C	9,000	9,000
(h) Gifts, grants and trust funds	PR C	40,900	40,900
(m) Federal aids-state operations	PR-F C	224,200	225,100
(2) PROGRAM TOTALS		3,387,200	3,552,600
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		274,100	275,000
PROGRAM REVENUE		224,200 (225,100)
FEDERAL	(49,900 (49,900)
OTHER	(3,661,300	3,827,600
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			
(3) IMPROVING LIBRARY SERVICES			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	1,016,100	979,000
(c) Public library systems planning grants	GPR B	3,000	3,000
(d) Aid to public library systems	GPR B	2,080,000	2,108,500
(h) Gifts, grants and trust funds	PR C	100	100
(hz) Gifts, grants and trust funds-aids to ind. and organ.	PR C	100	100
(m) Federal aids-state operations	PR-F C	286,500	287,000
(mn) Federal aids-local assistance	PR-F C	523,600	523,600
(mo) Federal aids-individuals and organizations	PR-F C	10,000	10,000
(3) PROGRAM TOTALS		3,099,100	3,090,500
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		820,300	820,800
PROGRAM REVENUE		820,100 (820,600)
FEDERAL	(200 (200)
OTHER	(3,919,400	3,911,300
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			
20.255 DEPARTMENT TOTALS		489,941,000	530,481,300
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		46,754,500	46,797,300
PROGRAM REVENUE		46,065,500 (46,108,200)
FEDERAL	(689,000 (689,100)
OTHER	(4,222,900	4,378,800
SEGREGATED FUNDS		540,918,400	581,657,400
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			
20.285 UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM			
(1) UNIVERSITY EDUCA. RESEARCH AND PUBLIC SERVICE			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	224,788,700	221,155,300
(ab) Student aid	GPR A	2,626,800	2,578,700
(ac) General program operations from funds	GPR A	0	14,679,200
(b) State veterans and public patient treatment	GPR S	3,301,000	3,667,000
(c) Utilities and heating	GPR S	10,406,200	10,984,200
(d) Principal repayment and interest	GPR S	22,645,700	24,619,300
(da) Lease rental payments	GPR S	12,370,500	12,155,000
(db) Self amortizing facilities principal and interest	GPR S	0	0
(e) Enrollment increase funding	GPR S	0	0
(f) Board on soil and water conservation districts	GPR A	450,700	354,200
(fa) General medical education operations	GPR A	2,079,800	2,471,100
(g) Physical plant service departments	PR C	0	0
(ga) Surplus auxiliary funds	PR C	0	0
(gb) Principal repayment and interest	PR S	3,505,800	3,605,600
(gc) Lease rental payments	PR C	9,719,300	9,633,600
(h) Auxiliary enterprises	PR C	57,858,100	59,400,800
(ha) Stores	PR C	978,700	978,700
(i) State laboratory of hygiene	PR C	544,900	544,900
(im) Academic student fees	PR C	71,560,600	74,151,600
(iz) General operations receipts	PR C	7,476,500	8,042,500
(j) Gifts and donations	PR C	14,416,200	14,416,200
(ja) Gifts-student loans	PR C	17,500	17,500

Vetoed in Part

CHAPTER 90

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE	SOURCE TYPE	1973-74	1974-75
(k) Adult education center operations	PR C	0	0
(ka) Sale of real property	PR C	0	0
(kb) University hospitals	PR C	21,977,900	24,060,900
(m) Federal aid	PR-F C	34,831,200	35,131,300
(ma) Federal aid-loans and grants	PR-F C	9,054,000	9,054,000
(mb) Federal aid, research	PR-F C	37,099,300	37,100,000
(n) Federal indirect cost reimbursement	PR-F C	13,689,400	12,189,400
(u) Trust fund income	SEG C	1,000,000	1,000,000
(w) Trust fund operations	SEG C	0	0
(x) Driver education teachers	SEG A	28,500	28,500
2 0 . 2 8 5 D E P A R T M E N T T O T A L S			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		278,669,400	292,664,000
PROGRAM REVENUE		282,729,400	288,327,000
FEDERAL	(94,673,900)	(93,474,700)
OTHER	(188,055,500)	(194,852,300)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		1,028,500	1,028,500
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		562,427,300	582,019,500

20.292 VOCATIONAL, TECHNICAL AND ADULT EDUC., BOARD OF

(1) ED. FOR CAREER DEVELOPMENT AND COMM. IMPROVEMENT			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	1,081,300	765,100
(c) Fire schools	GPR A	65,300	66,800
(d) State aids for vocational, technical and adult ed.	GPR A	34,455,100	43,938,300
(fr) Teachers retirement	GPR S	2,446,400	0
(fs) Teachers social security	GPR S	2,031,800	0
(g) Text material	PR C	2,000	2,000
(h) Gifts and grants	PR C	0	0
(i) Conferences	PR C	0	0
(m) Federal aid-state operations	PR-F C	1,146,700	1,143,700
(n) Federal aid-local assistance	PR-F C	10,363,900	10,872,500
(o) Federal aids-aids to individ. and organizations	PR-F C	1,288,500	1,345,500
(u) Driver education-local assistance	SEG A	157,300	157,900
(1) P R O G R A M T O T A L S			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		40,079,900	44,770,200
PROGRAM REVENUE		12,801,100	13,363,700
FEDERAL	(12,799,100)	(13,361,700)
OTHER	(2,000)	(2,000)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		157,300	157,900
TOTAL ALL SOURCES		53,038,300	58,291,800

(2) EDUCATIONAL APPROVAL BOARD

(a) General program operations	GPR A	39,700	41,300
(g) Proprietary school permits	PR C	7,900	7,700
(m) Federal aids	PR-F C	73,000	76,900
(2) P R O G R A M T O T A L S			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		39,700	41,300
PROGRAM REVENUE		80,900	84,600
FEDERAL	(73,000)	(76,900)
OTHER	(7,900)	(7,700)
TOTAL ALL SOURCES		120,600	125,900

2 0 . 2 9 2 D E P A R T M E N T T O T A L S

GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		40,119,600	44,811,500
PROGRAM REVENUE		12,882,000	13,448,300
FEDERAL	(12,872,100)	(13,438,600)
OTHER	(9,900)	(9,700)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		157,300	157,900
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		53,158,900	58,417,700

EDUCATION

FUNCTIONAL AREA TOTALS		1973-74	1974-75
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		828,705,000	889,369,400
PROGRAM REVENUE		355,251,300	362,625,700
FEDERAL	(156,910,500)	(156,945,500)
OTHER	(198,340,800)	(205,680,200)
BOND REVENUE		0	0
SEGREGATED FUNDS		5,408,700	5,565,200
FEDERAL	(0)	(0)
OTHER	(5,408,700)	(5,565,200)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		1,189,365,000	1,257,560,300

ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES

20.315 BOUNDARY AREA COMMISSION,

MINNESOTA-WISCONSIN			
(1) BOUNDARY AREA COOPERATION			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	21,600	21,600
(g) Gifts and grants	PR C	0	0
2 0 . 3 1 5 D E P A R T M E N T T O T A L S			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		21,600	21,600
PROGRAM REVENUE		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		21,600	21,600

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE	SOURCE TYPE	1973-74	1974-75
20.325 GREAT LAKES COMPACT COMMISSION			
(1) DEVELOPMENT OF SEAWAYS AND PORTS			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	18,000	18,000
20.325 DEPARTMENT TOTALS		18,000	18,000
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		18,000	18,000
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		18,000	18,000
20.355 MISSISSIPPI RIVER PARKWAY PLANNING COMMISSION			
(1) MISSISSIPPI RIVER PARKWAY PROMOTION			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	2,000	2,000
(u) Supplementary	SEG A	1,500	1,500
20.355 DEPARTMENT TOTALS		2,000	2,000
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		2,000	2,000
SEGREGATED FUNDS		1,500	1,500
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		3,500	3,500
20.370 NATURAL RESOURCES, DEPARTMENT OF			
(1) FISH AND GAME			
(a) Salmonid facility	GPR B	0	0
(dn) Aids in lieu of taxes	GPR S	122,200	147,200
(dc) Fish and wildlife aids	GPR B	327,000	327,000
(e) Development and preservation	GPR B	200,000	200,000
(em) Wolf river formula payments	GPR S	0	0
(fa) Bong area development	GPR C	0	0
(u) General program operations	SEG A	10,281,400	10,564,400
(ua) Bong area-general operations	SEG A	12,500	12,500
(ue) Wild duck and goose damage	SEG S	3,500	3,500
(uf) Bear and deer damage	SEG S	55,000	55,000
(uh) Contributions to Canadian agencies	SEG C	13,000	13,000
(um) Water regulatory structure	SEG A	6,000	6,000
(up) Topographic mapping	SEG A	31,000	31,000
(v) Taxes and assessments	SEG S	16,000	16,000
(vc) Aids in lieu of taxes	SEG S	182,900	182,900
(vm) County conservation aids	SEG A	180,000	180,000
(vn) Water access aids	SEG A	0	0
(w) Gifts and donations	SEG C	15,000	15,000
(x) Boat registration and enforcement	SEG C	331,300	284,400
(xm) Boat safety aids	SEG C	200,000	200,000
(zm) Federal aid	SEG-F C	2,266,400	2,336,400
(1) PROGRAM TOTALS		649,200	674,200
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		13,594,000	13,900,100
SEGREGATED FUNDS		(2,266,400)	(2,336,400)
FEDERAL		(11,327,600)	(11,563,700)
OTHER			
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		14,243,200	14,574,300
(2) FORESTRY			
(a) Forest crop law administration	GPR A	6,000	6,000
(b) Forest crop aids	GPR S	610,000	620,000
(dn) Aids in lieu of taxes	GPR S	73,000	94,100
(e) County forest recreation aids	GPR B	0	0
(m) Distribution of national forest income	PR-F C	150,000	150,000
(u) General program operations	SEG A	7,591,300	7,904,900
(v) Taxes and assessments	SEG S	9,000	9,000
(vc) Aids in lieu of taxes	SEG S	212,700	212,700
(vm) County forest aids	SEG S	227,500	227,500
(vn) County snowmobile trail area aids	SEG C	477,000	477,000
(vp) Snowmobile safety and certification	SEG A	80,000	80,000
(w) Gifts and donations	SEG C	1,000	1,000
(x) Registration of snowmobiles	SEG S	55,100	54,900
(z) Reforestation fund	SEG C	360,000	360,000
(za) Snowmobile enforcements aids	SEG C	89,500	89,500
(zm) Federal aid	SEG-F C	1,397,200	1,397,200
(2) PROGRAM TOTALS		689,000	720,100
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		150,000	150,000
PROGRAM REVENUE		(150,000)	(150,000)
FEDERAL		10,500,300	10,813,700
SEGREGATED FUNDS		(1,397,200)	(1,397,200)
FEDERAL		(9,103,100)	(9,416,500)
OTHER			
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		11,339,300	11,683,800
(3) PARKS			
(c) State park operations	GPR S	1,471,500	1,843,000
(dn) Aids in lieu of taxes	GPR S	64,800	125,700
(e) Local park aids	GPR B	1,000,000	1,000,000

CHAPTER 90

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE	SOURCE TYPE	1973-74	1974-75
(f) Lease rental payments-Olympic ice rink	GPR S	0	0
(g) Olympic ice rink operations	PR C	0	0
(u) General program operations	SEG A	1,386,000	1,181,900
(v) Taxes and assessments	SEG S	10,000	10,000
(vc) Aids in lieu of taxes	SEG S	24,300	300
(w) Gifts and donations	SEG C	15,000	15,000
(z) Motorcycle recreation	SEG C	82,500	90,000
(zm) Federal aid	SEG-F C	725,000	725,000
(3) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		2,536,300	2,968,700
PROGRAM REVENUE		0	0
SEGREGATED FUNDS		2,242,800	2,046,200
FEDERAL	(725,000)	(725,000)
OTHER	(1,517,800)	(1,321,200)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		4,779,100	5,014,900
(4) TOURISM AND INFORMATION			
(a) General program operations, commercial recreation	GPR A	106,300	107,000
(b) Natural beauty council	GPR A	17,500	17,800
(c) Advertising Wisconsin	GPR A	300,000	300,000
(d) Tourist information centers	GPR B	166,900	150,100
(u) General program operations	SEG A	406,900	423,200
(w) Gifts and donations	SEG C	1,000	1,000
(z) Advertising Wisconsin	SEG A	300,000	300,000
(zm) Federal aid	SEG-F C	0	0
(4) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		590,700	574,900
SEGREGATED FUNDS		707,900	724,200
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		1,298,600	1,299,100
(5) ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	4,075,300	4,028,400
(b) Water research	GPR B	121,000	113,000
(c) Payments to municipalities and school districts	GPR S	64,000	64,000
(d) Principal repayment and interest	GPR S	7,501,500	10,568,800
(f) Aids to counties-air pollution	GPR B	30,000	30,000
(fm) Aids to municipalities	GPR B	50,000	50,000
(fx) Milwaukee county air pollution program aids	GPR A	100,000	100,000
(i) Gifts and grants	PR C	7,700	7,700
(m) Federal aid	PR-F C	859,200	824,200
(5) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		11,941,800	14,954,200
PROGRAM REVENUE		866,900	831,900
FEDERAL	(859,200)	(824,200)
OTHER	(7,700)	(7,700)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		12,808,700	15,786,100
(6) TRUST LANDS AND INVESTMENT			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	144,600	146,400
(m) Federal aid - flood control	PR-F C	5,000	5,000
(6) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		144,600	146,400
PROGRAM REVENUE		5,000	5,000
FEDERAL	(5,000)	(5,000)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		149,600	151,400
(7) OUTDOOR RECREATION PROGRAM			
(a) General program operations	GPR C	6,737,500	7,703,600
Allocated to other programs	GPR C	-6,580,700	-7,703,600
NET APPROPRIATION		156,800	0
(b) Principal repayment and interest	GPR S	2,103,300	2,761,500
(c) Recreation planning	GPR B	25,000	25,000
(d) Recreation and natural resources planning aids	GPR B	45,000	45,000
(e) Youth camps and work projects	GPR B	532,300	532,300
(em) Principal repayment and interest	GPR S	0	0
(7) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		2,862,400	3,363,800
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		2,862,400	3,363,800
(8) GENERAL SERVICES			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	1,931,100	1,962,300
(b) Scientific areas preservation	GPR B	50,000	50,000
(m) Federal aid-water resources planning	PR-F C	70,000	70,000
(u) General program operations	SEG A	6,928,000	7,325,600
(wc) Car pool operations	SEG C	17,000	17,000
(zm) Federal aids	SEG-F C	1,000,500	1,000,500
(zn) Federal aid - local assistance	SEG-F C	1,385,000	1,385,000

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE	SOURCE TYPE	1973-74	1974-75
(8) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		1,981,100	2,012,300
PROGRAM REVENUE		70,000	70,000
FEDERAL	(70,000)	(70,000)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		9,330,500	9,728,100
FEDERAL	(2,385,500)	(2,385,500)
OTHER	(6,945,000)	(7,342,600)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		11,381,600	11,810,400
20.370 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		21,395,100	25,414,600
PROGRAM REVENUE		1,091,900	1,056,900
FEDERAL	(1,084,200)	(1,049,200)
OTHER	(7,700)	(7,700)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		36,375,500	37,212,300
FEDERAL	(6,774,100)	(6,844,100)
OTHER	(29,601,400)	(30,368,200)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		58,862,500	63,683,800
20.395 TRANSPORTATION, DEPARTMENT OF			
(1) TRANSPORTATION LOCAL AIDS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE			
(q) State agency assistance	SEG A	4,325,800	4,339,100
Allocated to other departments	SEG A	-4,325,800	-4,339,100
NET APPROPRIATION		0	0
(qa) Highway mileage aids	SEG S	12,674,800	12,928,300
(qb) Highway supplemental aids	SEG C	68,395,400	73,967,200
(qc) Topographic maps	SEG A	157,000	157,000
(qd) Aids to localities	SEG A	12,089,200	12,618,400
Allocated to shared tax account	SEG A	-12,089,200	-12,618,400
NET APPROPRIATION		0	0
(qe) Milwaukee patrol reimbursement	SEG A	480,600	480,600
(qf) Services of the attorney			
general	SEG A	120,000	120,000
(qg) Filing fees	SEG S	171,600	171,600
(1) PROGRAM TOTALS		81,999,400	87,824,700
SEGREGATED FUNDS		81,999,400	87,824,700
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		81,999,400	87,824,700
(2) TRANS. REGISTRATION, LICENSING, INSPECT AND ENFORCE			
(q) General program operations	SEG A	25,079,500	26,758,300
(z) Federal aids and grants	SEG-F C	500,000	500,000
(za) Federal aid, civil defense	SEG-F C	25,000	25,000
(2) PROGRAM TOTALS		25,604,500	27,283,300
SEGREGATED FUNDS		25,604,500	27,283,300
FEDERAL	(525,000)	(525,000)
OTHER	(25,079,500)	(26,758,300)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		25,604,500	27,283,300
(3) TRANSPORTATION FACILITY MAINTENANCE AND OPERATIONS			
(q) General program operations	SEG B	38,050,000	39,896,800
(qa) Non-state highway bridge operations	SEG A	600,000	625,000
(3) PROGRAM TOTALS		38,650,000	40,521,800
SEGREGATED FUNDS		38,650,000	40,521,800
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		38,650,000	40,521,800
(4) TRANSPORTATION FACILITY DEVELOPMENT & IMPROVEMENT			
(a) Scenic easements	GPR B	180,000	180,000
(q) General program operations, highways	SEG C	37,635,400	33,518,700
(qa) State park and forest roads	SEG A	700,000	700,000
(qb) Access to navigable waters	SEG A	100,000	100,000
(qc) Institution roads	SEG A	200,000	200,000
(qd) Railroad grade crossing protection	SEG A	500,000	500,000
(qe) Non-state highway improvements	SEG A	200,000	200,000
(qf) State trunk highway allotment, counties	SEG S	8,050,000	8,050,000
(u) Special construction funds engineering services	SEG C	5,200,000	6,100,000
(w) Special highway improvement funds, on sth system	SEG C	4,300,000	4,500,000
(wa) Special highway improvement funds, off sth system	SEG C	16,726,000	6,361,800
(y) Federal aid, highways	SEG-F C	21,014,400	21,468,300
(ya) Federal aid, highways local assistance	SEG-F C	12,756,000	13,094,000
(4) PROGRAM TOTALS		120,000	180,000
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		120,000	180,000
SEGREGATED FUNDS		107,381,800	94,792,800
FEDERAL	(33,770,400)	(34,562,300)
OTHER	(73,611,400)	(60,230,500)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		107,561,800	94,972,800
(5) TRANSPORTATION FACILITY DEBT SERVICE			

CHAPTER 90

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE	SOURCE TYPE	1973-74	1974-75
(q) Interstate bond retirement, sinking fund	SEG C	12,632,900	8,286,000
(qa) Principal repay and interest, highways	SEG S	10,435,100	18,078,500
(qb) Principal repay and interest, bridges	SEG S	2,363,900	3,118,300
(qc) Principal repay and interest, capital facilities	SEG S	88,800	89,200
(qd) Principal repay and interest, state trunk highways	SEG S		
(5) PROGRAM		TOTALS	
SEGREGATED FUNDS		25,520,700	29,572,000
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		25,520,700	29,572,000
(6) AIRPORTS AND AERONAUTICAL ACTIVITIES			
(g) General program operations	PR A	1,372,100	1,436,800
(j) Sponsors contributions, airports	PR C	2,259,800	2,351,300
(m) Federal aids, airports	PR-F C	2,273,800	2,365,900
(6) PROGRAM		TOTALS	
PROGRAM REVENUE		5,905,700	6,154,000
FEDERAL	(2,273,800)	(2,365,900)
OTHER	(3,631,900)	(3,788,100)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		5,905,700	6,154,000
(7) MASS TRANSPORTATION ACTIVITIES			
(f) General fund supplement to the transportation aids fund	GPR C	3,500,000	3,500,000
(u) General program operations	SEG A	0	0
(v) Mass transit aids	SEG C	0	0
(w) Mass transit planning and demonstration projects	SEG C	0	0
(wa) Special funds	SEG C	0	0
(z) Federal highway and transit aids for urban areas	SEG-F C	25,056,000	25,000,000
(7) PROGRAM		TOTALS	
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		3,500,000	3,500,000
SEGREGATED FUNDS		25,056,000	25,000,000
FEDERAL	(25,056,000)	(25,000,000)
OTHER	(0)	(0)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		28,556,000	28,500,000
(8) TRANSPORTATION ADMINISTRATION AND PLANNING			
(q) General program operations, administration	SEG A	15,831,900	15,622,800
(qa) General program operations, planning	SEG A	2,255,300	2,188,500
(y) Federal aid, highway planning	SEG-F C	822,600	834,700
(ya) Federal aid, transportation	SEG-F C	0	0
(z) Federal aids and grants	SEG-F C	0	0
(8) PROGRAM		TOTALS	
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		0	0
SEGREGATED FUNDS		18,909,800	18,646,000
FEDERAL	(822,600)	(834,700)
OTHER	(18,087,200)	(17,811,300)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		18,909,800	18,646,000
20.395 DEPARTMENT		TOTALS	
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		3,680,000	3,680,000
PROGRAM REVENUE		5,905,700	6,154,000
FEDERAL	(2,273,800)	(2,365,900)
OTHER	(3,631,900)	(3,788,100)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		323,122,200	323,640,600
FEDERAL	(60,174,000)	(60,922,000)
OTHER	(262,948,200)	(262,718,600)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		332,707,900	333,474,600
ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES			
FUNCTIONAL AREA TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		25,116,700	29,136,200
PROGRAM REVENUE		6,997,600	7,210,900
FEDERAL	(3,358,000)	(3,415,100)
OTHER	(3,639,600)	(3,795,800)
BOND REVENUE		0	0
SEGREGATED FUNDS		359,499,200	360,854,400
FEDERAL	(66,948,100)	(67,766,100)
OTHER	(292,551,100)	(293,088,300)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		391,613,500	397,201,500

HUMAN RELATIONS AND RESOURCES

20.425 EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS

COMMISSION

(1) PROMOTION OF PEACE IN LABOR RELATIONS			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	632,200	628,600
(g) Publications	PR C	3,500	3,500

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE		SOURCE TYPE		1973-74	1974-75
20.425 DEPARTMENT		TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES				632,200	628,600
PROGRAM REVENUE				3,500	3,500
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES				635,700	632,100
20.430 BOARD ON AGING					
(1) IDENTIFICATION OF NEEDS OF THE ELDERLY					
(a)	General program operations	GPR	A	28,200	27,500
(g)	Gifts and grants	PR	C	0	0
20.430 DEPARTMENT		TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES				28,200	27,500
PROGRAM REVENUE				0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES				28,200	27,500
20.435 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPARTMENT OF					
(1) PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES					
(a)	General program operations	GPR	A	4,232,400	4,607,400
(b)	Aids for county nurses	GPR	S	67,000	67,000
(c)	Aids to tuberculosis sanatoria	GPR	S	847,000	400,000
(gm)	Licensing activities	PR	C	1,200,600	1,289,600
(hm)	Internal services	PR	C	446,900	483,200
(i)	Gifts and grants	PR	C	14,200	14,200
(j)	Fees for accreditations	PR	C	0	0
(kk)	Radiation protection act	PR	C	15,300	15,700
(kz)	Reimbursement for medical supplies	PR	C	11,500	11,600
(p)	Federal aid for public health	PR-F	C	3,070,000	3,090,800
(pa)	Federal aid for hospital construction	PR-F	C	2,332,200	2,332,200
(pb)	Other federal grants	PR-F	C	340,700	340,700
(pc)	Mental retardation facilities construction-federal aid	PR-F	C	29,800	29,800
(pd)	Mental health center construction-federal aid	PR-F	C	580,000	580,000
		(1) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES				5,146,400	5,074,400
PROGRAM REVENUE				8,041,200	8,187,800
FEDERAL		(6,352,700)	(6,373,500)
OTHER		(1,688,500)	(1,814,300)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES				13,187,600	13,262,200
(2) MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES					
(a)	General program operations	GPR	A	61,657,200	62,466,400
	Allocated to applied receipts	GPR	A	-33,500,800	-34,253,500
		NET APPROPRIATION		28,156,400	28,212,900
(aa)	Institution repair and maintenance	GPR	A	507,700	507,700
(b)	Community mental health services	GPR	A	11,232,400	21,783,900
(c)	Development disability servs	GPR	A	4,096,100	6,264,000
(d)	Aids to county institutions	GPR	S	48,907,200	295,600
(e)	Aids for interest on county construction loans	GPR	S	1,456,900	907,500
(ee)	Principal repayment and interest	GPR	S	1,463,100	1,651,200
(ef)	Lease rental payments	GPR	S	1,213,900	1,125,200
(f)	Utilities and heating	GPR	S	1,318,600	1,302,600
(g)	Farm operations	PR	C	240,400	253,800
(h)	Activity therapy	PR	C	10,100	10,100
(i)	Gifts and grants	PR	C	0	0
(j)	Medical assistance revenue	PR	C	33,500,800	34,253,500
(m)	Federal aid projects	PR-F	C	2,465,600	2,592,300
(n)	Federal aid programs	PR-F	C	651,700	669,100
(o)	Federal purchased services	PR-F	C	7,052,900	8,768,000
		(2) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES				98,352,300	62,050,600
PROGRAM REVENUE				43,921,500	46,546,800
FEDERAL		(10,170,200)	(12,029,400)
OTHER		(33,751,300)	(34,517,400)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES				142,273,800	108,597,400
(3) CORRECTIONAL SERVICES					
(a)	General program operations	GPR	A	34,401,200	35,575,400
(aa)	Institution repair and maintenance	GPR	A	162,800	162,800
(c)	Reimbursement claims counties containing state instit.	GPR	S	39,300	39,300
(d)	Purchased services for offenders	GPR	A	1,500,000	1,538,400
(e)	Principal repayment and interest	GPR	S	2,430,500	2,425,900
(ee)	Lease rental payments	GPR	S	1,213,200	1,177,100
(f)	Utilities and heating	GPR	S	903,800	922,000
(g)	Farm operations	PR	C	662,700	304,200
(h)	Activity therapy	PR	C	17,300	14,600
(i)	Gifts and grants	PR	C	0	0

CHAPTER 90

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE		SOURCE TYPE		1973-74	1974-75
(j)	Prison industries	PR	C	2,652,700	2,688,800
(jm)	Central generating plant	PR	C	524,500	555,100
(k)	Girls school benevolent fund	PR	C	1,000	1,000
(km)	Absconding probationers	PR	C	6,000	6,000
(kr)	Sale of land	PR	C	0	0
(m)	Federal aids-projects	PR-F	C	1,411,700	1,406,100
(n)	Federal aid programs	PR-F	C	750,000	750,000
(3) PROGRAM				TOTALS	
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES				40,650,800	41,840,900
PROGRAM REVENUE				6,025,900	5,725,800
FEDERAL				(2,161,700)	(2,156,100)
OTHER				(3,864,200)	(3,569,700)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES				46,676,700	47,566,700
(4) FAMILY SERVICES					
(a)	General program operations	GPR	A	9,668,500	9,928,500
(aa)	Institution repair and maintenance	GPR	A	8,300	8,300
(b)	Foster care	GPR	A	2,797,200	3,083,400
(bb)	Improve services for aging	GPR	A	107,500	110,200
(c)	Social security aids-medical	GPR	S	87,415,100	126,638,500
(cc)	Special aid to counties-medical assis. in colonies	GPR	A	1,940,000	0
(d)	Social security aids; grants and administration	GPR	S	40,057,000	55,850,200
(dc)	Emergency assistance program	GPR	A	900,000	900,000
(df)	County administration	GPR	A	7,356,600	10,131,400
(dh)	Purchase of care and services	GPR	A	9,140,800	13,155,400
(e)	Other public assistance aids	GPR	S	1,245,000	1,310,000
(ed)	State supplement to federal ssi program	GPR	A	10,979,300	21,167,000
(eg)	State supplement, older Americans act	GPR	A	20,000	20,000
(eh)	Aids for interest for county construction loans	GPR	S	1,494,400	1,853,000
(f)	Utilities and heating	GPR	S	29,900	29,900
(i)	Gifts and grants	PR	C	1,600	1,600
(j)	Grants and gifts to the div. of aging	PR	C	0	0
(k)	Professional training	PR	C	530,000	560,000
(m)	Federal aid projects	PR-F	C	97,700	68,800
(n)	Federal aid-programs	PR-F	C	5,238,300	5,129,200
(o)	Social security-federal aid medical	PR-F	C	156,767,700	175,094,100
(p)	Social security fed aids grant and admin	PR-F	C	149,556,600	150,151,600
(4) PROGRAM				TOTALS	
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES				173,159,600	244,185,800
PROGRAM REVENUE				312,191,900	331,005,300
FEDERAL				(311,660,300)	(330,443,700)
OTHER				(531,600)	(561,600)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES				485,351,500	575,191,100
(5) VOCATIONAL REHABILITATION SERVICES					
(a)	General program operations	GPR	A	2,504,800	1,510,000
(aa)	Institution repair and maintenance	GPR	A	2,800	2,800
(b)	Disability determinations	GPR	S	3,500	3,500
(c)	Wisconsin service bureau for the deaf	GPR	A	36,100	38,600
(d)	Workshop for the blind	GPR	A	180,100	178,600
(e)	Purchased rehabilitation services	GPR	A	2,490,700	2,684,000
(f)	Utilities and heating	GPR	S	5,300	5,400
(i)	Gifts and grants	PR	C	83,600	83,600
(j)	Artificial limbs and appliances	PR	C	900	900
(jj)	Workshop for the blind	PR	C	439,500	455,100
(kz)	Homebound supplies	PR	C	3,200	3,200
(m)	Federal aids projects	PR-F	C	907,500	901,200
(n)	Federal aid-programs	PR-F	C	4,505,800	6,347,200
(o)	Purchased rehabilitation services	PR-F	A	9,809,200	10,565,200
(pm)	Federal reimbursement	PR-F	C	1,654,600	1,798,700
(5) PROGRAM				TOTALS	
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES				5,223,300	4,422,900
PROGRAM REVENUE				17,404,300	20,155,100
FEDERAL				(16,877,100)	(19,612,300)
OTHER				(527,200)	(542,800)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES				22,627,600	24,578,000
(8) GENERAL ADMINISTRATION					
(a)	General program operations	GPR	A	4,874,800	4,954,300
(f)	Utilities and heating	GPR	S	1,700	1,700
(g)	Data processing services	PR	C	35,000	35,000

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE	SOURCE TYPE	1973-74	1974-75
(i) Gifts and grants	PR C	0	0
(j) Central warehouse	PR C	722,000	725,800
(k) Collections at university hospitals	PR C	0	0
(kk) Auto pool operations	PR C	210,000	210,000
(m) Federal aid, projects	PR-F C	0	0
(n) Federal aid, programs	PR-F C	0	0
(o) Federal aid for civil defense	PR-F C	0	0
(8) P R O G R A M	T O T A L S		
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		4,876,500	4,956,000
PROGRAM REVENUE		967,000	970,800
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		5,843,500	5,926,800
20.435 DEPARTMENT	T O T A L S		
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		327,408,900	362,530,600
PROGRAM REVENUE		388,551,800	412,591,600
FEDERAL	(347,222,000)	(370,615,000)
OTHER	(41,329,800)	(41,976,600)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		715,960,700	775,122,200
<u>20.445 INDUSTRY, LABOR AND HUMAN RELATIONS, DEPT. OF</u>			
(1) INDUSTRY, LABOR AND HUMAN RELATIONS			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	5,632,800	5,589,800
(b) Com. on the employment of the handicapped	GPR A	2,100	2,200
(c) Work incentive program	GPR A	970,000	960,000
(e) Summer youth employment projects	GPR A	100,000	100,000
(f) Death and disability benefit payments	GPR S	0	0
(g) Gifts and grants	PR C	400	400
(m) Federal funds	PR-F C	870,000	870,000
(o) Federal funds, occupational safety	PR-F C	917,900	916,600
(u) Unemployment administration fund-federal	SEG-F C	22,341,300	22,746,900
(v) Unemployment administration-state funds	SEG C	9,000	9,000
(w) Unemployment administration fd work incentive program	SEG-F C	5,156,500	5,096,800
(x) Employment security building projects	SEG-F C	194,500	194,400
(y) Administrative financing account	SEG C	0	0
(1) P R O G R A M	T O T A L S		
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		6,704,900	6,652,000
PROGRAM REVENUE		1,788,300	1,787,000
FEDERAL	(1,787,900)	(1,786,600)
OTHER	(400)	(400)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		27,701,300	28,047,100
FEDERAL	(27,692,300)	(28,038,100)
OTHER	(9,000)	(9,000)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		36,194,500	36,486,100
(7) NON-BUDGET ACCOUNTS			
(q) Death benefit fund	SEG C	0	0
(r) Injuries indemnity fund	SEG C	0	0
(7) P R O G R A M	T O T A L S		
SEGREGATED FUNDS		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		0	0
20.445 DEPARTMENT	T O T A L S		
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		6,704,900	6,652,000
PROGRAM REVENUE		1,788,300	1,787,000
FEDERAL	(1,787,900)	(1,786,600)
OTHER	(400)	(400)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		27,701,300	28,047,100
FEDERAL	(27,692,300)	(28,038,100)
OTHER	(9,000)	(9,000)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		36,194,500	36,486,100
<u>20.455 JUSTICE, DEPARTMENT OF</u>			
(1) ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	323,900	331,200
(m) Federal aid	PR-F C	25,200	25,200
(1) P R O G R A M	T O T A L S		
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		323,900	331,200
PROGRAM REVENUE		25,200	25,200
FEDERAL	(25,200)	(25,200)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		349,100	356,400
(2) LEGAL SERVICES			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	1,951,300	1,991,800
(b) Special counsel	GPR S	50,000	50,000
(d) Legal expenses	GPR S	425,000	420,000
(m) Federal aid	PR-F C	109,500	239,900

CHAPTER 90

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE	SOURCE TYPE	1973-74	1974-75
(2) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		2,426,300	2,461,800
PROGRAM REVENUE		109,500	239,900
FEDERAL	(109,500)	(239,900)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		2,535,800	2,701,700
(3) CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	2,257,400	2,308,700
(b) Aid to counties for law enforcement	GPR A	15,000	15,000
(m) Federal aid	PR-F C	228,400	237,000
(3) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		2,272,400	2,323,700
PROGRAM REVENUE		228,400	237,100
FEDERAL	(228,400)	(237,100)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		2,500,800	2,560,800
(4) LAW ENFORCEMENT SERVICES			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	1,903,100	2,022,200
(b) Training aids	GPR A	145,600	169,100
(g) Crime laboratory service fees	PR C	109,300	0
(h) Terminal charges	PR C	292,500	292,500
(m) Federal aid, state operations	PR-F C	159,300	158,200
(n) Federal aid, local assistance	PR-F C	376,900	376,900
(4) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		2,048,700	2,191,300
PROGRAM REVENUE		938,000	827,600
FEDERAL	(536,200)	(535,100)
OTHER	(401,800)	(292,500)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		2,986,700	3,018,900
20.455 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		7,071,300	7,308,000
PROGRAM REVENUE		1,301,100	1,329,800
FEDERAL	(899,300)	(1,037,300)
OTHER	(401,800)	(292,500)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		8,372,400	8,637,800
<u>20.465 MILITARY AFFAIRS, DEPARTMENT OF</u>			
(1) NATIONAL GUARD OPERATIONS			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	1,205,200	1,248,900
(b) Repair and maintenance	GPR B	109,100	109,100
(c) Public emergencies	GPR S	93,600	93,600
(e) State service flags	GPR A	200	200
(f) Fuel	GPR S	182,500	201,100
(g) Military property	PR C	22,000	22,000
(m) Federal aid	PR-F C	1,095,500	1,144,400
20.465 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		1,590,600	1,652,900
PROGRAM REVENUE		1,117,500	1,166,400
FEDERAL	(1,095,500)	(1,144,400)
OTHER	(22,000)	(22,000)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		2,708,100	2,819,300
<u>20.485 VETERANS AFFAIRS, DEPARTMENT OF</u>			
(1) HOME FOR VETERANS			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	5,792,000	5,716,800
(c) Fuel	GPR S	109,800	109,800
(d) Cemetery maintenance and beautification	GPR A	1,000	1,000
(e) Lease rental payments	GPR S	27,800	27,800
(f) Principal repayment and interest	GPR S	191,400	191,600
(g) Home exchange	PR C	60,000	61,500
(h) Gifts and bequests	PR C	27,000	27,000
(i) Prepaid care	PR C	0	0
(m) Federal aid	PR-F C	0	0
(u) Construction	SEG S	0	0
(1) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		6,122,000	6,047,000
PROGRAM REVENUE		87,000	88,500
SEGREGATED FUNDS		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		6,209,000	6,135,500
(2) LOANS AND AIDS TO VETERANS			
(b) Housing loan interest loss	GPR S	377,000	377,000
(e) Vietnam veteran educational grants	GPR S	2,600,000	2,900,000
(f) General fund supplement to veterans trust fund	GPR B	667,000	1,033,000
(m) Federal aid projects	PR-F C	64,000	66,100
(u) Administration of loans and aids to veterans	SEG A	1,662,900	1,468,800
(um) Veterans loans and aids	SEG S	880,500	957,500
(v) Operation of memorial hall	SEG A	31,200	31,700
(vm) Veterans memorial council	SEG A	300	300
(vn) United Spanish war veterans	SEG A	1,000	1,000
(w) Payments to veterans orgs. for claim service	SEG S	20,000	20,000

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE	SOURCE TYPE	1973-74	1974-75
(wn) Homes for needy veterans	SEG C	0	0
(x) Veterans loans	SEG C	0	0
(xm) Transfer to investment board	SEG S	0	0
(y) Veterans housing loans and expenses	SEG S	0	0
(z) Gifts	SEG C	0	0
(2) PROGRAM	TOTALS		
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		3,644,000	4,310,000
PROGRAM REVENUE		64,000	66,100
FEDERAL	(64,000)	(66,100)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		2,595,900	2,479,300
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		6,303,900	6,855,400
20.485 DEPARTMENT	TOTALS		
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		9,766,000	10,357,000
PROGRAM REVENUE		151,000	154,600
FEDERAL	(64,000)	(66,100)
OTHER	(87,000)	(88,500)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		2,595,900	2,479,300
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		12,512,900	12,990,900
HUMAN RELATIONS AND RESOURCES	FUNCTIONAL AREA TOTALS		
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		353,202,100	389,156,600
PROGRAM REVENUE		392,913,200	417,032,900
FEDERAL	(351,068,700)	(374,649,400)
OTHER	(41,844,500)	(42,383,500)
BOND REVENUE		0	0
SEGREGATED FUNDS		30,297,200	30,526,400
FEDERAL	(27,692,300)	(28,038,100)
OTHER	(2,604,900)	(2,488,300)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		776,412,500	836,715,900
GENERAL EXECUTIVE			
20.505 ADMINISTRATION, DEPARTMENT OF			
(1) ADMINISTRATION, SUPERVISION, AND MANAGEMENT SERVICES			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	10,165,400	10,259,400
(b) Computer-assisted printing composition	GPR B	0	0
(c) Land use planning grants	GPR A	80,000	0
(d) Utilities and heating	GPR S	781,300	787,300
(g) Private consultants	PR C	2,000	0
(i) Merchandise and services	PR C	11,156,300	11,369,900
(j) Gifts and donations	PR C	0	0
(k) Identification card costs	PR C	20,000	20,000
(m) Federal grants and contracts	PR-F C	1,075,200	1,129,800
(n) Federal aid-local assistance	PR-F C	1,717,200	1,717,200
(1) PROGRAM	TOTALS		
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		11,026,700	11,046,700
PROGRAM REVENUE		13,970,700	14,236,900
FEDERAL	(2,792,400)	(2,847,000)
OTHER	(11,178,300)	(11,389,900)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		24,997,400	25,283,600
(2) MANAGEMENT CONSULTANTS			
(a) Consultant services	GPR B	200,000	175,000
(2) PROGRAM	TOTALS		
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		200,000	175,000
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		200,000	175,000
(3) ADJUDICATION OF CLAIMS			
(a) Claims board	GPR S	15,000	15,000
(3) PROGRAM	TOTALS		
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		15,000	15,000
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		15,000	15,000
(4) TAX APPEAL ADJUDICATION			
(a) Adjudication of tax appeals	GPR A	127,500	132,100
(b) Adjudication of equalization appeals	GPR S	0	0
(4) PROGRAM	TOTALS		
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		127,500	132,100
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		127,500	132,100
(5) SPECIAL AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	125,000	75,000
(b) Commission on the status of women	GPR A	20,000	20,000
(g) Gifts and grants	PR C	0	0
(m) Federal aid	PR-F C	100,000	100,000
(5) PROGRAM	TOTALS		
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		145,000	95,000
PROGRAM REVENUE		100,000	100,000
FEDERAL	(100,000)	(100,000)
OTHER	(0)	(0)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		245,000	195,000

Vetoed in Part

CHAPTER 90

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE	SOURCE TYPE	1973-74	1974-75
(7) PERSONNEL BOARD			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	52,200	50,200
(7) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		52,200	50,200
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		52,200	50,200
(8) DIVISION OF HEALTH POLICY AND PLANNING			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	205,100	206,600
(m) Federal aid	PR-F C	117,000	117,000
(8) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		205,100	206,600
PROGRAM REVENUE		117,000	117,000
FEDERAL	(117,000)	(117,000)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		322,100	323,600
20.505 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		11,771,500	11,720,600
PROGRAM REVENUE		14,187,700	14,453,900
FEDERAL	(3,009,400)	(3,064,000)
OTHER	(11,178,300)	(11,389,900)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		25,959,200	26,174,500
20.515 EMPLOYE TRUST FUNDS			
(1) ADMINISTRATION OF BENEFIT PLANS			
(w) General program operations	SEG C	2,740,600	2,819,300
(1) PROGRAM TOTALS			
SEGREGATED FUNDS		2,740,600	2,819,300
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		2,740,600	2,819,300
(2) BENEFIT AND COVERAGE PAYMENTS			
(a) Teachers supplements	GPR S	1,947,500	1,850,000
(b) Old state employes benefits	GPR S	3,500	3,100
(c) Contingencies	GPR S	0	0
(q) Conservation warden benefits	SEG S	176,600	180,600
(s) Milwaukee teachers benefits	SEG S	5,084,000	5,414,000
(u) State teachers benefits	SEG S	30,433,600	33,158,900
(v) State and municipal employe benefits	SEG S	25,975,000	28,369,000
(w) Premium payments	SEG S	32,730,000	40,146,000
(x) Payments to the U.S. treasury	SEG S	202,250,000	223,046,000
(2) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		1,951,000	1,853,100
SEGREGATED FUNDS		296,649,200	330,314,500
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		298,600,200	332,167,600
20.515 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		1,951,000	1,853,100
SEGREGATED FUNDS		299,389,800	333,133,800
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		301,340,800	334,986,900
20.521 ETHICS BOARD			
(1) CODE OF ETHICS			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	40,000	40,000
(g) Gifts and grants	PR C	0	0
20.521 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		40,000	40,000
PROGRAM REVENUE		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		40,000	40,000
20.525 EXECUTIVE OFFICE			
(1) EXECUTIVE OFFICE AND RESIDENCE OPERATIONS			
(a) Staff salaries	GPR A	372,600	369,800
(b) General program operations	GPR S	79,100	79,100
(c) Contingent fund	GPR S	77,600	79,000
(d) Governors conference dues	GPR S	8,500	8,500
(e) Disability board	GPR S	0	0
(m) Federal aid	PR-F C	0	0
(1) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		537,800	536,400
PROGRAM REVENUE		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		537,800	536,400
(2) HIGHWAY SAFETY COORDINATION			
(m) Federal aid, state operations	PR-F C	157,800	156,000
(n) Federal aid, local assistance	PR-F C	1,020,500	1,220,500
(o) Federal aid, state agencies	PR-F C	954,600	954,600
Allocated to other departments	PR-F C	-954,600	-954,600
NET APPROPRIATION		0	0
(p) Federal aid, highway safety promotion	PR-F C	60,000	65,000
(q) General program operations	SEG A	157,800	156,000
(2) PROGRAM TOTALS			
PROGRAM REVENUE		1,238,300	1,441,500
FEDERAL	(1,238,300)	(1,441,500)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		157,800	156,000
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		1,396,100	1,597,500
(3) COUNCIL ON CRIMINAL JUSTICE			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	81,900	83,100

CHAPTER 90

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE	SOURCE TYPE	1973-74	1974-75
(b) Planning and administration project aid local assist	GPR B	61,000	61,000
(c) Law enforcement improvement proj aid local assist	GPR B	667,000	750,000
(d) Law enforcement improvement proj aid state operations	GPR B	700,000	700,000
(h) Gifts and grants	PR C	0	0
(m) Federal aid planning and admin state operations	PR-F C	737,600	748,100
(n) Federal aid planning and admin local assistance	PR-F C	550,000	550,000
(o) Federal aid law enforcement improvement sta operations	PR-F C	4,745,000	4,745,000
(p) Federal aid law enforcement improvement local assistance	PR-F C	6,870,000	6,870,000
(3) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		1,509,900	1,594,100
PROGRAM REVENUE		12,902,600	12,913,100
FEDERAL	(12,902,600)	(12,913,100)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		14,412,500	14,507,200
(4) COUNCIL FOR CONSUMER AFFAIRS			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	50,000	50,000
(4) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		50,000	50,000
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		50,000	50,000
(5) MANPOWER PLANNING COUNCIL			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	16,100	18,800
(m) Federal aid	PR-F C	200,000	200,000
(5) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		16,100	18,800
PROGRAM REVENUE		200,000	200,000
FEDERAL	(200,000)	(200,000)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		216,100	218,800
20.525 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		2,113,800	2,199,300
PROGRAM REVENUE		14,340,900	14,554,600
FEDERAL	(14,340,900)	(14,554,600)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		157,800	156,000
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		16,612,500	16,909,900
20.536 INVESTMENT BOARD			
(1) INVESTMENT OF FUNDS			
(h) General program operations	PR A	693,500	748,400
20.536 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
PROGRAM REVENUE		693,500	748,400
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		693,500	748,400
20.545 LOCAL AFFAIRS AND DEVELOPMENT			
(1) ASSISTANCE TO WISCONSIN LOCALITIES			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	846,000	960,400
(b) Community development grants	GPR B	117,500	117,500
(c) Aids to community action agencies	GPR A	1,600,000	0
(f) Planning aids	GPR B	339,000	339,000
(g) Plat review	PR C	18,400	18,700
(h) Gifts and grants	PR C	0	0
(i) Local government contributions	PR C	370,100	377,100
(m) Federal aid state operations	PR-F C	320,500	301,500
(n) Federal aid-local assistance	PR-F C	389,500	389,500
(1) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		2,902,500	1,416,900
PROGRAM REVENUE		1,098,500	1,086,800
FEDERAL	(710,000)	(691,000)
OTHER	(388,500)	(395,800)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		4,001,000	2,503,700
(2) HOUSING ASSISTANCE			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	280,200	311,100
(b) Housing development fund	GPR B	100,000	100,000
(c) Housing loans	GPR B	10,000	10,000
(g) Agency collections	PR C	0	0
(h) Gifts and grants	PR C	0	0
(j) Housing loans	PR C	20,000	20,000
(m) Federal aid, state operations	PR-F C	0	0
(n) Federal aid-local assistance	PR-F C	0	0
(2) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		390,200	421,100
PROGRAM REVENUE		20,000	20,000
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		410,200	441,100
(3) EMERGENCY GOVERNMENT SERVICES			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	165,400	167,000
(b) Medical supplies	GPR C	0	0
(m) Federal aid-state operations	PR-F C	218,000	219,900
(n) Federal aid-local assistance	PR-F C	1,550,000	1,550,000
(v) Emergency disaster fund	SEG C	0	0

CHAPTER 90

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE	SOURCE TYPE	1973-74	1974-75
(3) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		165,400	167,000
PROGRAM REVENUE		1,768,000	1,769,900
FEDERAL	(1,768,000)	(1,769,900)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		1,933,400	1,936,900
(4) EXECUTIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	415,400	405,700
(h) Gifts and grants	PR C	0	0
(m) Federal aid, state opns.	PR-F C	0	0
(4) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		415,400	405,700
PROGRAM REVENUE		0	0
TOTAL ALL SOURCES		415,400	405,700
20.545 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		3,873,500	2,410,700
PROGRAM REVENUE		2,886,500	2,876,700
FEDERAL	(2,478,000)	(2,460,900)
OTHER	(408,500)	(415,800)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		6,760,000	5,287,400
<u>20.566 REVENUE, DEPARTMENT OF</u>			
(1) COLLECTION OF STATE TAXES			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	10,105,300	10,370,100
(g) Administration of local sales tax	PR C	0	0
(m) Federal aid	PR-F C	31,700	0
(u) Motor fuel tax administration	SEG A	434,900	442,100
(1) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		10,105,300	10,370,100
PROGRAM REVENUE		31,700	0
FEDERAL	(31,700)	(0)
OTHER	(0)	(0)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		434,900	442,100
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		10,571,900	10,812,200
(2) STATE AND LOCAL FINANCE			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	3,194,500	3,325,000
(b) Reassessment and review	GPR S	94,500	94,500
(c) Local assessment cost sharing	GPR S	0	1,062,000
(d) County assessment aid	GPR S	0	1,062,000
(g) Auditing of local units of government	PR C	1,336,300	1,341,100
(m) Federal aid	PR-F C	0	0
(2) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		3,289,000	5,543,500
PROGRAM REVENUE		1,336,300	1,341,100
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		4,625,300	6,884,600
(3) ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	4,045,900	4,081,700
(b) Minnesota income tax reciprocity	GPR S	10,000	10,000
(g) Processing services	PR A	0	0
(m) Federal aid	PR-F C	0	0
(3) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		4,055,900	4,091,700
PROGRAM REVENUE		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		4,055,900	4,091,700
20.566 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		17,450,200	20,005,300
PROGRAM REVENUE		1,368,000	1,341,100
FEDERAL	(31,700)	(0)
OTHER	(1,336,300)	(1,341,100)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		434,900	442,100
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		19,253,100	21,788,500
<u>20.575 SECRETARY OF STATE</u>			
(1) GENERAL ADMINISTRATION			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	322,700	285,500
(b) Presidential electors	GPR S	0	0
20.575 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		322,700	285,500
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		322,700	285,500
<u>20.585 TREASURER, STATE</u>			
(1) CUSTODIAN OF STATE FUNDS			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	198,400	189,900
(b) Insurance	GPR S	12,700	0
(g) Motor vehicle safety responsibility	PR C	0	0
20.585 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		211,100	189,900
PROGRAM REVENUE		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		211,100	189,900

20.590 UPPER GREAT LAKES REGIONAL COMMISSION

(1)	DEVELOPMENT OF UPPER GREAT LAKES REGION				
(a)	General program operations	GPR	A	71,200	71,200
(g)	Gifts and grants	PR	C	0	0
(m)	Federal aid	PR-F	C	100,000	100,000
	20.590 DEPARTMENT TOTALS				
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			71,200	71,200
	PROGRAM REVENUE			100,000	100,000
	FEDERAL			(100,000)	(100,000)
	OTHER			(0)	(0)
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			171,200	171,200

GENERAL EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONAL AREA TOTALS

GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		37,805,000		38,775,600
PROGRAM REVENUE		33,576,600		34,074,700
FEDERAL	(19,960,000)	(20,179,500)
OTHER	(13,616,600)	(13,895,200)
BOND REVENUE		0		0
SEGREGATED FUNDS		299,982,500		333,731,900
FEDERAL	(0)	(0)
OTHER	(299,982,500)	(333,731,900)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		371,364,100		406,582,200

JUDICIAL

20.625 CIRCUIT AND COUNTY COURTS

(1)	COURT OPERATIONS				
(a)	Circuit courts	GPR	S	2,630,700	2,610,300
(b)	County courts	GPR	S	4,292,000	4,296,400
	(1) PROGRAM TOTALS				
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			6,922,700	6,906,700
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			6,922,700	6,906,700

(2) AID TO COUNTIES FOR CRIMINAL TRIALS OF INDIGENTS

(a)	General program operations	GPR	S	125,000	125,000
	(2) PROGRAM TOTALS				
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			125,000	125,000
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			125,000	125,000
	20.625 DEPARTMENT TOTALS				
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			7,047,700	7,031,700
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			7,047,700	7,031,700

20.645 JUDICIAL COUNCIL

(1)	ADVISORY SERVICES TO THE COURTS AND LEGISLATURE				
(a)	General program operations	GPR	A	62,300	63,500
(m)	Federal aid	PR-F	C	0	0
	20.645 DEPARTMENT TOTALS				
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			62,300	63,500
	PROGRAM REVENUE			0	0
	FEDERAL	((0)	(0)
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			62,300	63,500

20.680 SUPREME COURT

(1)	SUPREME COURT PROCEEDINGS				
(a)	General program operations	GPR	S	784,400	815,800
(m)	Federal aid	PR-F	C	351,000	351,000
	(1) PROGRAM TOTALS				
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			784,400	815,800
	PROGRAM REVENUE			351,000	351,000
	FEDERAL	((351,000)	(351,000)
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			1,135,400	1,166,800
(2)	ADMINISTRATOR OF COURTS				
(a)	General program operations	GPR	S	112,300	114,000
(m)	Federal aid	PR-F	C	171,000	171,000
	(2) PROGRAM TOTALS				
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			112,300	114,000
	PROGRAM REVENUE			171,000	171,000
	FEDERAL	((171,000)	(171,000)
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			283,300	285,000
(3)	PUBLIC DEFENDER				
(a)	General program operations	GPR	S	177,400	179,400
(m)	Federal aid	PR-F	C	186,300	186,300
	(3) PROGRAM TOTALS				
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			177,400	179,400
	PROGRAM REVENUE			186,300	186,300
	FEDERAL	((186,300)	(186,300)
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			363,700	365,700
(4)	BAR COMMISSIONERS				
(a)	Examination	GPR	A	5,600	5,600
(b)	Enforcement	GPR	S	49,300	49,300

CHAPTER 90

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE	SOURCE TYPE	1973-74	1974-75
(4) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		54,900	54,900
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		54,900	54,900
(5) LAW LIBRARY			
(a) General program operations	GPR A	107,500	106,700
(5) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		107,500	106,700
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		107,500	106,700
20.680 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		1,236,500	1,270,800
PROGRAM REVENUE		708,300	708,300
FEDERAL	(708,300)	(708,300)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		1,944,800	1,979,100
JUDICIAL FUNCTIONAL AREA TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		8,346,500	8,366,000
PROGRAM REVENUE		708,300	708,300
FEDERAL	(708,300)	(708,300)
OTHER	(0)	(0)
BOND REVENUE		0	0
SEGREGATED FUNDS		0	0
FEDERAL	(0)	(0)
OTHER	(0)	(0)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		9,054,800	9,074,300

LEGISLATIVE

<u>20.710 BUILDING COMMISSION</u>			
(1) STATE OFFICE BUILDINGS			
(a) Principal repayment and interest	GPR S	0	0
(g) Agency collections	PR C	0	0
(h) Lease rental payments	PR S	0	0
(1) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		0	0
PROGRAM REVENUE		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		0	0
(2) BUILDING TRUST FUND			
(f) Construction program	GPR B	22,004,300	22,004,400
(u) Aids for buildings	SEG C	0	0
(x) Building trust fund	SEG C	0	0
(y) Advance planning	SEG C	0	0
(2) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		22,004,300	22,004,400
SEGREGATED FUNDS		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		22,004,300	22,004,400
(3) STATE BUILDING PROGRAM			
(a) Principal repayment and interest	GPR S	0	0
(b) Principal repayment and interest	GPR S	0	0
(c) Lease rental payments	GPR S	0	0
(g) Principal repayment and interest	PR S	0	0
(w) Bonding services	SEG S	0	0
(3) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		0	0
PROGRAM REVENUE		0	0
SEGREGATED FUNDS		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		0	0
20.710 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		22,004,300	22,004,400
PROGRAM REVENUE		0	0
SEGREGATED FUNDS		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		22,004,300	22,004,400

20.725 GOVERNMENT OPERATIONS, BOARD

ON			
(1) GENERAL FUND SUPPLEMENT			
(a) General program supplementation	GPR B	525,000	525,000
(1) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		525,000	525,000
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		525,000	525,000
(2) SEGREGATED FUNDS			
(u) General program supplementation	SEG S	0	0
(2) PROGRAM TOTALS			
SEGREGATED FUNDS		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		0	0
(3) SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATION			
FEDERAL AID REDUCTIONS			
(a) General emergency supplementation	GPR B	1,000,000	0
(b) Social services supplementation	GPR B	2,000,000	0

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE	SOURCE TYPE	1973-74	1974-75
(3) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		3,000,000	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		3,000,000	0
(6) SCHOOLS IN FINANCIAL DISTRESS			0
(a) Schools in financial distress	GPR S	0	0
(6) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		0	0
20.725 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		3,525,000	525,000
SEGREGATED FUNDS		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		3,525,000	525,000
20.765 LEGISLATURE			
(1) ENACTMENT OF STATE LAWS			
(a) General program operations	GPR S	6,463,900	7,108,400
(b) Contingent expenses	GPR B	5,000	5,000
(c) Legislative auxiliary services	GPR S	640,000	548,000
(m) Nursing home ombudsman	PR-F C	246,000	0
(1) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		7,108,900	7,661,400
PROGRAM REVENUE		246,000	0
FEDERAL	(246,000)	(0)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		7,354,900	7,661,400
(2) SPECIAL STUDY GROUPS			
(a) Joint survey comm. on retirement systems	GPR A	62,100	62,600
(b) Commission on uniform state laws	GPR A	8,000	9,300
(c) Interstate cooperation comm.	GPR B	24,200	26,800
(ca) Interstate cooperation comm., contingent expenditures	GPR B	5,000	5,000
(cb) Membership in national associations	GPR S	37,500	37,500
(e) Menominee Indians comm.	GPR B	17,500	17,900
(f) Insurance laws study comm.	GPR C	0	0
(h) Gifts and grants, Menominee Indians comm.	PR C	0	0
(i) Gifts and grants, insurance laws study comm.	PR C	0	0
(u) Highway problems study comm.	SEG B	24,300	24,800
(2) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		154,300	159,100
PROGRAM REVENUE		0	0
SEGREGATED FUNDS		24,300	24,800
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		178,600	183,900
(3) LEGISLATIVE SERVICE AGENCIES			
(a) Revisor of statutes bureau	GPR A	107,500	109,500
(b) Legislative reference bureau	GPR B	544,900	558,500
(c) Legislative audit bureau	GPR A	760,800	773,900
(d) Legislative fiscal bureau	GPR B	252,200	271,600
(e) Legislative council	GPR B	362,300	373,600
(ec) Council contingent expenses	GPR B	1,000	1,000
(f) Joint comm. on legislative organization	GPR C	0	0
(g) Gifts and grants to service agencies	PR C	0	0
(h) Family environment and resources council	PR C	60,000	60,000
(i) Gifts and grants family envit. resources council	PR C	0	0
(m) Federal aid	PR-F C	0	0
(3) PROGRAM TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		2,028,700	2,088,100
PROGRAM REVENUE		60,000	60,000
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		2,088,700	2,148,100
20.765 DEPARTMENT TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		9,291,900	9,908,600
PROGRAM REVENUE		306,000	60,000
FEDERAL	(246,000)	(0)
OTHER	(60,000)	(60,000)
SEGREGATED FUNDS		24,300	24,800
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		9,622,200	9,993,400
LEGISLATIVE FUNCTIONAL AREA TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		34,821,200	32,438,000
PROGRAM REVENUE		306,000	60,000
FEDERAL	(246,000)	(0)
OTHER	(60,000)	(60,000)
BOND REVENUE		0	0
SEGREGATED FUNDS		24,300	24,800
FEDERAL	(0)	(0)
OTHER	(24,300)	(24,800)
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		35,151,500	32,522,800

Vetoed in Part

Vetoed in Part

Vetoed in Part

GENERAL APPROPRIATIONS

20.835 SHARED TAXES AND TAX RELIEF

(1)	SHARED TAXES AND MINIMUM PAYMENTS					
(a)	Shared tax supplement	LTR	S	0		0
(aa)	Shared tax relief supplement	LTR	S	0	14,400,000	0
(b)	Minimum payments	LTR	S	2,700,000		1,000,000
(g)	Shared tax account	LTR	S	358,528,000	380,216,000	
	Transfer to general property tax relief	LTR	S	-85,400,000	-105,400,000	
	NET APPROPRIATION			273,128,000	274,816,000	
	(1) PROGRAM	TOTALS				
	LOCAL TAX REVENUE			275,828,000	290,216,000	
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			275,828,000	290,216,000	
(2)	TAX RELIEF					
(a)	General property tax relief	LTR	A	115,071,000	90,071,000	
	Transfer from shared tax account	LTR	A	85,400,000	105,400,000	
	NET APPROPRIATION			200,471,000	195,471,000	
(b)	Personal property tax relief	LTR	S	111,253,300	115,946,700	
(c)	Homestead tax credit	LTR	S	27,000,000	29,000,000	
	(2) PROGRAM	TOTALS				
	LOCAL TAX REVENUE			338,724,300	340,417,700	
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			338,724,300	340,417,700	
(3)	LOCAL SALES TAX					
(g)	Distributions	LTR	S	0	0	
	(3) PROGRAM	TOTALS				
	LOCAL TAX REVENUE			0	0	
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			0	0	
(4)	MISCELLANEOUS SHARED TAXES					
(a)	Severance tax distributions	LTR	S	30,000	30,000	
(b)	Fire dept dues distributions	LTR	S	1,807,000	1,990,000	
(c)	Terminal tax distribution	LTR	S	453,000	456,000	
(d)	Low grade iron ore distribution	LTR	S	90,000	90,000	
	(4) PROGRAM	TOTALS				
	LOCAL TAX REVENUE			2,380,000	2,566,000	
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			2,380,000	2,566,000	
	20.835 DEPARTMENT					
	LOCAL TAX REVENUE			616,932,300	633,199,700	
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			616,932,300	633,199,700	
	20.855 MISCELLANEOUS APPROPRIATIONS					
(1)	PORTRAITS OF GOVERNORS					
(a)	Purchase cost	GPR	S	0	0	
	(1) PROGRAM	TOTALS				
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			0	0	
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			0	0	
(2)	AIDS					
(a)	Counties retirement costs	GPR	S	250,000	235,000	
(b)	District attorney salary supplement	GPR	S	550,000	560,000	
(c)	Local law enforcement aids	GPR	S	6,314,500	3,536,000	
	(2) PROGRAM	TOTALS				
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			7,114,500	4,331,000	
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			7,114,500	4,331,000	
(3)	PAYMENTS FOR MUNICIPAL SERVICES					
(a)	Payments to municipalities	GPR	A	3,250,000	3,250,000	
	(3) PROGRAM	TOTALS				
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			3,250,000	3,250,000	
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			3,250,000	3,250,000	
(4)	INTEREST ON OVERPAYMENT OF TAXES					
(a)	Interest payments	GPR	S	4,000	4,000	
	(4) PROGRAM	TOTALS				
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			4,000	4,000	
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			4,000	4,000	
(5)	AMERICAN REVOLUTION BICENTENNIAL COMMEMORATION					
(a)	General program operations	GPR	C	0	0	
(g)	Gifts and grants	PR	C	0	0	
(m)	Federal grants	PR-F	C	0	0	
	(5) PROGRAM	TOTALS				
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			0	0	
	PROGRAM REVENUE			0	0	
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			0	0	
(7)	MINNESOTA INCOME TAX RECIPROCITY					
(a)	Payments to Minnesota	GPR	S	1,000,000	1,000,000	
	(7) PROGRAM	TOTALS				
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			1,000,000	1,000,000	
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			1,000,000	1,000,000	

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE SOURCE TYPE 1973-74 1974-75

(8)	SELECT COMMITTEE ON HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES						
(a)	Study expenditures	GPR	S	20,000		0	
	(8) PROGRAM TOTALS						
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			20,000		0	
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			20,000		0	
(9)	ELECTED OFFICIALS RETIREMENT IMPROVEMENTS						
(a)	Funds for benefit changes	GPR	A	230,000	460,000		Vetoed in Part
	(9) PROGRAM TOTALS						
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			230,000	460,000		
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			230,000	460,000		
	20.855 DEPARTMENT TOTALS						
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			11,618,500	9,045,000		
	PROGRAM REVENUE			0	0		
	FEDERAL	(0)	(0)	
	OTHER	(0)	(0)	
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			11,618,500	9,045,000		
	20.865 PROGRAM SUPPLEMENTS						
(1)	EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION AND SUPPORT						
(a)	Judgments	GPR	S	0		0	
(b)	Incentive awards	GPR	S	0		0	
(c)	Pay plan adjustments	GPR	S	6,790,000		14,110,000	
(cm)	Collective bargaining agreements	GPR	S	7,030,000		14,490,000	
	Merit money in agency approp. for emp. in barg. unit	GPR	S	-2,220,000		-4,490,000	
	NET APPROPRIATION			4,810,000		10,000,000	
(d)	Employee fringe benefit costs	GPR	S	0		0	
	(1) PROGRAM TOTALS						
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			11,600,000		24,110,000	
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			11,600,000		24,110,000	
(2)	CONTRACTUAL SERVICES						
(a)	Office building rentals	GPR	S	250,000		350,000	
(b)	Rental costs-parking gef i	GPR	A	43,500		43,500	
(c)	Uncollectable shortages	GPR	S	0		0	
(d)	State deposit fund	GPR	S	0		0	
(e)	Maintenance of capitol and executive mansion	GPR	A	750,000		750,000	
	(2) PROGRAM TOTALS						
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			1,043,500		1,143,500	
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			1,043,500		1,143,500	
(3)	TAXES, ASSESSMENTS AND SPECIAL CHARGES						
(a)	Taxes and assessments	GPR	S	300,000		300,000	
	(3) PROGRAM TOTALS						
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			300,000		300,000	
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			300,000		300,000	
	20.865 DEPARTMENT TOTALS						
	GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES			12,943,500		25,553,500	
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			12,943,500		25,553,500	
	20.866 PUBLIC DEBT						
(1)	BOND SECURITY AND REDEMPTION FUND						
(u)	Principal repayment and interest	SEG	S	55,333,800		67,609,500	
	Allocated from agency appropriations	SEG	S	-55,333,800		-67,609,500	
	NET APPROPRIATION			0		0	
	(1) PROGRAM TOTALS						
	SEGREGATED FUNDS			0		0	
	TOTAL-ALL SOURCES			0		0	
(2)	CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT AUTHORIZATIONS						
(s)	University of Wisconsin academic facilities	BR	C	0		0	
(t)	University of Wisconsin self amortizing facilities	BR	C	13,940,800		0	
(tm)	Nat. resources water pollution abatement facilities	BR	C	50,600,000		0	
(tp)	Natural resources recreation facilities	BR	C	12,000,000		0	
(u)	Transportation administrative facilities	BR	C	0		0	
(ug)	Transportation accelerated bridge improvements	BR	C	0		0	
(ur)	Transportation accelerated highway improvements	BR	C	59,000,000		0	
(us)	Transportation state trunk highway improvements	BR	C	75,000,000		0	Vetoed in Part
(v)	Health and social services mental health facilities	BR	C	0		0	

CHAPTER 90

STATUTE, AGENCY AND PURPOSE	SOURCE TYPE	1973-74	1974-75
(w) Health and social services correctional facilities	BR C	0	0
(x) Building commission previous lease rental authority	BR C	0	0
(y) Bldg. comm. housing state departments and agencies	BR C	0	0
(z) Building commission other public purposes	BR C	0	0
(zd) Educational communications facilities	BR C	0	0
(zh) Public instruction schools for deaf and blind	BR C	0	0
(zm) Veterans affairs grand army home	BR C	0	0
(zz) Agriculture self-amortizing facilities	BR C	0	0
(2) PROGRAM		TOTALS	
BOND REVENUE		160,540,800	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		160,540,800	0
20866 DEPARTMENT		TOTALS	
BOND REVENUE		160,540,800	0
SEGREGATED FUNDS		0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		160,540,800	0
GENERAL APPROPRIATIONS			
FUNCTIONAL AREA TOTALS			
GENERAL PURPOSE REVENUES		24,562,000	34,598,500
PROGRAM REVENUE		0	0
FEDERAL	() ()	0	0
OTHER	() ()	0	0
LOCAL TAX REVENUE		616,932,300	633,199,700
BOND REVENUE		160,540,800	0
SEGREGATED FUNDS		0	0
FEDERAL	() ()	0	0
OTHER	() ()	0	0
TOTAL-ALL SOURCES		802,035,100	667,798,200

SECTION 35. 20.115 (1) (b) and (4) (c) and (d) of the statutes are created to read:

20.115 (1) (b) *Meat inspection.* The amounts in the schedule for the department's meat inspection activities.

(4) (c) *County and district fair administration.* The amounts in the schedule for general program operations.

(d) *Lease rental payments - Olympic ice rink.* From moneys allocated under s. 20.370 (7) (a), a sum sufficient for the payment of rentals on leases and subleases previously entered into pursuant to s. 22.41 for the Olympic ice rink.

SECTION 36. 20.115 (4) (b) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.115 (4) (b) *Aids to county and district fairs.* The amounts in the schedule for ~~general program operations and~~ to provide state aids to counties and agricultural societies, associations or boards and to incorporated dairy or livestock associations, not to exceed \$10,000 per fair as provided in s. 93.23. If the total due to the several counties and agricultural societies under this paragraph exceeds the amount herein appropriated, the department shall equitably prorate this appropriation.

SECTION 36g. 20.115 (4) (g) of the statutes is created to read:

20.115 (4) (g) *Olympic ice rink operations.* All moneys received for, or on account of, the Olympic ice rink to be used for the operation of the ice rink.

SECTION 36m. 20.115 (4) (j) (title) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.115 (4) (j) (title) *Principal repayment and interest - state fair development.*

SECTION 36r. 20.135 (1) (b) of the statutes is created to read:

20.135 (1) (b) *Industrial development advertising*. Biennially, the amounts in the schedule for industrial development advertising.

SECTION 38. 20.155 (1) (m) of the statutes is created to read:

20.155 (1) (m) *Federal aid; natural gas pipeline safety*. All moneys received from the federal government as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54 for the purposes of the program.

SECTION 38m. 20.165 (2) (g) to (kt), except 20.165 (2) (iv), of the statutes are amended to read:

20.165 (2) (g) For the accounting examining board, 90% of all moneys received under ch. 442 for the licensing, rule-making and regulatory functions of the examining board. From this paragraph, ~~\$15,200 in 1971-72 and \$15,400 in 1972-73~~ \$19,100 in 1973-74 and \$19,400 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to the general fund as reimbursement for the clerical and housekeeping services provided to the examining board under sub. (1) (c).

(gg) For the examining board of architects, professional engineers, designers and land surveyors, 90% of all moneys received under ch. 443 for the licensing, rule-making and regulatory functions of the examining board. From this paragraph, ~~\$34,900 in 1971-72 and \$35,100 in 1972-73~~ \$40,500 in 1973-74 and \$32,300 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to the general fund as reimbursement for the clerical and housekeeping services provided to the examining board under sub. (1) (c).

(gt) For the athletic examining board, 90% of all moneys received under ch. 444 for the licensing, rule-making and regulatory functions of the examining board. From this paragraph, ~~\$2,100 in 1971-72 and \$2,100 in 1972-73~~ \$2,700 in 1973-74 and \$2,600 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to the general fund as reimbursement for the clerical and housekeeping services provided to the examining board under sub. (1) (c).

(hg) For the basic sciences examining board, 90% of all moneys received under ch. 445 for the licensing, rule-making and regulatory functions of the examining board. From this paragraph, ~~\$3,300 in 1971-72 and \$3,500 in 1972-73~~ \$3,000 in 1973-74 and \$3,100 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to the general fund as reimbursement for the clerical and housekeeping services provided to the examining board under sub. (1) (c).

(ht) For the chiropractic examining board, 90% of all moneys received under ch. 446 for the licensing, rule-making and regulatory functions of the examining board. From this paragraph, ~~\$4,500 in 1971-72 and \$4,600 in 1972-73~~ \$5,400 in 1973-74 and \$5,600 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to the general fund as reimbursement for the clerical and housekeeping services provided to the examining board under sub. (1) (c).

(i) For the dentistry examining board, 90% of all moneys received under ch. 447 for the licensing, rule-making and regulatory functions of the examining board. From this paragraph, ~~\$12,500 in 1971-72 and \$12,500 in 1972-73~~ \$17,000 in 1973-74 and \$17,300 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to the general fund as reimbursement for the clerical and housekeeping services provided to the examining board under sub. (1) (c).

(ic) For the hearing aid dealers and fitters examining board, 90% of all moneys received under ch. 459 for the licensing, rule-making and regulatory functions of the examining board. From this paragraph, ~~\$3,700 in 1971-72 and \$3,800 in 1972-73~~ \$5,500 in 1973-74 and \$5,500 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to the general fund as reimbursement for the clerical and housekeeping services provided to the examining board under sub. (1) (c).

(ig) For the medical examining board, 90% of all moneys received under ch. 448 for the licensing, rule-making and regulatory functions of the examining board. From this paragraph, ~~\$35,500 in 1971-72 and \$34,100 in 1972-73~~ \$47,000 in 1973-74 and \$47,200 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to the general fund as reimbursement for the clerical and housekeeping services provided to the examining board under sub. (1) (c).

(it) For the division of nurses, 90% of all moneys received under ch. 441 for the licensing, rule-making and regulatory functions of the division. From this paragraph ~~\$80,700 in 1971-72 and \$82,300 in 1972-73~~ \$101,500 in 1973-74 and \$102,100 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to the general fund as reimbursement for the clerical and housekeeping services provided to the division under sub. (1) (c).

(iw) For the nursing home administrator examining board, 90% of all moneys received under ch. 456 for the licensing, rule-making and regulatory functions of the examining board. From this paragraph, ~~\$7,800 in 1971-72 and \$7,700 in 1972-73~~ \$11,200 in 1973-74 and \$11,300 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to the general fund as reimbursement for the clerical and housekeeping services provided to the examining board under sub. (1) (c).

(j) For the optometry examining board, 90% of all moneys received under ch. 449 for the licensing, rule-making and regulatory functions of the examining board. From this paragraph, ~~\$4,900 in 1971-72 and \$5,000 in 1972-73~~ \$6,400 in 1973-74 and \$6,400 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to the general fund as reimbursement for the clerical and housekeeping services provided to the examining board under sub. (1) (c).

(jg) For the pharmacy examining board, 90% of all moneys received under ch. 450, except as provided in par. (jt), for the licensing, rule-making and regulatory functions of the examining board. From this paragraph, ~~\$20,600 in 1971-72 and \$20,800 in 1972-73~~ \$23,200 in 1973-74 and \$23,100 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to the general fund as reimbursement for the clerical and housekeeping services provided to the examining board under sub. (1) (c).

(jt) For the pharmacy internship board, all moneys received under ch. 451 and 90% of that portion of each fee collected under s. 450.02 (3) and set aside for the use of the pharmacy internship board, for the licensing, rule-making and regulatory functions of the pharmacy internship board. From this paragraph, ~~\$9,800 in 1971-72 and \$10,000 in 1972-73~~ \$10,100 in 1973-74 and \$10,200 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to the general fund as reimbursement for the clerical and housekeeping services provided to the examining board under sub. (1) (c).

(jw) For the psychology examining board, 90% of all money received under ch. 455 for the licensing, rule-making and regulatory functions of the examining board. From this paragraph, ~~\$3,900 in 1971-72 and \$4,100 in 1972-73~~ \$5,000 in 1973-74 and \$5,100 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to the general fund as reimbursement for the clerical and housekeeping services provided to the examining board under sub. (1) (c).

(k) For the real estate examining board, 90% of all moneys received under ch. 452 for the licensing, rule-making and regulatory functions of the examining board. From this paragraph, ~~\$82,100 in 1971-72 and \$82,400 in 1972-73~~ \$99,100 in 1973-74 and \$99,600 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to the general fund as reimbursement for the clerical and housekeeping services provided to the examining board under sub. (1) (c).

(kg) For the veterinary examining board, 90% of all moneys received under ch. 453 for the licensing, rule-making and regulatory functions of the examining board. From this paragraph, ~~\$5,600 in 1971-72 and \$5,700 in 1972-73~~ \$6,200 in 1973-74 and \$6,300 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to the general fund as reimbursement for the clerical and housekeeping services provided to the examining board under sub. (1) (c).

(kt) For the watchmaking examining board, 90% of all moneys received under ch. 454 for the licensing, rule-making and regulatory functions of the examining board. From this paragraph, ~~\$3,400 in 1971-72 and \$3,600 in 1972-73~~ \$3,700 in 1973-74 and \$3,800 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to the general fund as reimbursement for the clerical and housekeeping services provided to the examining board under sub. (1) (c).

SECTION 39. 20.185 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.185 Securities, office of the commissioner of. There is appropriated to the office of the commissioner of securities for the following program:

(1) REGULATION OF THE SALE OF SECURITIES AND CORPORATE TAKE-OVERS. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for the regulation of the sale of securities and the regulation of corporate take-over offers under ch. 552.

(2) FRANCHISE INVESTMENT REGULATION. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for the regulation of franchise investments under ch. 553.

SECTION 40. 20.215 of the statutes is created to read:

20.215 Arts board. There is appropriated to the arts board for the following program:

(1) SUPPORT OF ARTS PROJECTS. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for general program operations.

(g) *Gifts and grants.* All moneys received as gifts or grants for the purposes for which made.

(m) *Federal grants.* All moneys received from the federal government for the purposes of carrying out this subsection.

SECTION 41. 20.225 (1) (title) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.225 (1) (title) INSTRUCTIONAL TECHNOLOGY.

SECTION 42. 20.225 (1) (b), (c) and (h) of the statutes are created to read:

20.225 (1) (b) *Utilities and heating.* A sum sufficient to pay for the use of electricity, water and sewage services and to cover the cost of fuels and purchased heat for space heating.

(c) *Principal repayment and interest.* A sum sufficient to reimburse s. 20.866 (1) (u) for the payment of principal and interest costs incurred in financing the acquisition, construction, development, enlargement or improvement of facilities approved by the building commission for operation by the educational communications board.

(h) *Instructional material.* All moneys received from the sale of instructional material, under s. 39.11 (16), for the cost of providing such material.

SECTION 43. 20.235 (1) (c) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.235 (1) (c) *Loan forgiveness for critical manpower occupations.* A sum sufficient for the purposes of s. 39.43.

CHAPTER 90

SECTION 43s. 20.235 (1) (e) of the statutes is created to read:

20.235 (1) (e) *Minnesota-Wisconsin student reciprocity agreement*. A sum sufficient for the purposes of s. 39.47.

SECTION 45m. 20.235 (1) (fe) of the statutes is created to read:

20.235 (1) (fe) *Wisconsin higher education grants*. Biennially, the amounts in the schedule to carry out the purposes of s. 39.435.

SECTION 46. 20.235 (1) (k) of the statutes is created to read:

20.235 (1) (k) *Write-off of defaulted student loans*. All moneys originally appropriated for student loans other than moneys advanced from the investment board for write-off of defaulted student loans made under ss. 39.32 and 49.42.

SECTION 47. 20.235 (1) (m) and (n) (title) of the statutes are amended to read:

20.235 (1) (m) *Federal interest payments*. All moneys received as interest payments from the federal government under P.L. 89-287 and P.L. 89-329 as amended for the payment of interest under s. 25.17 (3) (bf).

(n) (title) *Federal aid; state operations*.

SECTION 48. 20.235 (1) (no) of the statutes is created to read:

20.235 (1) (no) *Federal aid; aids to individuals and organizations*. All moneys received from federal funds under s. 16.54 as authorized by the governor to carry out the purpose for which made.

SECTION 49. 20.235 (2) (i) of the statutes is created to read:

20.235 (2) (i) *Gifts and grants*. All moneys received from gifts and grants to carry out the purposes for which made.

SECTION 50. 20.235 (2) (n) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.235 (2) (n) *Federal aid; state operations*. All moneys received from federal funds under s. 16.54 as authorized by the governor to carry out the purpose for which made.

SECTION 51. 20.235 (2) (no) of the statutes is created to read:

20.235 (2) (no) *Federal aid; aids to individuals and organizations*. All federal moneys received as authorized under s. 16.54 to carry out the purposes for which made and received.

SECTION 52. 20.235 (3) (m) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.235 (3) (m) *Federal aid; state operations*. All federal moneys received as authorized under s. 16.54 to carry out the purposes for which made and received.

SECTION 53. 20.235 (3) (mo) of the statutes is created to read:

20.235 (3) (mo) *Federal aid; aids to individuals and organizations*. All federal moneys received as authorized under s. 16.54 to carry out the purposes for which made and received.

SECTION 54. 20.235 (4) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.235 (4) DENTAL EDUCATION CONTRACT. (a) *General program operations*. The amounts in the schedule for support of those Wisconsin residents enrolled as full-time students in the pursuit of a doctor of dental surgery (D.D.S.) degree. An amount of

\$3,000 per year shall be disbursed under s. 39.46 for each Wisconsin resident enrolled as a full-time student. The maximum number of Wisconsin residents to be funded under this appropriation are as follows: in 1973-74, 435; and in 1974-75, 454.

SECTION 55. 20.245 (1) (e) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 57. 20.255 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.255 Public instruction, department of. There is appropriated to the department of public instruction for the following programs:

(1) **ASSURING EQUAL EDUCATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES THROUGH LOCAL EDUCATIONAL AGENCIES.** (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for the improvement of curriculum, instruction and educational resources for local educational agencies, including the matching of federal funds available under the national defense education act or other applicable federal acts or programs.

(b) *Teacher aides and language training support.* The amounts in the schedule, to be released to the board of school directors of the Milwaukee school system upon the approval of the state superintendent, for the purpose of operating interrelated language skill centers to provide remedial efforts in reading, writing, mathematics and other basic communication skills. The state superintendent shall also approve release of funds available under this appropriation to the board of school directors for operation of teacher aide programs.

(c) *Direct aids for handicapped children.* A sum sufficient for the payment of aids and scholarships under ss. 115.53, 115.56 and 115.57.

(d) *State aids for handicapped children.* A sum sufficient for the payment of aids under subch. IV of ch. 115.

(e) *Home instruction aids for handicapped children.* A sum sufficient for home instruction or extension courses under s. 115.84.

(f) *Elementary and high school aid.* Biennially, the amounts in the schedule for the payment of educational aids provided in subch. I of ch. 121, less the amounts charged to the appropriation under par. (fa) and less the amounts received as applied receipts under par. (k).

(fa) *Elementary and high school aid: federal revenue sharing.* A sum sufficient equivalent to the revenue received under the state and local fiscal assistance act of 1972 (P.L. 92-512) and interest thereon to be used for the payment of educational aids provided under subch. I of ch. 121. This appropriation shall be fully utilized annually and the balance of any aid payments due under subch. I of ch. 121 shall be charged to the appropriation under par. (f).

(fb) *Special tuition payments.* The amounts in the schedule for payment of tuition of children in foster homes attending school under s. 121.79 (1) (a) to (e), and for payment of tuition and transportation to school districts under s. 121.79 (1) (d).

(fc) *Cooperative educational service agencies.* The amounts in the schedule for the payment of a maximum of \$35,500 in 1973-74 and \$36,200 annually thereafter to each cooperative educational service agency, for the current operational expenses of these agencies and \$80,000 annually to reimburse the agencies for agency school committee expenses under s. 116.52 (3). In addition, from funds available under this appropriation, the state superintendent may provide aid to school districts and cooperative educational service agencies for the development of data processing services on a regional basis.

(fd) *Special needs.* Biennially, the amounts in the schedule for financial grants pursuant to subch. V of ch. 115 of which \$250,000 shall be appropriated at the discretion of the state superintendent to enhance the educational opportunities of pupils who come from socially, economically or culturally disadvantaged environments. Grants under this paragraph shall be paid during the school year in which the approved program is operated.

(fe) *State school lunch aid.* A sum sufficient for the payment of school lunch aids to school districts pursuant to s. 115.34 (2).

(fh) *Transportation aids.* Biennially, the amounts in the schedule for the payment of state aid for transportation of pupils under subch. II of ch. 121 of which \$250,000 shall be apportioned upon the approval of the state superintendent among school districts which are unable to provide the transportation required by that subchapter on the sum provided by a 2-mill tax levy on their equalized valuations and the normal transportation aids, and for aids to counties for transportation of crippled children to and from the Wisconsin orthopedic hospital for children or any other hospital, or for mentally handicapped children including those who are mentally retarded or emotionally disturbed, or epileptics referred to any approved evaluation center, such aid to be distributed as provided in s. 142.05 (3).

(h) *Gifts, grants and trust funds.* All moneys received from gifts, grants and donations to carry out the purposes for which made.

(hz) *Gifts, grants and trust funds; aids to individuals and organizations.* All moneys received from gifts, grants and donations to be paid to individuals or to nongovernmental organizations.

(i) *Publications.* All moneys received from the sale of publications, as authorized by subch. II of ch. 115, for the publication of such materials.

(j) *School lunch handling charges.* All moneys received from contracts made pursuant to s. 115.34, under which food products granted to the state by the federal government are utilized for the transportation, warehousing, processing and insuring of such food products.

(k) *Negative aid payments.* Biennially, all moneys received as negative aid payments under s. 121.08 (3) to be applied to elementary and high school aid payments under par. (f).

(m) *Federal aids; state operations.* All federal moneys received as authorized under s. 16.54 to carry out the purposes for which made and received.

(mn) *Federal aids; local assistance.* All federal moneys received as authorized under s. 16.54 to aid local governmental units or agencies.

(mo) *Federal aids; individuals and organizations.* All federal moneys received as authorized under s. 16.54 to directly or indirectly aid or assist individuals or nongovernmental organizations. Any funds received in repayment for expenditures made under this paragraph for appliances, X-rays, emergency hospitalization, emergency medical care or transportation to or from a hospital, for crippled children under orthopedic care, which had been authorized by the division for handicapped children, pending other arrangements for final payments, shall be credited to this appropriation.

(q) *Driver education; state operations.* The amounts in the schedule from the allocation made under s. 20.395 (1) (q) for the administration of the driver education program.

(r) *Driver education; local assistance.* The amounts in the schedule from the allocation made under s. 20.395 (1) (q) to be distributed to school districts which operate driver education courses in accordance with s. 121.15. The distribution shall be made to school districts upon such reports in such form and containing such information as the state superintendent requires.

(s) *School library aids.* All moneys received as the common school fund income to be distributed as provided in ss. 25.23 and 43.70.

(2) ASSURING EQUAL EDUCATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES THROUGH RESIDENTIAL SCHOOLS FOR HANDICAPPED STUDENTS. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for the operation and maintenance of the Wisconsin schools for the deaf and the visually handicapped, including the matching of federal funds.

1. 'Maintenance credits.' All moneys received in reimbursement for services rendered institutional employes, participants in institutes and training programs and visitors at the state schools for the deaf and the visually handicapped under s. 115.52 (6) to be refunded to the appropriation made by this paragraph. Such reimbursements shall be accumulated in an account named "maintenance credits".

2. 'Contingent fund.' From the appropriation made by this paragraph there is allotted to each institution, subject to the approval of the board on government operations, such sums as are necessary to be used as a contingent fund to be expended as provided in s. 20.920.

(b) *Utilities and heating.* A sum sufficient to cover the cost of utilities at the schools for the deaf and visually handicapped, including electricity, water, sewage service and fuel used for space heating at the 2 schools and applicable freight charges. Coal or fuel oil purchases under this paragraph shall be pursuant to s. 16.17 (4) and payments for coal purchased hereunder shall be made as provided in s. 16.91.

(c) *Principal repayment and interest.* A sum sufficient to reimburse s. 20.866 (1) (u) for the payment of principal and interest costs incurred in financing the acquisition, construction, development, enlargement or improvement of institutional facilities for the deaf and blind under s. 115.52.

(g) *Activity therapy.* All moneys received in connection with the sale of products resulting from activity therapy at the 2 schools to be used for the purchase of necessary materials, equipment and supplies for activity therapy.

(h) *Gifts, grants and trust funds.* All moneys received from gifts, grants and donations to carry out the purposes for which made, and all moneys received under s. 46.03 (3), 1939 stats., to be used in accordance with the trust.

(m) *Federal aids; state operations.* All federal moneys received as authorized under s. 16.54 to carry out the purposes for which made and received.

(3) IMPROVING LIBRARY SERVICES. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for improvement of library services, including the matching of federal funds:

(c) *Public library systems planning grants.* Biennially, the amounts in the schedule for planning grants under s. 43.23.

(d) *Aid to public library systems.* Biennially, the amounts in the schedule for state aid under s. 43.24.

(h) *Gifts, grants and trust funds.* All moneys received from gifts, grants and donations to carry out the purposes for which made.

CHAPTER 90

(hz) *Gifts, grants and trust funds; aids to individuals and organizations.* All moneys received from gifts, grants and donations to be paid to individuals or to nongovernmental organizations.

(m) *Federal aids; state operations.* All federal moneys received as authorized under s. 16.54 to carry out the purposes for which made and received.

(mn) *Federal aids; local assistance.* All federal moneys received as authorized under s. 16.54 to aid local governmental units or agencies.

(mo) *Federal aids; individuals and organizations.* All federal moneys received as authorized under s. 16.54 to aid or assist individuals or nongovernmental organizations.

SECTION 58. 20.265 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 59. 20.285 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.285 University of Wisconsin system. There is appropriated to the board of regents of the university of Wisconsin system for the following program:

(1) UNIVERSITY EDUCATION, RESEARCH AND PUBLIC SERVICE. (a) *General program operations.* 1. The amounts in the schedule for the purpose of the educational and general and related programs which are further allocated by organizational cluster as follows:

<u>Organizational Cluster</u>		<u>1973-74</u>	<u>1974-75</u>	
Doctoral campuses	GPR	101,303,100	99,274,900	
	Academic fees	35,311,000	36,758,400	
	Subtotal	(136,614,100)	(136,033,300)	
Nondoctoral campuses	GPR	80,547,500	76,743,100	
	Academic fees	33,317,300	34,299,800	
	Subtotal	(113,864,800)	(111,042,900)	
Center system	GPR	8,263,000	8,108,400	
	Academic fees	2,413,200	2,515,600	
	Subtotal	(10,676,200)	(10,624,000)	
Extension	GPR	14,066,100	14,032,200	
	Academic fees	729,100	787,800	
	Subtotal	(14,795,200)	(14,820,000)	
Central admin- istration	GPR	3,544,500	3,524,900	
Faculty compen- sation and program funds	GPR	17,064,500	34,151,000	
	Academic fees	-210,000	-210,000	
	Subtotal	(16,854,500)	(33,941,000)	
General program operations in Part escrow funds par. (ac)	GPR	---	-14,679,200	
	GPR	224,788,700	221,155,300	
	Academic fees	71,560,600	74,151,600	
TOTAL	GRAND TOTAL	296,349,300	295,306,900	

2. Due to the implementation of the merger of the former ch. 36 and ch. 37 institutions, transfers between the above allocations are permitted under s. 16.50. In addition, transfers between the following subprograms shall be reported quarterly to the department of administration. Funds for these subprograms shall be allocated as follows:

<u>Subprograms</u>		<u>1973-74</u>	<u>1974-75</u>
Instruction	GPR	92,032,000	77,922,500
	Academic fees	71,560,600	74,151,600
	Subtotal	(163,592,600)	(152,074,100)
Research	GPR	14,842,900	14,437,300
	GPR	15,439,600	15,786,200
Public service			

241

Academic support and student services	GPR	34,672,500	33,743,400
Institutional support	GPR	56,692,700	54,757,700
Faculty compensation	GPR	11,109,000	24,508,200
TOTAL	GPR	224,788,700	221,155,300
	Academic fees	71,560,600	74,151,600
	GRAND TOTAL	296,349,300	295,306,900

(ab) *Student aid.* The amounts in the schedule for aids to students.

(ac) *General program operations escrow funds.* The amounts in the schedule for general program operations funds set aside in 1974-75. These funds shall not be released except by the affirmative action of the legislature during the annual budget review session in 1974, pending a report by the board of regents to the governor and the legislature no later than December 1, 1973, on efficiencies and economies gained by program consolidation and recommendations concerning facility utilization and campus operations.

Vetoed
in Part

(b) *State veterans and public patient treatment.* A sum sufficient for the treatment of state dependents and public patients under s. 142.08 and for the treatment of veterans under s. 142.10.

(c) *Utilities and heating.* A sum sufficient to pay for the use of electricity, water and sewer and to cover the cost of coal or other fuels used for heating or cooling, including freight charges and local hauling charges where applicable. Coal or fuel oil purchases under this paragraph shall be purchased pursuant to s. 16.71 (4). Payment for coal purchased hereunder shall be made as provided in s. 16.91. This program expenditure shall be reimbursed from par. (h) for the cost of all charges, including transportation, properly allocable to auxiliary enterprises.

(d) *Principal repayment and interest.* A sum sufficient to reimburse s. 20.866 (1) (u) for the payment of principal and interest costs incurred in financing the acquisition, construction, development, enlargement or improvement of university academic facilities.

(da) *Lease rental payments.* A sum sufficient to pay the rentals required to be made on academic facilities under leases entered into under ss. 36.06 and 37.02, 1969 stats.

(db) *Self-amortizing facilities principal and interest.* A sum sufficient to reimburse 20.866 (1) (u) for any amounts advanced to meet principal and interest costs on self-amortizing university facilities whenever the combined balances of all accounts of activities, of any campus, included in par. (h) are insufficient, as determined by the department of administration, to make transfers to pars. (gb) and (gc) as required by par. (h). Amounts advanced under the authority of this paragraph shall be repaid to the general fund in instalments to be determined jointly by the department of administration and the campus concerned.

(e) *Enrollment increase funding.* A sum sufficient for funding enrollment increases over original budget estimates as provided by sub. (2) (c).

(f) *Board on soil and water conservation districts.* The amounts in the schedule for the payment of aids to soil and water conservation districts by the board on soil and water conservation districts under s. 92.20, and for the payment of operating and administrative costs of the board.

(fa) *General medical education operations.* The amounts in the schedule to support educational services provided by the university of Wisconsin-Madison center for health sciences.

(g) *Physical plant service departments.* All moneys transferred by the board of regents from other appropriations made by this section, to be used for the operation of the university service departments, and to permit cooperation between the service departments and any state or federal agency, and to be available for the purchase of materials and the payment of wages. The board of regents may transfer moneys from or to any other program revenue appropriation under this section to or from the appropriation under this paragraph. To the extent that moneys for the payment of wages under this paragraph are transferred from general purpose revenue appropriations, those appropriations may be supplemented as necessary from s. 20.865 (1) (c) for pay plan costs associated with the proportionate share of wages paid by such appropriations.

(ga) *Surplus auxiliary funds.* Any moneys in any program revenue appropriation under this section which the board determines to be surplus, to be used for the construction or acquisition of university housing facilities, commons, dining facilities, field house or other buildings, or for other permanent improvements, purchase of land, equipment for such buildings or investment in bonds or securities, or for the payment of debt service costs, as provided in ss. 36.06 (6) and (7) and 37.02 (3), 1969 stats., as the board determines. Separate accounts shall be maintained for each activity of each unit with funds in this appropriation.

(gb) *Principal repayment and interest.* A sum sufficient to reimburse s. 20.866 (1) (u) for the payment of principal and interest costs incurred in financing the acquisition, construction, development, enlargement or improvement of self-amortizing university facilities.

(gc) *Lease rental payments.* All moneys transferred from par. (h) to pay the rentals required to be made on self-amortizing facilities under leases entered into under ss. 36.06 and 37.02, 1969 stats.

(h) *Auxiliary enterprises.* All moneys received by the university of Wisconsin system for or on account of any housing facility, commons, dining halls, cafeteria, student union, athletic activities, stationery stand or book store, parking facilities, car fleet, intercollegiate athletics at the university of Wisconsin-Madison, or such other auxiliary enterprise activities as the board designates and including such fee revenues as allocated by the board and including such moneys received under leases entered into previously with nonprofit building corporations as the board designates to be receipts under this paragraph shall be paid into the general fund, and are appropriated therefrom, subject to the limitation hereinafter provided, to be used for 1) the operation, maintenance and capital expenditures of such activities, and including the transfer of funds to such nonprofit corporations to be used by such corporations for the retirement of existing indebtedness and such other payments as may be required under existing loan agreements, and for 2) optional rental payments in addition to the mandatory rental payments under the leases and subleases, in connection with the providing of facilities for such activities. The amounts so appropriated shall not exceed the amounts paid into the general fund as aforesaid after deducting therefrom the amount appropriated under pars. (gb) and (gc) for the payment of principal and interest and lease rentals by the board under ss. 36.06 (6) and 37.02 (3), 1969 stats. The amounts appropriated and available under this paragraph shall be determined by the department of administration. A separate account shall be maintained for each campus, the center system and extension.

(ha) *Stores.* The board of regents may use balances in program revenue appropriations for the operation of a university stores division at any campus, for the center system or for extension, and to permit sales from these stores divisions to other divisions of the university, any agency of the state, local government or federal government, or to university related activities, and to permit cooperation between the stores divisions and any board, commission or department of state, local or federal government and the university. The board of regents may transfer moneys from or to any other program revenue appropriation under this section to or from the appropriation authorized by this paragraph. A separate account shall be maintained for each stores division operated pursuant to this paragraph, and funds in these accounts shall not be commingled.

(i) *State laboratory of hygiene.* All fees and other moneys received for or on account of the operation of the state laboratory of hygiene.

(im) *Academic student fees.* All moneys received from academic student fees for degree credit instruction and increased or decreased in accordance with sub. (2) (c).

(iz) *General operations receipts.* All moneys received for or on account of the university of Wisconsin system unless otherwise specifically appropriated or nonappropriated. At the close of each fiscal year the balance in this paragraph shall be carried forward to the succeeding fiscal year to constitute, together with the revenues of such year, the source of moneys appropriated for that year.

(j) *Gifts and donations.* All moneys received from gifts, grants, bequests and devises to be administered and expended in accordance with the terms of the gift, grant, bequest or devise to carry out the purposes for which made and received.

(ja) *Gifts; student loans.* All moneys received from gifts, grants, bequests and devises for student loans and related operations to be administered and expended in accordance with the terms of the gift, grant, bequest or devise to carry out the purposes for which made and received.

(k) *Adult education center operations.* All moneys received for or on account of the operation of the adult education center at the university of Wisconsin-Madison.

(ka) *Sale of real property.* All net proceeds from the sale of real property by the board pursuant to s. 36.34, 1969 stats., for purposes provided for in such section, including such expenses incurred in selling such real property as are enumerated in s. 13.48 (2) (d).

(kb) *University hospitals.* All fees and other moneys received for or on account of the operation of the university of Wisconsin-Madison university hospitals for the treatment of patients, the operations of the hospital cafeteria, outpatient housing, parking service and other services, to be used for operating expenses of the hospitals and related services.

(m) *Federal aid.* All moneys received from the federal government for instruction, extension, special projects, and emergency employment opportunities and programs to be administered and expended in accordance with the provisions of the federal grant or contract to carry out the purposes for which made and received.

(ma) *Federal aid; loans and grants.* All moneys received from the federal government for student loans, work study and educational opportunity grants and other grants to be administered and expended in accordance with the provisions of the federal grant or program to carry out the purposes for which made and received.

(mb) *Federal aid, research.* All moneys received from the federal government for research to be administered and expended in accordance with the provisions of the federal grant or contract to carry out the purposes for which made and received.

(n) *Federal indirect cost reimbursement.* All moneys received from the federal government as reimbursement for indirect costs of grants and contracts.

(u) *Trust fund income.* All moneys received as trust fund income under s. 36.03, 1969 stats.

(w) *Trust fund operations.* All moneys available for trust fund operations pursuant to s. 36.03, 1969 stats.

(x) *Driver education teachers.* The amounts in the schedule from the appropriation made by s. 20.395 (1) (q) for the purpose of providing driver education teacher training.

(2) GENERAL PROVISIONS. (a) *Transfers.* Any moneys in program revenue appropriations to the board for operation may be temporarily transferred to or from any other program revenue appropriation, but any moneys so transferred shall be repaid to the appropriation from which taken before the close of the fiscal year in which the transfer was made.

(b) *Cash fund.* The board may use balances in university program revenue appropriations as contingent funds for the payment of miscellaneous expenses where immediate payment is deemed necessary but not to exceed \$1,500,000 in total. The board may transfer moneys from or to any other program revenue appropriation to or from the program revenue appropriations authorized by this paragraph.

(c) *Enrollment funding.* The university of Wisconsin system budget for instruction and student-related academic support shall be adjusted annually to reflect enrollment variation from budget estimates according to the following provisions:

1. The basic enrollment workload per unit cost shall be the average cost per student credit hour budgeted in 1972-73 by instructional level, discipline category and institutional type with an added factor for related academic support costs such as libraries, instructional media services, student services and instructional computing.

2. On November 1 of each year the system shall report to the department of administration on the total degree credit enrollment and the number of student credit hours for which students have registered by level, discipline category, and institutional type used for budgeting purposes.

3. The actual student credit hour enrollment shall then be compared with the projections of student credit hours by level and discipline category and institutional type for that year.

4. The differences between the actual and projected student credit hours shall be multiplied by the budgeted average costs per student credit hour and related academic support costs, as adjusted by legislative action, to determine the adjustment for the system funding level.

5. The required increase or decrease in the funding level shall be accomplished in 2 adjustments subject to the limit established in subd. 7. The first adjustment shall be made by November 15 of the year affected and shall consist of the total increase or decrease in academic student fee and tuition revenue, and, if this amount is less than 50% of the total increase or decrease required, of any general purpose revenues necessary to achieve an adjustment equal to 50% of the required increase or decrease. Unless otherwise provided for through a legislative annual review, the second

adjustment under this paragraph shall be effective on July 1 of the subsequent fiscal year and shall consist of general purpose revenues.

6. Any general purpose revenue increase shall be made in sub. (1) (e) and any decrease shall lapse to the general fund from sub. (1) (a).

7. No single adjustment shall exceed \$1,000,000 in general purpose revenues, except by law.

(d) *Fee and tuition remissions.* The aggregate amount of nonresident remissions of tuition and fees for any fiscal year for the institutions formerly governed under ch. 36, 1971 stats., shall not exceed the aggregate amount so remitted for those institutions in the 1970-71 fiscal year, and for the institutions formerly governed under ch. 37, 1971 stats., shall not exceed the aggregate amount so remitted for those institutions in the 1972-73 fiscal year. This limitation shall not restrict the granting of remissions when required under the terms of a contract or gift, or when such remissions are reimbursed as an indirect cost.

SECTION 60. 20.292 (1) (title) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.292 (1) (title) EDUCATION FOR CAREER DEVELOPMENT AND COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT.

SECTION 61. 20.292 (1) (b) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 62. 20.292 (1) (fr) and (fs) of the statutes are created to read:

20.292 (1) (fr) *Teachers retirement.* A sum sufficient for the 1973-74 fiscal year only to make the contributions required for nonstate employed members of the state teachers retirement system under s. 42.46.

(fs) *Teachers social security.* A sum sufficient for the 1973-74 fiscal year only to make the employer social security contributions required for nonstate employed members of the state teachers retirement system pursuant to subch. VI of ch. 40 and ss. 42.241 and 42.72. Payments from this appropriation shall be upon vouchers certified by the department of employe trust funds.

SECTION 63. 20.292 (1) (m) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.292 (1) (m) (title) *Federal aid, state operations.* All moneys received as federal aids for vocational, technical and adult education programs for which the board is responsible, to be expended for state operations in conformity with the purposes and requirements of the several acts of congress under which such federal aid is granted.

SECTION 64. 20.292 (1) (n) and (o) of the statutes are created to read:

20.292 (1) (n) *Federal aid, local assistance.* All moneys received as federal aids for vocational, technical and adult education programs for which the board is responsible, to be expended as local assistance in conformity with the purposes and requirements of the several acts of congress under which such federal aid is granted.

(o) *Federal aid, aids to individuals and organizations.* All moneys received as federal aids for vocational, technical and adult education programs for which the board is responsible, to be expended as aids to individuals and organizations, in conformity with the purposes and requirements of the several acts of congress under which such federal aid is granted.

SECTION 65. 20.292 (1) (u) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.292 (1) (u) *Driver education, local assistance.* All moneys received from the allocation made under s. 20.395 (1) (q), to be distributed to vocational, technical and

adult education districts for operating driver training programs under ss. 38.28 (2) (c) and 121.15.

SECTION 66. 20.292 (2) (g) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.292 (2) (g) *Proprietary school permits.* All moneys received from the issuance of solicitor's permits under s. 38.51 (8) and proprietary school application fees under s. 38.51 (10) to be used for the examination and approval of proprietary school programs.

SECTION 68. 20.370 (1) (up) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.370 (1) (up) *Topographic mapping.* The amounts in the schedule for the preparation of topographic maps of parts of this state in cooperation with the federal government. This appropriation shall not exceed amounts made available for the purpose by the federal government.

SECTION 69. 20.370 (1) (vm) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.370 (1) (vm) *County conservation aids.* The amounts in the schedule for county fish and game projects or county bounty payments under s. 23.09 (12). An amount, from funds allocated to counties by s. 23.09 (12) (c) not to exceed \$10,000 of the unencumbered balance on June 30 of each year shall be carried forward to the succeeding fiscal year to provide for prior year contingencies.

SECTION 70. 20.370 (2) (vp) (title) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.370 (2) (vp) (title) *Snowmobile safety and certification.*

SECTION 71. 20.370 (2) (za) of the statutes is created to read:

20.370 (2) (za) *Snowmobile enforcement aids.* The moneys allocated for law enforcement aids to counties as authorized under s. 350.12 (4) (a) 4, to be used exclusively for the enforcement of ch. 350.

SECTION 72. 20.370 (3) (c) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.370 (3) (c) *State park operations.* From moneys allocated under sub. (7) (a), a sum sufficient equivalent to nine-elevenths of the state parks unassigned receipts under ch. 27 each year for the operation of the state parks system.

SECTION 72m. 20.370 (3) (f) and (g) of the statutes are repealed.

SECTION 73. 20.370 (3) (vc) of the statutes is created to read:

20.370 (3) (vc) *Aids in lieu of taxes.* See sub. (9) (vc).

SECTION 74. 20.370 (4) (a) (title) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.370 (4) (a) (title) *General program operations; commercial recreation.*

SECTION 74m. 20.370 (4) (c) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.370 (4) (c) *Advertising Wisconsin.* From the general fund, the amounts in the schedule for the execution of the functions under s. 23.09 (2) (1). Of the moneys appropriated under this paragraph, ~~\$100,000~~ \$200,000 annually shall be set aside and may be used only to match funds allocated by private or public organizations for the promotion of tourism in cooperation with the state.

SECTION 75. 20.370 (5) (f) (title) and (fm) (title) of the statutes are amended to read:

20.370 (5) (f) (title) *Aids to counties; air pollution.*

(fm) (title) *Aids to municipalities.*

SECTION 76. 20.370 (5) (fx) of the statutes is created to read:

20.370 (5) (fx) *Milwaukee county air pollution program aids.* The amounts in the schedule for support of county air pollution regulation and control programs under s. 59.07 (53) and (85).

SECTION 77. 20.370 (6) (m) (title) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.370 (6) (m) (title) *Federal aid; flood control.*

SECTION 78. 20.370 (7) (a) (intro.) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.370 (7) (a) (intro.) *General program operations.* The unencumbered balance in s. 20.370 (7), 1967 stats., on June 30, 1969, and as a continuing appropriation on July 1, 1969, and on each July 1 thereafter, an amount equal to .0165% of the current equalized value of all taxable property in this state for an outdoor recreation program. The natural resources board may allocate the remaining funds in general accordance with s. 23.30 to the appropriations specified in this section and ss. 20.115 (4) (d), 20.245 (1) (d) and (f), ~~20.285 (1) (fi)~~ and 20.395 (2) (b).

SECTION 79. 20.370 (8) (m) of the statutes is created to read:

20.370 (8) (m) *Federal aid; water resource planning.* All moneys received as federal aid as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54.

SECTION 80. 20.370 (9) (vc) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.370 (9) (vc) *Aids in lieu of taxes.* A sum sufficient to pay aids to municipalities for state forest lands ~~and~~, hunting and fishing grounds ~~and~~ state park lands pursuant to s. 70.113. In this section, expenditure estimates for these outlays shall appear in the schedule of subs. (1) ~~and~~, (2) and (3) as par. (vc).

SECTION 81. 20.395 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.395 Transportation, department of. There is appropriated from the highway fund, or from other funds if so indicated, to the department of transportation the amounts indicated for the following programs:

(1) TRANSPORTATION LOCAL AIDS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE. (q) *State agency assistance.* The amounts needed for the administration, regulation and promotion of transportation. From this appropriation the amounts in the schedule shall be allocated in accordance with ss. 20.155 (1) (u), 20.255 (1) (q) and (r), 20.285 (1) (x), 20.292 (1) (u), 20.355 (1) (u), 20.370 (4) (z), 20.505 (3), 20.525 (2) (q), 20.566 (1) (u) and 20.765 (2) (u).

(qa) *Highway mileage aids.* As a basic contribution a sum sufficient to make payments required under ss. 59.965 (11), 83.10, 86.31, 86.315, 86.32, 86.33 and 86.34.

(qb) *Highway supplemental aids.* As a continuing appropriation, the amounts determined under subs. 1 and 2 for the execution of its functions under ss. 59.965 (11), 83.10, 86.31, 86.32, 86.33 and 86.34:

1. One-seventh of the taxes collected under ss. 78.01 and 78.40 (1).

2. On June 30, 60% of the amount remaining from highway fund revenues collected by the division of motor vehicles of the department of transportation, department of revenue and public service commission after deducting the amount appropriated from the highway fund by subd. 1 and subs. (1) (q), (qa) and (qc) to (qg), (2) (q), (4) (q) 2 to 6 and (qa) to (qf) and 8 (q) and (qa). The amounts

determined under subs. 1 and 2 shall be used to supplement payments under par. (qa) as follows:

a. Thirty per cent to counties, apportioned in the same ratio as and to supplement the allotment under par. (qa) pursuant to s. 83.10.

b. Thirty per cent to towns, apportioned in the same ratio as and to supplement the allotment under par. (qa) pursuant to s. 86.31.

c. Fifteen per cent to all villages and to cities with populations of not more than 10,000 to supplement the allotment under par. (qa) pursuant to s. 86.31, to be allocated to each village and city in proportion to the mileage in each on which aids were allocated in s. 86.31.

d. Twenty-five per cent to applicable counties and to cities with populations of more than 10,000 to supplement the allotments under par. (qa) pursuant to ss. 59.965 (11) and 86.31 apportioned in the same ratio as such allotments.

e. On April 15 an amount equal to one-half of the amount that was paid to such county, town, village and city under par. (qb) in the previous fiscal year shall be prepaid as part of the allotment due on the following June 30 under this paragraph. The department may adjust, as it deems necessary to avoid duplication or overpayment, the amounts of prepayments or payees to compensate for changes in incorporation status or boundaries of municipalities which have occurred since the payments of the previous fiscal year.

(qc) *Topographic maps.* The amounts in the schedule for the preparation of topographic maps of parts of Wisconsin in cooperation with the federal government. This appropriation shall not exceed amounts made available for this purpose by the federal government.

(qd) *Aids to localities.* The amounts in the schedule for the municipal and county shared tax account under s. 86.35.

(qe) *Milwaukee patrol reimbursement.* The amounts in the schedule to reimburse any county policing expressways under s. 59.965 (10) (b).

(qf) *Services of the attorney general.* The amounts in the schedule to reimburse the department of justice for legal services provided the department under s. 165.25 (4).

(qg) *Filing fees.* A sum sufficient to pay the county registers of deeds as provided in s. 342.14 (6).

(2) TRANSPORTATION REGISTRATION, LICENSING, INSPECTION AND ENFORCEMENT.

(q) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for administering the transportation registration, licensing, inspection and enforcement program. Of the amount appropriated under this paragraph, the department may maintain a contingent fund, not to exceed \$4,000, for establishing change funds in the amount deemed necessary by the department.

(z) *Federal aids and grants.* All moneys received from the federal government as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54 for the purpose for which paid.

(za) *Federal aid, civil defense.* All moneys received as federal aid for civil defense as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54.

(3) TRANSPORTATION FACILITY MAINTENANCE AND OPERATIONS. (q) *General program operations.* Biennially, the amounts in the schedule for administering the

transportation facility maintenance and operations program and related functions under s. 84.07.

(qa) *Nonstate highway bridge operations.* The amounts in the schedule for the maintenance and operation of bridges specified in s. 84.10.

(4) TRANSPORTATION FACILITY DEVELOPMENT AND IMPROVEMENT. (a) *Scenic easements.* Biennially from moneys allocated under s. 20.370 (7) (a), the amounts in the schedule for the acquisition of scenic easements, development of historical markers, overlooks, waysides and related functions specified in ss. 84.04 and 84.09 (1).

(q) *General program operations, highways.* As a continuing appropriation after deducting the amount as determined under subd. 1 and the amounts appropriated under subs. (3) (q) and (qa) and (5) (q) to (qd), the amounts determined in subs. 2 to 7 to administer the highway transportation facility development and improvement program, including the development, acquisition, construction, enlargement or improvement of state trunk highways and connecting streets and related functions specified in ss. 84.01 (5) and (18), 84.03 (6) and (9), 84.09, 84.20, 84.30 and 196.85 (2) (b):

1. A sum sufficient to reimburse local units of government for fire claims arising under ss. 60.29 (20) (e) 2, 61.65 (8) and 62.13 (8).

2. As a basic contribution, \$10,700,000 annually.

3. Two-sevenths of the taxes collected under ss. 78.01 (1) and 78.40 (1).

4. A contribution of \$3,800,000 annually to provide for the improvement of connecting streets and state trunk highways in cities and villages.

5. A contribution of \$200,000 annually to provide for roadside improvements.

6. A contribution of \$3,000,000 annually for highway improvements and elimination of road hazards under ss. 341.25 (1) (a) and (2) (intro.) and 341.26 (3) (a) and (g).

7. On June 30, 40% of the amount described in sub. (1) (qb) 2.

(qa) *State park and forest roads.* The amounts in the schedule for state park and forest roads under s. 84.28.

(qb) *Access to navigable waters.* The amounts in the schedule to provide public access roads to navigable waters.

(qc) *Institution roads.* The amounts in the schedule for institution roads under s. 84.27.

(qd) *Railroad grade crossing protection.* The amounts in the schedule to pay the cost of crossing protection under s. 195.28.

(qe) *Nonstate highway improvements.* The amounts in the schedule to pay the state's portion of the cost of bridges under ss. 84.11 and 84.12 which are not on the state trunk highway system or a connecting street.

(qf) *State trunk highway allotments, counties.* A sum sufficient for the purposes of s. 84.03 (3) including the retirement of bonds issued under ss. 67.13 and 67.14 in accordance with the allotment procedure specified in s. 84.03 (3).

(u) *Special construction funds, engineering services.* All moneys paid into the state treasury by any local unit of government or other source for the performance of services relating to highway construction.

(w) *Special highway improvement funds, on the state trunk highway system.* All moneys paid into the state treasury by any local unit of government or other source for use on the state trunk and urban highway system, for the purpose for which paid.

(wa) *Special highway improvement funds, off the state trunk highway system.* All moneys paid into the state treasury by any local unit of government or other source for use on county trunk highways and town roads, for the purpose for which paid.

(y) *Federal aid, highways.* All allotments of federal aid funds made to this state for use on either the state trunk highways and connecting streets or federal defense and federal forest and miscellaneous roads, for the purpose for which paid.

(ya) *Federal aid, highways local assistance.* All allotments of federal highway aid funds made to this state for use on county trunk highways and town roads.

(5) TRANSPORTATION FACILITY DEBT SERVICE. (q) *Interstate bond retirement, sinking fund.* As a continuing appropriation, the amounts in the schedule to retire the mortgage bond with deferred principal payments and for the payment of rentals on leases and subleases entered into pursuant to s. 84.40 on highway projects on the interstate system when the projects are initiated. In addition, all investment earnings derived from investments of the highway fund shall be used to supplement this appropriation.

(qa) *Principal repayment and interest, highways.* A sum sufficient to reimburse s. 20.866 (1) (u) for the payment of principal and interest costs incurred in financing the acquisition, construction, development, enlargement or improvement of state highway facilities under ss. 84.06 and 84.09.

(qb) *Principal repayment and interest, bridges.* A sum sufficient to reimburse s. 20.866 (1) (u) for the payment of principal and interest costs incurred in financing the acquisition, construction, development, enlargement or improvement of intrastate bridges under s. 84.11 and interstate bridges under s. 84.12.

(qc) *Principal repayment and interest, capital facilities.* A sum sufficient to reimburse s. 20.866 (1) (u) for the payment of principal and interest costs incurred in financing the acquisition, construction, development, enlargement or improvement of the department of transportation's administrative offices or equipment storage and maintenance facilities.

(qd) *Principal repayment and interest, state trunk highways.* A sum sufficient to reimburse s. 20.866 (1) (u) for the payment of principal and interest costs incurred in financing the construction, reconstruction and resurfacing of state trunk highway facilities as provided by s. 84.51 (3).

(6) AIRPORTS AND AERONAUTICAL ACTIVITIES. (g) *General program operations.* From those moneys received in the general fund from taxes on air carrier companies under ch. 76 and from registration of aircraft under s. 114.20, the amounts in the schedule to administer the aeronautics transportation facility development and improvement program and related functions specified in ss. 114.31 and 114.34.

(j) *Sponsors contributions, airports.* From the general fund, all moneys received by the state from any unit of local government for the promotion of aeronautics or for airports or other aeronautical activities under s. 114.33.

(m) *Federal aids, airports.* From the general fund, all moneys received by the state from the United States for the promotion of aeronautics or for airports or other aeronautical activities under s. 114.32.

(7) MASS TRANSPORTATION ACTIVITIES. (f) *General fund supplement to the transportation aids fund.* From the general fund, as a continuing appropriation, the amounts in the schedule to be paid into the transportation aids fund. From this paragraph, \$65,400 in 1973-74 and \$67,500 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to par. (u), \$2,500,000 in 1973-74 and \$2,500,000 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to par. (v) and \$934,600 in 1973-74 and \$932,500 in 1974-75 shall be transferred to par. (w).

(u) *General program operations.* From the transportation aids fund, the amounts provided under par. (f) for general program operations.

(v) *Mass transit aids.* From the transportation aids fund, the amounts provided under par. (f) for the mass transit aid program under s. 85.05.

(w) *Mass transit planning and demonstration projects.* From the transportation aids fund, the amounts provided under par. (f) for mass transit planning and demonstration projects as provided under s. 85.06.

(wa) *Special funds.* From the transportation aids fund, all moneys received from local contributions, gifts and grants, and investment income shall be expended by the department in accordance with the purposes for which such moneys were paid into the fund and may, where applicable, be used as state funds to match or supplement federal aid on projects for such purposes.

(z) *Federal highway and transit aids for urban areas.* From the transportation aids fund, all federal aids or grants for transportation purposes made available by the federal highway act of 1973 or any other act of congress, subject to applicable federal regulations.

(8) TRANSPORTATION ADMINISTRATION AND PLANNING. (q) *General program operations, administration.* The amounts in the schedule for departmental administrative activities.

(qa) *General program operations, planning.* The amounts in the schedule for the promotion and protection of transportation services and air, highway and other mode transportation planning and related functions specified in ch. 85.

(y) *Federal aid, highway planning.* All allotments of federal highway aid funds made to this state for highway planning.

(ya) *Federal aid, transportation.* All moneys received by the state from the federal government for planning, promotion and protection of transportation service or for transportation facilities or other transportation activities under chs. 84 and 85.

(z) *Federal aids and grants.* All moneys received from the federal government as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54.

(9) GENERAL PROVISIONS. (u) *Fiscal year-end transfers.* Any unencumbered balance remaining under the appropriation made by subs. (1) (q), (qc) to (qf), (2) (q), (3) (q) and (qa), (4) (qa) to (qe), and (8) (q) and (qa) following the close of any fiscal year shall be transferred to and is appropriated under sub. (4) (q). Any prior year's outstanding encumbrance and any claim of a prior fiscal year not evidenced by an encumbrance presented for payment after July 31 shall be charged to such appropriations for the fiscal year in progress.

(v) *Matching federal aid and other funds.* All or part of any allotment from the appropriations made by subs. (1) (qa) to (qe), (4) (q) to (qe) and (8) (qa) may be used to match or supplement federal aid or other funds made available by any act of congress or any county, city, village or town for the purposes set forth in such paragraphs, provided the department and any municipality or other commission or

official given any control over the disposition of any such allotment deems it advisable. Every part of every allotment made from an appropriation in this section shall be expended only for the purpose for which the allotment is made. The intent of this paragraph is to permit, where state funds are as herein provided made available for such purposes, the matching or supplementing of federal aid funds in accordance with the purposes of any act of congress, including, without limitation because of enumeration, the elimination of hazards to life at railroad grade crossings, the construction, reconstruction and improvement of secondary or feeder roads and any other highway or transportation purpose within the purview of any such act of congress.

(y) *Appropriation of federal aid and other special funds.* Appropriations made by subs. (4) (y) and (ya) and (8) (y) and (ya) shall be expended by the department in connection with the appropriation provided in this section where applicable and in accordance with the requirements of and regulations made pursuant to any applicable act of congress. Section 20.903 shall not apply to that part of any debt or liability contracted or created on any highway project in anticipation of payment thereof out of federal aid funds pursuant to any applicable act of congress.

(z) *Special funds.* Appropriations made by sub. (4) (w) and (wa) shall be expended by the department in accordance with the purposes for which such moneys were paid into the state treasury and may, where applicable, be used as state funds to match or supplement federal aid on projects for such purposes.

SECTION 82. 20.430 of the statutes is created to read:

20.430 Board on aging. (1) IDENTIFICATION OF THE NEEDS OF THE ELDERLY. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for general program operations of the board on aging.

(g) *Gifts and grants.* All moneys received as gifts and grants to carry out the purposes for which made.

SECTION 83. 20.435 (1) (gm) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.435 (1) (gm) *Licensing activities.* All moneys received under chs. 145, 156, 158, 159 and 160 to be used for the purposes provided in those chapters.

SECTION 84. 20.435 (2) (a) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.435 (2) (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule to operate institutions and provide boarding home care, field services and administrative services within the mental health program, less all payments of medical assistance pursuant to ch. 49 for the care of patients in the ~~institutions for the retarded centers for the developmentally disabled~~. Sums required for travel expenses in connection with recruitment of psychiatrists and hard-to-recruit professional medical personnel outside the classified service may also be expended from this appropriation.

SECTION 85. 20.435 (2) (aa) of the statutes is created to read:

20.435 (2) (aa) *Institutional repair and maintenance.* The amounts in the schedule for the purposes of sub. (9) (aa).

SECTION 86. 20.435 (2) (b) and (c) of the statutes are repealed and recreated to read:

20.435 (2) (b) *Community mental health services.* The amounts in the schedule for the provision or purchase of mental health services pursuant to s. 51.42.

(c) *Developmental disabilities services.* The amounts in the schedule for the provision or purchase of services to the developmentally disabled pursuant to s. 51.437.

SECTION 90. 20.435 (2) (en) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 91. 20.435 (2) (o) of the statutes is created to read:

20.435 (2) (o) *Federal purchase of services.* All federal moneys received from the purchase of services as authorized under sub. (2) (b) and (c).

SECTION 93. 20.435 (3) (aa) of the statutes is created to read:

20.435 (3) (aa) *Institutional repair and maintenance.* The amounts in the schedule for the purposes of sub. (9) (aa).

SECTION 94. 20.435 (3) (b) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 95. 20.435 (3) (d) of the statutes is created to read:

20.435 (3) (d) *Purchased services for offenders.* The amounts in the schedule for the purchase of services, authorized under s. 46.03 (17) (c), for probationers, parolees and other offenders.

SECTION 95m. 20.435 (4) (aa) of the statutes is created to read:

20.435 (4) (aa) *Institutional repair and maintenance.* The amounts in the schedule for the purposes of sub. (9) (aa).

SECTION 96. 20.435 (4) (b) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.435 (4) (b) *Foster care.* The amounts in the schedule for foster care ~~for dependent and neglected children, institutional child care and family care and related expenses under ss. 48.48 (4) and, 48.52 and 51.18, and for aid to those handicapped persons under s. 55.01 who at the time they reached age 18 were students regularly attending a school, college or university or regularly attending a course of vocational or technical training designed to fit them for gainful employment, and either were removed from the home of a relative as a result of a judicial determination that continuance in the home would be contrary to their welfare or were members of families receiving or eligible for aid under s. 49.19.~~

SECTION 97. 20.435 (4) (cc) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 99. 20.435 (4) (dc), (df), (dh), (ed) and (eh) of the statutes are created to read:

20.435 (4) (dc) *Emergency assistance program.* The amounts in the schedule for emergency assistance for families with dependent children under s. 49.19 (12).

(df) *County administration.* The amounts in the schedule for reimbursement for county administration of public assistance benefits, medical assistance eligibility determinations, and social services pursuant to s. 49.51 (4).

(dh) *Purchase of care and services.* The amounts in the schedule to reimburse counties for care and services including foster care under ss. 49.19 (10) and 49.50 purchased by county agencies pursuant to s. 49.51 (3).

(ed) *State supplement to federal supplemental security income program.* The amounts in the schedule for payments of supplemental grants to supplemental security income recipients under s. 49.177.

(eh) *Aids for interest on county construction loans.* A sum sufficient to provide aids to counties for interest payments on loans for construction of public medical

institutions, residential care institutions and intermediate care facilities for projects approved prior to July 1, 1973.

SECTION 100. 20.435 (4) (ee) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 102. 20.435 (5) (aa) of the statutes is created to read:

20.435 (5) (aa) *Institutional repair and maintenance.* The amounts in the schedule for the purposes of sub. (9) (aa).

SECTION 103. 20.435 (5) (c) of the statutes is created to read:

20.435 (5) (c) *Wisconsin service bureau for the deaf.* The amounts in the schedule upon the certification by the treasurer of the Wisconsin service bureau for the deaf.

SECTION 104. 20.435 (5) (e) and (o) of the statutes are repealed and recreated to read:

20.435 (5) (e) *Purchased rehabilitation services.* The amounts in the schedule for the purchase of case services.

(o) *Purchased rehabilitation services -- federal.* The amounts in the schedule from federal vocational rehabilitation funds and federal social security aids for purchase of case services.

SECTION 105. 20.435 (9) (aa) of the statutes is created to read:

20.435 (9) (aa) *Institutional repair and maintenance.* The amounts in the schedule for repair and maintenance expenses of the institutions. Expenditures for materials, supplies, equipment and contracts for services involving the repair and maintenance of structures and equipment, excluding vehicles, shall be made from this appropriation. Repair and remodeling projects which exceed \$15,000 each are to be made from building trust funds appropriated to the state building commission under s. 20.170 (2) (f) or other funding sources approved by the state building commission. In this section expenditure estimates for institutional repair and maintenance shall appear in the schedule of subs. (2) to (5) as par. (aa).

SECTION 105m. 20.435 (9) (f) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.435 (9) (f) (title) *Fuel and utilities.* A sum sufficient to pay for the use of electricity and water and sewage service and to cover the cost of coal or other fuels used for space heating ~~at the institutions~~, including freight charges and local hauling charges where applicable. Coal or fuel oil purchases under this paragraph shall be purchased pursuant to s. 16.71 (4). Payments for coal purchased hereunder shall be made as provided in s. 16.91. In this section, expenditure estimates for ~~fuel utilities~~ and heating shall appear in the schedule of subs. (2) to (8) as par. (f).

SECTION 107. 20.435 (9) (n) (intro.) and l of the statutes are amended to read:

20.435 (9) (n) (intro.) *Federal aid programs.* All moneys received from the federal government or any of its agencies for continuing programs to be expended for the purposes specified. In this section, expenditure estimates for federal aid for continuing programs shall appear in the schedule of subs. (2) to (8) as par. (n), and in sub. (5) shall also appear in par. (o).

1. Federal aid for administration. All moneys received from the federal government to the extent earned by each county for the administration of ~~old-age assistance~~, aid to families with dependent children, ~~aid to the blind and aid to the totally and permanently disabled persons~~ to be allotted under s. 49.52. All moneys

received from the federal government, to the extent earned by the state for the administration of these forms of public assistance, shall be paid into the general fund as general purpose revenues. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, all federal funds received for professional training and employe development may be retained for use by the department.

SECTION 107m. 20.435 (9) (n) 3 of the statutes is created to read:

20.435 (9) (n) 3. Federal aid for social services for the blind. All moneys received from the federal government for social services for the blind may be retained for use by the department and all federal funds received pursuant to sub. (5) (o) shall be retained by the department for use as specified under sub. (5) (o).

SECTION 108. 20.445 (1) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.445 (1) INDUSTRY, LABOR AND HUMAN RELATIONS. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for general program operations.

(b) *Committee on the employment of the handicapped.* The amounts in the schedule for expenses of the committee on the employment of the handicapped.

(c) *Work incentive program.* The amounts in the schedule for the work incentive program as provided under s. 49.50 (7). The amounts appropriated under this paragraph shall be used to provide the nonfederal matching moneys for federal funds provided by par. (w).

(e) *Summer youth employment.* The amounts in the schedule for the support of local summer youth employment projects.

(f) *Death and disability benefit payments; public insurrections.* A sum sufficient for the payment of death and disability benefits under s. 101.80.

(g) *Gifts and grants.* All moneys received as gifts or grants to carry out the purposes for which made.

(m) *Federal funds.* All federal moneys received as authorized under s. 16.54 for the purposes of the several programs.

(o) *Federal funds, occupational safety.* All federal moneys received for the purposes of occupational safety programs as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54.

(u) *Unemployment administration fund; federal moneys.* All federal moneys received for the employment service pursuant to s. 101.23 (4) to (6) or for the administration of unemployment compensation under ch. 108, and any moneys paid to the department of industry, labor and human relations for the performance of the functions of the department under ch. 108, and for its conduct of public employment offices consistent with s. 101.37, and for its other efforts to regularize employment; to pay the compensation and expenses of appeal boards and of advisory committees; and to pay allowances stimulating education during unemployment. Any balance remaining in this fund at the close of any fiscal year shall not lapse but shall remain available for the purposes herein specified.

(v) *Unemployment administration fund; state moneys.* All vouchers covering expenditures under ch. 108 shall be paid from the administration fund by the state treasurer, without regard to the sources from which this fund is derived. The treasurer of the unemployment reserve fund, however, shall maintain a separate record of all moneys received for the administration fund as interest on delinquent payments under ch. 108, and of all moneys (other than the contributions paid by certain "exempted" employers for January 1936) received for the administration fund as contributions for

months ending prior to February 1936, namely the month in which federal grants were first authorized for the administration of ch. 108, and all expenditures made from said moneys. He shall charge against said moneys such expenditures and transfers heretofore made by the department as the industry, labor and human relations commission may by resolution decide were not properly and validly chargeable against federal grants (or other funds) received for the administration fund on or after February 1936. Said moneys shall not be expended or available for expenditure in any manner which would permit their substitution for (or a corresponding reduction in) federal funds which would in the absence of said moneys be available to finance expenditures for the administration of ch. 108; but nothing in this section shall prevent said moneys from being used as a revolving fund, to cover expenditures (necessary and proper under ch. 108) for which federal funds have been duly requested but not yet received, subject to the charging of such expenditures against such funds when received. The industry, labor and human relations commission may also, by resolution duly entered in its minutes, authorize to be charged against said moneys any expenditures which it deems proper and desirable under ch. 108, provided the commission in such resolution finds that no other funds are available or can properly be used to finance such expenditures. So much of the moneys specified in this subsection as the commission directs shall be invested in United States bonds, and the interest received thereon and the proceeds therefrom shall be included in said moneys.

(w) *Unemployment administration fund; work incentive program.* All federal segregated funds received for use in financing the work incentive program.

(x) *Employment security building projects.* There is appropriated, from the unemployment reserve fund's employment security administrative financing account created by s. 108.161 to the administration fund created by s. 108.20, for use on employment security building projects in accordance with those sections the unencumbered balances in s. 20.440 (1) (x), 1965 stats.

1. The amounts thus appropriated shall be used for employment security administration (including unemployment compensation, employment service and related statistical operations), namely for capital outlay to buy suitable parcels of land, with a view to future construction thereon of modern office buildings designed for employment security operations, and to finance the designing and construction of such buildings, including such equipment, facilities, paving, landscaping and other improvements as are required for the proper use and operation of such building projects after their completion.

2. The treasurer of the unemployment reserve fund shall transfer the amounts thus appropriated, from the account created by s. 108.161 to the fund created by s. 108.20, only as and to the extent that they are currently needed for expenditures pursuant to this section. Any amount thus transferred which has ceased to be needed or available for such expenditures shall be restored to that account.

3. The amount obligated pursuant to this subsection during any fiscal year shall not exceed the aggregate of all amounts credited under s. 108.161 (1), including amounts credited under s. 108.161 (8), within that fiscal year and the 24 preceding fiscal years, reduced by the sum of any moneys obligated and charged against any of the amounts thus credited within those 25 years.

4. As to any building project to be financed under this subsection, the department shall secure advance assurance that the federal bureau of employment security will apply to that project, after its completion and occupancy, the bureau's policy of gradually reimbursing the unemployment reserve fund for the necessary capital costs of any suitable employment security building project (thus financed) by federal grants

covering the amounts which would otherwise be payable (during the reimbursement or amortization period) for the rental of substantially equivalent office quarters.

5. The governor, before approving any land purchase (including any transfer) or building project to be financed under this subsection, shall consult with the building commission as to those cities and sites where early construction of a combined state office building is under active consideration with a view to determining where employment security building projects (thus financed) would be desirable.

6. If the building commission with the approval of the governor determines as to any city or site that employment security offices should be part of a combined state office building project, or should be built on state-owned land or on land owned by a Wisconsin state public building corporation, the amounts appropriated by the subsection shall be available to finance such offices or a proper employment security share of such combined project.

7. Any amount appropriated under this paragraph which has not been obligated shall be available for employment security local office building projects, consistent with this subsection and ss. 108.161 and 108.20.

8. There is appropriated, from the unemployment reserve fund's employment security administrative financing account created by s. 108.161, to the administration fund created by s. 108.20, for use on employment security building projects in accordance with those sections:

a. On April 26, 1972, any amounts credited to that employment security administrative financing account which are then unobligated and available for obligation pursuant to s. 108.161.

b. From April 26, 1972 to June 30, 1972, various amounts (on the dates when credited to that account) totaling \$65,700 but not to exceed the total amount credited to that account and available for obligation through June 30, 1972.

c. From July 1, 1972 to June 30, 1973, various amounts (on the dates when credited to that account) totaling \$194,500, but not to exceed the total amount credited to that account within that fiscal year.

d. From July 1, 1973, to June 30, 1974, various amounts (on the dates when credited to that account) totaling \$201,000, but not to exceed the total amount credited to that account within that fiscal year and within 2 years after April 26, 1972.

(y) *Administrative financing account.* Any amount appropriated for employment security administration pursuant to s. 108.161 shall be available for expenditure accordingly, and shall not lapse, but any unexpended remainder thereof shall be restored pursuant to that section.

SECTION 109. 20.445 (2), (3) and (9) of the statutes are repealed.

SECTION 111. 20.455 (1) (m) and (4) (b), (h) and (n) of the statutes are created to read:

20.455 (1) (m) *Federal aid.* All moneys received as federal aid as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54.

(4) (b) *Training aids.* The amounts in the schedule for the purpose of matching federal aids to be used to reimburse law enforcement agencies for training of law enforcement personnel.

(h) *Terminal charges.* All moneys collected from law enforcement agencies for rentals, terminal fees and related charges associated with the transaction information for management of enforcement system.

(n) *Federal aid, local assistance.* All moneys received as federal aid, as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54, for local assistance.

SECTION 112. 20.455 (2) (c) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 113. 20.455 (2) (m) of the statutes is created to read:

20.455 (2) (m) *Federal aid.* All moneys received as federal aid as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54.

SECTION 114. 20.455 (4) (m) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.455 (4) (m) (title) *Federal aid, state operations.* All moneys received as federal aid, as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54, for state operations.

SECTION 114g. 20.485 (1) (m) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.485 (1) (m) *Federal aid.* All moneys received from the federal government for care of veterans of any war or military expedition of the United States who have been admitted to and cared for at the Grand Army home for veterans, ~~to be used by the department exclusively for constructing and equipping buildings inclusive of such other lands as are necessary therefor, and to replace inadequate and dangerous housing accommodations and to replace and improve the existing sewer and water systems at the Grand Army home for veterans.~~ The net revenues accruing under this paragraph shall be ~~transferred to the state building trust fund or~~ deposited in the general fund annually until such time as the moneys advanced by the state building trust fund or the general fund under s. ~~20.485 (1) (e) and (f) have been completely reimbursed.~~

SECTION 115. 20.485 (2) (e) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.485 (2) (e) *Vietnam veteran educational grants.* A sum sufficient for the payment of educational grants to Vietnam era veterans under s. 45.28.

SECTION 116. 20.485 (2) (f) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.485 (2) (f) *General fund supplement to veterans trust fund.* Biennially, the amounts in the schedule to be paid into the veterans trust fund and credited to the appropriation under par. (y). ~~This paragraph shall expire on June 30, 1973. The balance of moneys under this paragraph not transferred on March 31, 1972 shall be transferred in even monthly amounts commencing with the month in which this amendment takes effect, except that a greater amount shall be transferred in any month if the department demonstrates to the satisfaction of the department of administration the need therefor to be used for veterans housing assistance programs after January 1, 1974, which are authorized by the legislature.~~

SECTION 117. 20.485 (2) (m) of the statutes is created to read:

20.485 (2) (m) *Federal aid projects.* All moneys received from the federal government for specific limited term projects to be expended for the purposes specified.

SECTION 117m. 20.485 (2) (um) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.485 (2) (um) *Veterans loans and aids.* A sum sufficient for payment of benefits to veterans and their dependents under ss. 45.351 and 45.396, and for payment of grants under s. 45.43 (7).

SECTION 118. 20.505 (1) (n) of the statutes is created to read:

20.505 (1) (n) *Federal aid; local assistance.* All moneys received from the federal government, as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54, for local assistance.

SECTION 119. 20.505 (3) (title) and (4) (title) of the statutes are repealed and recreated to read:

20.505 (3) (title) ADJUDICATION OF CLAIMS.

(4) (title) TAX APPEAL ADJUDICATION.

~~SECTION 119m. 20.505 (5) (a) of the statutes is amended to read:~~ Vetoed
in Part
~~20.505 (5) (a) *General program operations.* A sum sufficient from the general fund or such other funds as is appropriate. The amounts in the schedule for the travel and miscellaneous expenses of committees created by statute or executive order subject to the approval of budgets for each such committee by the board on government operations and for state membership dues, travel expenses and miscellaneous expenses to the education commission of the states under s. 39.76 and the state's contribution to the advisory commission on intergovernmental relations. Administrative matters related to such budgets shall be handled by the department of administration.~~

SECTION 120. 20.505 (5) (b) of the statutes is created to read:

20.505 (5) (b) *Commission on status of women.* The amounts in the schedule for the general program operations of the commission on the status of women.

SECTION 120m. 20.505 (5) (m) of the statutes is created to read:

20.505 (5) (m) *Federal aid.* All moneys received from the federal government to carry out the purposes for which received.

SECTION 121. 20.505 (8) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.505 (8) DIVISION OF HEALTH POLICY AND PLANNING. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for general program operations.

(m) *Federal aid.* All moneys received from the federal government, as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54.

SECTION 124. 20.515 (2) (intro.) of the statutes is created to read:

20.515 (2) (intro.) Commencing with the 1975-77 biennium, estimated disbursements from segregated funds pursuant to this subsection shall not be included in the schedule under s. 20.005.

SECTION 124e. 20.521 of the statutes is created to read:

20.521 Ethics board. There is appropriated to the ethics board for the following program:

(1) CODE OF ETHICS. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for general program operations under ch. 11.

(g) *Gifts and grants.* All moneys received by the board from gifts, grants, bequests and devises to carry out the purposes, not inconsistent with ch. 11, for which made or received.

SECTION 124m. 20.525 (2) and (3) of the statutes are repealed and recreated to read:

20.525 (2) HIGHWAY SAFETY COORDINATION. (m) *Federal aid, state operations.* All moneys received from the federal government for the state operations of the division for the purposes of s. 14.21.

(n) *Federal aid, local assistance.* Except for moneys received under pars. (m) and (p), not less than 50% of all moneys received from the federal government after July 1, 1973, for the implementation of the federal highway safety program in the state to be disbursed to local governments.

(o) *Federal aid, state agencies.* Except for moneys received under pars. (m) and (p), not more than 50% of all moneys received from the federal government after July 1, 1973, for the implementation of the federal highway safety program in the state to be disbursed to other state agencies.

(p) *Federal aid, highway safety promotion.* All moneys received from the federal government for advertising and promoting highway safety.

(q) *General program operations.* From the highway fund, the amounts in the schedule for general program operations.

(3) COUNCIL ON CRIMINAL JUSTICE. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for planning and administration under the omnibus crime and safe streets act of 1968 and any related programs.

(b) *Planning and administration project aid, local assistance.* Biennially, the amounts in the schedule to provide matching funds to local governments for federal planning and administration programs to improve the administration of criminal justice.

(c) *Law enforcement improvement project aid, local assistance.* Biennially, the amounts in the schedule to provide matching funds to local governments for federal project grants to improve the administration of criminal justice.

(d) *Law enforcement improvement project aid, state operations.* Biennially, the amounts in the schedule to be allocated to state agencies as matching funds for federal project grants to improve the administration of criminal justice.

(h) *Gifts and grants.* As a continuing appropriation, all gifts, grants, bequests and devises to carry out the purposes for which made and received.

(m) *Federal aid, planning and administration state operations.* All moneys received from the federal government to be allocated to state agencies for planning and administration of programs to improve the administration of criminal justice.

(n) *Federal aid, planning and administration local assistance.* All moneys received from the federal government to be allocated to local agencies for planning and administration of programs to improve the administration of criminal justice.

(o) *Federal aid, law enforcement improvement state operations.* All moneys received from the federal government to be allocated to state agencies for project grants to improve the administration of criminal justice.

(p) *Federal aid, law enforcement improvement local assistance.* All moneys received from the federal government to be allocated to local governments for project grants to improve the administration of criminal justice.

SECTION 125. 20.525 (4) of the statutes is created to read:

20.525 (4) COUNCIL FOR CONSUMER AFFAIRS. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for general program operations. Moneys appropriated under this paragraph shall be used to review and evaluate the conduct and organization of existing activities in order to suggest program changes to the legislature, to recommend new state or local activities or both, to propose statutory changes for improvement of consumer protection, to review requests for federal aids related to

consumer protection and to review the impact of federal legislation on this state's consumer protection activities.

SECTION 125m. 20.525 (5) of the statutes is created to read:

20.525 (5) MANPOWER PLANNING COUNCIL. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for general program operations.

(m) *Federal aid.* All federal moneys received to further the goals of manpower planning and development.

SECTION 127. 20.536 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.536 Investment board. There is appropriated to the investment board for the following program:

(1) INVESTMENT OF FUNDS. (h) *General program operations.* Annually, the amounts in the schedule from moneys received by the board in reimbursement for the amounts expended in investing the funds which it controls. Semiannually the board shall bill the funds which it controls for the amounts expended in investing such funds and the amounts thus billed shall be charged to the income of the respective funds and revenue received from such billings plus any amounts received pursuant to s. 25.17 (9) shall be credited to this appropriation.

SECTION 128. 20.545 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.545 Local affairs and development, department of. There is appropriated to the department of local affairs and development for the following programs:

(1) ASSISTANCE TO WISCONSIN LOCALITIES. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for general program operations.

(b) *Community development grants.* Biennially, the amounts in the schedule for the purposes of s. 22.13 (2) (n), improving and strengthening local governments throughout this state. For the 1973-75 biennium the appropriation under this paragraph is allocated to the department for grants to local units of government, subject to the approval of the local governing body. Activities eligible for funding hereunder include: establishing local capability to determine priorities including policy review, administration and evaluation for the use of state or federal aids; improvement of management and productivity capabilities relating to the administration of local governments; facilitating the implementation of voluntary cooperation between 2 or more local governmental units leading toward improved and efficient service delivery; and providing training opportunities to local governmental personnel for these purposes. It is the intent of the legislature that approved projects shall be of sufficient size and scope to provide models which may be utilized by local units of government in other parts of the state, but no funds may be utilized to supplant funds otherwise committed to the project. Prior to accepting grant applications, the department shall establish parameters for evaluating applications, such parameters to be approved by the joint committee on finance.

(c) *Aids to community action agencies.* The amounts in the schedule for supplemental interim funding of high priority planning and administration functions of community action agencies in this state, which because of federal funding reductions would be severely reduced or eliminated. The board on governmental operations shall approve an expenditure plan of the amount appropriated under this paragraph at its ~~September 1973 meeting~~. Funds may be spent from this appropriation only if they are in accord with the approved expenditure plan.

CHAPTER 90

(f) *Planning aids.* Biennially, the amounts in the schedule for the purposes of supporting regional and local planning capabilities.

(g) *Plat review.* All moneys received for plat review services under ch. 236.

(h) *Gifts and grants.* All moneys received from gifts, donations, grants, bequests and devises and all conference proceeds to carry out the purposes for which made.

(i) *Local government contributions.* All moneys received from units of local government and regional planning commissions to carry out the purposes of the program.

(m) *Federal aid, state operations.* All moneys received from the federal government, as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54, for state operations.

(n) *Federal aid, local assistance.* All moneys received from the federal government, as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54, for local assistance.

(2) HOUSING ASSISTANCE. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for general program operations.

(b) *Housing development fund.* Biennially, the amounts in the schedule for grants to strengthen housing programs and to increase the availability of housing.

(c) *Housing loans.* Biennially, the amounts in the schedule for loans to sponsors of low- and moderate-income housing projects under s. 22.13 (3) (b). All moneys received in repayment of loans made under this paragraph shall be credited to the appropriation under par. (j).

(g) *Agency collections.* All moneys received by the department as rentals, fees or other charges in conjunction with its responsibilities as lessee of subsidized housing.

(h) *Gifts and grants.* All moneys received from gifts, donations, grants, bequests and devises and all conference proceeds to carry out the purposes for which made.

(j) *Housing loans.* All moneys received as repayment of loans made pursuant to s. 22.13 (3) (b) to be used for other loans to sponsors of low- and moderate-income housing projects under s. 22.13 (3).

(m) *Federal aid, state operations.* All moneys received from the federal government, as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54, for state operations.

(n) *Federal aid, local assistance.* All moneys received from the federal government, as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54, for local assistance.

(3) EMERGENCY GOVERNMENT SERVICES. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for the general program operations.

(b) *Medical supplies.* The unencumbered balances in s. 20.270 (1) (b), 1965 stats., for the purchase of medical supplies and blood sets.

(m) *Federal aid, state operations.* All moneys received from the federal government, as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54, for state operations.

(n) *Federal aid, local assistance.* All moneys received from the federal government, as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54, for local assistance.

(v) *Emergency disaster fund.* All moneys in the emergency disaster fund under s. 25.39 to be used on a matching basis with the federal government to purchase equipment for emergency disaster training and in case of natural or man-made emergency. The moneys appropriated by this paragraph shall not become available until released by the governor at such times and in such amounts as he determines.

(4) EXECUTIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for general program operations.

(h) *Gifts and grants.* All moneys received from gifts, donations, grants, bequests and devises and all conference proceeds to carry out the purposes for which made.

(m) *Federal aid, state operations.* All moneys received from the federal government, as authorized under s. 16.54, for state operations.

SECTION 129. 20.566 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.566 Revenue, department of. There is appropriated to the department of revenue for the following programs:

(1) COLLECTION OF STATE TAXES. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for the administration of income, sales, excise and inheritance tax laws. From this appropriation, there are allotted, subject to the approval of the board on government operations, such sums as are necessary to be used as contingent funds to redeem bad checks returned to the state treasurer or state depositories and for establishing change funds in the amount deemed necessary by the department.

(g) *Administration of local sales tax.* Three per cent of all taxes collected under subch. V of ch. 77, for the purpose of administering the local sales tax.

(m) *Federal aid.* All federal moneys received as authorized under s. 16.54 to carry out the purposes for which made and received.

(u) *Motor fuel tax administration.* From the transportation fund, the amounts in the schedule to cover the cost of administering the motor fuel tax law.

(2) STATE AND LOCAL FINANCE. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for administration of property tax laws, public utility tax laws, distribution of state taxes and administration of general program operations under s. 73.10.

(b) *Reassessments and reviews.* A sum sufficient to defray the expenses of executing the functions of reassessments and review of assessment proceedings under ss. 70.75 and 70.85.

(c) *Local assessment cost sharing.* A sum sufficient to pay municipalities the amounts provided under s. 70.052.

(d) *County assessment aid.* A sum sufficient for state aids for county assessment systems established and maintained under s. 70.99 (12).

(g) *Auditing of local units of government.* All moneys received under s. 73.10 for the purposes of that section.

(m) *Federal aids.* All federal moneys received as authorized under s. 16.54 to carry out the purposes for which made and received.

(3) ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for the office of the secretary, the legal staff, the tax analysis staff and the administrative services division.

(b) *Minnesota income tax reciprocity.* A sum sufficient for administrative costs under s. 71.03 (3).

(g) *Processing services.* All moneys received from services rendered to other state agencies by the department. Insofar as practicable all such services shall be

billed at cost. The unencumbered balance of this appropriation on June 30 of any year shall lapse to the general fund.

(m) *Federal aid.* All federal moneys received as authorized under s. 16.54 to carry out the purposes for which made and received.

SECTION 130. 20.590 of the statutes is created to read:

20.590 Upper great lakes regional commission. There is appropriated to the upper great lakes regional commission for the following program:

(1) DEVELOPMENT OF UPPER GREAT LAKES REGION. (a) *General program operations.* The amounts in the schedule for general program operations.

(g) *Gifts and grants.* All moneys received from gifts, grants, bequests and devises to carry out the purposes for which made and received.

(m) *Federal aid.* All moneys received as federal aid, as authorized by the governor, under s. 16.54.

SECTION 131. 20.680 (2) (m) of the statutes is created to read:

20.680 (2) (m) *Federal aid.* All federal moneys received as authorized under s. 16.54 to carry out the purposes for which made and received.

SECTION 132. 20.710 (1) (title) and (g) of the statutes are amended to read:

20.710 (1) (title) STATE OFFICE BUILDINGS. (g) *Agency collections.* All moneys received by the commission under ss. 13.482 and 13.488 from building project rentals and charges, including moneys received from conveyances and leases consummated under ss. 13.482 and 13.488 and from rentals received from buildings constructed under the authority of s. 20.866 (2) (v) shall be paid into the general fund and are appropriated therefrom to the state building trust fund subject to the limitations hereinafter provided, for payments of the costs of operation and maintenance of building projects leased or subleased by the commission under ss. 13.482 and 13.488 and for payment to the state insurance fund of one twentieth of the amounts transferred by chapter 325, laws of 1959, or buildings constructed and occupied under the authority of s. 20.866 (2) (v). The amount so appropriated shall not exceed the amounts paid into the general fund as aforesaid after deducting therefrom an amount equal to the amount appropriated under par. (v) (h) for the payment of rentals by the commission under ss. 13.482 and 13.488, for debt service payments under s. 20.866 (1) (u) and payments to the insurance fund on such projects. The amount appropriated and available under this paragraph shall be determined by the department of administration.

SECTION 133. 20.710 (1) (h) of the statutes is created to read:

20.710 (1) (h) *Lease rental payments.* All moneys transferred from par. (g) to pay rentals by the commission under ss. 13.482 and 13.488, principal repayment and interest under s. 20.866 (1) (u) and to make annual payments to the state insurance fund of one-twentieth of the amounts transferred by chapter 325, laws of 1959.

SECTION 134. 20.710 (1) (k), (u) and (v) of the statutes are repealed.

SECTION 135. 20.710 (2) (title), (f) and (x) of the statutes are amended to read:

20.710 (2) (title) BUILDING TRUST FUND. (f) *Construction program.* Except for the 1971-73 1973-75 fiscal biennium, wherein a total of \$18,323,200 \$44,008,700 is authorized, a sum sufficient equal to 1.5% of the value of state buildings, structures,

utility plants and equipment therein, excepting those under the jurisdiction of the highway commission, as appraised by the department of administration in accordance with s. 13.48 (3), for the purposes of carrying out the long-range building program under s. 13.48. The amounts provided under this paragraph shall be transferred to the appropriation made by par. (x) to carry out the purposes of that paragraph. All amounts thus transferred and all prior appropriations made under the authority of this paragraph shall be considered as nonlapsing, any other provision of the statutes to the contrary notwithstanding.

(x) (title) *Building trust fund.* ~~All~~ As a continuing appropriation, all moneys not otherwise appropriated from the state building trust fund for purposes of carrying out the long-range building program under s. 13.48. The state building trust fund shall consist of all appropriations or transfers made thereto by the legislature, together with all donations, gifts, bequests or contributions of money or other property, all restored advances and all investment income.

SECTION 136. 20.710 (2) (intro.) of the statutes is renumbered 20.710 (3) (intro.) and amended to read:

20.710 (3) (intro.) STATE BUILDING PROGRAM. In addition to such other appropriations as are made by law ~~and in the interests of continuity of the state building program there is appropriated to the state building trust fund:~~

SECTION 137. 20.710 (3) (a) of the statutes is renumbered 20.710 (1) (a).

SECTION 138. 20.710 (2) (a), (b) and (g) of the statutes are renumbered 20.710 (3) (a), (c) and (g), respectively, and amended to read:

20.710 (3) (a) *Principal repayment and interest.* A sum sufficient to pay all principal repayment and interest costs not initially allocable to ss. ~~20.265 (1) (e),~~ 20.285 (1) ~~(ee)~~ (d) and 20.435 (2) (ee) and (3) (e) and ~~sub. (3)~~ subs. (1) (a) and (3) (b).

(c) *Lease rental payments.* A sum sufficient to guarantee full payment of lease rental payments on self-amortizing facilities enumerated under ss. ~~20.265 (1) (hn) and~~ s. 20.285 (1) (hn) (gc) if the moneys available in those appropriations are insufficient to make full payment. All amounts advanced under the authority of this paragraph shall be repaid to the general fund whenever the balance of the appropriation for which the advance was made is sufficient to meet any portion of the amount advanced. The department of administration may take whatever action is deemed necessary, including transfers from other program revenue appropriations, to insure recovery of the amounts advanced.

(g) *Principal repayment and interest.* A sum sufficient from moneys appropriated under ~~ss. 20.265 (1) (hn) and s. 20.285 (1) (hn) (gc)~~ to pay all principal repayment and interest costs for self-amortizing facilities not initially allocable to s. 20.265 (1) (hn) or 20.285 (1) (hn) (gc).

SECTION 139. 20.710 (2) (y) of the statutes is created to read:

20.710 (2) (y) (title) *Advance planning.* As a continuing appropriation from the building trust fund, \$2,000,000 on July 1, 1973, and thereafter all moneys received as reimbursement for building trust fund advances made for planning and design under this paragraph. The governor, upon the approval of the building commission, shall authorize the release of funds from this appropriation for advance planning, preliminary studies and design.

SECTION 140. 20.710 (3) (title) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.710 (3) (title) STATE BUILDING PROGRAM.

SECTION 140g. 20.710 (3) (w) of the statutes is created to read:

20.710 (3) (w) *Bonding services*. From the capital improvement fund, a sum sufficient to pay the expenses of contracting and managing public debt.

SECTION 140j. 20.725 (3) of the statutes is created to read:

20.725 (3) SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATIONS, FEDERAL AID REDUCTIONS. (a) *General emergency supplementation*. Biennially, the amounts in the schedule to be used for supplemental funding of high priority programs and projects which, because of federal funding reductions, would otherwise be severely reduced or eliminated. Allotments from this appropriation shall be made as provided in s. 13.58. All allotments made by the board in an emergency shall be certified to the department of administration, and expenditures therefrom shall be shown in the state budget report as an additional cost of the department, board, commission, institutions or programs to which such allotments were made.

(b) *Social services supplementation*. Biennially, the amounts in the schedule to be used for supplemental funding of social services programs which, because of federal funding reductions, would otherwise be severely reduced or eliminated. The board may supplement the appropriations made by ss. 20.435 (2) (c), (3) (a) and (4) (b), (df) and (dh) due to the loss of federal funds for these social services if such reduction occurs. The amount supplemented to any of these appropriations may not exceed the total amount made available for the particular social service approved in ch. _____, laws of 1973 (this act). Allotments from this appropriation shall be made as provided in par. (a) and in s. 13.58.

SECTION 140m. 20.765 (1) (c) of the statutes is created to read:

20.765 (1) (c) *Legislative auxiliary services*. A sum sufficient to pay legislative data processing expenses under s. 13.90 (7), printing and duplicating costs under s. 13.92 (1) (e), and printing costs under s. 13.93 (3).

SECTION 141. 20.765 (1) (m) and (3) (m) of the statutes are created to read:

20.765 (1) (m) *Nursing home ombudsman*. All moneys received from the federal government as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54.

(3) (m) *Federal Aid*. All moneys received from the federal government as authorized by the governor under s. 16.54, for the legislative service agency to which directed.

SECTION 142. 20.765 (2) (gm) of the statutes is repealed.

~~SECTION 142m. 20.765 (3) (h) and (i) of the statutes are created to read:~~

~~20.765 (3) (h) *Family environment and resources council*. For the family environment and resources council, all moneys received by the legislative council and assigned to this appropriation under s. 245.15 for the execution of its functions.~~

~~(i) *Gifts and grants -- family environment and resources council*. For the family environment and resources council, all gifts, grants, bequests and devises received by the legislative council for the family environment and resources council for the purposes for which made not inconsistent with ss. 13.96, 59.07 (59m) and 245.002.~~

SECTION 143. 20.835 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.835 Shared taxes and tax relief. There is appropriated from local tax revenues for distribution as follows:

Vetoed
in Part

(1) SHARED TAX ACCOUNT AND MINIMUM PAYMENTS. (a) *Shared tax supplement.* A sum sufficient to cover any deficiency in the shared tax account under par. (g) to meet the requirements of s. 79.05. The general fund shall be reimbursed for any payments under this paragraph as soon as there are sufficient funds in the shared tax account to make the reimbursement.

(aa) *Shared tax supplement.* A sum sufficient to cover any deficiency in the shared tax account under par. (g) to meet the requirements of s. 79.03 (4).

(b) *Minimum payments.* A sum sufficient to make the payments required under s. 79.06.

(g) *Shared tax account.* All moneys received in the shared tax account pursuant to s. 79.01 to be distributed to counties, towns, villages and cities in accordance with subch. I of ch. 79, less that portion allocated to general property tax relief under s. 79.05.

(2) TAX RELIEF. (a) *General property tax relief.* The amounts in the schedule for general property tax relief under s. 79.10. Commencing with the 1975-76 fiscal year the amounts appropriated under this paragraph, exclusive of any transfers under sub. (1) (g), shall not exceed \$65,071,000 in any fiscal year. Beginning with the 1976-77 fiscal year the amounts in the schedule shall be \$45,071,000. There is transferred from the appropriation under sub. (1) (g) to this paragraph the amounts specified in s. 79.05 (2).

(b) *Personal property tax relief.* The towns', villages' and cities' share of state taxes as provided in s. 79.12 to provide the credit specified thereunder against the general property tax levy on the local assessments of property made on merchant's stock-in-trade, manufacturers' materials and finished products, and livestock.

(c) *Homestead tax credit.* A sum sufficient to pay the aggregate claims approved under s. 71.09 (7).

(3) LOCAL SALES TAX. (g) *Distribution.* That portion of local sales taxes collected by the state under subch. V of ch. 77 which is distributable under that subchapter, to be distributed in the enacting counties to the cities, villages and towns thereof pursuant to s. 77.76 (4).

(4) MISCELLANEOUS SHARED TAXES. (a) *Severance tax; distributions.* The towns' and villages' share of severance taxes under s. 77.07.

(b) *Fire department dues; distributions.* The cities', villages' and towns' share of moneys received under s. 200.17 to be distributed under s. 201.59. Any unencumbered balance on June 30 shall lapse to the general fund.

(c) *Terminal tax distribution.* The towns', villages' and cities' share of taxes under s. 76.24.

(d) *Low-grade iron ore; distributions.* The counties', towns', villages', cities' and school districts' share of taxes on low-grade iron ore property under s. 70.97.

SECTION 143m. 20.855 (2) (c) of the statutes is created to read:

20.855 (2) (c) *Local law enforcement aids.* A sum sufficient to provide aids to municipalities and counties under subch. III of ch. 79. Aids distributed in the 1973-75 biennium shall not exceed \$9,850,500.

SECTION 145. 20.855 (3) of the statutes is created to read:

20.855 (3) PAYMENTS FOR MUNICIPAL SERVICES. (a) *Payments to municipalities.* The amounts in the schedule for payments to municipalities under s. 70.119.

SECTION 145m. 20.855 (7) of the statutes is created to read:

20.855 (7) MINNESOTA INCOME TAX RECIPROCITY. (a) *Payments to Minnesota.* A sum sufficient to pay to the state of Minnesota any losses of income taxes occurring because of income tax reciprocity between this state and Minnesota under s. 71.03 (3).

SECTION 145s. 20.855 (8) of the statutes is created to read:

20.855 (8) SELECT COMMITTEE ON HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES. (a) *Study expenditures.* During the 1973-75 biennium, a sum sufficient for expenses incurred by the select committee on health and social services as created by chapter _____, laws of 1973 (this act). The board on government operations shall periodically approve the release of funds for the purposes of the study.

~~SECTION 145u. 20.855 (9) of the statutes is created to read:~~

Vetoed
in Part

~~20.855 (9) ELECTED OFFICIALS RETIREMENT IMPROVEMENTS. (a) *Funds for benefit changes.* The amounts in the schedule for purposes of funding any legislation enacted during the 1973 session of the legislature affecting retirement benefit changes for state elected officials.~~

SECTION 145x. 20.865 (1) (e) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 146. 20.865 (2) (b) and (e) of the statutes are created to read:

20.865 (2) (b) *Parking rental cost; GEF I.* The amounts in the schedule to pay parking rental expenses in general executive facility -1 for constitutional officers and employes designated under s. 16.93, and in accord with a biennial parking plan adopted by the joint committee on legislative organization.

(e) *Maintenance of capitol and executive mansion.* The amounts in the schedule for repair and maintenance of the capitol building and the executive mansion.

SECTION 147. 20.865 (3) (b) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 148. 20.866 (1) (u) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.866 (1) (u) *Principal repayment and interest.* A sum sufficient from moneys appropriated under ss. 20.115 (4) (j); 20.225 (1) (c), ~~20.255 (1) (ee) (2) (c)~~, ~~20.265 (1) (e) and (hm)~~, 20.285 (1) ~~(ee) and (hm)~~ (d) and (gb), 20.370 (5) (d) and (7) (b) and (em), 20.395 (2) ~~(ua) and (ub)~~ (5) (qa), (qb), (qc) and ~~(3) (x)~~ (qd), 20.435 (2) (ee) and (3) (e), 20.485 (1) (f) and 20.710 (1) (a) and (3) (a) and (b) and (g) for the payment of principal and interest on public debt acquired in accordance with ch. 18.

SECTION 148m. 20.866 (2) (q) and (r) of the statutes are repealed.

SECTION 149. 20.866 (2) (s), (t), (tm), (tp), (ur) and (z) of the statutes are amended to read:

20.866 (2) (s) *University of Wisconsin; academic facilities.* As a continuing appropriation from the capital improvement fund, the amounts in the schedule to the board of regents of the university of Wisconsin system to acquire, construct, develop, enlarge or improve university academic educational facilities. The state may contract public debt in an amount not to exceed ~~\$107,737,400~~ \$170,262,200 for this purpose.

(t) *University of Wisconsin; self-amortizing facilities.* As a continuing appropriation from the capital improvement fund, the amounts in the schedule to the board of regents of the university of Wisconsin system to acquire, construct, develop,

enlarge or improve university self-amortizing educational facilities. The state may contract public debt in an amount not to exceed ~~\$46,324,200~~ \$89,304,700 for this purpose.

(tm) *Natural resources; water pollution abatement facilities.* As a continuing appropriation from the capital improvement fund, the amounts in the schedule to the department of natural resources to acquire, construct, develop, enlarge or improve water pollution abatement facilities. The state may contract public debt in an amount not to exceed ~~\$93,400,000~~ \$144,000,000 for this purpose.

(tp) *Natural resources; recreation facilities.* As a continuing appropriation from the capital improvement fund, the amounts in the schedule to the department of natural resources to acquire, construct, develop or enlarge state recreation facilities and to construct an educational facility and youth conservation camp at Poynette. The state may contract public debt in an amount not to exceed ~~\$28,432,000~~ \$40,432,000 for this purpose.

(ur) *Transportation; accelerated highway improvements.* As a continuing appropriation from the capital improvement fund, the amounts in the schedule to acquire, construct, develop, enlarge, or improve state highway facilities as provided by ss. 84.06 and 84.09. The state may contract public debt in an amount not to exceed ~~\$141,000,000~~ \$200,000,000 for this purpose.

(z) *Building commission; other public purposes.* As a continuing appropriation from the capital improvement fund, the amounts in the schedule to the building commission for relocation assistance and capital improvements for other public purposes authorized by law but not otherwise specified in this chapter. The state may contract public debt in an amount not to exceed ~~\$15,708,100~~ \$3,700,000 for this purpose.

SECTION 149m. 20.866 (2) (us), (zd), (zh) and (zm) of the statutes are created to read:

20.866 (2) (us) *Transportation; state trunk highway improvements.* As a continuing appropriation from the capital improvement fund, the amounts in the schedule to construct, reconstruct and resurface state trunk highway facilities as provided by s. 84.51 (3). The state may contract public debt in an amount not to exceed ~~\$75,000,000~~ for this purpose.

Vetoed
in Part

(zd) *Educational communications facilities.* As a continuing appropriation from the capital improvement fund, the amounts in the schedule to the educational communications board to acquire, construct, develop, enlarge or improve educational communications facilities. The state may contract public debt in an amount not to exceed \$3,303,100 for this purpose.

(zh) *Public instruction, schools for deaf and blind.* As a continuing appropriation from the capital improvement fund, the amounts in the schedule to the department of public instruction to acquire, construct, develop, enlarge or improve institutional facilities for the deaf and the blind. The state may contract public debt in an amount not to exceed \$4,499,000 for this purpose.

(zm) *Veterans affairs, Grand Army home.* As a continuing appropriation from the capital improvement fund, the amounts in the schedule to the department of veterans affairs to acquire, construct, develop, enlarge or improve facilities at the Grand Army home. The state may contract public debt in an amount not to exceed \$2,206,000 for this purpose.

SECTION 150. 20.901 (4) of the statutes is created to read:

20.901 (4) EDUCATIONAL INTER-SYSTEM COOPERATION. The board of regents of the University of Wisconsin system and the board of vocational, technical and adult education shall establish arrangements for joint use of facilities and joint staffing of programs operated by either system, in such ways as to make their educational and public services programs as fully and economically available to the citizens of the state as possible. Such arrangements may include, but are not limited to, inter-system rental agreements, contracts for services provided by one system in support of programs of the other system, joint management of facilities and programs at specific locations, joint enrollment of students and joint employment of staff.

SECTION 150m. 20.903 (3) of the statutes is created to read:

20.903 (3) Subsection (1) shall not apply to the appropriation made by s. 20.855 (6) (a).

SECTION 152. 20.923 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

20.923 Statutory salaries. It is the finding of the legislature that the current wide diversity of salary-setting authority has resulted in inequitable and disparate relationships between and among administrative positions in the several branches of government, and that a consistent and equitable salary setting mechanism should be established for these positions. To effectuate this finding, all elected officials, appointed department and agency heads, unclassified positions and higher education administrative positions, unless specifically excepted by law, shall be assigned to the appropriate executive salary group among the 10 executive salary groups and all such included positions shall be subject to the same basic salary establishment, implementation, modification, administrative control and application procedures. The salary-setting mechanism contained in this section shall be directed to establishing salaries that are determined on a comprehensive systematic basis, bear equitable relationship to each other and to the salaries of their classified service subordinates, and be reviewed and established with the same frequency as those of state employees in the classified service.

(1) ESTABLISHMENT OF EXECUTIVE SALARY GROUPS. (a) To this end, a compensation plan consisting of 10 executive salary groups is established, extending the state compensation plan in the classified service in schedule one to 27 salary ranges. No salary range established above salary range 23 may be utilized in the establishment and compensation of positions in the classified service without specific approval of the joint committee on employment relations. The dollar value of the salary range minimum and maximum for each executive salary group shall be reviewed and established in the same manner as that provided for positions in the classified service under s. 16.086 (3). The salary-setting authority of individual boards, commissions, elective and appointive officials elsewhere provided by law is subject to and limited by this section, and the salary rate for these positions upon appointment and subsequent thereto shall be set by the appointing authority pursuant to this section, unless the position is subject to article IV, section 26 of the state constitution.

(b) The supreme court chief justice, associate supreme court justices and circuit and county judges are assigned to salary groups on an interim basis, with final assignment to be made under par. (a) after taking into consideration the completed recommendations of the governor's 1971 citizen's committee on judicial organization.

(c) The plan proposed herein contemplates no change in the relative ranking relationships of positions assigned to the 5 salary groups under s. 20.923 (2), 1971 stats. However, in view of the fact that additional positions are included under the expanded groups, and also recognizing that considerable time has elapsed since the original assignment of positions to the salary groups, the department of administration

shall contract with an outside consultant to make a comprehensive study of the relative ranking and salaries for all positions contained in the executive salary groups. The consulting firm shall complete its review and make recommendations to the governor and the legislature prior to January 1, 1974.

(2) CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICERS AND OTHER ELECTED STATE OFFICIALS. (a) The annual salary for each of the following positions shall be set at the midpoint of the assigned salary range for its respective executive salary group in effect at the time of taking the oath of office, except as provided in pars. (b) and (c) and shall become effective immediately for all incumbent constitutional and other elected state officials, subject to the provisions of Article IV, Section 26 of the Wisconsin Constitution and for any subsequently elected official who takes his oath of office following the effective date of this act (1973).

1. Attorney general: executive salary group 7.
2. Circuit judge: executive salary group 3.
3. County judge: executive salary group 2.
4. Executive office, governor: executive salary group 10.
5. Legislature, member: executive salary group 2.
6. Lieutenant governor: executive salary group 4.
7. Public instruction, state superintendent: executive salary group 6.
8. Secretary of state: executive salary group 1.
9. Supreme court, chief justice: executive salary group 8.
10. Supreme court, justice: executive salary group 7.
11. Treasurer, state: executive salary group 1.

(b) The annual salary of each state senator and representative elected to the assembly shall be set at 65% of the midpoint of the salary range for executive salary group 2.

(c) For the term commencing in 1975 only, the annual salary for the governor shall be set at the maximum of executive salary group 8. For the term commencing in 1979, and thereafter, the annual salary for the governor shall be set at the maximum of executive salary group 10.

(3) CIRCUIT AND COUNTY JUDGES. The annual salary for any circuit or county judge, including county supplements paid pursuant to ss. 252.016 (2), 252.071 and 253.07 (2) shall not exceed \$33,500 for the period July 31, 1973, to December 31, 1974, and \$34,500 for the period January 1, 1975, to December 31, 1975.

(4) DEPARTMENT AND AGENCY POSITIONS. Department and agency heads, commission chairmen and members, unclassified division administrators and higher education administrative positions shall be identified and limited in number in accordance with the standardized nomenclature contained in this subsection, and shall be assigned to the following executive salary groups:

(a) Positions assigned to executive salary group 1:

1. Administration, department of; tax appeals commission: chairman and members. The chairman of the commission and the governor, at the time a new member is appointed, shall jointly determine the salary of the new member at an

hourly rate within the range for this group, and shall also establish the minimum number of hours per week the new member is expected to serve.

1m. Arts and humanities board, executive secretary.

2. Health and social services, department of; division on aging: administrator.

3. Higher educational aids board: executive secretary.

4. Local affairs and development, department of; division of emergency government: administrator.

5. Regulation and licensing, department of: secretary.

6. Savings and loan, commissioner of.

7. Transportation, department of; division of aeronautics: administrator.

8. Law library, state: librarian.

(b) Positions assigned to executive salary group 2:

1. Agriculture, department of; divisions of administration, food and standards, marketing, plant industries and trade: administrators.

2. Banking, commissioner of.

3. Credit unions, commissioner of.

4. Executive office; council on criminal justice: executive director.

5. Executive office: highway safety coordinator.

6. Judicial council: executive secretary.

7. Securities, commissioner of.

(c) Positions assigned to executive salary group 3:

1. Agriculture, department of; divisions of meat inspection and general laboratories: administrators.

2. Business development, department of; divisions of business development services and business development plans and programs: administrators.

3. Agriculture, department of; state fair park board: state fair park director.

(d) Positions assigned to executive salary group 4:

1. Agriculture, department of; division of animal health: administrator.

2. Educational communications board: executive director.

3. Employee trust funds, department of: secretary.

4. Employment relations commission: member.

5. Executive office: executive secretary.

6. Industry, labor and human relations commission: member.

7. Legislature; legislative council: executive secretary.

8. Legislature; legislative fiscal bureau: director.

9. Legislature; legislative reference bureau: chief.

10. Legislature; statutory revision bureau: director.

11. Public service commission: member.
 12. Supreme court: public defender.
 13. Transportation, department of; highway commission: member.
 14. Veterans affairs, department of: secretary.
 15. Historical society: associate director.
 16. State manpower planning council: executive director.
- (e) Positions assigned to executive salary group 5:
1. Agriculture, department of: secretary.
 2. Business development, department of: secretary.
 3. Employment relations commission: chairman.
 4. Health and social services, department of; divisions of vocational rehabilitation and family services: administrators.
 5. Historical society: director.
 6. Industry, labor and human relations commission: chairman.
 7. Insurance, commissioner of.
 8. Legislature; legislative audit bureau: director.
 9. Military affairs: adjutant general.
 10. Public service commission: chairman.
 11. Transportation, department of; division of motor vehicles: administrator.
 12. Transportation, department of; highway commission: chairman.
 13. Vocational, technical and adult education, board of: director.
- (f) Positions assigned to executive salary group 6:
1. Administration, department of: secretary.
 - 1m. Administration, department of; division of health policy and planning: administrator.
 2. Health and social services, department of; divisions of corrections and business management: administrators.
 3. Investment board: executive director.
 4. Local affairs and development, department of: secretary.
 5. Natural resources, department of: secretary.
 6. Revenue, department of: secretary.
 7. Supreme court: administrative director of courts.
 8. Transportation, department of: secretary.
 9. University of Wisconsin system; Milwaukee campus: deputy chancellor.
 10. University of Wisconsin system; extension system: vice chancellor.
- (g) Positions assigned to executive salary group 7:

1. Health and social services, department of; division of health: administrator.
2. University of Wisconsin system; center system: chancellor.
3. University of Wisconsin system; Eau Claire, Green Bay, La Crosse, Oshkosh, Parkside, Platteville, River Falls, Stevens Point, Stout, Superior, Whitewater campuses: chancellors.
4. University of Wisconsin system; extension system: chancellor.
5. University of Wisconsin system; Madison campus: deputy chancellor.
6. University of Wisconsin system: 2 vice presidents.

(h) Positions assigned to executive salary group 8:

1. Health and social services, department of; division of mental hygiene: administrator.
2. University of Wisconsin system; Madison campus center for health sciences: vice chancellor.
3. University of Wisconsin system; Milwaukee campus: chancellor.

(i) Positions assigned to executive salary group 9:

1. Health and social services, department of: secretary.
2. University of Wisconsin system: 2 senior vice presidents.
3. University of Wisconsin system; Madison campus: chancellor.

(j) Positions assigned to executive salary group 10:

1. University of Wisconsin system: president.

(4m) LESSER STARTING SALARIES. A new appointment to any position in sub. (4) may be made at less salary than the minimum of the assigned group if the appointing authority determines that additional experience for the appointee is required to fully qualify him for the position. In such cases the appointee shall have attained the minimum salary for the assigned group within 2 years of his appointment.

Vetoed in Part (5) UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM POSITIONS. Except for those positions designated in sub. (4), associate and assistant vice presidents of the university of Wisconsin system; vice chancellors, associate and assistant vice chancellors, ~~directors, associate directors,~~ and assistants to the chancellors of the several campuses of the university of Wisconsin system shall be assigned to specific executive salary ranges by the board of regents of the university of Wisconsin system in whatever manner the board determines. The salaries for such positions shall be limited only by the maximum of the respective salary range. No position under this subsection may be assigned to a salary group higher than executive salary group 5. Any official affected by this subsection whose salary exceeds the maximum of group 5 on the effective date of this section (1973) shall remain at his current rate of pay as provided in sub. (16). This subsection shall take effect upon its enactment and the assignments to the respective salary ranges shall be completed and reported to the governor and the legislature as soon as practicable but not later than July 1, 1974. Thereafter, the board of regents shall annually review the assignment of the positions under this subsection and report any changes therein to the governor and the legislature.

(6) SALARIES SET BY APPOINTING AUTHORITIES. Salaries for the following positions may be set by the appointing authority, subject to restrictions otherwise set forth in the statutes.

- (a) Each elected executive officer: a stenographer.
- (b) Each examining board, except as provided under sub. (12): a secretary or an executive secretary.
- (c) Organized militia: offices and positions.
- (cm) Administration, department of; division of health policy and planning: assistant administrator.
- (d) Judicial council: technical and clerical help.
- (e) Law library, state: assistant librarian, clerical and expert assistants.
- (f) Legislative council: clerical and expert assistants.
- (g) Legislative fiscal bureau: assistants, analysts and clerical employees.
- (h) Legislature: policy research personnel, administrative assistants to legislators, and research staff to legislative committees and party caucuses.
- (i) Supreme court: assistants, clerks and employees.
- (j) Supreme court: clerk.
- (k) Supreme court: deputy clerk.
- (m) University of Wisconsin system: deans, principals, professors, instructors, research assistants, librarians and other teachers, as defined in s. 42.20.
- (n) Veterans affairs, department of: superintendent of memorial hall.

(7) COURT REPORTERS. The salary range for circuit and county court reporter shall be established as an amount equal to the salary range for stenographic reporter 2 in the state classification and compensation plan for positions in the classified service. The rate payable on original appointment shall be the minimum of the salary range; however, if a potential appointee possesses unusual qualifications directly related to the requirements of the position, the appointing officer may hire him at any step up to the three-quarter point of the salary range commensurate with the employee's prior experience. Pay adjustments based on merit may be granted annually by the appointing officer and they shall be in an amount equal to the salary range step for stenographic reporter 2. If the stenographic reporter 2 classification is abolished or reduced in salary grade, the salary range and other provisions related thereto shall remain in effect as to circuit and county court reporters, subject to change by the legislature.

(8) DEPUTIES. Salaries for deputies appointed pursuant to ss. 15.05 (2), 15.055 and 15.16, shall be set by the appointing authority. The salary shall not exceed the maximum of the salary range one range below the salary range of the executive salary group to which the department or agency head is assigned. The positions of assistant secretary of state, assistant state treasurer and associate director of the historical society shall be treated as unclassified deputies for pay purposes under this subsection.

(9) EXECUTIVE ASSISTANTS. Salaries for executive assistants appointed pursuant to ss. 15.05 (3) and 195.03 (27), shall be set by the appointing authority. The salary shall not exceed the maximum of the salary range 2 ranges below the salary range of the executive salary group to which the department or agency head is assigned. The positions of administrative assistant to the lieutenant governor and special assistant for safety and law enforcement in the department of transportation shall be treated as executive assistants for pay purposes under this subsection.

(10) EXECUTIVE OFFICE STAFF. The salary for key professional staff of the executive office identified as executive office assistants, other than the executive secretary, shall not exceed the maximum of the salary range for executive salary group 3.

(11) OTHER HISTORICAL SOCIETY POSITIONS. Salaries for positions of assistant director, librarian of the historical society, state archivist and director of research shall not exceed the maximum of the salary range for executive salary group 1.

(12) OTHER DEPARTMENT OF REGULATION AND LICENSING POSITIONS. The salaries for the following positions in the department of regulation and licensing shall not exceed the maximum of the salary range for executive salary group 2: executive secretary, examining board of architects, professional engineers, designers and land surveyors; executive secretary, real estate examining board; executive secretary, pharmacy examining board; and executive secretary, pharmacy internship board.

(13) OTHER BOARD OF VOCATIONAL, TECHNICAL AND ADULT EDUCATION POSITIONS. The salary of unclassified positions in the board of vocational, technical and adult education, other than the director and the deputy, shall not exceed the salary range maximum for executive salary group 2.

(14) SECRETARY AND DEPUTY SECRETARY OF EMPLOYE TRUST FUNDS. The salary as determined by the employe trust funds board under subs. (4) and (8) shall constitute the total salaries for the secretary and deputy secretary of employe trust funds, and shall include their salaries as division administrators under s. 15.163.

(15) SALARY ADMINISTRATION. The provisions of adjustment and advancement of an incumbent through an executive salary range, where applicable, shall be governed by the provisions of the state compensation plan dealing with department head salary administration.

(16) SALARY ADJUSTMENT LIMITATIONS. An incumbent of a position that has been assigned to an executive salary group of the compensation plan under this act, whose current salary exceeds the maximum of the salary range to which his position's group is assigned, shall remain at his current rate of pay while he remains employed in that position until the maximum of the salary range to which his executive salary group is assigned equals or exceeds his current rate of pay.

SECTION 153. 20.924 (1) (c), (2) and (3) of the statutes are repealed.

SECTION 154. 20.924 (1) (d) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.924 (1) (d) Shall exercise considered judgment in supervising the implementation of the state building program, and may authorize limited changes in the project program, and in the project budget if the commission determines that unanticipated program conditions or bidding conditions require the change to effectively and economically construct the project. However, total state funds for major projects under the authorized state building program for each agency shall not be exceeded.

SECTION 154m. 20.924 (4) of the statutes is amended to read:

20.924 (4) In addition to the authorized building program for the historical society, the society may expend any funds which are made available from the appropriations under s. 20.245 (1) (d), ~~(e)~~, (g), (h) and (m).

SECTION 155. 21.612 of the statutes is amended to read:

21.612 Transfer of lands for military purposes. Any county, city, town or village may transfer land or may acquire land for the purpose of transferring the same, by gift or otherwise, to the state ~~or the armory board~~ for state military purposes, and any such transfers or acquisitions heretofore made for such purposes are validated.

SECTION 156. 21.615 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 157. 23.31 of the statutes is amended to read:

23.31 Recreation resources facilities. To provide and develop recreation facilities within this state, the natural resources board, with the approval of the governor, subject to the limits of s. 20.866 (2) (tp) may direct that state debt be contracted for providing recreation resources facilities or making additions to existing recreation resources facilities. By January 1 of each year, the board shall submit to the governor an expenditure plan for recreation projects for which public debt will be contracted in the following fiscal year. The plan shall specify the functional areas on which the department will place fiscal emphasis in the succeeding fiscal year as well as delineating specific acquisition and development objectives. Performance toward meeting these objectives will determine acquisition and development objectives for the succeeding fiscal year. No contract in anticipation of public debt may be entered into by the board until the governor has approved the plan and no deviation from the plan may be made without the approval of the governor. Beginning with its 1973-75 budget request and biennially thereafter, the board shall include in its request for recreational acquisition and development funding under s. 23.30 and this section an expenditure plan. Such plan shall contain the policies regarding the priority types of land to be acquired and the nature and categories of the developments to be undertaken. Changes in priority types of land to be acquired and in categories of developments may not be made without approval of the governor. Any deviation which the governor approves shall be reviewed by the joint committee on finance. Said debt shall be contracted for in the manner and form as the legislature hereafter prescribes. It is the intent of the legislature that state debt not to exceed \$56,055,000 in the 12-year period from 1969 to 1981 may be incurred for the comprehensive provision of outdoor recreation facilities as provided by s. 23.30.

SECTION 157m. 23.35 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 158. 24.08 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

24.08 (2) APPRAISER. The board shall as often as it deems it necessary, make and enter in its minutes an order that any parcel or parcels of the public lands be appraised, describing the lands, appointing an appraiser and stating the reasons why the appraisal is deemed necessary. So far as practical such appraiser shall be a person already in the employ of the department of natural resources, of good character, approved integrity, sound judgment, and well acquainted with the public lands; but when a competent person cannot be selected from a list of such employes any competent appraiser may be employed. ~~Persons employed to complete such appraisal and survey of land and timber and the sale thereof shall not be subject to ch. 16 and shall be appointed under contract~~ by the board of commissioners of public lands.

SECTION 158m. 25.09 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

25.09 Collections from school districts. (1) This section applies to all outstanding trust fund loans to school districts, as defined in s. 115.01 (3).

(2) When a school district makes a loan under ss. 25.01 and 25.02 (2), the board of commissioners of public lands shall, on or before August 1 of each year until the loan is paid, transmit to the school district clerk a certified statement of the amount

due. The board of commissioners of public lands shall furnish a copy of each certification to the state treasurer and the department of public instruction.

(3) The school district clerk shall then cause the amount due to be added to the school district levy and collected in the same manner as the school district tax, except the amount for state trust fund loans shall be separately designated.

(4) The school district treasurer shall transmit to the state treasurer on his own order the full amount levied for state trust fund loans within 15 days after March 15. The state treasurer shall notify the board of commissioners of public lands when he receives payment. Any such payments not made by March 30 shall be declared delinquent and are subject to a penalty of 1% per month or fraction thereof, to be paid to the state treasurer with the delinquent payment.

(5) If the school district treasurer fails to remit the amounts due under sub. (4), the state superintendent, upon certification of delinquency by the board of commissioners of public lands, shall deduct the amount due including any penalty from any school aid payments due the school district, shall remit such amount to the state treasurer and, no later than June 15, shall notify the school district treasurer and the board of commissioners of public lands to that effect.

SECTION 160. 25.29 (2) (c) of the statutes is amended to read:

25.29 (2) (c) That the department shall spend for acquisition and leasing of public hunting and fishing grounds not less than an amount equal to the revenue received from that portion of the fee paid for each sportsman's license which exceeds ~~\$7.50~~ \$14.

SECTION 161k. 25.40 (1) (f) and (2) of the statutes are amended to read:

25.40 (1) (f) All federal aid for highways in this state made available by any act of congress, subject to applicable federal regulations, except as provided in s. 25.41;

(2) Payments from the highway fund, except for appropriations made by ss. 20.155 (1) (u), 20.255 (1) (q) and (r), ~~20.285 (1) (x)~~, 20.292 (1) (u), 20.355 (1) (u), 20.370 (4) (z), 20.395 ~~(3) (2)~~ and (8), 20.505 (3) ~~(q)~~, 20.525 (2) (q), 20.566 (1) (u) and 20.765 (2) (u) or authorized by ss. 25.17 and 196.85 (2) (b) shall be made only on the order of the highway commission, from which order the secretary of administration shall draw his warrant in favor of the payee and charge the same to the state highway fund.

SECTION 161m. 25.41 of the statutes is created to read:

25.41 Transportation aids fund. (1) The separate nonlapsible trust fund designated as the state transportation aids fund shall consist of the following:

(a) All federal aids authorized and received for extensions of the federal aid primary and federal aid secondary systems within urban areas.

(b) All federal aids authorized and received for the federal aid urban system.

(c) All federal aids or grants for transportation purposes in this state made available by any act of congress, subject to applicable federal regulations, except that this fund shall not be used for the receipt or disbursement of any federal highway or aeronautics aids other than those enumerated in pars. (a) and (b).

(d) All general purpose revenues transferred or appropriated by law.

(e) All gifts, grants and local contributions received to match or supplement expenditures from this fund.

(f) All investment income of the transportation aids fund.

(2) Except as otherwise provided by law, payments from the transportation aids fund shall be made only on the order of the secretary of transportation from which order the secretary of administration shall draw his warrant in favor of the payee and charge the same to the state transportation aids fund.

SECTION 162. 29.09 (4) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

29.09 (4) **DUPLICATES.** Whenever any such license is lost the person to whom the license was issued may make application to the department for a duplicate license, submitting an affidavit proving such loss. The department shall make such inquiry and investigation as it deems necessary. When satisfied that the facts are as stated in the affidavit the department may issue a duplicate license to the applicant. The fees for duplicate licenses are as follows: for any license authorizing the hunting of deer \$5; for any other license \$1. Back tags and other tags issued with a license are parts of the license and loss of any part of a license shall be deemed to be loss of the entire license. Upon applying for a duplicate license the applicant shall surrender all parts of the original license remaining in his possession to the department.

SECTION 163. 29.09 (4a) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 165. 29.13 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

29.13 (1) Trapping licenses, which authorize the use of traps for trapping fur-bearing animals, shall be issued by the department, and by the county clerks of the several counties on blanks supplied by the department, subject to s. 29.09, to residents duly applying therefor. The fee for each such license is ~~2.00~~ \$4. If a trapper employs any person in trapping, a license is required for each person so employed. Each trap used under a trapping license shall be tagged with a metal tag stamped with ~~a serial number and the year for which the license is issued. Such tags shall be furnished by the department and sold by the department or the county clerk upon payment of 10 cents for each tag~~ the name and address of the owner. All untagged traps shall be seized and confiscated, and the owner or person using or attending such untagged traps shall be punished as provided in s. 29.63 (1) (d) and (3).

SECTION 166. 29.147 (3) of the statutes is amended to read:

29.147 (3) Each license shall state the year for which the same is issued, the name and residence of the licensee, a description of his person, and such other matter as is determined by the department, and shall bear upon its face a true signature of the licensee, and the seal of the department or the signature of its duly authorized agent issuing it. Such license shall be carried on the person of the licensee at all times when he is engaged in hunting, ~~trapping~~ or fishing and shall be exhibited to the department or its wardens on demand. Such license shall be in lieu of, and confer upon the licensee all the combined rights and privileges conferred by, a resident small game hunting license, resident fishing license, and resident deer hunting license ~~and trapping license~~, subject, however, to all the duties, conditions, limitations and restrictions prescribed in this chapter, and by department order.

SECTION 167. 30.02 of the statutes is amended to read:

30.02 General provision for notice and hearing. In any proceeding under ch. 30 or 31 where a hearing by the department is required ~~by statute~~ and there is no specific provision as to the time and manner of giving notice thereof, the department shall, ~~not less than 10 days before such hearing, mail a written notice thereof to the clerk of each municipality directly affected thereby, and may give such further or other notice as it deems proper~~ follow the procedures set forth in s. 31.06.

SECTION 168. 30.205 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

30.205 (2) Upon application by a riparian owner for the establishment of a zone under this section or on its own motion, the department shall hold a hearing on the question of establishing the zone. ~~Notice of the hearing shall be published in the area affected as a class 2 notice, under ch. 985.~~ The zone shall be established by the department only if it finds that the interests of the general public or of other riparian owners will not be adversely affected by such ~~action~~ establishment. If the department determines to establish a zone, it shall fix the zone's boundaries, determine the amount of material which may be removed and issue orders governing such removal.

SECTION 169. 31.06 (1) and (2) of the statutes are repealed and recreated to read:

31.06 (1) Upon receipt of an application for a permit the department may order a hearing or it may mail a notice that it will proceed on the application without public hearing unless a request for a public hearing is filed as hereinafter provided. The notice shall be mailed to the clerk of each municipality directly affected thereby and the department may give further or other notice as it deems proper. The department shall mail a copy of the notice to the applicant who shall cause the same to be published in each county in which affected riparian lands are located as a class 1 notice, under ch. 985. If a hearing is not requested in writing within 30 days after mailing of the notice, the department may waive the hearing.

(2) (a) If a hearing is ordered, the department shall, not less than 10 days before such hearing, mail written notice thereof to each person notified under sub. (1).

(b) The department shall require the applicant to publish a class 1 notice under ch. 985, of the hearing in each county in which affected riparian lands are located, and may require the applicant to mail such other notices as it deems necessary. Proof of publication and proof of mailing under this subsection and sub. (1) shall be filed with the department.

SECTION 170. 31.185 (3) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

31.185 (3) Section 31.06 governs procedure upon all applications hereunder.

SECTION 170d. 35.235 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 170h. 35.24 (4) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 170p. 35.29 (5) of the statutes is created to read:

35.29 (5) Subsection (3) shall not apply to printing prepared by and distributed for economic development under ch. 560.

SECTION 170t. 35.94 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 171. 36.161 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 172. 36.235 of the statutes is created to read:

36.235 State cartographer. The board shall appoint a state cartographer who shall:

(1) Establish and maintain a union catalog of current and historical reference and thematic maps of all scales available in municipal, county, state and federal agencies relating to this state.

(2) Promote liaison among the municipal, county, state and federal mapping agencies and surveyors to facilitate coordination and to exchange information on mapping and cartographic activities.

(3) Keep abreast of the progress made by mapping agencies and their mapping developments.

(4) Collect, maintain and disseminate information regarding innovation in cartographic techniques and mapping procedures, map and air photo indexes and control data, map accuracy standards, legal aspects of map publication and such other matters as will facilitate an effective cartographic program for the state.

(5) Publish and distribute such special maps and map information as will promote the mapping of the state and preparation and use of maps by individuals, only to the extent, however, that such publication and distribution is not appropriately within the activities of any other state or commercial agency.

(6) Assist the department of natural resources in its work as the state representative of the U.S. geographic board and its other functions under s. 23.25.

(7) Be appointed and employed on the same basis as university faculty are appointed and employed.

SECTION 172m. 36.35 of the statutes is created to read:

36.35 Downer woods preservation. (1) STATEMENT OF PURPOSE. The purpose of this section is to promote the permanent conservation and enhancement, by the university of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, of the area known as Downer Woods; to designate and protect, as a permanent conservancy area, at least 10 acres of the woods; and to permit limited modification, in a manner consistent with the aforesaid purposes, of that portion of the woods whose present character as park and woodland lends itself to utilization, by the university and the surrounding community, as essential recreational and aesthetic corridors.

(2) LEGISLATIVE FINDINGS. The legislature finds it in the public interest to recognize and foster the principle of environmental quality in the area known as Downer Woods by preserving it as a conservancy area and protecting it, consistent with sub. (4), from encroachment or disparate uses. The woods is the sole remaining natural area remaining on the campus of the university of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, and as such, its preservation and enhancement is consistent with the university's recognition of its need to protect and enhance its own physical environment, and to serve the pressing human need of its faculty, students and staff, as well as the greater Milwaukee community, to live and work in an urban environment which respects those portions of unspoiled nature which yet exist. The woods is a unique asset; it provides visual relief to the concentrated building pattern surrounding it, complements the urban landscape and affords aesthetically and psychologically attractive places for people to congregate and relax. In addition, the woods serves as a refuge for wildlife and vegetation, and is, therefore, an important educational, scientific and ecological resource to the university and the community. Its presence imparts priceless recreational and aesthetic values.

(3) DEFINITIONS. In this section, "Downer Woods" or "the woods" means those parcels of wood and parkland comprising 18.805 acres located on the campus of the university of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, and divided into 3 separate and distinct categories, which categories shall define the proper and permissible uses of the woods, as follows:

(a) Permanent conservation area, consisting of 11.101 acres, which is to be physically defined by means of fencing or other suitable means, described as follows: Vetoed
in Part

~~1. That part of the southwest 1/4 of section 10, township 7 north, range 22 east, in the city of Milwaukee, Milwaukee county, bounded and described as follows: Commencing at the northeast corner of said 1/4 section; thence west along the north~~

CHAPTER 90

Vetoed
in Part

~~line of said 1/4 section 488.25 feet to a point; thence south on a line at right angles to the north line of said 1/4 section 40.00 feet to a point in the south line of E. Edgewood avenue, said point being the point of beginning of the land to be described; thence west on a line parallel to and 40.00 feet distant from the north line of said 1/4 section and along the south line of said E. Edgewood avenue 798.46 feet to a point in the east line of N. Maryland avenue; thence south 1 degree, 10 minutes west along the east line of said N. Maryland Ave. 398.65 feet to a point; thence south 87 degrees, 32 minutes, 47 seconds east on a line 61.53 feet to a point; thence south 0 degrees, 20 minutes, 13 seconds east on a line 191.00 feet to a point; thence south 86 degrees, 12 minutes, 35 seconds east on a line 108.93 feet to a point; thence north 83 degrees, 27 minutes, 1 second east on a line 130.22 feet to a point; thence south 88 degrees, 51 minutes, 10 seconds east on a line 99.88 feet to a point; thence south 0 degrees, 43 minutes, 41 seconds west on a line 91.83 feet to a point; thence south 8 degrees, 30 minutes, 56 seconds east on a line 98.24 feet to a point; thence south 86 degrees, 0 minutes, 8 seconds east on a line 55.57 feet to a point; thence north 81 degrees, 28 minutes, 6 seconds east on a line 39.33 feet to a point; thence north 54 degrees, 13 minutes, 3 seconds east on a line 63.57 feet to a point; thence north 87 degrees, 15 minutes, 10 seconds east on a line 129.80 feet to a point; thence north 4 degrees, 48 minutes, 15 seconds west on a line 262.36 feet to a point; thence north 31 degrees, 15 minutes, 34 seconds west on a line 95.10 feet to a point; thence north 68 degrees, 27 minutes, 5 seconds east on a line 72.35 feet to a point; thence south 14 degrees, 14 minutes, 40 seconds east on a line 17.78 feet to a point; thence south 88 degrees, 46 minutes, 5 seconds east on a line 133.68 feet to a point; thence north 1 degree, 8 minutes, 25 seconds east on a line 246.72 feet to a point; thence north 2 degrees, 46 minutes, 56 seconds west on a line 50.17 feet to a point; thence north 46 degrees, 27 minutes, 51 seconds on a line 14.78 feet to a point; thence north 6 degrees, 39 minutes, 13 seconds west on a line 74.52 feet to the point of beginning, containing 11.101 acres of land, more or less.~~

(b) Permanently reserved woodland, consisting of 3.018 acres, described as follows:

Vetoed
in Part

~~1. That part of the SW 1/4 of section 10, township 7 north, range 22 east, in the city of Milwaukee, Milwaukee county, bounded and described as follows: Commencing at the northeast corner of said 1/4 section; thence south 1 degree, 5 minutes, 50 seconds west along the east line of said 1/4 section 773.35 feet to a point; thence west on a line parallel to the north line of said 1/4 section 653.92 feet to the point of beginning of the land to be described; thence south 87 degrees, 15 minutes, 10 seconds west on a line 66.37 feet to a point; thence south 54 degrees, 13 minutes, 3 seconds west on a line 63.57 feet to a point; thence south 81 degrees, 28 minutes, 6 seconds west on a line 39.33 feet to a point; thence north 86 degrees, 0 minutes, 8 seconds west on a line 119.29 feet to a point; thence south 1 degree, 3 minutes, 12 seconds west on a line 412.50 feet to a point; thence south 51 degrees, 9 minutes, 28 seconds east on a line 160.54 feet to a point; thence north 78 degrees, 17 minutes, 12 seconds east on a line 40.00 feet to a point; thence north 55 degrees, 20 minutes, 39 seconds east on a line 131.20 feet to a point; thence north 1 degree, 22 minutes, 16 seconds east on a line 468.39 feet to the point of beginning, containing 3.018 acres of land, more or less.~~

(c) Park and woodland areas, consisting of 4.686 acres, which may be subject to limited modification, such as landscaping, but which are to be protected from disparate uses and encroachment, containing the 2 parcels described as follows:

Vetoed
in Part

~~1. That part of the SW 1/4 of section 10, township 7 north, range 22 east, in the city of Milwaukee, Milwaukee county, bounded and described as follows:~~

Commencing at the northeast corner of said 1/4 section; thence west along the north line of said 1/4 section 40.01 feet to its intersection with the northerly extension of the west line of N. Downer avenue; thence south 1 degree, 5 minutes, 50 seconds west along the northerly extension of the west line of said N. Downer avenue 40.01 feet to a point in the south line of E. Edgewood avenue, said point being the point of beginning of the land to be described; thence continuing south 1 degree, 5 minutes, 50 seconds west along the west line of said N. Downer avenue 405.58 feet to a point; thence south 89 degrees, 40 minutes, 1 second west on a line 295.24 feet to a point; thence north 0 degrees, 28 minutes, 50 seconds east on a line 285.13 feet to a point; thence south 89 degrees, 31 minutes, 14 seconds west on a line 125.63 feet to a point; thence north 2 degrees, 46 minutes, 56 seconds on a line 39.00 feet to a point; thence north 46 degrees, 27 minutes, 51 seconds west on a line 14.78 feet to a point; thence north 6 degrees, 39 minutes, 13 seconds west on a line 74.52 feet to a point in the south line of said E. Edgewood avenue; thence east along the south line of said E. Edgewood avenue 447.47 feet to the point of beginning, containing 3.161 acres of land, more or less, and

Vetoed
in Part

~~2. That part of the SW 1/4 of section 10, township 7 north, range 22 east, in the city of Milwaukee, Milwaukee county, bounded and described as follows: Commencing at the northeast corner of said 1/4 section; thence west along the north line of said 1/4 section 40.01 feet to its intersection with the northerly extension of the west line of N. Downer avenue; thence south 1 degree, 5 minutes, 50 seconds west along the west line of said N. Downer avenue and its northerly extension 445.59 feet to the point of beginning of the land to be described; thence continuing south 1 degree, 5 minutes, 50 seconds west along the west line of said N. Downer avenue 324.84 feet to a point; thence north 87 degrees, 56 minutes, 10 seconds west on a line 150.84 feet to a point; thence north 0 degrees, 26 minutes, 30 seconds west on a line 177.18 feet to a point; thence south 89 degrees, 38 minutes, 50 seconds west on a line 113.00 feet to a point; thence north 0 degrees, 26 minutes, 30 seconds west on a line 111.30 feet to a point; thence south 89 degrees, 38 minutes, 50 seconds west on a line 24.30 feet to a point; thence north 0 degrees, 28 minutes, 50 seconds east on a line 30.00 feet to a point; thence north 89 degrees, 40 minutes, 1 second east on a line 295.24 feet to the point of beginning, containing 1.525 acres of land, more or less.~~

(4) DOWNER WOODS CONSERVATION. (a) That portion of Downer Woods designated a permanent conservation area is to be forever protected from encroachment or disparate uses, and its boundaries are to be defined and protected by fencing or other suitable means.

(b) That portion of Downer Woods designated as permanently reserved woodland shall be set aside exclusively for purposes of community enhancement and relaxation, and any disparate uses to or encroachments upon such land is prohibited.

(c) That portion of Downer Woods designated as park and woodland areas may be used by the university of Wisconsin-Milwaukee as recreational and aesthetic corridors, if any modifications made to such portions of the woods do not significantly alter the present character of such land, and any disparate uses to or encroachments upon such land is prohibited.

SECTION 173. 37.11 (12) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 176. 38.04 (7) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 177. 38.04 (10) of the statutes is amended to read:

CHAPTER 90

38.04 (10) The board shall review and approve any proposals by district boards for land acquisition, additional or new facilities, which will house state aided academic programs rentals and remodeling of existing facilities, prior to the letting of contracts to construct, remodel, rent or incur debt for such facilities or acquisition of land.

SECTION 179. 38.04 (11) of the statutes is amended to read:

38.04 (11) UNIFORM ACCOUNTING SYSTEMS. The board shall establish a uniform accounting system for fiscal, enrollment, program and other data provided by the district boards as it deems necessary and shall require common use of the fiscal year for operations and data reporting. By July 1, 1974, the board shall require that all districts prepare their budgets in a uniform program budget format and transmit approved copies of the budget to the board by October 1 of each year.

SECTION 179m. 38.16 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

38.16 (1) Annually on or before the last working day in October 4, the district board may levy a tax, not exceeding 1.8 mills for 1972 and 1.7 mills thereafter on the full value of the taxable property of the district, for the purpose of making capital improvements, acquiring equipment and operating and maintaining the schools of the district, except that the mill limitation is not applicable to taxes levied for the purpose of paying principal and interest on valid bonds or notes now or hereafter outstanding as provided in s. 67.035. The district board secretary shall file with the clerk of each city, village and town, any part of which is located in the district, a certified statement showing the amount of the levy and the proportionate amount of the tax to be spread upon the tax rolls for collection in each city, village and town. Such proportion shall be ascertained on the basis of the ratio of full value of the taxable property of that part of the city, village or town located in the district to the full value of all taxable property in the district, as certified to the district board secretary by the department of revenue. Upon receipt of the certified statement from the district board secretary, the clerk of each city, village and town shall spread the amounts thereof upon the tax rolls for collection. When the taxes are collected, such amounts shall be paid by the treasurer of each city, village and town to the district board treasurer.

SECTION 180. 38.28 (2) (b) of the statutes is amended to read:

38.28 (2) (b) ~~The state-wide statewide~~ operational cost shall be multiplied by ~~40% for the 1971-72 fiscal year and 55% thereafter~~ to determine the aid per full-time equivalent student in collegiate transfer, associate degree and vocational diploma programs. One-half of the aid so determined shall be the aid per full-time equivalent student in vocational-adult programs. Such per-pupil aid for each program shall be multiplied by the number of full-time equivalent students enrolled in that program in the district to determine the state aid payable to the district board under this paragraph.

SECTION 181. 38.51 (10) of the statutes is amended to read:

38.51 (10) PROPRIETARY SCHOOL APPROVAL. (a) Authority. All proprietary schools shall be examined and approved by the board before operating in this state. Approval shall be granted to schools meeting the criteria established by the board for a period not to exceed one year. Existing schools on November 5, 1971, have until September 1, 1973, to receive approval. No school may advertise in this state unless approved by the board. All approved schools shall submit quarterly reports, including information on enrollment, number of teachers and their qualifications, course offerings, number of graduates, number of graduates successfully employed and such other information as the board deems necessary.

(b) Application. Application for initial approval, renewal of approval which has lapsed for more than 30 days, or reinstatement of approval which has been revoked shall be made on a form furnished by the board and shall be accompanied by a fee of \$100 and such other information as the board deems necessary to evaluate the school in carrying out the purpose of this section.

SECTION 182. 39.11 (5) and (9) of the statutes are amended to read:

39.11 (5) Work with the educational agencies and institutions of the state as ~~co-ordinator~~ reviewer, advisor and coordinator of their joint efforts to meet the educational needs of the state through radio and television; .

(9) Establish and maintain a continuing evaluation of the effectiveness of the joint efforts of all participating educational institutions in terms of jointly-established goals; in the area of educational radio and television.

SECTION 183. 39.11 (16) and (17) of the statutes are created to read:

39.11 (16) When appropriate and related to the programs of the state educational radio and television network, procure or publish instructional material. A reasonable handling charge may be established to cover the costs of providing such material.

(17) Assist any state agency, upon its request, in the development and review of plans for the utilization of educational radio and television to include, but not be limited to, equipment, personnel, facilities and programming.

SECTION 184. 39.15 of the statutes is renumbered 39.44.

SECTION 185. 39.23 of the statutes is renumbered 39.45.

SECTION 186. 39.27 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

39.27 Council on financial aids. The council on financial aids shall advise the board on matters pertaining to the state's student financial aids programs.

SECTION 187. 39.28 (4) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 188. 39.30 (3) (b) and (c) of the statutes are amended to read:

39.30 (3) (b) If a parent or parents provide the majority of the support of the student, the combined effective income of such parent or parents shall be used in determining the grant under ~~par. (f)~~ this section.

(c) If more than one student for whom such parents provide a majority of support qualifies for a grant under this section, the combined effective income of the parents shall be divided by the number of such eligible students in the family in determining the grant payable ~~under par. (f)~~ to each such student.

SECTION 189. 39.30 (3) (f) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 190. 39.30 (3) (i) of the statutes is created to read:

39.30 (3) (i) A full-time resident student registered as a freshman after August 1, 1973, as a freshman or sophomore after August 1, 1974, as a freshman, sophomore, or junior after August 1, 1975, as a freshman, sophomore, junior or senior after August 1, 1976, in an accredited, nonprofit, post-high school, educational institution in the state shall be eligible for grants under this section for each semester or term of attendance, and the schedule shall be as follows:

Effective income
\$0-6,000

Maximum grant each
semester of study
\$500

CHAPTER 90

6,001-8,000
8,001-10,000
10,001-12,000
over 12,000

400
300
200
none

SECTION 192. 39.32 (7) of the statutes is created to read:

39.32 (7) The board may write off defaulted student loans made pursuant to this section or made prior to July 1, 1966, under s. 49.42, 1963 stats., from moneys other than advances from the investment board originally appropriated for student loans.

SECTION 193. 39.34 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 194. 39.36 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 196m. 39.43 of the statutes is created to read:

39.43 Loan forgiveness for critical manpower occupations. (1) There is established, to be administered by the board, a loan forgiveness program for students enrolled in full-time courses of study in critical manpower shortage areas at accredited, nonprofit institutions of higher education in this state and outside the state.

(2) Critical manpower shortage areas shall be determined by the state manpower council and shall include the first professional degree in veterinary medicine, dentistry, dental hygiene and optometry.

(3) Eligible students enrolled in designated critical manpower shortage areas shall receive loans under s. 39.32 not to exceed \$2,500 per academic year. Loan amounts shall be based on the financial need of the student as determined by the board.

(4) Loans made to students under this section shall be forgiven at the rate of one-fifth the total amount borrowed for each year the recipient practices, or is otherwise employed in the critical manpower occupation in this state.

(5) To be eligible under this section, a student must meet the following requirements:

(a) Be accepted for or satisfactorily enrolled in a designated critical manpower shortage course of study at an accredited nonprofit institution of higher education.

(b) Indicate a willingness to remain in the state or return to the state to practice, or be employed in, the critical manpower occupation for which he was aided.

(c) Be a resident of this state.

SECTION 196s. 39.435 of the statutes is created to read:

39.435 Wisconsin higher education grants. (1) There is established, to be administered by the board, a grant program for resident students as defined by s. 36.16, so far as applicable, enrolling in accredited, nonprofit public institutions of higher education in this state.

(2) The board may make or authorize such grants to eligible students.

(3) Grants under this section shall be based on financial need, ~~according to the criteria and policies governing the scholarship program previously authorized by ss. 36.16, 37.11 (12) and 38.04 (7), 1971 stats.,~~ but shall not exceed \$1,500 during any one academic year. The board may establish a minimum grant amount, uniform need determination procedures, a reporting system to periodically provide student economic data, and other rules as the board deems necessary to assure uniform administration of the program, as previously authorized by s. 39.28 (4), 1971 stats.

Vetoed
in Part

SECTION 197. 39.46 of the statutes is created to read:

39.46 Contract for dental education. (1) On or before July 1 of each year, the higher educational aids board shall initiate, investigate and formulate for procurement, a contract for dental education services in accordance with this section. Thereafter, the board shall conduct a biennial analysis of the program and include a report on its findings and recommendations in its reports under s. 15.04 (4). The legislative audit bureau shall biennially post-audit expenditures under this section. Section 16.75 (1) to (5) are waived with respect to such contract.

(2) The contract under this section shall be between this state and a private nonprofit institution of higher education in this state which operates a school of dentistry approved and accredited by the council on dental education of the American dental association and by the dentistry examining board under s. 447.03, and shall relate, in all provisions, exclusively to the providing of dental education in the dental school of such institution. The contract shall require:

(a) That no courses of instruction in subject matters of a religious nature be included in any instructional program or curriculum administered in or by the school of dentistry, and that no such courses be required for admission to or graduation from the school of dentistry.

(b) That applicants for admission to the school of dentistry who are residents of this state be accorded preference over other applicants having substantially equal academic qualifications and credentials.

(c) That for purposes of this section the nondiscrimination provisions of s. 16.765, expanded to prohibit discrimination on the basis of sex, be limited to apply only to the operation of the school of dentistry and that no such prohibited discrimination be practiced with respect to admissions to the school of dentistry.

(d) That the school of dentistry administer and operate its courses and programs in dentistry in conformity with academic and professional standards, rules and requirements and seek progressively to enrich and improve its courses of dental education, research and public service by full and efficient use of budgetary and other resources available to it.

(e) That all sums to be received by the school of dentistry under the contract be used exclusively in providing undergraduate education in dentistry.

(3) (a) In the contract under this section, the state shall agree, subject to availability of appropriations for such purpose, that it will pay to the school of dentistry of the contracting institution, on account of its furnishing of such dental education, research and public service courses and programs, an amount for each resident of this state who is regularly enrolled as a full-time undergraduate student in dentistry therein.

(b) The state shall remit payments directly to the school of dentistry of the contracting institution in quarterly or semiannual instalments upon submission and audit of instalment bills or statements.

(4) A student's qualification under this section as a resident of this state shall be determined in accordance with s. 36.16, so far as applicable. No amount may be computed based upon the enrollment of any student who is not a full-time dental student. The number of full-time resident students shall be determined 2 weeks following the late registration period each semester.

SECTION 197c. 39.47 of the statutes is created to read:

39.47 Minnesota-Wisconsin student reciprocity agreement. (1) There is established, to be administered by the board, a Minnesota-Wisconsin student reciprocity agreement. The board, representing this state, shall enter into an agreement meeting the requirements of this section with the designated body representing the state of Minnesota.

(2) Such agreement shall provide for remission of nonresident tuition for a resident of either state who is enrolled as an undergraduate, graduate or professional student at a public institution of higher education operated wholly by the other state. The agreement shall take effect no earlier than July 1, 1973.

(3) Annually on June 30, each state shall determine the number of students for whom nonresident tuition has been remitted under this agreement during the period specified in sub. (5) (b). Each state shall certify to the other state, in addition to the number of students so determined, the aggregate amount of tuition that would have been paid in that year had this agreement not been in effect, the aggregate amount of tuition actually paid in that year and its net tuition loss. The state with the greater net tuition loss shall receive from the other state an amount determined by subtracting the net tuition loss of the state making the payment from the net tuition loss of the state receiving the payment. Such payment shall be made no later than 90 days after such certification is made. Any payments received by this state under this subsection shall be deposited in the general fund.

(4) No agreement under this section shall be effective unless the university of Minnesota, each year, accepts a negotiated number of qualified residents of this state, not to exceed 20, as entering first-year students into the professional veterinary medicine program at the university of Minnesota.

(5) In this section:

(a) "Net tuition loss" means the difference between the aggregate amount of tuition that would have been paid to a state in any school year by residents of the other state had this agreement not been in effect and the aggregate amount of tuition paid to that state in that school year by residents of the other state.

(b) Enrollment determinations under this section shall begin with the fall session preceding the June 30 date under sub. (3) and include the next following spring and summer sessions.

SECTION 197g. 40.11 (2) (f) of the statutes is created to read:

40.11 (2) (f) For the purpose of providing group health insurance coverage in this subchapter "employee" includes any person appointed as a visiting faculty member as defined by s. 42.35 (2) and (3), in the university of Wisconsin system who has been employed for not less than 6 months.

SECTION 197r. 40.146 (11) of the statutes is created to read:

40.146 (11) Effective July 1, 1974, teachers, as defined in s. 42.20, in the unclassified service of the state employed by the board of regents of the university of Wisconsin system, shall have the benefit of income continuation insurance under a sick leave program as adopted by the board of regents of the university of Wisconsin system under ch. 227. The sick leave program may take into account previous practices and may permit reasonable crediting of sick leave for previous service in the system. With regard to income continuation insurance for such employees:

(a) The state shall contribute an amount equal to 100% of the gross premium for any employe who has more than one year of service and who elects to take a 130-day waiting period.

(b) The state shall contribute an amount equal to the gross premium for a 130-day waiting period for any other employe with more than one year's service who elects a shorter waiting period with the balance of the premium to be paid by the employe.

(c) Employes covered under the board of regents program with less than one year's service shall be allowed to purchase income continuation insurance at their own expense.

(d) Insofar as applicable subs. (1), (2), (3), (4), (5), (8) and (9) (a) shall apply.

SECTION 198. 40.16 (4) of the statutes is created to read:

40.16 (4) Notwithstanding ss. 40.11 (2) (a) 1 and 42.35 (3), any person appointed as a visiting faculty member in the university of Wisconsin system who has been employed by such system for not less than 6 months shall be eligible for health insurance and shall be considered an insured employe for the purposes of s. 40.16.

SECTION 199. 40.165 of the statutes is created to read:

40.165 Graduate assistant's health insurance coverage. The board of regents of the university of Wisconsin system, working with the group insurance board, shall establish a health insurance plan for graduate assistants within the system who are employed on a one-third full-time basis, or more. The group insurance board shall take any action deemed advisable and not specifically prohibited or delegated to some other governmental agency to carry out the purpose of this section. The state contribution toward such coverage shall be not more than the percentage of premium paid by the state for employe's health insurance coverage under s. 40.16 (2).

SECTION 200. 40.40 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

40.40 (2) With respect to persons serving in positions subject to the state teachers retirement system who are employed by vocational, technical and adult education districts "public agency" means the state until July 1, 1974, except that for the purposes of s. 40.42 (2), and the applicable portions of s. 40.42 (3) to (5) "public agency" means the employer school district or other local unit of government.

SECTION 201. 40.40 (3) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 202. 40.42 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

40.42 (1) Each public agency included under an agreement made pursuant to this subchapter shall be liable for and shall make the contributions required of an employer under federal regulations. Payment by the state from the appropriation under s. ~~20.255 (1) (fj)~~ 20.292 (1) (fs) shall be made no more than 5 days after receipt by the department of administration of vouchers certified by the department of employe trust funds.

SECTION 203. 42.20 (5) (d) of the statutes is amended to read:

42.20 (5) (d) "State deposit" means the deposit made by the state or the appropriate employers in the retirement deposit fund on behalf of any member.

SECTION 204. 42.33 (1) (d) of the statutes is amended to read:

42.33 (1) (d) In the "State Accumulation Fund" equal to the contributions made by the state or the appropriate employers with respect to members of the formula group, with earnings and capital gains accretions, as adjusted for transfers and

payments therefrom. On July 1, 1966, the accumulations from state deposits in the accounts in the fixed annuity division and in the variable annuity division of all members of the formula group shall be transferred to the state accumulation fund. An amount of the state accumulation fund equal to the accumulations from required deposits from members of the formula group included in the variable annuity division shall constitute the state accumulation fund of the variable annuity division, and the remainder of the state accumulation fund shall constitute the state accumulation fund of the fixed annuity division.

SECTION 205. 42.46 (2) (b) of the statutes, as affected by chapter 20, laws of 1973, is amended to read:

42.46 (2) (b) The board shall certify the contribution rate derived in accordance with sub. (3) to the department of administration and to each state department or agency and each public school employing or paying the salaries of teachers. The heads of the respective departments and agencies and of each public school which make the salary deductions in accordance with s. 42.40 shall at the time that the salary deductions are sent to the board, by applying the appropriate contribution rate to the compensation of the respective employes of that department or agency, or public school determine the amount of the corresponding state employer contribution to be made from the proper fund and appropriation of the state and shall indicate the amount of such contribution on transmitted with the payroll report submitted to the system. The, except that until July 1, 1974, employer contributions for vocational, technical and adult education districts shall be paid by the state, and the system shall determine the required employer contribution and transmit summaries of such payroll reports to the department of administration together with a voucher for payment to the state teachers retirement system, from the appropriate state funds and appropriations of the amounts payable thereto as indicated by the payroll reports. Thereupon the department of administration shall approve such voucher for payment within 5 days after its receipt and the treasurer shall issue his check therefor to the state teachers retirement system.

SECTION 206. 42.70 (1) (c) and (2) (f) 4 of the statutes, as affected by chapter 20, laws of 1973, are amended to read:

42.70 (1) (c) A state accumulation fund made up of amounts paid ~~by the state under s. 42.71 (1) (e)~~ on behalf of members of the formula group and interest accretions thereto, together with gifts, legacies and amounts received from any other source and amounts transferred pursuant to s. 42.89 (3).

(2) (f) 4. "State deposit" means the deposit made ~~by the state under s. 42.71 (1) (e)~~ in the retirement deposit fund on behalf of any member.

SECTION 207. 42.71 (1) (e) of the statutes is amended to read:

42.71 (1) (e) As soon as possible after each July 1, determine the amount of the payment to be made by the ~~state board of school directors~~ to such fund during the fiscal year beginning on such July 1, to maintain the assets of the fund as provided in s. 42.89. The board shall certify such amount to the ~~department of administration board of school directors~~ which shall prepare a warrant pay to the fund each month for one-twelfth of said amount and upon such warrants the state treasurer shall transfer the sums specified therein to the teachers retirement fund from funds appropriated for that purpose, however if such certification is not made before July 31 the first such payment shall be the total amount which would have been transferred if the certification had been made before July 31.

SECTION 208. 42.89 (6) (intro.) of the statutes, as affected by chapter 20, laws of 1973, is amended to read:

42.89 (6) (intro.) For the purpose of providing benefits of members of the formula group under this subchapter, the ~~state board of school directors~~ shall pay each fiscal year to the retirement fund for credit to the state accumulation fund as provided by s. 42.71 (1) (e), the amount equal to the sum of the normal contribution and the accrued liability contribution for such year. The amounts of such contributions shall be determined annually by the board on the basis of such estimates of interest, mortality, salary increases and dropout rates as are applied to the system, and such other tables as the board approves, and in accordance with sub. (7) as follows:

SECTION 209. Chapter 44 (title) of the statutes is amended to read:

CHAPTER 44
~~STATE HISTORICAL SOCIETY AND LOCAL HISTORICAL~~
~~SOCIETIES AND ARTS BOARD~~

SECTION 210. Subchapter I (title) of chapter 44 of the statutes is created to read:

SUBCHAPTER I
STATE HISTORICAL SOCIETY AND LOCAL HISTORICAL SOCIETIES
(to precede s. 44.01)

SECTION 211. Subchapter II of chapter 44 of the statutes is created to read:

SUBCHAPTER II
ARTS BOARD
(to precede s. 44.51)

44.51 Definition. In this subchapter, "board" means the arts board.

44.53 Powers and duties. (1) The board shall:

- (a) Continually study the artistic and cultural activities within the state.
- (b) Assist arts activities in the state.
- (c) Assist communities in creating and developing their own arts programs.
- (d) Encourage and assist freedom of artistic expression.
- (e) Adopt rules, pursuant to ch. 227, for the implementation and operations of this subchapter.
- (f) Plan and implement, when appropriate funds are available, a program of contracts with or grants-in-aid to, groups or, in appropriate cases, individuals of exceptional talent engaged in or concerned with the arts.

(2) The board may:

- (a) Enter into contracts with individuals, organizations, units of government and institutions for services furthering the development of the arts and humanities.
- (b) Accept all gifts and grants and expend them for the purposes intended.

44.55 Executive secretary. The board shall appoint an executive secretary outside the classified service to serve at its pleasure.

~~**44.56 Grant requests submitted to advisory councils.** All requests for grants in excess of \$1,000 shall be submitted to the appropriate advisory council in the board for review and recommendation.~~

SECTION 211m. 45.28 of the statutes is created to read:

Vetoed
in Part

45.28 Vietnam era veterans educational grant program. (1) ADMINISTRATION. (a)

There is established, to be administered by the department, a grant program for Vietnam era veterans enrolling as full-time undergraduates in accredited institutions of higher education in this state. This program shall be administered exclusively for the benefit of eligible veterans.

(b) In this section, "veteran" means any person who served on active duty under honorable conditions in the U.S. armed forces for 90 days or more for other than training purposes since August 5, 1964, or who is eligible to receive education benefits from the veterans administration for active service in the U.S. armed forces after August 5, 1964, and whose selective service local board, if any, and home of record at time of entry into active service as shown on his report of separation from the U.S. armed forces were in this state, or who was a resident of this state at the time of entry into active duty, and who has not received a bonus from another state for such service.

(c) The amount of the grant shall be based on the student's financial need as determined by the department. The maximum grant per academic year shall not exceed \$400 for married veterans or veterans with dependents and \$200 for single veterans. The department shall distribute such grants to students eligible under this program and such grants may be renewable for up to 4 academic years.

(d) For the purpose of this section, veterans shall be considered independent students not required to contribute summer or parental earnings. Spouse's income and current student earning shall be considered in need determination if such income exists. Federal educational veterans benefits shall also be considered in need determination.

(e) The department shall adopt rules relating to the distribution of grants under this program. These rules shall include: the establishment of selection procedures, uniform need determination procedures, standard single and married student educational budgets for various institutions and such other rules as the department deems necessary to assure uniform administration of the program. Rules relating to need determination under this paragraph shall be adopted in conformance with guidelines established by the council on Vietnam era veterans education grants.

The student budgets used in the determination of need shall be established at least annually and shall adequately recognize the unique and additional needs of veterans and their families.

(f) The department shall prescribe, furnish and make available, at locations in the state convenient to the public, such as county veterans service offices, and to all qualifying schools, application forms for veteran's grants under this section. Upon request, it shall advise and assist applicants in making out such forms.

(g) Veterans who receive grants but subsequently do not complete the semester and receive a fee refund shall return to the state a prorated share of the grant based upon the number of weeks not completed.

(2) STUDENT ELIGIBILITY. The department shall develop selection procedures and may make grants to students if:

(a) The student is a Vietnam era veteran.

(b) The student is enrolled or accepted for enrollment as a full-time undergraduate in an accredited institution of higher education in this state as defined in Wis. Adm. Code, section HEA 2.01 (2).

(c) The student is a resident student as defined by s. 36.16, so far as applicable.

(d) The student needs financial assistance as established under sub. (1).

SECTION 212. 45.35 (5g) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 213. 45.37 (12) (a) and (14) of the statutes are amended to read:

45.37 (12) (a) The net cost to the state of the care and maintenance of a member, as determined under rules promulgated by the department, constitutes a lien as hereafter provided and remains a lien until satisfied. The department shall issue for each member a certificate of lien setting forth: the name and residence of the member, the fact that he has received and will continue to receive care and maintenance at the Grand Army home, a statement that the net cost to the state of such care and maintenance constitutes a lien on the real property of the member presently owned or subsequently acquired (including joint tenancy and homestead interests) and such other information required by the department. The department shall file the certificate, or a copy thereof, in the office of the register of deeds of every county in which real property of the member is situated. The certificate need not be recorded at length by the register of deeds, but upon filing thereof all persons are charged with notice of the lien and the rights of the state. The register of deeds shall keep a record of every lien filed in ~~the same a separate book and under the same provisions applying to old-age assistance liens pursuant to s. 49.26 (6)~~ properly indexed, in which shall be entered an abstract of every certificate so filed which shall show the time of filing, the name and residence of the beneficiary, the date of the certificate, the name of the grantor county, and a record of releases and satisfactions. No fee shall be charged for filing such certificate, release or satisfaction or the entry of the abstract thereof except in counties wherein the register of deeds is compensated otherwise than by salary, and in such counties a fee of 25 cents shall be paid to the register of deeds by the county filing the certificate, release or satisfaction.

(14) POWERS OF COMMANDANT OVER PERSONAL FUNDS OF MEMBERS. The commandant of the home may receive, disburse and account for personal funds of members of the home, other than state funds or old-age assistance payments, received from any source, under policies adopted by the board of veterans affairs; ~~except that the personal funds, income or property of members receiving old-age assistance shall be subject to ss. 49.25 and 49.26.~~

SECTION 213m. 45.37 (10) (b) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 214. 45.37 (17) of the statutes is created to read:

45.37 (17) ADDITIONAL ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS. Any person admitted to the home for nursing or intermediate care shall meet during his residence at the home the eligibility requirements under s. 49.45 and 49.46 and rules adopted thereunder. Any person admitted to the home for domiciliary care shall meet the income and resource requirements under ss. 49.45 and 49.46 and rules adopted thereunder. Persons with sufficient income and resources to meet the expenses of care for one or more months may be admitted for nursing, intermediate or domiciliary care, but shall apply income and resources to costs to the extent required by s. 49.46.

SECTION 214m. 45.43 (7) of the statutes is created to read:

45.43 (7) GRANTS TO COUNTIES. Each county may annually apply to the department for a grant from the veterans trust fund for the improvement of service to ex-servicemen of the county through the county veterans' service office. The department shall develop reasonable budget and operating standards to assure such improved services, but full operating control of the county office shall be left to each county. If the department determines that the county making application for such grant meets the standards, and if any county veterans' service officer chosen after the effective date of this act (1973) is chosen by the county board from a list of candidates

certified by the director of the bureau of personnel or is appointed under ch. 63, the department shall pay a grant not exceeding \$3,000 annually to the county.

SECTION 217m. 46.03 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

46.03 (1) INSTITUTIONS GOVERNED. Maintain and govern the Mendota and the Winnebago ~~state hospitals~~ mental health institutes, the central state hospital, the Wisconsin correctional reception and treatment center, the Wisconsin state prison, the Wisconsin correctional institution, the Wisconsin state reformatory, the Wisconsin home for women, the Wisconsin correctional camp system, the Wisconsin school for boys, the Kettle Moraine ~~boys school~~ correctional institution, the Lincoln boys school, the Black River camp, the Wisconsin school for girls, the Wisconsin workshop for the blind, the Wisconsin child center and the northern, central and southern colonies and training schools.

SECTION 218. 46.03 (7) (cm) of the statutes is created to read:

46.03 (7) (cm) Promote the establishment of adequate child care facilities in this state by providing start-up grants to newly operating day care facilities under rules established by the department.

SECTION 218m. 46.03 (16) of the statutes is amended to read:

46.03 (16) DRIVERS' EDUCATION. The department shall establish a drivers' education program in the Wisconsin school for boys, ~~the Kettle Moraine boys school~~ and the Wisconsin school for girls to provide drivers' education to inmates of such institutions who are about to become eligible to qualify for an operator's license.

SECTION 219j. 46.03 (17) (c) of the statutes is created to read:

46.03 (17) (c) To contract with public, private or voluntary agencies for the purchase of care and services for persons committed or sentenced to a state correctional or penal institution, placed on probation to the department by a court of record, or released from a state correctional or penal institution. Services shall include, but are not limited to, diagnostic services, evaluation, treatment, counseling, referral and information, day care, inpatient hospitalization, transportation, recreation, special education, vocational training, work adjustment, sheltered employment, special living arrangements and legal and protective services.

SECTION 219m. 46.03 (18) of the statutes is created to read:

46.03 (18) UNIFORM FEE SCHEDULE. Establish a uniform system of fees to be paid by the person, family, or legally responsible relative or guardian of the child or individual receiving services provided or purchased by the department, a county department of public welfare, or a board under s. 51.42 or 51.437, except for services provided to courts, or for outreach, information and referral services, or where as determined by the department, a fee is administratively unfeasible or would significantly prevent accomplishing the purpose of the service.

SECTION 220. 46.036 of the statutes is created to read:

46.036 Purchase of care and services. (1) All care and services purchased by the department, a county public welfare agency, or a board established under s. 51.42 or 51.437 which will exceed \$10,000 a year shall be authorized and contracted for pursuant to the standards established under this section.

(2) The department shall determine uniform standards for all care and services purchased based on the needs of the client receiving such services.

(a) The department shall establish advisory committees, which shall include but not be limited to representatives of providers of services, to assist in the development and periodic review and revision of such standards.

(b) Based on these standards the department shall establish standards for cost accounting and management information systems that shall evaluate the utilization of such services, and the effectiveness of the specific services in meeting the service plan for the client or the objective of the service.

(3) (a) The contract shall specify the services to be provided based on the standards developed by the department under sub. (2) and the number of clients to be served under the contract.

(b) Based on the agency's mean wages including fringe benefits for the staff necessary to provide the services specified in the contract under par. (a), the department shall establish a unit of service or per capita cost which when multiplied by the number of clients to be served will provide the total cost for direct services.

(c) The department shall establish allowable indirect and supportive services including payments to clients necessary to provide the direct services established in the contract.

(d) The department shall determine the proportionate share of capital equipment and space related to the direct and indirect services established under pars. (b) and (c). The reimbursement for capital shall be based on that proportionate share of capital costs, limited to actual lease or rental payments, or principal or allowable straight line depreciation plus interest. The department shall establish uniform limitations on reimbursable rates of capital debt retirement and interest and similar cost factors under rental or lease agreements.

(e) Based on the total costs under pars. (a) to (d), reimbursement to each agency shall be made in equal monthly payments for the duration of the contract, except where reimbursement is established under par. (f). For any clients served in excess of the contracted number, the department shall determine the actual marginal costs of each client and reimbursement to the agency shall be at 100% of such costs or the department may renegotiate the contract with the agency.

(f) Reimbursement to an agency may be based on the total costs under pars. (a) to (d) regardless of the actual number of clients served, when the agency is entering into a contract for a new or expanded service that the department recognizes will require a start up period not to exceed 180 days.

(g) Advance payments may be made under the contract and shall be credited periodically against remaining reimbursement fees paid by and other funds attributable to the client receiving care and services under the contract.

(4) For the purposes of this section and as a condition of reimbursement, each facility or agency shall:

(a) Maintain a uniform accounting and management information system prescribed by the department under sub. (1).

(b) Cooperate with the department in establishing costs for reimbursement purposes.

(c) Provide the department with a certified annual audit report at the facility's expense, as specified by par. (a).

(d) Transfer a client from one category of care or service to another only with the approval of the department.

(e) Charge the uniform schedule of fees as provided under s. 46.03 (18) unless waived by the department.

(5) The department shall recover from agencies moneys paid in excess of the conditions of the contract.

(6) Contracts may be renegotiated by the department under conditions specified in the contract.

(7) Providers of services under this section may appeal judgments made against them by the department under rules established by the department under ch. 227.

SECTION 221. 46.06 (4) of the statutes is amended to read:

46.06 (4) SALES. The department may, with the approval of the building commission ~~and the board on government operations~~, sell and convey such lands under the jurisdiction of the department as the board deems to be in excess of the present or future requirements of the department for either the operation of its facilities or programs, for the maintenance of buffer zones adjacent to its facilities or for other public purposes. The proceeds of such sales shall be credited to the state building trust fund.

~~SECTION 222. 46.064 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:~~

~~46.064 Allowance to inmates. The department may pay an allowance to inmates at its institutions for employment from the appropriation made by s. 20.435 (3) (a). The department shall prescribe the amount of pay and such reasonable hours and health and other conditions to be observed in connection with the employment. This section shall not affect any law providing for pay to inmates nor shall it act as a limitation on wages paid inmates at the state prisons or to juveniles transferred to a forestry or conservation camp organized under s. 48.52 (1) (d).~~

Vetoed
in Part

SECTION 223. 46.10 (8) (f) 2, 3 and 4 of the statutes are repealed.

SECTION 223m. 46.10 (8) (g) of the statutes is created to read:

46.10 (8) (g) Make adjustment and settlement of all moneys collected under this section on or after January 1, 1974, except collections for care at the Wisconsin general hospital, as follows:

1. For care furnished prior to January 1, 1974, adjustment and settlement shall be at the percentage ratio applicable to collections made during the period July 1, 1973 to December 31, 1973.

2. For care furnished at a state, private or county hospital authorized under s. 51.42, from January 1, 1974 to December 31, 1974, adjustments and settlements shall be made at the rate of 60% to the state and 40% to the board established under s. 51.42 or to the county of legal settlement.

3. For care furnished under SECTION 540m of chapter _____, laws of 1973 (this act), adjustments and settlements shall be at the rate of 50% to the state and 50% to the county of legal settlement.

4. For care furnished after January 1, 1975, all moneys collected shall be retained by the state.

5. For care furnished after January 1, 1975, all moneys collected under sub. (12) shall be paid into the state treasury monthly and retained by the state.

SECTION 225m. 46.106 (2) and (3) of the statutes are amended to read:

46.106 (2) STATEMENT OF COUNTY LIABILITY. On July 1 in each year the department shall prepare a statement of the amounts due from the several counties to the state for the maintenance, care and treatment of inmates at public charge in state and county charitable, curative, reformatory and penal institutions for the preceding fiscal year and shall give the name of every inmate in each state institution whose support is partly chargeable to some county, and the name of every inmate in each county institution whose support is wholly chargeable in the first instance to the state and partly chargeable over to some county; and the legal settlement of each inmate, the number of weeks for which support is charged, the amount due the county for maintenance, and the amount due to the state from the county. The department shall file such statement with the department of administration, and mail a duplicate to the clerk of each county charged. Thereupon the secretary of administration shall ~~charge~~ certify to the several counties the amounts so due, which amounts shall be ~~certified by the secretary of state, upon information certified to him by the secretary of administration,~~ and levied, collected and paid into the state treasury as a special charge, at the same time as the state taxes. The amount so paid into the state treasury on account of care of patients in county hospitals shall be apportioned and paid to the counties to which it is due, ~~from time to time, in the proportion that the total collections from all counties for the care of such patients bear to the total charges against all counties for such care.~~ and the department of administration shall make the ~~first apportionment and payment on April 1, in each year, covering collections to and including March 22. The collections made after March 22 and through August 20 shall be apportioned and paid on September 1 following, and the final payment shall be made on December 1.~~

(3) STATEMENT OF COUNTY CLAIMS. On July 1 in each year the officer in charge of each county charitable, curative, reformatory and penal institution shall prepare a statement of the amount due from the state to the county for the maintenance, care and treatment of inmates at public charge on forms supplied by the department. Such statement shall cover the preceding fiscal year and shall give the name of each inmate whose support is partly or wholly chargeable to the state; and his legal settlement, the number of weeks for which support is charged and the amount due to the county from the state. Said statement shall be verified by the officer making it and certified by the trustees of the institution to the department, and a duplicate thereof shall be forwarded to the county clerk. The department shall credit the county with the amount due the county for any recovery of maintenance and shall certify said statement to the department of administration, which shall pay the aggregate amount found due each county ~~as provided in sub. (2)~~ on the first Monday in November of each year.

SECTION 226. 46.22 (4) (h) of the statutes is created to read:

46.22 (4) (h) To certify eligibility for and issue food coupons to needy households in conformity with the federal food stamp act of 1964 as amended.

SECTION 229. 48.12 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

48.12 (1) Who is alleged to be delinquent because he has violated any federal criminal law, criminal law of any state, or any county, town or municipal ordinance that conforms in substance to the criminal law, ~~or an order for supervision under s. 48.345; or~~

SECTION 231. 48.48 (12) and (13) of the statutes are created to read:

48.48 (12) (a) To enter into an agreement to assist in the cost of care of a child after legal adoption when the department has determined that such assistance is

CHAPTER 90

necessary to assure the child's adoption. Agreements shall be made prior to legal adoption and only for children in the guardianship of the department or other agency authorized to place children for adoption. The amount paid shall not exceed the cost of foster home care.

(b) This subsection shall be administered by the department according to criteria, standards and review procedures which it shall establish.

(13) To establish rules for the payment of an allowance to children in its institutions and a cash grant to a child being discharged or released to aftercare from its institutions.

SECTION 233. 48.52 (1) (f) of the statutes is amended to read:

48.52 (1) (f) Other facilities deemed by the department to be appropriate for the child, except that no state funds may be paid used for the care maintenance of a child in the home of a parent, or ~~in the home of a relative~~ eligible for aid under s. 49.19 if such funds would reduce federal funds to this state.

SECTION 233m. 48.525 of the statutes is created to read:

48.525 Treatment plan for institutional care of children. The department shall establish a child-placement review program which shall review the need of children who are in legal custody of the department or a public or private agency authorized to provide child welfare services, to be placed in public or private child caring facilities, mental hospitals, or any other institution licensed or authorized under this chapter and chs. 46, 49 and 51 for the care and treatment of children under 18 years of age. The department shall also establish and periodically review a statewide plan for child caring institutions and facilities available on a regional basis for the placement of children under this section.

Vetoed
in Part

(1) The review shall be conducted in each case by at least 3 individuals none of whom may be an employe, owner or board member of a facility, institution ~~or agency~~ which may receive the child, or a consultant to such facility, institution or agency. A child may be placed in such institutions or facilities only when the conditions specified in subs. (2), (3), (4) and (5) have been met, except that the department may place a child in such facility for an evaluation period, or for temporary care, but in either case limited to 30 days.

(2) The department shall prepare a plan of treatment and care for the child which shall be submitted for review under this section. The plan shall contain:

(a) Documentation that alternative care and services that would permit the child to remain in his home or in foster care including group home care have been investigated and are not available or likely to become available within a reasonable time to meet the needs of the child.

(b) The name of the place or facility where the child shall be cared for or treated.

(c) The objectives of the treatment and care to be provided including but not limited to the anticipated behavior pattern, and academic, social and vocational skills to be achieved.

(d) The anticipated length of stay at the particular care facility.

(e) The anticipated future placement of the child after termination of treatment and care in an institution or facility.

(f) The person assigned by the department to monitor the child's progress and assure the implementation of the plan including the development of the placement of the child after termination of treatment at the institution or facility.

(3) Placement under the plan specified in sub. (2) shall be limited to a period of not to exceed 6 months from the first day of admission.

(4) Approval for continued placement ~~for an additional period not to exceed 6 months~~ of a child in a facility or institution shall be granted under the following conditions: Vetoed in Part

(a) Review of the treatment plan indicates that the additional care and services to be provided are appropriate for the child's needs and can be expected to result in improving the child's capability to function outside of such facility;

(b) In approving continuation of care and treatment of a child at such institution, placement of the child in a foster home or group home or in the child's parent's or relative's home at that time is inappropriate and a review of the child's treatment record indicates significant progress has been made in meeting the objectives of the treatment plan.

(5) In placing a child in a facility outside of the region of his residence under the statewide plan under this section the following conditions shall also be met:

(a) The child has been found to be in need of specialized care and treatment not available within the region, and such need and treatment is specified in the treatment plan for the child; and

(b) Space is not available at a facility within the region, and is either not likely to be available within 30 days of approval of the treatment plan, or the review has found that the needs of the child preclude waiting for a vacancy.

SECTION 234m. 48.55 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

48.55 (1) ~~The~~ From July 1, 1973 until December 31, 1974, the county of legal settlement shall be liable for the cost of care of children in legal custody of the department, except for children in homes which do not receive board payments. The charge for children placed in licensed child-caring institutions by the department for which payments are made shall be one-half of the average licensed child-caring institution costs excluding administration. The charge for all other children in the legal custody of the department shall be one-half of the average costs, excluding administration, for children placed in foster homes by the department and for which board payments are made. These charges shall be adjusted in accordance with s. 46.106.

SECTION 235. 48.58 (1) of the statutes is renumbered 48.58.

SECTION 236. 48.58 (2) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 236m. 48.60 (3) of the statutes is created to read:

48.60 (3) Before issuing any license to a child welfare agency under this section, the department shall review the need for the additional placement resources that would be made available by the licensing or relicensing of any child welfare agency after the effective date of this act (1973) providing care authorized under s. 48.61 (3). The department shall not make any placements under s. 48.525 to any agency where the departmental review required under this subsection has failed to indicate the need for such additional placement resources.

SECTION 237. 48.70 (3) of the statutes is repealed.

CHAPTER 90

300

SECTION 238. 48.71 (1) and (2) of the statutes are amended to read:

48.71 (1) All licenses issued by the department ~~shall be for any term not to exceed one year, except that licenses to child welfare agencies, as defined in s. 48.60, shall be for any term not to exceed 2 years from the date of issuance.~~ No license shall be transferable. Licenses may be revoked by the department because the licensee has substantially ~~and intentionally~~ violated any provision of this chapter or of the rules of the department adopted pursuant to s. 48.67 or because the licensee fails to meet the minimum requirements for a license.

(2) The department shall give the licensee written notice of any revocation and of the grounds for the revocation. The written notice shall be given at least 30 days prior to any revocation and the revocation shall take place only if the violation remains substantially uncorrected at the end of the 30-day notice period.

SECTION 239. 48.92 (4) of the statutes is created to read:

48.92 (4) Nothing in this section shall be construed to abrogate the right of the department to make payments to adoptive families under s. 48.48 (12).

SECTION 241. 49.175 of the statutes is amended to read:

49.175 County residential care institution; establishment. Any county or combination of counties may establish and staff a county residential care institution for the reception and care of dependent persons. It shall be governed as provided by the county board. The institution shall be licensed under s. 146.32 by the department. ~~State aid shall be paid as provided by the formula and rules under s. 49.173. State aid shall be at the rates and under the procedures of SECTION 540m, chapter _____, laws of 1973 (this act).~~

SECTION 242. 49.176 of the statutes is created to read:

49.176 Payment standards for adult categories. Payments until December 31, 1973, made under s. 20.435 (4) (d) to persons under ss. 49.18, 49.20 and 49.61 shall be made on the basis of actual cost of shelter for that family not to exceed the 4 areawide maximums established by the department in use on March 15, 1973, plus a monthly basic allowance per family size by size of family as follows: one person, \$84; two persons, \$130. In determining family size only those members who are eligible for assistance shall be included.

SECTION 242m. 49.177 of the statutes is created to read:

49.177 State supplement to federal supplemental security income program. Beginning January 1, 1974, supplemental payments shall be made under s. 20.435 (4) (ed) to recipients of benefits under Title XVI of the federal social security act as amended ~~by P.L. 92-603.~~ The level and method of payments under s. 20.435 (4) (ed) shall be determined by the department with the approval of the governor and the joint committee on finance.

Vetoed
in Part

SECTION 243. 49.18 (1) (b) of the statutes is amended to read:

49.18 (1) (b) For the purposes of this section, "aid to the blind" means money payments, or vendor payments as prescribed by the department, to such blind person, to another individual when such individual has been appointed by a court of competent jurisdiction as a legal representative of the needy blind person or to another individual who has been designated by the county welfare agency in cases approved by the state department to receive payment of the aid, or medical care in behalf of or any type of

remedial care recognized under this section or s. 49.46 in behalf of blind individuals who are needy, but does not include any such payments to or care in behalf of any individual who is an inmate of a public institution (~~except as a patient in a medical institution~~) or any individual who is a patient in an institution for tuberculosis or mental diseases. ~~Beginning July 1, 1953, no~~ No payment of aid to the blind shall be made to any individual in a private or public institution ~~unless a standard setting authority has been designated or established which shall be responsible for establishing and maintaining standards for such institution.~~ Such individuals shall not be barred from receiving general aid under ss. 49.02 and 49.03. ~~Aid to the blind shall also be granted to blind dependent persons residing voluntarily in county or city homes and the department shall make claim for federal reimbursement therefor when federal funds are made available for that purpose and pay the same to the county. The rate of payment for skilled nursing care provided under this section shall be determined by the county under guidelines established by the department pursuant to s. 49.45 (6m). Payment for limited care shall not exceed 90% of the applicable Title XIX skilled care rate. Payment for personal care shall not exceed 80% of the applicable Title XIX skilled care rate.~~

SECTION 244. 49.18 (12) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 247. 49.19 (11) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

49.19 (11) (a) Payments made under s. 20.435 (4) (d) to families with dependent children living with legally responsible relatives shall be made on the basis of actual cost of shelter for that family not to exceed the 4 areawide maximums established by the department in use on March 15, 1973, plus a monthly basic allowance per family by size of family at 81% of the following standards for the period July 1, 1973 to June 30, 1974 and at 82% of the following standard for the period July 1, 1974 to June 30, 1975 and years thereafter. The standard per family by family size is as follows: One person, \$118; 2 persons, \$172; 3 persons, \$226; 4 persons, \$297; 5 persons, \$365; 6 persons, \$419; 7 persons, \$460; 8 persons, \$490; 9 persons, \$514; 10 persons, \$531; and \$25 for each additional member in the family above 10. In determining family size only those members who are eligible for assistance shall be included.

(b) Special needs allowances under this section may also be granted but only for fuel and utility supplementation and for emergency food needs. Allowances under this paragraph shall be made based on uniform statewide standards established by the department and approved by the joint committee on finance. ~~Allowances shall be granted only in the form of vendor payments.~~

Vetoed
in Part

SECTION 247m. 49.19 (12) of the statutes is created to read:

49.19 (12) Emergency assistance for recipients of aid under this section may be granted according to the following conditions:

(a) Aid shall be granted only for current emergencies arising out of situations of fire, flood, tornado or other natural disasters or for replacement of major household appliances when there has been a nonrepairable breakdown. Such emergency situations shall be ~~personally verified by an agency representative~~ before aid is granted. Vetoed
in Part

(b) No payments shall be made before eligibility is verified.

(c) Aid shall be granted only in the form of vendor payments.

(d) Aid shall be granted for only one 30-day period within any 12 consecutive months.

CHAPTER 90

302

(e) Aid granted shall not exceed \$150 per family member.

SECTION 249. 49.20 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

49.20 (2) The term "old-age assistance" means money payments, or vendor payments as prescribed by the department, to such aged, dependent person, to another individual when such individual has been appointed by a court of competent jurisdiction as a legal representative of such needy aged person or to another individual who has been designated by the county welfare agency in cases approved by the state department to receive payment of aid or medical care in behalf of or any type of remedial care recognized under ss. 49.20 to 49.37 or 49.46 or in behalf of needy individuals who are 65 years of age or older (or 60 years or older in the event of the change in the federal law as provided in s. 49.22 (1)) but does not include any such payments or care in behalf of any individual who is an inmate of a public institution (~~except as a patient in a medical institution~~) or any individual who is a patient in an institution for tuberculosis. ~~Beginning July 1, 1953, no~~ ~~No~~ payment of old-age assistance shall be made to any individual in a private or public institution ~~unless a standard setting authority has been designated or established which shall be responsible for establishing and maintaining standards for such institutions.~~ Such individuals shall not be barred from receiving general aid under ss. 49.02 and 49.03. ~~Old-age assistance shall also be granted to aged dependent persons residing voluntarily in county or city homes and the department shall make claim for federal reimbursement therefor when federal funds are made available for that purpose and pay the same to the county. The rate of payment for skilled nursing care provided under this section shall be determined by the county, under guidelines established by the department pursuant to s. 49.45 (6m). Payment for limited care shall not exceed 90% of the applicable Title XIX skilled care rate. Payment for personal care shall not exceed 80% of the applicable Title XIX skilled care rate.~~

SECTION 249m. 49.20 (3) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 250. 49.25 and 49.26 of the statutes are repealed.

SECTION 251. 49.45 (2) (b) 2 and (3) (title) and (b) of the statutes are amended to read:

49.45 (2) (b) 2. Contract with nonprofit organizations incorporated or existing under and by virtue of s. 148.03, 182.032 or 447.13, with other organizations whether or not organized for profit or with insurance companies licensed and authorized to do business in this state, either to administer the benefits under the medical assistance program in full or in part, including prepaid health care, or to insure the program in full or in part for and in behalf of the department and may accept the contract deemed most advantageous to the department for such administrative services. Any organization administering or insuring benefits under this section which is not licensed by the commissioner of insurance shall be subject to financial and operational regulation and review under s. 200.26;

(3) (title) PAYMENT. (b) 1. The contractor, if any, ~~making payment of administering benefits or providing prepaid health care~~ under s. 49.46 or 49.47 shall be entitled to ~~reimbursement payment~~ payment from the department for benefits so paid ~~or prepaid health care so provided or made available~~ when a certification of eligibility is properly on file with the contractor in addition to the payment of administrative expense incurred pursuant to the contract and as provided in sub. (2) (a) 4, but the contractor shall not be reimbursed for benefits erroneously paid where no certification is on file.

2. The contractor, if any, insuring benefits under s. 49.46 or 49.47 shall be entitled to receive a premium, in an amount and on terms agreed, for such benefits for the persons eligible to receive them and for its services as insurer.

SECTION 253. 49.45 (3) (c) of the statutes is created to read:

49.45 (3) (c) Payment for services provided under this section shall be made directly to the hospital, skilled and intermediate nursing homes, prepaid health care group, other organization or individual providing such services or to an organization which provides such services or arranges for their availability on a prepayment basis. No additional charge may be made to the beneficiary of such service by the hospital, skilled nursing home, other organization or individual who provided the service except for or to the extent that benefits are not provided under this section.

SECTION 254. 49.45 (6) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 255. 49.45 (6m) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

49.45 (6m) PAYMENT TO NURSING HOMES. (a) Reimbursement for nursing home care, including intermediate care, but exclusive of state institutions for the mentally retarded, made under s. 20.435 (4) (c) and (o) shall be made according to the following schedule:

1. The per patient per day cost of providing the staffing pattern of direct care, including nonproductive time, and services to that patient required as a condition of licensure, based on the mean wages including fringe benefits actually paid to employes in that institution or facility but limited to a maximum of the mean wages including fringe benefits paid to state employes providing similar services and in corresponding job classifications.

2. Based on periodic surveys of the patient's needs as determined by the department when such patient was admitted to the facility, an additional per patient per day supplement for additional nursing and rehabilitative staff up to a limited amount of hours based on the same mean wages used in subd. 1 except such mean wages shall not exceed the statewide average mean wages including fringe benefits paid for such personnel. The rating shall be graduated on the basis of the average total point rating of the patients in the facility less the minimum amount to qualify for that level of care.

3. A single dollar amount for the per patient per day cost of food, housekeeping, maintenance, and related supplies, and an amount based on the mean wages including fringe benefits paid at the facility for supportive service personnel based on a set amount of labor time per patient per day with recognition for the size of the facility.

4. An amount equal to a fixed percentage of the per patient per day cost for the above services limited to a maximum amount for administrative and all other indirect services.

5. A per bed per day amount to defray interest and principal payments of the facility and equipment plus a rate of return on capital investment not to exceed specified limits and standards.

6. The per bed per day property taxes paid by such facilities.

7. An adjustment up to a statewide maximum based on wage increases once every 12 months.

8. The standards, limits, and maximums established under subds. 1 to 7, for direct patient care and services and indirect services and costs shall take effect after approval by the governor and the joint committee on finance.

9. The reimbursement rate for nursing homes reimbursed under s. 20.435 (4) (c) and (o) of the statutes shall, until either the provisions for implementation of this paragraph have been approved by the joint committee on finance or until December 31, 1973, whichever occurs first, not be less than 100% of the most recent rate paid prior to November 5, 1971.

(b) Ancillary services may be included as an adjustment to the rate determined under par. (a) if the department determines that the cost of such services based on actual utilization of such services for patients at the home would be equal to or less than the cost of billing and providing such services separately.

(c) As a condition of reimbursement under this section a nursing home shall:

1. Meet the staffing standard requirements for direct patient services including the supplement contained under par. (a) 1, for which reimbursement is made, and to maintain such records as prescribed by the department to document that such level of care was actually provided.

2. Provide at the time of a patient's admission to a home, for the development and implementation of a rehabilitation plan including the development of an alternate care plan for the patient.

(d) The department shall:

1. Take into account all pertinent federal regulations in establishing reimbursement under this section;

2. Terminate reimbursement to a home for such a patient, unless a utilization review team established pursuant to federal regulations upon review of the patient's needs and the implementation of a rehabilitation plan for that patient determines that the patient's need for care and services can only be provided in a nursing home and determines the appropriate level of care.

3. Establish, maintain, and periodically update a patient needs evaluation system to be used in determining the need and level of care at a nursing home, which shall include the social and rehabilitative needs of the patient, provide levels of care to correspond to the actual staff time required to provide such care, and define the contents of the services to be provided.

4. Periodically audit, and recover payments made where the home is not meeting the conditions under which the reimbursement was made.

(e) The governor shall appoint an appeal board, consisting of 7 members for 2-year terms. Members shall include 2 representatives of the nursing home industry, which shall be rotated among the representatives of the different types of homes in the industry, individuals who through their experience and training are knowledgeable in the determination of wage rates and labor markets, the nursing care and needs of the individuals, and the interest of the general public. The appeal board shall review petitions from nursing homes providing Title XIX, state skilled, limited and personal care, for modifications to any reimbursement rate under this subsection for such homes. Upon the findings and recommendations of the appeal board, the secretary of health and social services shall grant such modifications, which may exceed maximums under this section but may not exceed any applicable federal maximums. The board may, upon the presentation of facts, recommend modifications of a home's care rate

where demonstrated substantial inequities exist including those resulting from the following, without limitation because of enumeration:

1. Wages, salaries and related benefit costs.
2. Historical capital construction costs.
3. Exceptional care factors.

SECTION 255e. 49.46 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

49.46 (2) BENEFITS. The department shall audit and pay charges made in accordance with s. 49.45(11)(a) for medical assistance to recipients for inpatient hospital services other than services in an institution for tuberculosis or mental diseases (except as hereinafter provided); hospital outpatient services; physicians', dentists', podiatrists', optometrists' and nurses' services; laboratory and X-ray services; eye glasses prescribed by a physician skilled in the diseases of the eye or by an optometrist; transportation to obtain medical care; the following services when prescribed by a physician: skilled nursing home services excluding services in an institution for tuberculosis or mental diseases (except as hereinafter provided), intermediate care facility services, home health care, physical and occupational therapy and related services, medical supplies and equipment, including rental of durable equipment, drugs, prosthetic devices and other diagnostic, screening, preventive and rehabilitative and other medical services; and inpatient hospital and skilled nursing home services for individuals 65 years of age and over when a patient in an institution for mental diseases or tuberculosis and inpatient psychiatric hospital services for individuals under 21 years of age. Nursing services rendered in connection with treatment by prayer or spiritual means alone and in accordance with the tenets and practice of any recognized church or religious denomination and given by a duly accredited practitioner thereof may be furnished such individuals by any visiting nurse service, sanatorium, nursing home and private duty nursing services given in conformity with the tenets and practices of such church or religious denomination upon referral by and certification of said accredited practitioner that in his or her opinion such services are necessary for the health and well-being of the said individual. Medical assistance shall also include payment of any of the deductible and coinsurance portions of the above services which are not paid under Title XVIII and the monthly premiums payable under section 1839 of the social security act.

SECTION 255m. 49.47 (6) (a) 1 of the statutes is amended to read:

49.47 (6) (a) 1. Inpatient hospital services in a semiprivate room (other than services in an institution for ~~tuberculosis or mental diseases~~);

SECTION 255s. 49.47 (6) (a) 14 and 15 of the statutes are created to read:

49.47 (6) (a) 14. Inpatient care for treatment of tuberculosis in certified facilities under s. 50.03 for individuals 65 years of age or over.

15. Inpatient psychiatric hospital services for individuals under 21 years of age.

SECTION 257. 49.50 (10) and (11) of the statutes are created to read:

49.50 (10) ELIGIBILITY VERIFICATION. (a) Any person applying for public assistance shall provide proof of his social security number. If he cannot provide proof of his social security number, the agency granting assistance shall verify his application declaration for assistance.

(b) In no case shall failure to provide a social security number be grounds for denial of eligibility if eligibility for assistance otherwise exists.

(c) The agency shall grant temporary eligibility for assistance pending verification under par. (a) if, on the basis of the self-declaration application, eligibility appears to exist.

(11) PERIODIC EARNINGS CHECK BY DEPARTMENT. The department shall make a periodic check of the amounts earned by public assistance recipients through a check of the amounts credited to the recipient's social security number. The department shall make an investigation into any discrepancy between the amounts credited to a social security number and amounts reported as income on the declaration application and take appropriate action under s. 49.12 when warranted. The department of industry, labor and human relations shall cooperate with the department in supplying this information.

SECTION 258. 49.51 (2) (a) 3 of the statutes is amended to read:

49.51 (2) (a) 3. To make certification or referral of eligibles for state or federal works or other assistance programs, eligibility for which is based on need, when designated to perform such certification or referral services, ~~and to certify eligibility for and distribute surplus commodities and foodstuffs.~~

SECTION 259. 49.51 (2) (a) 14 of the statutes is created to read:

49.51 (2) (a) 14. To certify eligibility for and issue food coupons to needy households in conformity with the federal food stamp act of 1964 as amended, and, in addition, the county department of public welfare may certify eligibility for and distribute surplus commodities and food stuffs.

SECTION 259g. 49.51 (3) (c) of the statutes is created to read:

49.51 (3) (c) County agencies shall submit to the department plans and contracts for care and services to be purchased. Such contracts shall be developed under the guidelines and provisions of s. 46.036. The department shall review such contracts and approve them if they are consistent with the provisions of s. 46.036 and to the extent that state and federal funds are available for such purposes. The department shall reimburse each county for such approved contracts from the appropriations under ss. 20.435 (4) (dh) and (p) according to rate of aid established under s. 49.52.

SECTION 259m. 49.51 (4) of the statutes is created to read:

49.51 (4) ANNUAL PROGRAM BUDGETS. Each county agency shall submit annually a program plan and budget as prescribed by the department for the calendar year. The budget shall indicate the number of staff and cost for each service and program of the agency. The department shall review and approve each county's annual program plan and budget and shall ensure that the plans and expenditure of funds comply with federal and state statutes and regulations and that the contracts approved do not exceed the amount of federal and state funds that are available. The department shall reimburse each county for such approved program plan and budget from the appropriations under s. 20.435 (4) (df) and (p) according to the rate of aid established under s. 49.52.

SECTION 260c. 49.52 (1) and (2) (a) (intro.) of the statutes are amended to read:

49.52 (1) FEDERAL AID. (a) From the federal funds received by the state for grants of aid, excluding medical aid issued under s. 49.46, in the aid to the blind, aid to families with dependent children, ~~old age assistance and aid to totally and permanently disabled persons~~ there shall be determined in each of said programs the percentage of the federal fund in relation to the total amount expended for such

purpose and the state shall reimburse from these moneys to each county the percentage as computed of the total amount expended by such county in each program.

(b) From the federal funds received by the state for the administration by counties of ~~aid to the blind, aid to families with dependent children, old-age assistance and aid to totally and permanently disabled persons~~ and including administration expenses in the medical assistance and work incentive programs, the state shall reimburse the counties the amount earned by each county for such administration, the amount earned to be computed as determined by the department.

(2) (a) (intro.) The state aid to which any county shall be entitled shall be determined according to the amount expended by the county for ~~aid to the blind, aid to families with dependent children, old-age assistance and aid to totally and permanently disabled persons~~ including services and medical administration and child welfare services, mental hygiene services and other welfare services performed or purchased by the county agency administering such aids in cooperation with or at the request of the state department, pursuant to express authorization, but excluding general relief, after deducting the reimbursement received from federal funds pursuant to sub. (1). Aid to the county for salaries to the professional staff of its agency shall be no greater than to support the minimum number of professional staff required to meet federal minimum standards. State aid shall be paid as follows:

SECTION 260g. 49.52 (2) (a) 1 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 260i. 49.52 (2) (a) 2 of the statutes is renumbered 49.52 (2) (a) 1 and amended to read:

49.52 (2) (a) 1. Beginning January 1, 1968, and for each year thereafter, the amount of state aid to be received by each county shall be determined as follows: The department shall determine a state-wide mill rate by dividing the total of expenditures remaining after deduction of the federal reimbursement for ~~1) approved expenditures under this paragraph together with 2) expenditures under ss. 49.46 and 49.47~~ for the fiscal year ending June 30, by the state full value of all general taxable property as determined by the department of revenue the following September 15 in accordance with s. 70.57. The mill rate for each county shall be computed in the same manner by dividing the total of expenditures remaining after deduction of the federal reimbursement for ~~1) approved expenditures by such county under this paragraph together with 2) expenditures under ss. 49.46 and 49.47~~ for residents of such county for the fiscal year ending June 30, by the state full value of all general property in the county as determined by the department of revenue the following September 15 in accordance with s. 70.57. The state aid to be paid to each county shall be determined by the percentage relationship between the mill rate for each county and the state-wide mill rate in accordance with the following schedule: [See Figure 49.52 following]

SECTION 260m. 49.52 (2) (a) 2 of the statutes is created to read:

49.52 (2) (a) 2. Beginning January 1, 1975 and for each year thereafter, state aid shall be 100% of the non-federal share of the allowable costs as determined in this section.

SECTION 260q. 49.52 (2) (a) 4 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 260v. 49.52 (3) (b) of the statutes is amended to read:

49.52 (3) (b) Each From January 1, 1974 until December 31, 1974 each county shall be liable for its ~~pro rata share of the medical expenses paid by the state under ss. 49.46 and 49.47 and its pro rata share of payments made by the state under s. 49.19~~ (10) (d) as the department determines to be properly chargeable to each county, and shall reimburse the state for such pro rata share. For the purpose of administration

the state may deduct the amount of such payments owing to the state from the claim submitted under par. (a) and pay the remaining balance to the county pursuant to par. (c). Beginning January 1, 1975 and each year thereafter, no county shall be liable for its pro rata share of payments made by the state under s. 49.19 (10) (d).

SECTION 260x. 49.52 (5) of the statutes is amended to read:

49.52 (5) DISTRESSED COUNTIES, APPLICATION FOR AID. Any county which is financially unable to fully perform its duties under ss. 49.18 to 49.37, 49.46, 49.47 and 49.61, including the administration and services specified in sub. (2), after having received payments under subs. (1) and (2) and s. 20.435 (4) (d) may make application to the department for financial assistance to enable it to perform such duties, except that aid under this paragraph shall be available only for county costs under ss. 49.18, 49.20 to 49.37, 49.46, 49.47 and 49.61 actually incurred prior to January 1, 1974, and no aid shall be available under this paragraph for any county costs incurred after January 1, 1975. Before making a determination upon the application, the department shall hold hearings, investigate and obtain or receive proof as to total indebtedness and tax levy limitations, cash on hand, anticipated revenues from all sources, reasonableness of amounts of its expenditures and necessity therefor, tax delinquencies, reasonableness of valuation for taxation purposes and such other factors not enumerated which are probative on the applicant's financial condition. If the department is satisfied that the applicant's financial condition is such that it cannot provide money for such forms of public assistance, the department shall certify to the department of administration for payment to the applicant out of the appropriations provided by s. 20.435 (4) (d) an amount which will, together with money that the applicant can provide, be sufficient to enable the applicant to properly perform its duties. No such payment shall be made unless the department's certification is approved by the board on government operations. The department shall fix the time and place of hearing, issue subpoenas, take testimony and make reasonable rules and regulations which are necessary to enable it to effectively perform its duties under this section.

SECTION 261. 49.61 (1m) of the statutes is amended to read:

49.61 (1m) DEFINITION OF AID; INSTITUTION INMATES. In this section, "aid to the totally and permanently disabled" means money payments, or vendor payments as prescribed by the department, to such totally and permanently disabled person, to another individual when such individual has been appointed by a court of competent jurisdiction as a legal representative of such needy disabled person or to another individual who has been designated by the county welfare agency in cases approved by the department to receive payment of the aid, or medical care in behalf of, or any type of remedial care recognized under this section or s. 49.46 in behalf of, needy individuals more than 18 and less than 65 years of age who are totally and permanently disabled, but does not include any such payments to or care in behalf of any individual who is an inmate of a public institution (~~except as a patient in a medical institution~~) or any individual who is a patient in an institution for tuberculosis or

mental diseases. No payment of aid to totally and permanently disabled persons shall be made to any individual in a private or public institution ~~unless a standard setting authority has been designated or established which is responsible for establishing and maintaining standards for such institutions.~~ Such individuals shall not be barred from receiving general aid under ss. 49.02 and 49.03. ~~Aid to the totally and permanently disabled shall be granted to totally and permanently disabled dependent persons residing voluntarily in county or city homes and the department shall make claim for federal reimbursement therefor when federal funds are made available for that purpose and pay the same to the county. The rate of payment for skilled nursing care provided under this section shall be determined by the county under guidelines established by the department pursuant to s. 49.45 (6m). Payment for limited care shall not exceed 90% of the applicable Title XIX skilled care rate. Payment for personal care shall not exceed 80% of the applicable Title XIX skilled care rate.~~

SECTION 262. 49.61 (9) and (10) of the statutes are repealed.

SECTION 264. 50.03 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

50.03 Approval of tuberculosis treatment facilities. (1) Hospitals as defined in s. 140.24, tuberculosis sanatoria under s. 50.01 (1) and private tuberculosis sanatoria under s. 58.06 may submit a request to the department for a certificate of approval as a tuberculosis acute treatment center. The department shall issue a certificate of approval if the hospital or sanatorium meets the rules and standards established by the department after receiving the advice of the advisory committee on tuberculosis control. The certification is to be renewed annually by the department. The certificate of approval shall apply only for the premises, persons and services named in the application and shall not be transferred or assigned. The department shall not withhold, suspend or revoke a certificate of approval unless such hospital or sanatorium substantially fails to comply with ss. 140.23 to 140.29 or the rules and standards adopted by the department, after having been given a reasonable notice, a fair hearing and an opportunity to comply. The rules and standards for the operation of the hospitals or sanatoria providing care for acute tubercular patients shall be established by the department after receiving the advice of the advisory committee on tuberculosis control.

(2) Nursing homes as defined in s. 146.30 and residential care institutions under s. 146.32 shall request a certificate of approval from the department in order to provide care for patients suffering from chronic tuberculosis based on rules and standards adopted by the department after receiving the advice of the advisory committee on tuberculosis control.

SECTION 265. 50.04 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

50.04 Maintenance charges. (1) The cost of care for treatment of those persons admitted to any facility certified for acute or chronic tuberculosis treatment by the department under s. 50.03 shall be determined by the superintendent and the department. Such maintenance shall include necessary traveling expenses including the expenses for an attendant when such person cannot travel alone and necessary and reasonable expenses incident to his care in such institution. Maintenance shall also include all expense of treatment including surgery performed outside the institution when the superintendent deems it necessary for treatment of tuberculosis.

(2) Any patient who has a legal settlement in this state or any patient who, or whose parent if the patient is a minor, has resided in this state for 5 years or more in the aggregate prior to his application for admission, and 90 days of which residence is within 5 years next preceding his application as determined by the department shall be cared for at any tuberculosis treatment facility approved under s. 50.03 without charge

to him, and the cost of his care shall be charged against the state subject to charge back to the county of his legal settlement as provided in sub. (3). If any such patient is the beneficiary of a policy of hospitalization, health or accident insurance or other contract covering care of tuberculosis, he shall be liable to pay the cost of his care to the extent of the liability on such policy, insurance or contract as determined by the admitting court, except that such liability shall not include amounts payable as disability benefits under any such policy. If any patient treated in an approved tuberculosis treatment facility under s. 50.03 is entitled to workmen's compensation by reason of his tuberculosis, the cost of his care shall be recoverable by the state, in the same proceeding that such patient takes for the recovery of his workmen's compensation. Such institution shall be deemed a party in interest in such proceeding and shall be entitled to notice of any such proceeding and may appear in such proceeding for the purpose of prosecuting the state's right to recovery. No settlement of workmen's compensation of the claim of such patient shall be approved by the department of industry, labor and human relations that does not provide for the payment of the cost of the care of such patient. Nothing contained in this subsection shall prohibit any patient from paying all or a part of the cost of his care if he so desires.

(3) Any patient who meets the legal settlement or residence requirements specified in sub. (2) and meets the requirements for admission and treatment for tuberculosis inpatient care as established by the department with the advice of the advisory committee on tuberculosis control shall be cared for in such institution without charge. The tuberculosis care facility approved under s. 50.03 shall charge the state for care given in the facility. Such charges shall include depreciation on buildings, administrative costs and other indirect costs as determined by the department in addition to direct patient care costs. The department shall collect all insurance payments, medicare, and other benefits for such care and charge back to the county of legal settlement any cost of care not covered by collection of benefits as provided in s. 50.09. If the patient has no county of legal settlement, the state shall pay such charges. Any inpatient charges against a county under s. 50.04 (1) in excess of \$500 per \$1,000,000 of equalized assessed valuation as established under s. 70.57, will be charged to the state. Payments shall be made by the state on a yearly or quarterly basis and adjusted to actual costs following the annual audit by the department under sub. (5).

(4) The state shall also assume the charges not collected from insurance, medicaid, and other benefits for:

(a) Care of patients transferred to facilities approved under s. 50.03 from state institutions or from state penal institutions pursuant to s. 57.115.

(b) Care of any minor committed to the department in an approved facility under s. 50.03.

(5) The department shall insure that charges to the state for care in facilities approved under s. 50.03 reflect reasonable and accurate expenses in providing such care.

(a) The records and accounts of each county sanitorium shall be audited annually. Such audits shall be made by the department of administration as provided in s. 73.10 as soon as is practicable following the close of the institution's fiscal year. In addition to other findings, such audits shall ascertain compliance with the mandatory uniform cost record-keeping requirements of s. 46.18 (8), (9) and (10) and verify the actual per capita cost of maintenance, care and treatment of patients. Any resulting adjustments

to settlements already made under s. 50.09 shall be carried into the next such settlement.

(b) The records and accounts of all other facilities approved under s. 50.03 shall be audited annually and available to the department upon request and shall comply with accepted accounting practices.

(6) Patients currently receiving tuberculosis care without charge in a sanatorium admitted prior to the effective date of this act (1973) shall continue to receive such care without charge. If such a patient is eligible to receive medical assistance described in ss. 49.45, 49.46 or 49.47, the department shall proceed to recover part of cost of care from these sources. The balance of the cost of care shall be charged against the state.

SECTION 269. 50.05 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 270. 50.06 (6) (a) and (b) of the statutes are repealed and recreated to read:

50.06 (6) (a) The state shall credit or reimburse each dispensary on an annual or quarterly basis for the operation of public health dispensaries established and maintained in accordance with this section.

(b) The state reimbursement for each visit for services as ordered by a physician shall be \$6. If an X-ray is taken an additional \$6 will be credited. Any X-ray taken outside an approved facility under s. 50.03 or s. 50.06 on positive reactors to the mantoux skin test shall qualify for state aid in the same manner as an X-ray taken inside such a facility, and such X-ray shall take the place of the first X-ray eligible for reimbursement as part of a case finding and preventive program under par. (e). The administration and reading of the mantoux skin test for diagnostic purposes shall be considered one visit. Skin tests given in school programs, employment health programs, community preventive and case finding programs are not reimbursable as a clinic visit.

SECTION 271. 50.06 (6) (e) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

50.06 (6) (e) Net income in excess of expenses from fees collected from patients of the public health dispensary shall be used to finance case finding programs in the community.

SECTION 272. 50.06 (6) (f) of the statutes is created to read:

50.06 (6) (f) The organization and methods of operation of a case finding preventive program shall be approved by the state health officer upon the advice of the advisory committee on tuberculosis control. State aid shall not be credited for the administration and reading of the mantoux test. A reimbursement of \$12 shall be credited to the agency approved to conduct such a program for the initial chest X-ray examination, the interpretation of the same and for the consultation of the physician conducting such a program. A patient completing chemoprophylaxis may receive a second chest X-ray examination, interpretation and medical consultation for which an additional \$12 shall be credited. Guidelines for care during chemoprophylaxis shall be established by the advisory committee on tuberculosis control. Reimbursement shall be \$6 per visit which is in compliance with such guidelines.

SECTION 272m. 50.07 (3) of the statutes is created to read:

50.07 (3) The state health officer with the approval of the council on health shall appoint an advisory committee on tuberculosis control to assist the state health officer in developing rules and standards for tuberculosis treatment and operation of

tuberculosis facilities giving inpatient and outpatient tuberculosis care, consisting of 9 members appointed for staggered 3-year terms, consisting of a member of the health policy council nominated by the chairman thereof, a member of the Wisconsin sanatorium trustees association nominated by that organization, a member of the Wisconsin hospitals association, a member of a nursing home association, a member of the Wisconsin county boards association representing a county operating a tuberculosis treatment facility, a member of a local public health organization, 2 public members with a demonstrated interest in the care and treatment of tuberculosis and a specialist in the care and treatment of tuberculosis nominated by the section on chest diseases of the state medical society of Wisconsin.

SECTION 277. 51.001 (2) and (3) of the statutes are amended to read:

51.001 (2) "County hospital" means a hospital for mental disturbances established pursuant to s. 51.25 and the county mental health center, south division, established under s. 51.24 (4).

(3) "State hospital" means any of the institutions operated by the department for the purpose of providing diagnosis, care or treatment, for mental or emotional disturbance or mental deficiency and includes, but is not limited to, mental health institutes.

SECTION 278. 51.001 (4) and (5) of the statutes are repealed.

SECTION 279. 51.001 (7) of the statutes is created to read:

51.001 (7) "Mental health institute" means any institution operated by the department for research, specialized psychiatric services, and which is responsible for consultation, quality control and monitoring of county programs.

SECTION 280. 51.002 of the statutes is created to read:

51.002 Care and custody of committed persons. Any person committed to an institution under this chapter shall be committed under the care and custody of ~~the~~ ~~department~~ ~~of~~ a board established under s. 51.42 or 51.437.

Vetoed
in Part

SECTION 281. 51.08 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 282. 51.15 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

51.15 Mental health institutes; districts. The mental health institute located at Mendota is known as the "Mental Health Institute-Mendota" and the mental health institute located at Winnebago is known as the "Mental Health Institute-Winnebago". The department shall divide the state by counties into 2 districts, and may change the bounds of these districts, arranging them with reference to the number of patients supposed to be in them and the capacity of the institutes and the convenience of access to them.

SECTION 282m. 51.155 of the statutes is created to read:

51.155 Admissions to mental health institutes. The department shall not accept for admission patients from counties in which a board is established under s. 51.42 except where the board, as provided in s. 51.42 (9), authorizes such care. Patients committed to the department under ss. 971.14, 971.17, 975.01, 975.02 and 975.06 shall not be subject to the provisions of this section.

SECTION 283. 51.18 of the statutes is amended to read:

51.18 Family care; costs to state; to county. (1) The department may place any state hospital or colony patient in a suitable family boarding home upon such terms

and conditions as it determines, if it considers that such course would benefit the patient. The cost to the state of the supervision and maintenance of any patient so boarded out shall not exceed the average per capita cost of his maintenance in the state hospital or colony. ~~Bills for his board shall be payable monthly out of the operating funds of such state hospital or colony and shall be audited as are other bills. The county of his legal settlement shall be charged with the rates and expenses provided under s. 51.08 and such charges shall be adjusted in the same manner as if the patient were at the hospital or colony.~~ The department may visit and investigate such home and may return the patient to the hospital or colony or place him in another home when deemed advisable. ~~Such placement shall not be considered a conditional release or temporary discharge.~~

(2) The superintendent of any county hospital may, with the approval of the department, place any patient in a suitable family boarding home upon such terms and conditions as he determines, if he considers such course would benefit the patient. ~~When any patient is so placed, the state charges or aid provided in ss. 51.08 and 51.26, or s. 51.24, as the case may be, shall continue during the period of such placement. The county of the patient's legal settlement shall be charged with the rates and expenses provided under s. 51.08 or 51.24, as the case may be, and such charges shall be adjusted in the same manner as if the patient were at the hospital.~~ The department may visit and investigate such home and may cause the patient to be returned to the hospital or placed in another home when deemed advisable. ~~Such placement shall not be considered a conditional release or temporary discharge.~~

SECTION 284. 51.19 of the statutes is amended to read:

51.19 Child born in hospital. A child born in any state or county hospital or state colony and training school shall be promptly removed therefrom by the mother's friends or by the ~~county of her legal settlement~~ department. The superintendent shall petition the juvenile court of the county in which the institution is located to make such removal, and until the child is removed the superintendent shall make suitable provision for its care and comfort, and charge all expenses to the ~~county of the mother's legal settlement, to be adjusted as provided in s. 46.106~~ department. The court shall notify the juvenile court of the county of the mother's legal settlement of the filing of such petition.

SECTION 285m. 51.21 (3) (b) of the statutes is amended to read:

51.21 (3) (b) The superintendent of the hospital shall receive the prisoner and shall, within a reasonable time before his sentence expires, make a written application to the county court where the hospital is located for an inquiry as to the prisoner's mental condition. Thereafter the proceeding shall be as upon application made under s. 51.01, but no physician connected with a state prison, Winnebago or mental health institute, central state hospital or county jail shall be appointed as an examiner. If the court is satisfied that the prisoner is not mentally ill or infirm or deficient, it may dismiss the application and order the prisoner returned to the institution from which transferred. If the court finds that the prisoner is mentally ill or infirm or deficient, it may commit the prisoner to the central state hospital or commit her to the Winnebago ~~state hospital~~ mental health institute.

SECTION 285p. 51.21 (8) of the statutes is created to read:

51.21 (8) **TREATMENT REVIEW.** The department shall review the treatment needs of all patients and inmates committed or transferred to central state hospital within 30 days of the individual's arrival at the facility. Such review shall be conducted in consultation with Mendota and Winnebago mental health institute staff for the purpose of determining the most appropriate place and type of treatment for the

patient or inmate. Placement of such patient or inmate shall be made with due regard for the welfare and safety of the individual, the public and employes and patients at the affected institutions.

~~SECTION 287. 51.216 of the statutes is created to read:~~

~~51.216 Limitation on placement of children in state and county hospitals. (1) Notwithstanding any other section of the statutes, no child under the age of 18 may be admitted to a state or county hospital, except the Wisconsin children's treatment center, except for diagnostic and evaluation purposes and limited to a stay of not more than 60 days. The department shall establish a child placement review program, independent of the staff at the hospital in which the child is a patient, which shall review the need to continue providing care and treatment beyond the 60-day period. Approval for continuation of care and treatment shall be granted if both the following conditions are met:~~

Vetoed
in Part

~~(a) The department can document that alternative care and services resources have been investigated and are not available to meet the needs of the child; and~~

~~(b) Review of the treatment plan indicates that the care and services to be provided are appropriate for the child's needs, and can be expected to make significant progress in improving the child's capability to function outside of such facility.~~

~~(2) If continued care and treatment is approved, it shall be limited to a 60-day period and provide for review under sub. (1) at the end of each such period.~~

~~(3) Nothing in this section shall preclude the hospital from releasing the child without such a review.~~

SECTION 287m. 51.22 (4) and (5) of the statutes are amended to read:

51.22 (4) TEMPORARY DISCHARGE. The ~~superintendent of a colony and training school department~~ may grant any patient a temporary discharge if, in ~~his~~ its opinion, it is proper to do so. ~~The superintendent of any county hospital~~ A board established under ss. 51.42 or 51.437 may, upon the written recommendation of the visiting physician, grant any patient a temporary discharge. The superintendent of the central state hospital may, if he deems it proper to do so, grant any patient transferred to that institution from a colony or training school a temporary discharge and release him pursuant thereto without first returning the patient to the institution from which he came.

(5) PERMANENT DISCHARGE. ~~The superintendent of a colony and training school or central state hospital, with the approval of the department, or the superintendent of any county hospital~~ a board established under s. 51.42 or 51.437, with the approval of the visiting physician, may permanently discharge from custody any mentally deficient person who has been on a temporary discharge and who has continued to demonstrate fitness to be at large. Notice of such permanent discharge shall be filed with the committing court by the ~~superintendent department or the board~~. After permanent discharge, if it becomes necessary for such person to have further institutional care and treatment, a new commitment must be obtained, following the procedure for original commitment.

SECTION 288. 51.24 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

51.24 Milwaukee county mental health center. Any county having a population of 500,000 or more may, pursuant to s. 46.17, establish and maintain a county mental health center. The county mental health center, north division (hereafter in this section referred to as "north division"), shall be a hospital devoted to the detention and care of

drug addicts, inebriates and mentally ill persons whose mental illness is acute. Such hospital shall be governed pursuant to s. 46.21. The county mental health center, south division, shall be a hospital for the treatment of chronic patients and shall be governed pursuant to s. 46.21. The county mental health center established pursuant to this section is subject to rules adopted by the department concerning hospital standards.

SECTION 289. 51.26 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 291. 51.36 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 291m. 51.37 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

51.37 Outpatient clinic services. The department may provide outpatient clinic services only to patients admitted to state hospitals under s. 51.155 or specifically contracted and paid for by boards established under s. 51.42 or to patients from counties in which such a board does not exist and no other services have been purchased by the department for this purpose for that county. The department shall charge patients according to the fee schedule and conditions established under s. 46.03 (18).

SECTION 292. 51.38 of the statutes is repealed.

~~SECTION 293m. 51.42 (3)(c) of the statutes is repealed.~~

Vetoed
in Part

SECTION 294. 51.42 (3) (d) (intro.) of the statutes is amended to read:

51.42 (3) (d) (intro.) Counties may retain the ownership of the county hospital physical plant or the hospital may be operated as a joint county institution as authorized under s. 46.20. ~~County hospital inpatient services shall be reimbursed under ss. 51.08 and 51.26.~~ When a county or a combination of counties administer a program under this section the hospital shall be governed as follows:

SECTION 294m. 51.42 (5) (h) 6 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 295. 51.42 (8) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

51.42 (8) GRANT-IN-AID. (a) Each board shall submit an annual program budget to the department for services, including active treatment inpatient county hospital services, as prescribed by the department based on the plan required under sub. (7) (a). The cost of all services purchased by the board shall be developed based on the standards and requirements of s. 46.036.

(b) The department shall review each budget to insure uniform costing of services and shall not approve any services that duplicate or are inconsistent with services being provided or purchased by the department or other county agencies receiving grants-in-aid or reimbursement from the department.

(c) The department shall provide from the appropriation under s. 20.435 (2) (b) a grant-in-aid of 60% and beginning January 1, 1975 a grant-in-aid of 100% of the total cost of the approved budget less the amounts received by the board or a provider of service under contract with the board as fees from clients and patients and less the amounts received from federal funds or other state programs. The department shall, during the fiscal year, review the budgets and expenditures of the various programs and, if funds are not needed for a program to which they were allocated, and, after reasonable notice and opportunity for hearing, the department may withdraw such funds as are unencumbered and reallocate them to other programs, or withdraw funds from any program which is not being administered in accordance with its approved plan and budget.

CHAPTER 90

316

SECTION 295b. 51.42 (9) of the statutes is amended to read:

51.42 (9) CARE IN OTHER FACILITIES. Authorization for inpatient care of any patient in a ~~hospital~~ state, local or private facility, ~~other than those institutions specified in s. 46.10,~~ shall be provided under a contractual agreement between the board and the facility, except when the board governs such facility. The need for inpatient care shall be determined by the clinical director of the program prior to the admission of the patient to the ~~hospital~~ facility. The board shall reimburse the facility for the care and services according to the provisions of s. 46.036.

• SECTION 295c. 51.42 (10), (11) and (13) (a) of the statutes are repealed.

SECTION 295d. 51.42 (13) (b) and (c) of the statutes are renumbered 51.42 (10) (a) and (b).

SECTION 295g. 51.437 (4) of the statutes is renumbered 51.437 (4) (a).

SECTION 295r. 51.437 (4) (b) of the statutes is created to read:

51.437 (4) (b) In counties having population of less than 500,000, county boards may designate the community mental health, mental retardation, alcoholism and drug abuse board established under s. 51.42 as the community developmental disabilities board.

SECTION 296. 51.437 (8) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

51.437 (8) (a) Each board shall submit an annual program budget to the department as prescribed by the department based on the plan required under subs. (1) (a) and (7) (a). The cost of all services purchased by the board shall be developed and based on the standards and requirements of s. 46.036.

(b) The department shall review each budget to insure uniform costing of services and shall not approve any services that duplicate or are inconsistent with services being provided or purchased by the department or other county agencies receiving grants-in-aid or reimbursement from the department.

(c) The department shall provide from the appropriation under s. 20.435 (2) (c), a grant-in-aid of 60% and beginning January 1, 1975 a grant-in-aid of 100% of the total cost of the approved budget less the amounts received by the board or a provider of service under contract with the board as fees from clients and patients and less the amounts received from federal funds or other state programs. The department shall, during the fiscal year, review the budgets and expenditures of the various programs and, if funds are not needed for a program to which they were allocated, and, after reasonable notice and opportunity for hearing, the department may withdraw such funds as are unencumbered and reallocate them to other programs, or withdraw funds from any program which is not being administered in accordance with its approved plan and budget.

Vetoed
in Part

~~(d) No grant-in-aid shall be made for the expenditure for services included in the actual per capita cost of maintenance care and treatment of residents at institutions specified in s. 46.10~~

SECTION 296e. 52.01 (1) and (4) of the statutes are amended to read:

52.01 (1) The parent, and spouse ~~and child~~ of any dependent person (as defined in s. 49.01) who is unable to maintain himself shall maintain such dependent person, so

far as able, in a manner approved by the authorities having charge of the dependent, or by the board in charge of the institution where such dependent person is; but no ~~child of school age shall be compelled to labor contrary to the child labor laws~~ parent shall be required to support a child 18 years of age or older. For the purpose of determining the ability of a parent, or spouse ~~or child~~ to maintain a dependent person, relief granted under s. 71.09 (7) shall not be considered.

(4) The county court shall in a summary way hear the allegations and proofs of the parties and by order require maintenance from such relatives, if of sufficient ability (having due regard for their own future maintenance and making reasonable allowance for the protection of the property and investments from which they derive their living and their care and protection in old age) in the following order: First the husband or wife; then the father; ~~then the children and the county court may consider whether or not the parents have supported the children in the manner prescribed by law;~~ and lastly the mother. Such order shall specify a sum which will be sufficient for the support of such dependent person, to be paid weekly or monthly, during a period fixed therein, or until the further order of the court. If satisfied that any such relative is unable wholly to maintain such dependent person, but is able to contribute to his support, the court may direct 2 or more such relatives to maintain him and prescribe the proportion each shall contribute and if satisfied that such relatives are unable together wholly to maintain such dependent person, but are able to contribute something therefor, the court shall direct a sum to be paid weekly or monthly by each such relative in proportion to his ability. Contributions directed by court order, if for less than full support, shall be paid to the county welfare agency and applied to the dependent person's grant. Upon application of any party affected thereby and upon like notice and procedure, the court may modify such order. Obedience to such order may be enforced by proceedings as for a contempt.

SECTION 296k. 53.01 of the statutes is amended to read:

53.01 Names of prisons. The penitentiary at Waupun is named "Wisconsin State Prison". The medium security penitentiary near Fox Lake is named "Wisconsin Correctional Institution". The penitentiary at Taycheedah is named "Wisconsin Home for Women". The penitentiary at Green Bay is named "Wisconsin State Reformatory". The medium security penitentiary at Plymouth is named "Kettle Moraine Correctional Institution". The institutions named in this section, the Wisconsin correctional camp system and the Wisconsin correctional, reception and treatment center, when established pursuant to s. 46.043, are state prisons.

SECTION 296m. 53.02 (4c) of the statutes is created to read:

53.02 (4c) KETTLE MORIANE CORRECTIONAL INSTITUTION. For all purposes of discipline and for judicial proceedings, the Kettle Moraine correctional institution and the precincts thereof are deemed to be in Sheboygan county, and the courts of that county shall have jurisdiction of all crimes committed within the same. Every activity conducted under the jurisdiction of and by the Kettle Moraine correctional institution wherever located is a precinct of the institution.

SECTION 297. 53.13 of the statutes is amended to read:

53.13 Property of inmates; donations and transportation on discharge. The money and effects (except clothes) in possession of an inmate when admitted to the prison

CHAPTER 90

318

shall be preserved and shall be restored to him when discharged. When released on discharge or parole he shall be given adequate clothing and ~~\$10 in money~~ an amount of cash determined by department rules in addition to transportation or the means to procure transportation from the prison to any place in this state. If released on parole ~~\$10 this amount~~ shall be given under rules promulgated by the department.

SECTION 299. 55.01 (3) (a) of the statutes is amended to read:

55.01 (3) (a) "Handicapped person" means any person who, by reason of a physical or mental defect or infirmity, whether congenital or acquired by accident, injury or disease, or any nondisabled person who, by reason of economic, educational, experimental, sociocultural or other deficiency or inadequacy, is or may be expected to be totally or partially incapacitated for remunerative occupation, or who may reasonably be expected to be fit to engage in a remunerative occupation after receiving vocational rehabilitation service or any nondisabled person who, at the time he reached age 18 was a student regularly attending a school, college or university or regularly attending a course of vocational or technical training designed to fit him for gainful employment, and either was removed from the home of a relative as a result of judicial determination that continuance in the home would be contrary to his welfare or was a member of a family receiving aid under s. 49.19.

SECTION 300. 57.06 (1) (a) of the statutes is amended to read:

57.06 (1) (a) The department may parole an inmate of the Wisconsin state prisons or any felon or any person serving at least one year or more in the Milwaukee county house of correction or a county reforestation camp organized under s. 56.07, at any time if there is no minimum prescribed for the offense, or when he has served the minimum term prescribed by statute for the offense (which shall be one year unless a greater minimum is prescribed by the statute defining the crime) or one half of the maximum of an indeterminate term or 2 years, whichever is least, or when he has served 20 years of a life term, less the deduction earned for good conduct as provided in s. 53.11. The district attorney and judge who tried the inmate shall be notified in writing at least 10 days before the first application for parole is acted upon and if they so request shall be given like notice of each subsequent application.

SECTION 300m. 59.07 (21) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 301. 59.07 (53) and (85) of the statutes are repealed.

~~SECTION 301m. 59.07 (59m) of the statutes is created to read:~~

Vetoed
in Part

~~59.07 (59m) COUNTY COUNCILS ON HOME LIFE AND FAMILY ENVIRONMENT. Create a county council on home life and family environment as a select committee of the county board, composed of such county board members, public members including educators, and government personnel as the county board designates. The council shall advise governmental bodies and citizens in the county on matters affecting the stability and dignity of the family as the foundation of our civil society, promote principles of marital responsibility and unity, strengthen all areas of family life, and implement the aims and objectives of the family code and the state family environment and resources council.~~

SECTION 303. 60.175 of the statutes is created to read:

60.175 Tax limitation on 1973 levy. Taxes levied in any town in 1973 for 1974 budget purposes shall not increase in an amount greater than that specified in sub. (1), unless modified under sub. (2), (3), (4), (5) or (6).

(1) The department of revenue shall ~~by July 20, 1973~~, determine the amount of levy increase allowable in each town, which determination shall be based on the following formula: the 1972 levy, as certified by the department of revenue shall be multiplied by the percentage of statewide growth in property valuation as estimated by the department for 1973. Special assessments, levies for the payment of principal and interest on debt and user charges shall not be included in either the 1972 levy determination or the amount of increase allowable. Vetoed
in Part

(2) In any town where the population has increased at a rate greater than the statewide rate of population growth, the amount of increase allowed ~~in sub. (1)~~ may be further increased by an amount ~~equal to the 1972 per capita levy~~, multiplied by the difference between the actual town population increase and the amount by which the town's population would have increased if the town's population had increased at the statewide rate of population growth. Population growth shall be measured between the last 2 years for which the department of administration has population estimates at the time determinations of levy increases are made under this section by the department of revenue. Vetoed
in Part

(3) In those towns having accepted the responsibility to administer programs, projects or services, theretofore administered by another governmental unit, the department of revenue shall increase the amount determined by sub. (1) by an amount equal to the levy of the previous governmental unit to administer the program, project or service, plus any reduction in state or federal aids resulting from the transfer.

(4) In any town where the amount of levy increase determined under sub. (1) ~~to~~ ~~(3)~~ results in total available 1974 budget basic revenues, which is less than 106% of total 1973 budget basic revenues, the levy may be increased by such difference. Basic revenues are the total of all budgeted revenues or fund sources, including but not limited to, application of surplus funds, federal revenue sharing funds, fees, user charges and state shared taxes; but not including revenues from federal or state grants for matching fund or specifically requested programs, amounts budgeted for payment of principal and interest on debt and funds placed in equity or tax stabilization accounts. For towns whose budget begins April 1, 1973 means April 1, 1973, to March 31, 1974, and 1974 means April 1, 1974, to March 31, 1975. The secretary of revenue shall determine the amount of levy increase permitted by this subsection. Such determination shall be made only for towns which file a request for such on forms prescribed by the department of revenue, ~~by August 20, 1973~~. Vetoed
in Part

(5) The amount of increase under sub. (1) may be altered, where applicable, as provided in s. 66.033.

(6) The electors of any town may, by referendum at any time upon reasonable notice thereof as authorized by the town board, determine that this section or any part of this section shall not apply to the town.

SECTION 304. 60.19 (1) (a) and (b) and (2) of the statutes are amended to read:

60.19 (1) (a) Biennially, in the odd-numbered years, at the annual town meeting each town shall elect the following officers: 3 supervisors except when the number of supervisors has been increased under par. (am), one of whom shall be designated on the ballots as chairman, a town clerk, a treasurer, an assessor (the number of assistant assessors for which the town board before such election made provision), if election of the assessor is provided, and so many constables, not exceeding 3, as were ordered by the last preceding annual town meeting. No person not an elector of the town shall hold any town office, except that the town may appoint a corporation as an assistant to the assessor under s. 70.05 (2), or employ a corporation as expert help under s.

CHAPTER 90

320

70.055, and no person shall hold the offices of treasurer and assessor at the same time. The electors may at a referendum election held at the time of any regular or special election, vote to combine the offices of assessor and clerk to take effect at the expiration of the current terms of such officers. No assessor shall be elected in towns appointing such officers under civil service under subs. (2) and (3) and no assessor shall be elected in any town after such town comes within the jurisdiction of a county assessor under s. 70.99. The corporation appointed under s. 70.055 shall designate the person who shall serve with the assessor as the assessment board. The designee shall file the official oath as prescribed in s. 19.01, and sign the affidavit of the assessor attached to the assessment roll under s. 70.49. No person may be designated by any corporation unless he has been granted the appropriate certification under s. 73.03 (2).

(b) In the town in any county containing one town only, in place of 3 members a town board of not more than 7 members shall be elected, consisting of one or more members chosen from the town at large and one member chosen from each town board ward, of which there shall be not less than 2 nor more than 5. A majority of such members shall constitute a quorum. The number and boundaries of the town board wards and the number of members to be elected from the town at large shall be designated by the legislature when the town is first established, but thereafter such wards shall be subject to reapportionment and increase or decrease in number and the number of members at large shall be subject to increase or decrease by majority vote of the town board in order to provide that all inhabitants will be adequately represented, each ward will have substantially the same number of inhabitants, the ward, insofar as is practicable, will consist of contiguous territory and will be in compact form. The total number of town board members shall not be changed from the number initially fixed by the legislature. The member elected from the town at large who has the highest number of votes shall become the town chairman. Such members and a town clerk, a treasurer, an assessor and one or more constables, shall be elected by ballot biennially in the odd-numbered years on the first Tuesday in April, and shall hold office for 2 years except as provided in s. 60.60 (3), but no assessor shall be elected or appointed after such town comes within the jurisdiction of a county assessor under s. 70.99.

(2) The electors of any town may request a referendum under sub. (3) to select assessors by appointment, except where such town has come within the jurisdiction of a county assessor under s. 70.99. Selection shall be under any one of the following 3 options: (a) If such town has a civil service system, the assessor may be chosen in accordance therewith; (b) If such town has no civil service system, the town board may by ordinance adopt one under s. 66.19 (2) for the selection of assessors; (c) If such town does not adopt a civil service system for selection of assessors, the town board shall appoint them on the basis of merit, experience and general qualifications, fix the salary and the term of office which shall not exceed 3 years. A corporation may be appointed as the town assessor. The corporation so appointed shall designate the person responsible for the assessment. The designee shall file the official oath under s. 19.01, and sign the affidavit of the assessor attached to the assessment roll under s. 70.49. No person may be designated by any corporation unless he has been granted the appropriate certification under s. 73.03 (2).

SECTION 306. 61.19 of the statutes is amended to read:

61.19 Annual elections; appointments. At the annual spring election in each village in odd-numbered years, except as otherwise provided herein, there shall be

chosen: A president, a clerk, a treasurer, an assessor if election of the assessor is provided and a constable. In villages in counties having a population of 500,000 or more, the officers named shall be elected for a term of 2 years on the first Tuesday of April of each even-numbered year. Any other officers shall be appointed annually by the village board at their first meeting after the first Tuesday in April unless the board otherwise provides. No person not a resident elector in such village shall be elected to any office therein. The village clerk may appoint a deputy clerk for whom he shall be responsible, and who shall take and file the oath of office, and in case of the absence, sickness or other disability of the clerk, may perform his duties and receive the same compensation unless the village board appoints a person to act as such clerk. No assessor shall be elected or appointed if the village has come within the jurisdiction of a county assessor under s. 70.99.

SECTION 306m. 61.197 (1) (f) of the statutes is amended to read:

61.197 (1) (f) A corporation may be appointed as the village assessor. The corporation so appointed shall designate the person responsible for the assessment. The designee shall file the official oath under s. 19.01, and sign the affidavit of the assessor attached to the assessment roll under s. 70.49. No person may be designated by any corporation unless he has been granted the appropriate certification under s. 73.03 (2).

SECTION 307. 61.46 (3) of the statutes is created to read:

61.46 (3) LIMITATION ON 1973 LEVY. Taxes levied in any village in 1973 for 1974 budget purposes shall not increase in an amount greater than that specified in par. (a), unless modified under par. (b), (c), (d), (e) or (f).

(a) The department of revenue shall ~~by July 20, 1973,~~ determine the amount of levy increase allowable in each village, which determination shall be based on the following formula: the 1972 levy, as certified by the department of revenue shall be multiplied by the percentage of statewide growth in property valuation as estimated by the department for 1973. Special assessments, levies for the payment of principal and interest on debt and user charges shall not be included in either the 1972 levy determination or the amount of increase allowable. Vetoed
in Part

(b) In any village where the population has increased at a rate greater than the statewide rate of population growth, the amount of increase allowed in ~~par. (a)~~ may be further increased by an amount ~~equal to the 1972 per capita levy,~~ multiplied by the difference between the actual village population increase and the amount by which the village's population would have increased if the village's population had increased at the statewide rate of population growth. Population growth shall be measured between the last 2 years for which the department of administration has population estimates at the time determinations of levy increases are made under this section by the department of revenue. Vetoed
in Part

(c) In those villages having accepted the responsibility to administer programs, projects or services, theretofore administered by another governmental unit, the department of revenue shall increase the amount determined by par. (a) by an amount equal to the levy of the previous governmental unit to administer the program, project or service, plus any reduction in state or federal aids resulting from the transfer.

(d) In any village where the amount of levy increase determined under ~~par. (a)~~ ~~so (c)~~ results in total available 1974 budget basic revenues, which is less than 106% of total 1973 budget basic revenues, the levy may be increased by such difference. Basic revenues are the total of all budgeted revenues or fund sources, including but not limited to, application of surplus funds, federal revenue sharing funds, fees, user Vetoed
in Part

CHAPTER 90

322

Vetoed
in Part charges and state shared taxes; but not including revenues from federal or state grants for matching fund or specifically requested programs, amounts budgeted for payment of principal and interest on debt and funds placed in equity or tax stabilization accounts. The secretary of revenue shall determine the amount of levy increase permitted by this paragraph. Such determination shall be made only for villages which file a request for such on forms prescribed by the department of revenue, ~~by August 20, 1973.~~

(e) The amount of increase under par. (a) may be increased, where applicable, as provided in s. 66.033.

(f) The electors of any village may, by referendum at any time upon reasonable notice thereof as authorized by the village board, determine that this subsection or any part of this subsection shall not apply to the village.

SECTION 307m. 62.09 (1) (c) of the statutes is amended to read:

62.09 (1) (c) A corporation may be appointed as the city assessor. The corporation so appointed shall designate the person responsible for the assessment. The designee shall file the official oath under s. 19.01, and sign the affidavit of the assessor attached to the assessment roll under s. 70.49. No person may be designated by any corporation unless he has been granted the appropriate certification under s. 73.03 (2).

SECTION 309. 62.09 (9) (i) of the statutes is created to read:

62.09 (9) (i) Make payments certified by the school district pursuant to s. 121.08 (3).

SECTION 310. 62.12 (4m) of the statutes is created to read:

62.12 (4m) LIMITATION ON 1973 LEVY. Taxes levied in any city in 1973 for 1974 budget purposes shall not increase in an amount greater than that specified in par. (a), unless modified under par. (b), (c), (d), (e) or (f).

Vetoed
in Part (a) The department of revenue shall ~~by July 20, 1973,~~ determine the amount of levy increase allowable in each city, which determination shall be based on the following formula: the 1972 levy, as certified by the department of revenue shall be multiplied by the percentage of statewide growth in property valuation as estimated by the department for 1973. Special assessments, levies for the payment of principal and interest on debt and user charges shall not be included in either the 1972 levy determination or the amount of increase allowable.

Vetoed
in Part (b) In any city where the population has increased at a rate greater than the statewide rate of population growth, the amount of increase allowed ~~in par. (a)~~ may be further increased by an amount ~~equal to the 1972 per capita levy~~ multiplied by the difference between the actual city population increase and the amount by which the city's population would have increased if the city's population had increased at the statewide rate of population growth. Population growth shall be measured between the last 2 years for which the department of administration has population estimates at the time determinations of levy increases are made under this section by the department of revenue.

(c) In those cities having accepted the responsibility to administer programs, projects or services, theretofore administered by another governmental unit, the department of revenue shall increase the amount determined by par. (a) by an amount equal to the levy of the previous governmental unit to administer the program, project or services, plus any reduction in state or federal aids resulting from the transfer.

(d) In any city where the amount of levy increase determined under pars. (a) ~~to~~ ~~(c)~~ results in total available 1974 budget basic revenues, which is less than 106% of total 1973 budget basic revenues, the levy may be increased by such difference. Basic revenues are the total of all budgeted revenues or fund sources, including but not limited to, application of surplus funds, federal revenue sharing funds, fees, user charges and state shared taxes; but not including revenues from federal or state grants for matching fund or specifically requested programs, amounts budgeted for payment of principal and interest on debt and funds placed in equity or tax stabilization accounts. The secretary of revenue shall determine the amount of levy increase permitted by this paragraph. Such determination shall be made only for cities which file a request for such on forms prescribed by the department of revenue, ~~by August 20, 1973.~~ Vetoed in Part

(e) The amount of increase under par. (a) may be increased, where applicable, as provided in s. 66.033.

(f) The electors of any city may, by referendum at any time upon reasonable notice thereof as authorized by the city council, determine that this subsection or any part of this subsection shall not apply to the city.

SECTION 311. 65.07 (2) of the statutes is created to read:

65.07 (2) Taxes levied in the city in 1973 for 1974 budget purposes shall not increase in an amount greater than that specified in par. (a), unless modified under par. (b), (c), (d), (e) or (f).

(a) The department of revenue shall ~~by July 20, 1973,~~ determine the amount of levy increase allowable in the city, which determination shall be based on the following formula: the 1972 levy, as certified by the department of revenue shall be multiplied by the percentage of statewide growth in property valuation as estimated by the department for 1973. Special assessments, levies for the payment of principal and interest on debt and user charges shall not be included in either the 1972 levy determination or the amount of increase allowable. Vetoed in Part

(b) If the city population has increased at a rate greater than the statewide rate of population growth, the amount of increase allowed in ~~par. (a)~~ may be further increased by an amount ~~equal to the 1972 per capita levy~~ multiplied by the difference between the actual city population increase and the amount by which the city's population would have increased if the city's population had increased at the statewide rate of population growth. Population growth shall be measured between the last 2 years for which the department of administration has population estimates at the time determinations of levy increases are made under this section by the department of revenue. Vetoed in Part

(c) In those cities having accepted the responsibility to administer programs, projects or services, theretofore administered by another governmental unit, the department of revenue shall increase the amount determined by par. (a) by an amount equal to the levy of the previous governmental unit to administer the program, project or services, plus any reduction in state or federal aids resulting from the transfer.

(d) In any city where the amount of levy increase determined under pars. (a) ~~to~~ ~~(c)~~ results in total available 1974 budget basic revenues, which is less than 106% of total 1973 budget basic revenues, the levy may be increased by such difference. Basic revenues are the total of all budgeted revenues or fund sources, including but not limited to, application of surplus funds, federal revenue sharing funds, fees, user charges and state shared taxes; but not including revenues from federal or state grants for matching fund or specifically requested programs, amounts budgeted for payment Vetoed in Part

CHAPTER 90

324

Vetoed
in Part

of principal and interest on debt and funds placed in equity or tax stabilization accounts. The secretary of revenue shall determine the amount of levy increase permitted by this paragraph. Such determination shall be made only for cities which file a request for such on forms prescribed by the department of revenue, ~~by August 20, 1973.~~

(e) The amount of increase under par. (a) may be increased, where applicable, as provided in s. 66.033.

(f) The electors of the city may, by referendum at any time upon reasonable notice thereof as authorized by the city council, determine that this subsection or any part of this subsection shall not apply to the city.

SECTION 311b. 66.018 (5) of the statutes, as affected by chapter 37, laws of 1973, is amended to read:

66.018 (5) CERTIFICATION OF INCORPORATION. If a majority of the votes in an incorporation referendum are cast in favor of a village or city, the clerk of the circuit court shall certify the fact to the secretary of state and supply him with ~~5 copies a~~ copy of a description of the legal boundaries of the village or city and the associated population and ~~5 copies a copy~~ of a plat thereof, of which 2 copies of both shall be forwarded. Within 10 days of receipt of the description and plat, the secretary of state shall forward 2 copies to the highway commission, one copy to the department of administration ~~and~~ and one copy to the department of revenue and one copy to the department of local affairs and development. The secretary of state shall issue a certificate of incorporation and record the same.

SECTION 311e. 66.021 (8) (a) and (b) of the statutes, as affected by chapter 37, laws of 1973, is amended to read:

66.021 (8) (a) The clerk of a city or village which has annexed territory shall file immediately with the secretary of state ~~5 a certified copies copy of a the ordinance,~~ certificate and plat and one copy to each company that provides any utility service in area annexed plus one such copy with the register of deeds and one copy with the clerk of any affected school district, signed by the clerk, describing the territory which was annexed and the associated population. Failure to file shall not invalidate the annexation ~~but~~ and the duty to file shall be a continuing one. The information filed with the secretary of state shall be utilized in making recommendations for adjustments to entitlements under the federal revenue sharing program, distribution of funds under ch. 79 and computation necessary under s. 66.033. The clerk shall certify annually to the secretary of state and to the register of deeds a legal description of the total boundaries of the municipality as those boundaries existed on December 1, unless there has been no change in the 12 months preceding.

(b) ~~The~~ Within 10 days of receipt of the ordinance, certificate and plat, the secretary of state shall forward 2 copies of the ordinance, certificate and plat to the highway commission, one copy to the department of administration ~~and~~ and one copy to the department of revenue, one copy to the department of public instruction, one copy to the department of local affairs and development and 2 copies to the clerk of the municipality from which the territory was annexed.

SECTION 311h. 66.022 (5) of the statutes is created to read:

66.022 (5) The ordinance, certificate and plat shall be filed in the same manner as for annexations under s. 66.021 (8) (a). The requirements for the secretary of state shall be the same as in s. 66.021 (8) (b).

SECTION 311m. 66.025 of the statutes is amended to read:

66.025 Annexation of owned territory. In addition to other methods provided by law, territory owned by and lying near but not necessarily contiguous to a village or city may be annexed thereto by ordinance adopted by the board of trustees of such village or the council of such city, provided that in the case of noncontiguous territory the use of such territory by the city or village is not contrary to any town or county zoning regulation. Such ordinance shall contain the exact description of the territory annexed and the names of the town or towns from which detached, and shall operate to attach such territory to such village or city upon the filing of 4 5 certified copies thereof in the office of the secretary of state, together with 4 5 copies of a plat showing the boundaries of the territory attached. Two copies of the ordinance and plat shall be forwarded by the secretary of state to the highway commission ~~and~~, one copy to the department of revenue and one copy to the department of public instruction.

SECTION 311s. 66.03 (2) (a) and (2c) of the statutes are amended to read:

66.03 (2) (a) Except as otherwise provided in this section when territory is transferred, in any manner provided by law, from one municipality to another, there shall be assigned to such other municipality such proportion of the assets and liabilities of the first municipality as the assessed valuation of all taxable property in the territory transferred bears to the assessed valuation of all the taxable property of the entire municipality from which said territory is taken according to the last assessment roll of such municipality. The clerk of any municipality to which territory is transferred as aforesaid, within 30 days of the effective date of such transfer, shall certify to the clerk of the municipality from which such territory was transferred and to the clerk of the school district in which such territory is located a metes and bounds description of the land area involved and upon receipt of such description the clerk of the municipality from which such territory was transferred shall certify to the department of revenue and to the clerk of the school district in which such territory is located the latest assessed value of the real and personal property located within the transferred territory, and shall make such further reports as may be needed by the department of revenue in the performance of duties required by law.

(2c) SCHOOL DISTRICTS. When territory is transferred in any manner provided by law, from one school district to another school district, there shall be assigned to each school district involved such proportion of the assets and liabilities of the school districts involved as the equalized valuation of all taxable property in the territory transferred bears to the equalized valuation of all the taxable property of the school district from which said territory is taken, said equalized valuation to be made by the department of revenue upon application by the clerk of the school district or city to which the territory is transferred. The clerk of any school district or city to which territory is so transferred, within 30 days of the effective date of such transfer, shall certify to the clerk of the municipality from which such territory was transferred a metes and bounds description of the land area involved and upon receipt of such description the clerk of the municipality from which such territory was transferred shall certify to the department of revenue the latest assessed value of the real and personal property located within the transferred territory, and shall file one copy of the certification with the school district clerk and one copy with the department of public instruction, and shall make such further reports as are needed by the department of revenue in the performance of duties required by law.

SECTION 312. 66.033 of the statutes is created to read:

66.033 Property tax base determinations for tax levy purposes. (1) In cases of annexation, detachment of territory or incorporation in 1973, the department of local affairs and development shall establish a modified 1972 tax levy for each local unit of

CHAPTER 90

326

government involved to reflect the changes made by such annexation, detachment of territory or incorporation.

(2) The department of local affairs and development shall notify the department of revenue of any actions taken under sub. (1). In determining allowable increases in tax levies under ss. 60.175, 61.46 (3), 62.12 (4m) and 65.07 (2), the department of revenue shall use the modified 1972 tax levies as determined under sub. (1).

(3) In the case of consolidation of any local units of government, the permitted tax levy increase for the resulting unit shall be the total of the permitted tax levy increases for the component units.

SECTION 313. 70.02 of the statutes is amended to read:

70.02 Definition of general property. General property is all the taxable real and personal property defined in ss. 70.03 and 70.04 except that which is taxed under ss. 70.91 to 70.98 and chs. 76 and 77. General property includes manufacturing property subject to s. 70.995, but assessment of such property shall be made according to s. 70.995.

SECTION 313m. 70.04 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

70.04 (1) Personal property also includes toll bridges; private railroads and bridges; saw logs, timber and lumber, either upon land or afloat; steamboats, ships and other vessels, whether at home or abroad; ferry boats, including the franchise for running the same; ice cut and stored for use, sale or shipment; beginning May 1, 1974, manufacturing machinery and equipment as defined in s. 70.11 (27), and entire property of companies defined in s. 76.02 (8), located entirely within one taxation district.

SECTION 313s. 70.04 (3) of the statutes is created to read:

70.04 (3) Commencing with the May 1, 1977 assessment, merchants' stock-in-trade, manufacturers' materials and finished products and livestock shall be exempt from taxation under this chapter.

SECTION 314. 70.05 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

70.05 (1) The assessment of general property for taxation in all the towns, cities and villages of this state shall be made according to this chapter unless otherwise specifically provided. There shall be elected at the spring election one assessor for each taxation district not subject to assessment by a county assessor under s. 70.99 if election of the assessor is provided.

SECTION 315. 70.05 (3) of the statutes is created to read:

70.05 (3) The assessment of property of manufacturing establishments subject to assessment under s. 70.995 shall be made according to that section.

~~SECTION 316. 70.052 of the statutes is created to read:~~

Vetoed
in Part

~~70.052 Local assessment cost sharing. (1) Commencing with the year following certification under s. 73.03 (2) of an assessor of a town, village or city, the state shall pay the lesser of 50% of the actual cost of the operation of the town, village or city assessment system or 50% of the sum of two-tenths of one mill multiplied by the full value of a town, village or city and \$3.95 multiplied by the total number of all land parcels in the town, village or city (but in either case not including any expense of any town, village or city civil service examination, any examination given by the bureau of personnel, any expense of the town, village or city board of review or any expense of developing basic computer programs available from the state free of charge). The~~

town, village or city treasurer shall, on or before February 15 of the year following the first year in which the town, village or city assessment was conducted by a certified assessor, and every February 15 thereafter, certify to the department of revenue the expense of operating the town, village or city assessor system for the preceding calendar year and such other information as is necessary on forms prescribed by the department. When satisfied with the correctness of the information submitted, the department of revenue shall compute the state's share of the expense of operating the town, village or city assessor system and shall certify that amount to the department of administration for payment to the town, village or city under s. 20.566 (2) (c) not later than July 1. No town, village or city whose assessor system fails to meet one or more of the requirements in sub. (2) shall be eligible for any payment under this section.

~~(2) (a) 1. The department of revenue shall prescribe the due dates, the blanks and forms and the format of information transmitted by the town, village or city assessor to the department as to the assessment of property and such other information as may be needed in its work as well as the forms of assessment rolls, blanks, books and returns required for the assessment and collection of general property taxes by the town, village or city.~~

Vetoed
in Part

~~2. The department of revenue shall design and make available to any town, village or city, basic computer programs for the preparation of assessment rolls, tax rolls and tax receipts which are deemed necessary by the secretary of revenue to the utilization of automatic data processing in the administration of the property tax.~~

~~3. As a prerequisite to any payment under sub. (1) the town, village or city shall timely submit the information required by subd. 1 and upon such forms and in such format as are prescribed by subd. 1; and shall use the forms and assessment rolls, tax rolls, blanks, books and returns as are prescribed under subd. 1.~~

~~(b) The department of revenue shall prescribe minimum specifications for assessment maps. Any town, village or city whose assessment maps do not meet the department's specifications at the time of becoming eligible for payment under sub. (1) shall have 4 years from the first May 1 assessment date to bring its maps in conformance with the department's specifications. If a town, village or city fails to bring its maps in conformance with the department's specifications within the 4-year period, or fails to maintain them at that level thereafter, the town, village or city shall be ineligible to receive any payment under sub. (1).~~

~~(c) 1. The department of revenue shall determine the minimum number of staff required for each town, village or city assessor's office and the level of certification required for each position.~~

~~2. No town, village or city shall be eligible for any payment under sub. (1) unless the town, village or city assessor's office employs the minimum number of persons at the appropriate level of certification as determined by the department of revenue. Appraisal personnel of a town, village or city assessor's office who are on the staff at the time the assessor becomes certified under s. 73.03 (2) who are not certified must successfully pass an examination conducted by the bureau of personnel for the appropriate level of certification within 2 years to retain their positions. Appraisal personnel of a town, village or city assessor's office who are hired after a town, village or city becomes eligible for payment under sub. (1) without certification shall be considered at the appropriate level of certification for purposes of this paragraph during their first and second years of employment, and must successfully pass an examination conducted by the bureau of personnel for the appropriate level of certification within 2 years to retain their positions.~~

SECTION 317. 70.055 of the statutes is amended to read:

CHAPTER 90

328

70.055 Assessment emergency; expert help. Whenever the governing body of any town, village or city not subject to assessment by a county assessor under s. 70.99 determines that an emergency exists in the assessment of the property of the taxation district and deems it necessary, after consultation with ~~and approval by~~ the department of revenue, to employ expert ~~or additional clerical or other~~ help to aid in making an assessment in order that such assessment may be equitably made in compliance with law, such governing body may employ such necessary help ~~as is approved~~ currently certified by the department of revenue ~~and at such compensation as is likewise approved as an expert appraiser.~~ If the emergency help so employed is a corporation the corporation shall designate the persons in its employ responsible for the assessment. ~~No person shall be approved as an expert to aid in the making of an assessment for any taxation district unless such person is willing and able to use the Wisconsin property assessment manual as required by s. 73.03 (2a).~~

(1) (title) CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS. An applicant for certification as an expert appraiser shall submit satisfactory evidence to the department of revenue as follows:

(a) That he has acquired a thorough knowledge of appraisal techniques and general property assessment standards.

(b) That he through examination given by the department of revenue has demonstrated to the department that he possesses the necessary qualifications for certification of assessors as described in s. 73.03 (2). Conditional certification may be granted to any individual currently in the field of assessment administration. Such conditional certification shall expire 2 years after the effective date of this paragraph (1973). During the period of time of such conditional certification an individual shall qualify by examination.

(2) (title) REVOCATION OF CERTIFICATION. (a) The secretary of revenue or his designee may revoke the certification of any expert appraiser for the practice of any fraud or deceit in obtaining certification, or any negligence, incompetence or misconduct.

(b) Charges of fraud, deceit, negligence, incompetence or misconduct may be made against any expert appraiser by the department of revenue. Such charges shall be in writing, stating the specific acts, and submitted to the secretary of revenue. All charges shall be heard by the secretary within 3 months after their filing.

(c) The time and place for such hearing shall be fixed by the secretary of revenue and a copy of the charges, together with a notice of the time and place of hearing, shall be given by personal service or by registered letter with return receipt requested, mailed to the last-known address of such expert appraiser, at least 30 days before the hearing. The expert appraiser so charged shall have the right to appear personally and by counsel, to cross-examine witnesses appearing against him, and to produce evidence and witnesses in his own defense.

(d) If, after such hearing, the secretary of revenue determines that there is just cause for revocation, he shall revoke the certificate of registration of such expert appraiser and notify him to that effect. The expert appraiser shall return his certificate to the secretary of revenue immediately on receipt of such notice. The action of the secretary of revenue may be reviewed under ch. 227.

(e) The secretary of revenue, for reasons sufficient, may reinstate a certificate of registration that has been revoked, after one year upon formal application for reinstatement.

(3) (title) STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS. (a) The department of revenue shall prescribe standard specifications relating to assessment work performed by expert appraisers. No contract for expert help may be approved by the department of revenue unless such contract is submitted on standard contract forms prescribed by the department.

(4) (title) DUTIES. When appointed such expert help, together with the assessor, shall act together as an assessment board in exercising the powers and duties of the assessor during such employment, and the concurrence of a majority of such board is necessary to determine any matter upon which they are required to act. When a single expert is employed or a sole person is designated by a corporation employed as expert help the governing body may designate an employe of the department of revenue to serve as a member of such board. All persons appointed or designated as emergency help shall file the official oath under s. 19.01.

SECTION 318. 70.06 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

70.06 (1) In cities of the 1st class the assessment of property for taxation shall be under the direction of the city tax commissioner who shall perform such duties in relation thereto as are prescribed by the common council, and the assessment rolls of the city shall be made as the council directs, except where such city of the 1st class is under the jurisdiction of a county assessor under s. 70.99. Manufacturing property subject to s. 70.995 shall be assessed according to that section.

SECTION 319. 70.06 (5) of the statutes is created to read:

70.06 (5) This section shall not apply to a city of the 1st class after it has come under a county assessor system.

SECTION 320. 70.07 (7) of the statutes is created to read:

70.07 (7) This section shall not apply to a city of the 1st class after it has come under a county assessor system.

SECTION 321. 70.10 of the statutes is amended to read:

70.10 Assessment, when made, exemption. The assessor shall begin as soon as practicable after the April election, if he is elected at such election, otherwise as soon as practicable after January 1, to assess all the real and personal property as of the close of May 1 of each year. Except in cities of the ~~first~~ 1st class, such assessment shall be finally completed before the first Monday in July. All real property conveyed by condemnation or in any other manner to the state, any county, city, village or town by gift, purchase, tax deed or power of eminent domain before ~~the second day of May~~ 2 in such year shall not be included in such assessment. Assessment of manufacturing property subject to s. 70.995 shall be made according to that section.

SECTION 322. 70.11 (21) (a) of the statutes is amended to read:

70.11 (21) (a) All property purchased or constructed with the approval of the committee on water pollution, department of health and social services, a city council, a village board or county board pursuant to s. 59.07 (53) or (85), 1971 stats., for the purpose of abating or eliminating pollution of surface waters or the air, and all property purchased or constructed with the approval of the department of resource development or the department of natural resources for the purposes of abating or eliminating pollution of the air or waters of the state, but only air and water pollution abatement property associated with income producing property may be exempt under this provision.

SECTION 322m. 70.11 (27) of the statutes is created to read:

70.11 (27) MANUFACTURING MACHINERY AND SPECIFIC PROCESSING EQUIPMENT. Manufacturing machinery and specific processing equipment, exclusively and directly used by a manufacturer in manufacturing tangible personal property. In this section, "manufacturing machinery and specific processing equipment" means any combination of electrical, mechanical or chemical means, including special foundations therefor, designed to work together in the transformation of materials or substances into new articles or components, including parts therefor, regardless of ownership and regardless of attachment to real property. This shall not be construed to include materials, supplies, buildings or building components; nor shall it include equipment, tools or implements used to service or maintain manufacturing machinery or equipment. In this section "manufacturing" means the producing, assembling, fabricating, making or milling by machinery and equipment of a new article or components with a different form, use and name from existing materials by a process popularly regarded as manufacturing and as further defined in s. 70.995 (1) and (2). "Manufacturing" does not include generating, transforming, transmitting or furnishing electric current for light, heat or power; generating or furnishing steam or supplying hot water for heat, power or manufacturing purposes. The term also does not include generating and furnishing gas for lighting, fuel or both where the property involved is taxed under ch. 76. This section shall be effective with the May 1, 1974, assessment and thereafter.

SECTION 323. 70.113 of the statutes is amended to read:

70.113 (title) State aid to municipalities; aids in lieu of taxes. (1) As soon after April 20 of each year as is feasible the department of natural resources shall pay to the city, village, or town treasurer the sum of ~~30~~ 50 cents per acre as a grant out of the appropriation made by s. 20.370 (1) (dn), (2) (dn), ~~(3) (dn)~~ and (9) (vc) on each acre situated in the ~~town~~ municipality of state forest lands, as defined in s. 28.02 (1), state parks under s. 27.01 and state public shooting, trapping or fishing grounds and reserves or refuges operated thereon, acquired at any time under s. 23.09 (2) (d) ~~1 or 3~~, 29.10 (1943 stats.), 29.571 (1) or from the appropriations made by s. 20.866 (2) (tp) by the department of natural resources or leased from the federal government by the department of natural resources.

(2) (a) Towns, cities or villages shall be paid for forest lands as defined in s. 28.02 (1), state parks under s. 27.01 and other lands acquired under s. 23.09 (2) (d), 23.31 or 29.571 (1) located within such ~~town~~ municipality and acquired after June 30, 1969. Such payments shall be made from the appropriation under s. 20.370 (1) (dn), (2) (dn) or (3) (dn), or (9) (vc) and remitted by the department of natural resources in the amounts certified by the department of revenue according to par. (b). ~~No payment shall be made on real estate which was tax exempt prior to acquisition.~~

(b) Towns, cities or villages shall be paid aids in lieu of taxes for real estate specified in par. (a) ~~for a 10-year period~~. The first payment on an acquisition after July 1, 1969, shall be determined on the basis of the May 1 local assessment following such acquisition multiplied by the county, local and school tax rate levied against all May 1 assessments for that year. The payment to the town, city or village shall be made on or about April 20 following the tax levy. Subsequent payments shall be made on or before April 20 following the levy date according to the following schedule:

1. For the 2nd year, 90% of the first year's payment.
2. For the 3rd year, 80% of the first year's payment.
3. For the 4th year, 70% of the first year's payment.
4. For the 5th year, 60% of the first year's payment.
5. For the 6th year, 50% of the first year's payment.

6. For the 7th year, 40% of the first year's payment.
7. For the 8th year, 30% of the first year's payment.
8. For the 9th year, 20% of the first year's payment.
9. For the 10th year and every year thereafter, 10% of the first year's payment.

10. In no year shall the amounts paid under the 10-year schedule fall below 50 cents per acre.

(3) ~~Both the~~ The town, city or village authorized to receive payment under sub. (2) and the state may petition the department of revenue to review the assessment of the property upon which taxes were levied, such taxes now being the basis for payment under sub. (2). The petition to the department of revenue to review the assessment shall be due August 1 of the year to which the assessment complained of relates. The filing of the petition shall be considered timely if mailed in a properly addressed envelope with postage duly prepaid, which envelope is postmarked before midnight of August 1. In its review, the department of revenue shall determine if the assessment complained of is unreasonably out of proportion to the general average of the assessment of all other property in such taxation district, and if it finds the assessment high or low it shall lower or raise such assessment. The department of revenue shall make its determination not later than November 1 of the year in which the petition is received, and its decision shall be final and not subject to review.

SECTION 324. 70.118 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 325. 70.119 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

70.119 Payments for municipal services. (1) The state shall make reasonable payments at established rates for water, sewer and electrical services and all other services directly provided to state facilities by a municipality, including garbage and trash disposal and collection, which are financed in whole or in part by special charges or fees. Such payments shall be made from the appropriations to the various state departments and agencies for the operation of state facilities, and shall be annually reported to the department of administration.

(2) The state shall make reasonable payments for other municipal services as defined in sub. (3) (e) directly provided to state facilities by a municipality pursuant to the procedures specified in subs. (4), (5) and (6). Such payments shall be made from the appropriation under s. 20.855 (3) (a).

(3) In this section:

(a) "Board" means the board on government operations.

(b) "Department" means the department of administration.

(c) "Municipality" means cities, villages, towns, counties and metropolitan sewerage districts with general taxing authority.

(d) "Extraordinary police services" means those police services which are in addition to those being maintained for normal police service functions by the municipality involved and required because of an assemblage or activity which is, or threatens to become a riot, civil disturbance, mob violence or other similar circumstance.

(e) "Municipal services" means police and fire protection, extraordinary police services, garbage and trash disposal and collection not paid for under sub. (1) and,

subject to approval by the board, any other direct general government service provided to state facilities by municipalities.

(f) "State facilities" means all property owned and operated by the state for the purpose of carrying out usual state functions, including the branch campuses of the university of Wisconsin system but not including land held for highway right-of-way purposes.

(4) The department shall be responsible for negotiating with municipalities on payments for municipal services and may delegate certain responsibilities of negotiation to other state agencies. Prior to negotiating with municipalities the department shall submit guidelines for negotiation to the board for approval.

(5) Upon approval of guidelines by the board, the department shall proceed with negotiations. In no case may a municipality withhold services to the state during negotiations.

(6) The department shall report the results of its negotiations to the board at its December meeting and report the total payments to be made in the subsequent calendar year. Upon approval of the total payment by the board, the department may make payments to individual municipalities.

(7) If the appropriation for payments to municipalities under s. 20.855 (3) (a) is insufficient to pay the full amount under sub. (6) in any one year, the department shall prorate state payments among the municipalities entitled thereto.

(8) This section supersedes other statutes relating to payments for these municipal services.

SECTION 326. 70.32 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

70.32 (1) Real property shall be valued by the assessor in the manner specified in the Wisconsin property assessment manual provided under s. 73.03 (2a) from actual view or from the best information that the assessor can practicably obtain, at the full value which could ordinarily be obtained therefor at private sale. In determining the value the assessor shall consider, as to each piece, its advantage or disadvantage of location, quality of soil, quantity of standing timber, water privileges, mines, minerals, quarries, or other valuable deposits known to be available therein, and their value; but the fact that the extent and value of minerals or other valuable deposits in any parcel of land are unascertained shall not preclude the assessor from affixing to such parcel the value which could ordinarily be obtained therefor at private sale. If on the assessment date occurring in 1957 or in any year thereafter any person other than a governmental unit of Wisconsin owns real estate in which a Wisconsin governmental unit has retained mineral rights, timber rights or an easement or any similar interest in such real estate, the value of any such retained right shall be eliminated in determining the assessable value of such property, and such retained interest shall be excepted in the assessment description of such land and in any notice, tax certificate or tax deed following from any such assessment.

SECTION 327. 70.32 (3) of the statutes is created to read:

70.32 (3) Manufacturing property subject to assessment under s. 70.995 shall be assessed according to that section.

SECTION 328. 70.337 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

70.337 (1) (a) On or before May 1, ~~1972~~ 1973, and ~~annually~~ each fifth year thereafter, each person who, under any statute, claims a real property tax exemption, except an exemption for ~~highways and highway beds~~ rights-of-way, or makes a payment in lieu of taxes shall file with the assessor of the taxation district in which the property is located a report in duplicate, on forms prescribed and furnished by the ~~secretary~~ department of revenue. Such report shall contain the name and address of the owner of the property, the location or street address of the property and the legal description ~~thereof and parcel number thereof as shown on the assessment roll~~, the nature of the person owning the property, the uses made of the property ~~in the year preceding the due date of the report~~, the date of acquisition of the property, a description of any structures on the land comprising the property, the extent, if any, to which the property or any part thereof was rented out ~~in the year preceding the due date of the report~~.

(b) In the interim 4-year period between reports required in par. (a), an exemption report shall be filed within 90 days of the occurrence of any of the following:

1. Any change in the previously reported data.
2. A new exemption is granted.
3. Loss of exemption.

SECTION 329. 70.34 of the statutes is amended to read:

70.34 Personalty. All articles of personal property shall, as far as practicable, be valued by the assessor upon actual view at their true cash value; and after arriving at the total valuation of all articles of personal property which he shall be able to discover as belonging to any person, if he ~~have~~ has reason to believe that such person has other personal property or any other thing of value liable to taxation, he shall add to such aggregate valuation of personal property an amount which, in his judgment, will render such aggregate valuation a just and equitable valuation of all the personal property liable to taxation belonging to such person. In carrying out the duties imposed on him by this section, the assessor shall act in the manner specified in the Wisconsin property assessment manual provided under s. 73.03 (2a).

SECTION 330. 70.36 (3) of the statutes is amended to read:

70.36 (3) The word assessor whenever used in ~~sections ss.~~ 70.35 and 70.36 shall, in 1st class cities of the first class, be deemed to refer also to the tax commissioner of any such city and, where applicable, shall be deemed also to refer to the department of revenue responsible for the manufacturing property assessment under s. 70.995.

SECTION 331. 70.46 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

70.46 (1) Except as provided in s. 70.99, the supervisors and clerk of each town, the mayor, clerk and such other officers, other than assessors, as the common council of each city by ordinance determines, the president, clerk and such other officers, other than the assessor, as the board of trustees of each village by ordinance determines, shall constitute a board of review for such town, city or village. In cities of the 1st class the board of review shall, and in all other cities and villages it may, by ordinance in lieu of the foregoing consist of 5 residents of the city or village, none of whom shall occupy any public office or be publicly employed. The members shall be appointed by the mayor of the city or the village president with the approval of the common council or village board and shall hold office as members of the board for 5 years and until their successors are appointed and qualified, the first appointments to be for 1, 2, 3, 4

and 5 years, respectively. In cities and villages the common council or village board shall fix, by ordinance, the salaries of the members of the board of review. No board of review member hereunder may serve on a county board of review to review any assessment made by a county assessor unless appointed as provided in s. 70.99 (10).

SECTION 332. 70.47 (3) (c) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 333. 70.47 (7) (bb) of the statutes is created to read:

70.47 (7) (bb) Upon receipt of an objection with respect to the assessment rolls of taxation districts prepared by a county assessor the board of review as constituted under s. 70.99 (10) may direct such objection to be investigated by the county board of assessors if such board has been established under s. 70.99 (10m). If such objection has been investigated by the county board of assessors as provided by s. 70.99 (10m), the county board of review may adopt the determination of county board of assessors unless the objector requests or the board of review orders a hearing. At least 2 days' notice of the time fixed for such hearing shall be given to the objector or his attorney and to the corporation counsel. If the county board of review adopts the determination of the county board of assessors and no further hearing is held, the clerk of the board of review shall record the adoption in the minutes of the board and shall correct the assessment roll as provided by s. 70.48.

SECTION 334. 70.47 (10) (c) of the statutes is amended to read:

70.47 (10) (c) Subpoena such witnesses as it deems necessary to testify concerning the value of such property and, except in the case of an assessment made by a county assessor pursuant to s. 70.99, the expense incurred shall be a charge against the district.

SECTION 334m. 70.53 of the statutes is amended to read:

70.53 Statement of assessment and exemptions. Upon the correction of the assessment roll as provided in s. 70.52, the clerks shall prepare and, on or before the 2nd Monday in August, transmit to the supervisor of assessments for the taxation district a detailed statement of the aggregate of each of the several items of taxable property specified in s. 70.30, a detailed statement of each of the several classes of taxable real estate, entering land and improvements separately, as prescribed in s. 70.32 (2), the aggregate of all taxable property by elementary and high school district and by vocational, technical and adult education district, and a detailed statement of the aggregate of each of the several items of exempt real property as specified by the department of revenue, entering land and improvements separately. Failure to comply subjects the taxation district to the penalty provisions under s. 73.03 (5). The supervisor of assessments shall review and correct such statement and provide corrected copies to the county clerk with respect to the towns, cities and villages within each county, and to the secretary of revenue. Every county clerk shall, at the expense of the county, annually procure and furnish to each town, city and village clerk blanks for such statements, the form of which shall be prescribed by the department of revenue.

SECTION 335. 70.57 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

70.57 (1) The department of revenue before September 15 of each year shall complete the valuation of the property of each county, city, village and town of the state except that in counties having a county assessor system in which the county assessor is required under s. 70.99 (9m) to meet with the county board the value of each county, city, village and town shall be determined under sub. (4). From all the sources of information accessible to it the department shall determine and assess the

value of all property subject to general property taxation in each county, city, village and town. It shall set down a list of all the counties, cities, villages and towns, and opposite to the name of each county, city, village and town, the valuation thereof so determined by it, which shall be the full value according to its best judgment. There shall also be prepared a list of all the counties of the state, with opposite the name of each county the valuation thereof so determined, which shall be certified by the secretary of revenue as the assessment of the several counties of the state made by the department, and be delivered to the department of administration. In any case where the department, through mistake or inadvertence, has assessed to any county a greater or less valuation for any year than should have been assessed to such county, it shall correct such error by adding to or subtracting from (as the case may be) the valuation of such county as determined by it at the next succeeding county assessment, the amount omitted from or added to the true valuation of such county in the former county assessment in consequence of such error, and the result shall be taken as the full value of such county for the latter year and a final correction of such error.

SECTION 336. 70:57 (4) of the statutes is created to read:

70:57 (4) The full value of all property subject to general property taxation as required in sub. (1) for counties having a county assessor system shall be determined by the department of revenue as follows:

(a) The full value of the taxable property in the county without regard to municipal boundaries shall be established for each class of property.

(b) The full value of the taxable property in the county in all classes shall be totaled and become the full value of all taxable property within that county.

(c) The full value of taxable property in each city, village and town within the county shall be the same percentage of the county's full value that its assessed value as fixed under s. 70.61 is of the total value determined under s. 70.61.

SECTION 337. 70.61 of the statutes is amended to read:

70.61 Assessment of taxation districts. The county equalization committee shall, after its meeting with the supervisor of assessments as provided in s. 73.05 or with the county assessor under s. 70.99 (9m), submit its recommendations with respect to the determination of valuation figures required for the apportionment of taxes by the county clerk, together with such supporting data as it deems proper, to the county board of supervisors. The board shall carefully examine such recommended valuation figures and determine and assess the value of all taxable property in each town, city and village within the county and in the metropolitan drainage area as created by s. 59.96. The values so determined shall be the full values according to the best judgment of the board and shall be known thereafter as the valuations determined by the county board pursuant to s. 70.61.

SECTION 337m. 70.62 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

70.62 (1) COUNTY BOARD TO DETERMINE. The county board shall also, at such meeting, determine by resolution the amount of taxes to be levied in their county for the year, ~~and also the amount to be raised by tax in each city, town and village for the support of common schools for the ensuing year, in accordance with s. 59.07 (21).~~

SECTION 338. 70.62 (2) (b) of the statutes is amended to read:

70.62 (2) (b) This limitation shall not apply to any taxes levied to pay the principal and interest upon any valid bonds or notes of the county now outstanding or

hereafter issued or to any taxes levied to pay expenses resulting from performance of functions which prior to January 1, 1973, were the responsibility of municipalities of the county;

SECTION 339. 70.62 (4) of the statutes is created to read:

70.62 (4) LIMITATION ON 1973 LEVY. Taxes levied in any county in 1973 for 1974 budget purposes shall not increase in an amount greater than that specified in par. (a), unless modified under par. (b), (c), (d) or (e).

Vetoed
in Part

(a) The department of revenue shall ~~by July 20, 1973,~~ determine the amount of levy increase allowable in each county, which determination shall be based on the following formula: the 1972 levy, less that portion of the levy for public assistance expenditures transferred to the state under ch. _____, laws of 1973 (this act), as certified by the department of revenue shall be multiplied by the percentage of statewide growth in property valuation as estimated by the department for 1973. Special assessments, levies for the payment of principal and interest on debt and user charges shall not be included in either the 1972 levy determination or the amount of increase allowable.

Vetoed
in Part

(b) In any county where the population has increased at a rate greater than the statewide rate of population growth, the amount of increase allowed ~~in par. (a)~~ may be further increased by an amount ~~equal to the 1972 per capita levy~~ multiplied by the difference between the actual county population increase and the amount by which the county's population would have increased if the county's population had increased at the statewide rate of population growth. Population growth shall be measured between the last 2 years for which the department of administration has population estimates at the time determinations of levy increases are made under this section by the department of revenue.

(c) In those counties having accepted the responsibility to administer programs, projects or services, theretofore administered by another governmental unit, the department of revenue shall increase the amount determined in par. (a) by an amount equal to the levy of the previous governmental unit to administer the program, project or service, plus any reduction in state or federal aids resulting from the transfer.

Vetoed
in Part

(d) In any county where the amount of levy increase determined under par. (a) ~~if~~ results in total available 1974 budget basic revenues, which is less than 106% of total 1973 budget basic revenues, less that portion of the 1973 revenues expended for public assistance expenditures transferred to the state under ch. _____, laws of 1973 (this act), the levy may be increased by such difference. Basic revenues are the total of all budgeted revenues or fund sources, including but not limited to, application of surplus funds, federal revenue sharing funds, fees, user charges and state shared taxes; but not including revenues from federal or state grants for matching fund or specifically requested programs, amounts budgeted for payment of principal and interest on debt and funds placed in equity or tax stabilization accounts. The secretary of revenue shall determine the amount of levy increase permitted by this paragraph. Such determination shall be made only for counties which file a request for such on forms prescribed by the department of revenue, ~~by August 20, 1973.~~

Vetoed
in Part

(e) The electors of any county may, by referendum at any time upon reasonable notice thereof as authorized by the county board, determine that this subsection or any part of this subsection shall not apply to the county.

SECTION 339m. 70.63 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

70.63 (1) BY COUNTY CLERK. The county clerk shall apportion the county tax, ~~including the tax for the support of common schools as provided for in s. 59.07 (21),~~ and the whole amount of state taxes and charges levied upon his county, as certified by the department of administration, among the several towns, cities and villages of the county, according and in proportion to the valuation thereof as determined by the county board; and shall carry out in the record book, opposite the name of each in separate columns, the amount of state taxes and charges and the amount of county taxes so apportioned thereto, and the amount of all other special taxes or charges apportioned or ordered, or which he is required by law to make in any year to any such town, city or village, to be collected with such annual taxes; and within 10 days after the assessment of values by the county board he shall certify to the clerk of, and charge to each town, city and village, except in cities of the 1st class, the amount of all such taxes so apportioned to and levied upon the same, and shall, at the same time, file with the county treasurer a certified copy of the apportionment so certified by him to each town, village and city clerk.

SECTION 340. 70.64 (6) of the statutes is amended to read:

70.64 (6) As soon as practicable, the commission shall set a time and place for preliminary hearing of such appeal. At least 10 days before the time set for such hearing, the commission shall cause notice thereof to be mailed by certified mail to the county clerk and to the attorney or the clerk of each town, city and village in whose behalf an appearance has been entered in the matter of such appeal, and to the clerk of each town, city or village which has not appeared, and mail a like notice to the clerk of the taxation district taking such appeal and to the department of revenue. The department of revenue shall be prepared to present to the commission at such time during the course of the hearings as the commission requires, the full value of all property subject to general property taxation in each town, village and city of the county, as determined by the department according to s. 70.57 (1) or in the case of a complaint by a taxation district under a county assessor such information as the department has in its possession. Said hearing may be adjourned, in the discretion of the tax appeals commission, as often and to such times and places as may be necessary in order to determine the facts. If satisfied that no substantial injustice has been done in the taxation district assessment appealed from, the commission in its discretion may dismiss such appeal. If satisfied that substantial injustice has been done in the taxation district assessment, the commission shall determine to revalue any or all of the taxation districts in the county, which it deems necessary, in a manner which in its judgment is best calculated to secure substantial justice.

SECTION 340m. 70.66 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

70.66 (1) BY TOWN AND VILLAGE CLERKS. Upon receipt of the certificate of the apportionment from the county clerk each town and village clerk in counties containing a population of more than 300,000 shall, upon a uniform percentage, calculate and carry out in one item opposite to each valuation in the tax roll the amount required to be raised upon such valuation to realize in his town the whole amount of state, county, school and other taxes so certified, ~~provided that the tax levied pursuant to s. 59.07 (21) (a) shall be shown separately from all other county taxes in a column designated as "county school tax levied under s. 59.07 (21) (a), statutes",~~ together with such town and other local taxes, except taxes to pay judgments, as are to be levied uniformly upon all the taxable property in the town; and all other taxes, if any, including taxes to pay judgments, in separate column opposite the valuation of the property to be charged.

CHAPTER 90

338

SECTION 341. 70.75 (1) of the statutes is renumbered 70.75 (1) (a).

SECTION 342. 70.75 (1) (b) and (5) of the statutes are created to read:

70.75 (1) (b) All assessment personnel appointed under this section in 1974 and thereafter shall have passed an examination and have been certified by the department of revenue as qualified for performing the functions of his office. Any person appointed under par. (a) or sub. (3) shall be certified as an expert appraiser as provided in s. 70.055 (1).

(5) DEFINITIONS. In this section, for those taxation districts that are under a county assessor system, the terms "local assessor" and "board of review" include the county assessor and the county board of review, respectively.

SECTION 343. 70.75 (4) of the statutes is amended to read:

70.75 (4) COSTS. All costs of the department of revenue in connection with ~~the hearing, investigation and ordering~~ reassessment or special supervision under this section shall be borne by the taxation district.

SECTION 344. 70.85 of the statutes is renumbered 70.85 (1) and amended to read:

70.85 (1) Whenever it appears to the satisfaction of the department of revenue, on a written complaint filed with the department within 20 days after the adjournment of the board of review for any taxation district, that the assessment of one or more descriptions or classes of property in such taxation district, the aggregate assessment of which does not exceed 10% of the assessment of all property therein, is radically out of proportion to the general average of the assessment of all other property in such district and the same can be satisfactorily corrected without a reassessment of the entire district, the department of revenue may revalue such property and equalize the assessment without the intervention of a board of review, at any time before November 1 of the year in which such assessment is made. The valuation so fixed by the department shall be substituted for the original valuation in the assessment and tax rolls and taxes computed and paid thereon accordingly. No assessment shall be raised except on the written complaint of 3 or more taxpayers and only if the party to whom the property is assessed has been duly notified of such intention in time to appear and be heard before, or file his objections with, the department in relation thereto. ~~All the costs related to the department's revaluation shall be borne by the taxation district.~~ Appeal from the determination of the department shall be by writ of certiorari to the circuit court of the county in which the property is located and shall be placed at the head of the circuit court calendar for an early hearing.

SECTION 345. 70.85 (2) and (3) of the statutes are created to read:

70.85 (2) In this section, for those taxation districts that are under a county assessor system, the term "local assessor" includes the county assessor and the term "board of review" includes the county board of review.

(3) A filing fee in the amount of \$25 shall be required and submitted with any complaint filed with the department under this section. All the costs related to the department's revaluation, less the filing fee paid by the complainant shall be borne by the taxation district.

SECTION 346. 70.99 (1) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

70.99 (1) A county assessor system may be established for any county by passage of a resolution or ordinance adopting such a system by an approving vote of 60% of the entire membership of the county board. After passage of such enabling resolution or

ordinance by the county board, the county executive, or the county administrator, or the chairman of the county board with approval of the county board, shall appoint a county assessor from a list of candidates provided by the department of revenue that have passed an examination and have been certified by the department of revenue as qualified for performing the functions of his office. All deputies and assistant assessors selected by the county assessor shall within 2 years of the date of employment be certified by the department of revenue. Certification shall be granted to all persons demonstrating proficiency by passing an examination administered by the department. The persons selected for such listing shall first have been given a comprehensive examination, approved by the department of revenue, relating to the work of county assessor. A person appointed as county assessor shall thereafter have permanent tenure, after successfully serving the probationary period in effect in such county, and may be removed or suspended only for the reasons named in s. 17.14 (1) or for such cause as would sustain the suspension or removal of a state employe under state civil service rules. If employes of a county are under a county civil service program, the county assessor may, and any person appointed as a member of his staff shall, be incorporated into such county civil service program but tenure is dependent on the foregoing provision.

SECTION 346m. 70.99 (3) and (10) of the statutes are amended to read:

70.99 (3) (a) The state bureau of personnel shall recommend a reasonable salary range for the county assessor for each county based upon pay for comparable work or qualifications in such county. If by contractual agreement under s. 66.30 two or more counties join to employ one county assessor with the approval of the secretary of revenue, the bureau of personnel shall recommend a reasonable salary range for the county assessor under such agreement. The department of revenue shall assist the county in establishing the budget for county assessor's offices, including the number of personnel and their qualifications, based on the anticipated work load. ~~The county assessor may hire without prior examination any person, who was a town, village or city assessor but shall give preference to assessors with 8 or more years of assessment work experience; or, he may so hire any person that was on the assessing staff including clerical staff of any such town, village or city assessor giving preference to assessing staff persons with 8 or more years of clerical or assessment work experience; or, he may so hire state supervisors of assessments including deputy supervisors of assessments. Any other person must pass an examination given by the bureau of personnel before the person can be employed by the county assessor.~~

(b) The department of revenue shall establish levels of proficiency for all appraisal personnel to be employed in offices of county assessors. The bureau of personnel shall conduct examinations for each such level of proficiency and, at the request of any county assessor, shall supply him with the names and addresses of all persons who have passed an examination with respect thereto. The county assessor shall select a person from such certified list of persons for the particular position.

(c) The county assessor may hire without prior examination any person who was a town, village or city assessor; was on the assessing staff of any such town, village or city; or was a state supervisor of assessments or deputy supervisor of assessments. Any other appraisal personnel may be hired without examination only if the bureau of personnel has no one on its list of persons having passed the examination for that level of proficiency, or if all persons on such list reject the position offered or fail to respond

thereto. All persons appraisal personnel on the staff of a county assessor that were have been hired under the "without prior examination" provisions without prior examination must successfully pass a civil service an examination conducted by the state bureau of personnel for that level of proficiency within 3 2 years after employment to retain their position on the staff of the county assessor unless they were previously under civil service in which case they may be retained. Any person who successfully passes such civil service examination shall thereafter have indefinite tenure of the same kind as that provided for the county assessor in sub. (1).

(10) There shall be one board of review for each county under the county assessor system. The board of review in any county having a county executive shall be appointed by the county executive from the cities or villages or towns under the county assessor. The board of review of all other counties shall be appointed by the chairman of the county board from the tax districts under the county assessor. County board of review appointments in all counties shall be subject to approval by the county board. The board of review shall have 5 members, no more than 2 of whom shall reside in the same city, town or village, and shall hold office as members of said board for 5 years and until their successors are appointed and qualified. The first appointments shall be for 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 years, respectively. In counties other than Milwaukee county at least one member shall be from a town. The compensation and reimbursement of expenses of members of the board of review shall be fixed by the county board and shall be borne by the tax district served by the board of taxation county. Each such board of review shall appoint one of its members present at the hearing as clerk and such clerk shall keep an accurate record of its proceedings. One or more members may conduct a board of review but the decision shall be made from the record by a majority of the board. Where one member conducts the board of review he shall also be the clerk. The provisions of s. 70.47, not in conflict with this section, shall be applicable to procedure for review of assessments by county boards of review and to appeals from determinations of county boards of review.

SECTION 347. 70.99 (9m), (10m), (10p), (12) and (13) of the statutes are created to read:

70.99 (9m) The county assessor shall meet with the equalization committee of the county board not later than the first Monday in October each year, commencing with the first Monday of the second October following the establishment of the county assessor system pursuant to 5 days' notice by the county clerk of the time and place of such meeting mailed to the clerk of each town, city and village in the county. He shall furnish all such information and statistics as he may have concerning the value and assessment of property in each taxation district to the committee to be used in determining the relative value of all taxable property in each taxation district in the county. If the county assessor has not completed his first independent valuation of all property in the county, the county board may request the department of revenue to meet with it pursuant to s. 73.05 (4), in which event the county assessor need not meet with the county board under this section.

(10m) The county board may by resolution establish a county board of assessors, which board shall be comprised of the county assessor or the deputy county assessor and such other members of the county assessor's staff as the county assessor annually

designates. If so established the county board of assessors shall investigate any objection referred to it by direction of the county board of review. The county board of assessors shall, after having made the investigation notify the person assessed or his agent of its determination by first class mail, and a copy of such determination shall be transmitted to the county board of review. The person assessed having been notified of the determination of the county board of assessors shall be deemed to have accepted such determination unless he notifies the county assessor in writing, within 10 days, of his desire to present testimony before the county board of review.

(10p) In counties that enter into a compact for a county assessor system, the board of review shall consist of 2 members appointed by each county with one additional member appointed by the county having the greatest full value.

(12) Under a county assessor system, beginning with calendar year 1974 and each year thereafter, the state shall pay the lesser of 75% of the actual cost of the operation of the county assessment system or 75% of the sum of two-tenths of one mill multiplied by the full value of a county and \$3.95 multiplied by the total number of all land parcels in the county (but in either case not including any expense of any municipal civil service examination, any examination given by the bureau of personnel, any expense of the municipal board of review or any expense of developing basic computer programs available from the state free of charge). The county treasurer shall, on or before February 15, 1975, and every February 15 thereafter, certify to the department of revenue the expense of operating the county assessor system for the preceding calendar year and such other information as is necessary on forms prescribed by the department. When satisfied with the correctness of the information submitted and after verifying the county's compliance with sub. (13), the department of revenue shall compute the state's share of the expense of operating the county assessor system and shall certify that amount to the department of administration for payment to the county under s. 20.566 (2) (d) not later than July 1. No county whose county assessor system fails to meet one or more of the requirements in sub. (13) shall be eligible for any payment under this section.

(13) (a) 1. The department of revenue shall prescribe the due dates, the blanks and forms and the format of information transmitted by the county assessor to the department as to the assessment of property and such other information as may be needed in its work as well as the forms of assessment rolls, blanks, books and returns required for the assessment and collection of general property taxes by county.

2. The department of revenue shall design and make available to any county, basic computer programs for the preparation of assessment rolls, tax rolls and tax receipts which are deemed necessary by the secretary of revenue to the utilization of automatic data processing in the administration of the property tax.

3. As a prerequisite to any payment under sub. (12) the county shall timely submit the information required by subd. 1 and upon such forms and in such format as are prescribed by subd. 1; and shall use the forms of assessment rolls, tax rolls, blanks, books and returns as are prescribed under subd. 1.

(b) The department of revenue shall prescribe minimum specifications for assessment maps. Any county whose assessment maps do not meet the department's specifications at the time of converting to the county assessment system shall have 4 years from the first countywide May 1 assessment date to bring its maps in conformance with the department's specifications. If a county fails to bring its maps in conformance with the department's specifications within the 4-year period, or fails to maintain them at that level thereafter, the county shall be ineligible to receive any payment under sub. (12).

CHAPTER 90

342

(c) 1. The department of revenue shall determine the minimum number of staff required for each county assessor's office and the level of certification under sub. (3) required for each position.

2. No county shall be eligible for any payment under sub. (12) unless the county assessor's office employs the minimum number of persons at the appropriate level of certification as determined by the department of revenue. Employees of a county assessor's office that are hired without certification according to sub. (3) (c) shall be considered at the appropriate level of certification for purposes of this paragraph during their first and second years of employment.

(d) In order to effect the orderly transition of local property assessment to the county assessor system, as soon as practicable after the effective date of the resolution or ordinance adopting such system, all assessment records, books, maps, aerial photographs, appraisal cards and any other data currently in the possession of any town, village or city shall be made available to and become the property of the county assessor.

SECTION 348. 70.995 of the statutes is created to read:

70.995 State assessment of manufacturing property. (1) **APPLICABILITY.** (a) In this section "manufacturing property" includes all lands, buildings, structures and other real property used or, if vacant, designed for use in manufacturing, assembling, processing, fabricating, making or milling tangible personal property for profit. Manufacturing property also includes warehouses, storage facilities and office structures when the predominant use of such warehouses, storage facilities or offices is in support of the manufacturing property, and all personal property owned or used by any person engaged in this state in any of the activities mentioned, and used in such activity, including raw materials, supplies, machinery, equipment, work in process and finished inventory when located at the site of such activity. Establishments engaged in assembling component parts of manufactured products are considered manufacturing establishments if the new product is neither a structure nor other fixed improvement. Materials processed by a manufacturing establishment include products of agriculture, forestry, fishing, mining and quarrying.

(b) Materials used by a manufacturing establishment may be purchased directly from producers, obtained through customary trade channels or secured without recourse to the market by transfer from one establishment to another under the same ownership. Manufacturing production is usually carried on for the wholesale market, for interplant transfer or to order for industrial users rather than for direct sale to a domestic consumer.

(c) Manufacturing shall not include the following agricultural activities:

1. Processing on farms if the raw materials are grown on the farm.
2. Custom gristmilling.
3. Threshing and cotton ginning.

(d) Establishments engaged in the following operations are not engaged in manufacturing for the purposes of this section:

1. Assembling, grading and preparing fruits and vegetables for market.
2. Shelling and roasting nuts.
3. Custom tailoring or clothing alteration work.

4. The operation of bakeries, candy kitchens, meat markets, ice cream shops, popcorn stands and similar units in which products are made or produced such as bakery goods, candy, sausage and soft ice cream, but a substantial percentage of which are sold at or adjacent to the place where produced.

5. Restaurants, hamburger stands, snack bars, taverns, bars, caterers' establishments and similar places where food is prepared for quick consumption and not for storage.

6. Farming, including the cleaning, grading, storing, cooling or packaging of farm products on or adjacent to the farm premises.

7. The mixing of cement, concrete or other products in mixers mounted on trucks.

8. The hatching or raising of chickens or other poultry or the breeding or raising of animals for food, clothing or adornment, or the raising of fish, in connection with or as a part of the operations of any farm or fur farm.

9. Any activity listed in par. (a) when undertaken in or on property which is essentially residential or mercantile or some combination thereof, or which activity is undertaken as a hobby or which activity is not substantial in relation to the other uses made of property where conducted.

10. The construction or fabrication of buildings or structures or components thereof in real property construction activities at or adjacent to the job site.

11. Logging.

12. The operation of any grain elevator.

13. The cutting or beveling of glass or the making of mirrors when not conducted at the place of glass manufacture.

14. The cutting or storage of natural ice.

15. The collecting, handling or processing of junk at junk yards.

16. The operation of any low-grade iron ore facility taxable under ss. 70.91 to 70.97.

17. The recapping of pneumatic tires.

18. The operation of paving machines.

19. The operation of recording studios.

20. The putting of additives into gasoline or other petroleum products at places other than refineries.

21. The painting of pictures or the performance of other art work by persons holding themselves out to be artists, sculptors, etchers or engaged in similar art work.

22. Drafting, designing and other work associated with the profession of architecture.

23. Conducting office activities at facilities not a part of or contiguous to associated facilities used for manufacturing, assembling, processing, fabricating, making or milling of tangible personal property.

24. The production of any product through the operation of a coin operated machine or facility.

25. Drying tobacco or other items by natural means.

CHAPTER 90

344

26. Carrying on photographic activities including developing, printing and enlarging of pictures.

27. The grinding of optical lenses, the performance of dental laboratory work and the making of blueprints.

28. The growing of timber.

(2) FURTHER CLASSIFICATION. In addition to the criteria set forth in sub. (1), to be classified as manufacturing property and eligible for assessment under this section, the property must be included in one of the following major group classifications set forth in the standard industrial classification manual, 1972 edition, published by the U.S. printing office:

(a) 10 -- Metal mining.

(b) 14 -- Mining and quarrying of nonmetallic minerals, except fuels.

(c) 20 -- Food and kindred products.

(d) 21 -- Tobacco manufacturers.

(e) 22 -- Textile mill products.

(f) 23 -- Apparel and other finished products made from fabrics and similar materials.

(g) 24 -- Lumber and wood products, except furniture.

(h) 25 -- Furniture and fixtures.

(i) 26 -- Paper and allied products.

(j) 27 -- Printing, publishing and allied industries.

(k) 28 -- Chemicals and allied products.

(L) 29 -- Petroleum refining and related industries.

(m) 30 -- Rubber and miscellaneous plastic products.

(n) 31 -- Leather and leather products.

(o) 32 -- Stone, clay, glass and concrete products.

(p) 33 -- Primary metal industries.

(q) 34 -- Fabricated metal products, machinery and transportation equipment.

(r) 35 -- Machinery, except electrical.

(s) 36 -- Electrical and electronic machinery, equipment and supplies.

(t) 37 -- Transportation equipment.

(u) 38 -- Measuring, analyzing and controlling instruments; photographic, medical and optical goods; watches and clocks.

(v) 39 -- Miscellaneous manufacturing industries.

(3) For purposes of subs. (1) and (2) "manufacturing, assembling, processing, fabricating, making or milling" includes the entire productive process and includes such activities as the storage of raw materials, the movement thereof to the first operation thereon, and the packaging, bottling, crating or similar preparation of products for shipment.

(4) Whenever real property or tangible personal property is used for one, or some combination, of the processes mentioned in sub. (3) and also for other purposes, the department of revenue, if satisfied that there is substantial use in one or some combination of such processes, may assess the property under this section. For all purposes of this section the department of revenue shall have sole discretion for the determination of what is substantial use and what description of real property or what unit of tangible personal property shall constitute "the property" to be included for assessment purposes, and, in connection herewith, the department may include in a real property unit, real property owned by different persons. In those specific instances where a portion of a description of real property includes manufacturing property rented or leased and operated by a separate person which does not satisfy the substantial use qualification for the entire property, the local assessor shall assess the entire real property description and all personal property not exempt under s. 70.11 (27). The manufacturing machinery and equipment shall be valued by the department of revenue under sub. (7) (c) and shall qualify for exemption under s. 70.11 (27). The applicable portions of the standard manufacturing property report form under sub. (12) as they relate to manufacturing machinery and equipment shall be submitted by such person.

(5) Commencing January 1, 1974, and annually thereafter, the department of revenue shall assess all property of manufacturing establishments included under subs. (1) and (2) as of the close of May 1 of each year.

(6) Prior to May 1 of each year the department of revenue shall notify each municipal assessor of the manufacturing property within the taxation district that will be assessed by the department during the current assessment year.

(7) (a) Each manufacturing property assessed by the department of revenue shall be entered on a state manufacturing property assessment roll for each municipality that has manufacturing property as set forth in subs. (1) and (2). Upon completion of the assessment roll, it shall be delivered to the district board of review under sub. (8).

(am) The department of revenue shall publish individual manufacturing property assessed values in each appropriate local official newspaper.

(b) In making the May 1, 1974, manufacturing property assessment of any city, village or town, the department of revenue shall equalize the assessment of all manufacturing property within each city, village or town. Thereafter, the department of revenue shall revalue each year as many taxation districts as the available staff will permit so as to bring and maintain each property assessment within such taxation district at full value pursuant to ss. 70.32 (1) and 70.34. The department of revenue shall proceed with such work so as to complete and maintain the revaluation of all manufacturing property in the state every 4 years.

(c) In addition to assessing all taxable manufacturing property the department of revenue shall also in making the May 1, 1974, assessment value all machinery and specific processing equipment exempt under s. 70.11 (27). At the time the manufacturing assessment roll is delivered to the municipal clerks under sub. (8) (c) the department shall furnish an abstract of valuations of such exempt property so determined and shall show:

1. The name and address of the person owning such property.
2. The full value of the machinery or specific processing equipment owned by such person.

3. The value of the machinery or specific processing equipment equated to the general level of assessment of all other property within the taxation district in the same manner as provided for taxable manufacturing property under sub. (8) (c).

(d) To determine the amount and value of any machinery and specific processing equipment exempt under s. 70.11 (27) any person owning such property shall report the amount and value of such property on schedules prescribed by the department of revenue and shall be included with the standard manufacturing report form required under sub. (12). If any person, including an officer of a corporation, required by law to make, file, render, sign or verify said schedules wilfully overstates the amount or value of any manufacturing machinery or specific processing equipment exempt under s. 70.11 (27), such person may be fined not more than \$500 or imprisoned not more than 6 months or both. Such person shall also be required to pay the cost of prosecution. In addition, such person shall be required to pay to the department of revenue the taxes due for the amount of such overstatement together with interest at the rate of one percent per month or fraction thereof from January 1, 1975, to the date the overstatement is discovered by the department of revenue.

(8) (a) For purposes hereof, the secretary of revenue shall divide the state, by counties, into 5 board of review districts, and, with respect to any such district in which the department of revenue assesses the property described in subs. (1) and (2), shall establish a 5-member district board of review and shall designate 2 of the members thereof as chairman and secretary, respectively. The member shall be appointed for staggered 5-year terms. Such district board of review shall function in respect of such property in lieu of the local board of review or the board of review provided for cities of the 1st class, as provided for in ss. 70.46 to 70.48, and such local boards of review shall be without jurisdiction to review assessments of such property. District boards of review, so appointed, shall, with respect to such property, have all the authority and responsibility as provided by law for local boards of review or boards of review for cities of the 1st class and, except where clearly inconsistent herewith, all the provisions of law applicable to either type board of review shall apply to such district boards of review with the same force and effect as though set out herein. The secretary of revenue shall establish a reasonable per diem for work performed by the members of such district boards of review and they shall also be entitled to travel expenses as provided for state employees. Per diem and travel claims shall be approved by the secretary of revenue and audited by the department of administration prior to payment by the state treasurer and shall be charged to the appropriation to the department of revenue for general property tax administration.

(b) The secretary of revenue shall establish a state board of assessors, which board shall be comprised of the assessor of manufacturing property and such other members of the department of revenue as the secretary of revenue designates. The state board of assessors shall investigate any objection referred to it by direction of a board of review. The state board of assessors shall, after having made the investigation, notify the person assessed or his agent of its determination by 1st class mail, and a copy of such determination shall be transmitted to the district board of review. The person assessed having been notified of the determination of the state board of assessors shall be deemed to have accepted such determination unless he notifies the assessor of manufacturing property in writing, within 10 days of his desire to present testimony before the district board of review.

(c) Upon completion of the board of review, the department of revenue shall be responsible for equating all full-value manufacturing property assessments entered in the manufacturing property assessment roll to the general level of assessment of all other property within the individual taxation district. Thereafter, the manufacturing

property assessment roll shall be delivered to the municipal clerk and annexed to the municipal assessment roll containing all other property.

(9) The assessment of property by the department of revenue pursuant hereto, after review by the appropriate district board of review, may be appealed by writ of certiorari to the circuit court for the county in which located and the assessment of such property shall be defended by the attorney general. No such assessment may be reviewed in a proceeding under s. 70.75 (3) or s. 70.85 but such assessments may be reviewed in reassessment proceedings under s. 70.75 (1).

(10) The personnel of the department of revenue making the assessment of any property pursuant to this section shall be deemed "the assessor" for purposes of any district board of review proceeding.

(11) If any county appoints a county assessor under s. 70.99, the department of revenue shall nevertheless assess the property described in subs. (1) and (2) and shall continue to assess such property when required by this section, and the notice to the municipal assessor required by sub. (6) shall, in such case be made directly to the county assessor.

(12) The department of revenue shall prescribe a standard manufacturing property report form to be submitted annually on or before May 25 by all manufacturers included in a classification specified in sub. (2). The report shall contain all information deemed necessary by the department and shall include, without limitation, income and operating statements, fixed asset schedules and a report of new construction or demolition. Submission of the report shall be mandatory and failure to submit the report shall result in denial of any right of abatement by the board of review. If any real or personal property is intentionally or inadvertently omitted or understated during the period between field reviews as specified in sub. (7) (b) and as reported on the standard manufacturing report form, the value of the omitted or understated property shall be entered by the assessor once additionally for each previous year of such omission or understatement designating each such additional entry as omitted or understated for the year 19— (giving year of omission or understatement) and affixing a just valuation to each entry for a former year as the same should have been assessed according to his best judgment, and taxes shall be apportioned and collected on the tax roll for such entry.

(13) In the sections of this chapter relating to assessment of property, when the property involved is a manufacturing property subject to assessment under this section, the terms "local assessor" or "assessor" shall be deemed to refer also to the department of revenue and the term "board of review" shall be deemed to refer to the board of review established under this section.

(14) In order to effect the orderly transition of the local assessment of manufacturing property to the state assessment of manufacturing property, as soon as practicable after the effective date of this act (1973), all books, records, maps, appraisal cards and any other data currently in the possession of any town, village or city relating to manufacturing property that will be assessed by the department of revenue shall be made available to and become the property of the department of revenue.

SECTION 348a. 70.996 of the statutes is created to read:

70.996 State aid to municipalities and counties; manufacturing machinery and equipment. (1) (a) On or about April 20, 1975, counties, towns, villages and cities shall be paid by the state an amount equal to the May 1, 1974, value of manufacturing machinery and equipment exempted from local taxation under s. 70.11 (27) multiplied

by the local or county tax rate as the case may be. The "value of manufacturing machinery and equipment" shall be the value determined according to s. 70.995 equated to the May 1, 1974, general level of assessment of all other property within the taxation district. Payments to towns, villages and cities shall be determined using the local tax rate that was applied to the May 1, 1973, assessment of all taxable property within the taxation district. Payments to counties shall be determined using the county tax rate that was applied to the May 1, 1973, assessment of all taxable property within the county. Subsequent payments shall be made annually on or before April 20 according to the following schedule:

1. 1976, 90% of the 1975 payment.
2. 1977, 80% of the 1975 payment.
3. 1978, 70% of the 1975 payment.
4. 1979, 60% of the 1975 payment.
5. 1980, 50% of the 1975 payment.
6. 1981, 40% of the 1975 payment.
7. 1982, 30% of the 1975 payment.
8. 1983, 20% of the 1975 payment.
9. 1984, 10% of the 1975 payment.

(b) Beginning in 1976, and for each year thereafter, the amount of the reduction in total state payment under this section shall be placed in the shared tax account for distribution to counties, towns, villages and cities in accordance with subch. I of ch. 79.

(2) Errors and omissions in the April 20, 1975, payment to counties, towns, villages and cities may be corrected and adjusted by the department of revenue.

SECTION 348b. 70.997 of the statutes is created to read:

70.997 State aid to municipalities and counties; merchants' stock-in-trade, manufacturers' materials and finished products and livestock. (1) (a) On the first Monday in March, 1978, counties, towns, villages and cities shall be paid by the department of administration an amount, as certified by the department of revenue, equal to the May 1, 1977, value of merchants' stock-in-trade, manufacturers' materials and finished products and livestock exempted from local taxation under s. 70.04 (3), multiplied by the local or county tax rate as the case may be. The value of manufacturers' materials and finished products shall be determined according to s. 70.995 and equated to the May 1, 1977, general level of assessment of all other property within the taxation district. The value of merchants' stock-in-trade and livestock shall be the local assessment determined according to this chapter. The local level of assessment of merchants' stock-in-trade and livestock shall be equated to the May 1, 1977, general level of assessment on all other property within the taxation district. Payments to towns, villages and cities shall be determined using the local tax rate that was applied to the May 1, 1976, assessment of all taxable property within the taxation district. Payments to counties shall be determined using the county tax rate that was applied to the May 1, 1976, assessment of all taxable property within the county. Subsequent payments shall be made annually on or before the first Monday in March according to the following schedule:

1. 1979, 90% of the 1978 payment.
2. 1980, 80% of the 1978 payment.

3. 1981, 70% of the 1978 payment.
4. 1982, 60% of the 1978 payment.
5. 1983, 50% of the 1978 payment.
6. 1984, 40% of the 1978 payment.
7. 1985, 30% of the 1978 payment.
8. 1986, 20% of the 1978 payment.
9. 1987, 10% of the 1978 payment.

(b) Beginning in 1979, and for each year thereafter, the amount of the reduction in state payments from the 1978 level of payments under this section shall be placed in reserve in the shared tax account for distribution to counties, towns, villages and cities. Such amounts may not be released or appropriated for any other purpose and may be distributed only after enactment of legislation specifying the manner in which such amounts shall be distributed. Beginning in 1988 and annually thereafter, an amount equal to the 1978 total state payment under this section shall be placed in the shared tax account for distribution.

(2) Errors and omissions in the March 1978 payment to counties, towns, villages and cities may be corrected and adjusted by the department of revenue.

SECTION 348d. 71.02 (1) (a) of the statutes is amended to read:

71.02 (1) (a) "Net income" means, for corporations, "gross income" less allowable deductions, except that for a corporation or common law trust which qualifies as a regulated investment company or real estate investment trust under the internal revenue code as amended to December 31, 1972, "net income" means the federal investment company taxable income or the federal real estate investment trust taxable income of such corporation or trust as determined under the internal revenue code as amended to December 31, 1972.

SECTION 348h. 71.03 (2) (a) of the statutes is amended to read:

71.03 (2) (a) The value of property acquired by gift, bequest, devise or inheritance, but such exemption shall not exclude from gross income the income from any such property, or, where the gift, bequest, devise or inheritance is of income from property or constitutes payment for a service, the amount of such income or payment. Where, under the terms of the gift, bequest, devise or inheritance, the payment, crediting or distribution thereof is to be made at intervals, then to the extent that it is paid or credited or to be distributed out of income from property, it shall be treated for the purpose of this paragraph as a gift, bequest, devise or inheritance of income from property. Any amount included in the gross income of a beneficiary, estate, trust or any other person under subchapter J of the internal revenue code shall be treated for purposes of this paragraph as a gift, bequest, devise or inheritance of income from property.

SECTION 348m. 71.03 (3) of the statutes is created to read:

71.03 (3) MINNESOTA INCOME TAX RECIPROCITY. (a) For purposes of income tax reciprocity reached with the state of Minnesota under sub. (2) (c), whenever the income taxes on residents of one state which would have been paid to the second state without reciprocity exceeds the income taxes on residents of the second state which would have been paid to the first state without reciprocity, the state with the net revenue loss shall receive from the other state the amount of such loss. This subsection shall apply to taxable years beginning after December 31, 1972.

(b) The data used for computing the loss to either state shall be determined by the respective departments of revenue of both states on or before November 1 of the year following the close of the previous calendar year. If an agreement cannot be reached as to the amount of the loss, the secretary of revenue of this state and the commissioner of taxation of the state of Minnesota shall each appoint a member of a board of arbitration and these members shall appoint a third member of the board. The board shall select one of its members as chairman. The board may administer oaths, take testimony, subpoena witnesses and require their attendance, require the production of books, papers and documents and hold hearings at such places as it deems necessary. The board shall then make a determination as to the amount to be paid the other state which shall be conclusive. This state shall pay no more than one-half of the cost of such arbitration.

SECTION 349. 71.04 (2b) (intro.) and (a) of the statutes are amended to read:

71.04 (2b) (intro.) The remaining cost of any waste treatment plant or pollution abatement equipment installed prior to the calendar year 1969 or corresponding fiscal year pursuant to order, recommendation or approval of the committee on water pollution, department of health and social services, city council, village board or county board pursuant to s. 59.07 (53) or (85), 1971 stats., which plant or equipment was not fully depreciated or amortized for Wisconsin franchise or income tax purposes at the end of the 1968 calendar year or corresponding fiscal year, may be deducted in the calendar year 1969 or corresponding fiscal year at the election of the taxpayer. Failure to exercise such election on the 1969 return shall require continuation of the previous method of deducting cost of such property. The cost of all waste treatment or pollution abatement plant and equipment purchased or constructed in the calendar year 1969 or corresponding fiscal year or thereafter pursuant to order, recommendation or approval of the committee on water pollution, department of resource development, department of natural resources, department of health and social services, city council, village board, or county board pursuant to s. 59.07 (53) or (85), 1971 stats., may be deducted in the year paid (as defined in s. 71.02 (1) (c)), may be depreciated, or may be amortized over a period of 5 years. The deduction election, once made, cannot be changed.

(a) The taxpayer shall file with the department of revenue at the time of his election under this subsection copies of recommendations, orders and approvals issued by the department of resource development, department of natural resources, department of health and social services, city council, village board or county board pursuant to s. 59.07 (53) or (85), 1971 stats., in respect to such waste treatment plant and pollution abatement equipment.

SECTION 349g. 71.043 of the statutes is renumbered 71.043 (1) and amended to read:

71.043 Reduction of tax. (1) The tax imposed upon or measured by corporation net income of the taxable year 1972 ~~and subsequent taxable years~~ pursuant to s. 71.01 (1) or (2) may be reduced by an amount equal to so much of the sales and use tax under ch. 77 paid by the corporation in such taxable year on fuel and electricity consumed in manufacturing tangible personal property in this state as was paid on fuel and electricity costs in excess of 2% of the cost of manufacturing within this state as

determined pursuant to s. 71.07 (2) (b), 1969 stats. Such deduction may not exceed 50% of the tax computed without such reduction. ~~For purposes of this subsection "sales and use tax under ch. 77 paid by the corporation" includes use taxes paid directly by the corporation and also sales and use taxes paid by the corporation's supplier and passed on to the corporation whether separately stated on the invoice or included in the total price; and the term "manufacturing" has the meaning designated in s. 77.51 (27).~~

SECTION 349r. 71.043 (2), (3) and (4) of the statutes are created to read:

71.043 (2) The tax imposed upon or measured by corporation net income of the taxable year 1973 and subsequent taxable years pursuant to s. 71.01 (1) or (2) may be reduced by an amount equal to the sales and use tax under ch. 77 paid by the corporation in such taxable year on fuel and electricity consumed in manufacturing tangible personal property in this state.

(3) If any corporation in any year is entitled to a credit under this section, such credit, to the extent not offset by the tax liability of the same year may be offset against the tax liability of the subsequent year, and if not completely offset by the tax liability of such year, the remainder of such credit may be offset against the tax liability of the following year. A credit under sub. (2) may be carried forward and offset against tax liability in the next succeeding 5 years.

(4) In this section:

(a) "Sales and use tax under ch. 77 paid by the corporation" includes use taxes paid directly by the corporation and sales and use taxes paid by the corporation's supplier and passed on to the corporation whether separately stated on the invoice or included in the total price.

(b) "Manufacturing" has the meaning designated in s. 77.51 (27).

SECTION 350. 71.05 (1) (h) of the statutes is amended to read:

71.05 (1) (h) The federal adjusted basis at the end of the calendar year 1968 or corresponding fiscal year of waste treatment plant or pollution abatement equipment acquired pursuant to order or recommendation of the committee on water pollution, state board of health, city council, village board or county board pursuant to s. 59.07 (53) or (85), 1971 stats., may be treated as a subtraction modification on the return of the calendar year 1969 or corresponding fiscal year but not in later years. In case of such subtraction an add modification shall be made in 1969 and later taxable years to reverse federal depreciation or amortization of such basis or to correct gain or loss on disposition. The cost of such plant or equipment acquired in 1969 or thereafter pursuant to order, recommendation or approval of the committee on water pollution, department of resource development, department of natural resources, state board of health, city council, village board, or county board pursuant to s. 59.07 (53) or (85), 1971 stats. (less any federal depreciation or amortization taken) may be deducted as a subtraction modification or as subtraction modifications in the year or years in which paid or accrued, dependent on the method of accounting employed. In case of such election, appropriate add modifications shall be made in subsequent years to reverse federal depreciation or amortization or to correct gain or loss on disposition. This paragraph is intended to apply only to depreciable property except that where wastes are disposed of through a lagoon process, lagooning costs and the cost of land containing such lagoons may be treated as depreciable property for purposes of this paragraph. In no event may any amount in excess of cost be deducted. The taxpayer shall file with the department copies of all recommendations, orders or approvals

relating to installation of such property and such other documents or data relating thereto as the department requests.

SECTION 351. 71.05 (3) (d) 2 of the statutes is amended to read:

71.05 (3) (d) 2. A U.S. citizen entitled to the benefits of section 931 of the internal revenue code for federal income tax purposes, applicable with respect to taxation of individuals on 1973 income, and income of subsequent years.

SECTION 352. 71.07 (2) (intro.), (b) 3 and (c) 3 of the statutes are amended to read:

71.07 (2) (intro.) Persons engaged in business within and without the state shall be taxed only on such income as is derived from business transacted and property located within the state. The amount of such income attributable to Wisconsin may be determined by an allocation and separate accounting thereof, when the business of such person within the state is not an integral part of a unitary business, but the department of revenue may permit an allocation and separate accounting in any case in which it is satisfied that the use of such method will properly reflect the income taxable by this state. In all cases in which allocation and separate accounting is not permissible, the determination shall be made in the following manner: for all business except financial organizations and public utilities there shall first be deducted from the total net income of the taxpayer such part thereof (less related expenses, if any) as follows the situs of the property or the residence of the recipient; except that in the case of income which follows the residence of the recipient, the amount of interest and dividends deductible under this provision shall be limited to the total interest and dividends received which are in excess of the total interest (or related expenses, if any) paid and allowable as a deduction under s. 71.04 during the income year. The remaining net income shall be apportioned to Wisconsin by multiplying such net income by a fraction, the numerator of which is the sum of the property factor, the payroll factor and the sales factor, and the denominator of which is the number 3. Beginning with calendar year 1974, or corresponding fiscal year, and thereafter, in lieu of the equally weighted 3-factor apportionment fraction based on property, payroll and sales, there shall be used an apportionment fraction composed of a sales factor representing 50% of the fraction, a property factor representing 25% of the fraction and a payroll factor representing 25% of the fraction.

(b) 3. Compensation related to the operation, maintenance, protection or supervision of real or tangible and intangible personal property used in the production of both apportionable and nonapportionable income or losses shall be partially excluded from the numerator and denominator of the payroll factor so as to exclude, as near as possible, the portion of such pay related to the operation, maintenance, protection and supervision of real or tangible and intangible personal property used in the production of nonapportionable income.

(c) 3. Sales, other than sales of tangible personal property, are in this state if: the income-producing activity is performed in this state; ~~or.~~ If the income-producing activity is performed both in and outside this state and a greater proportion of the

~~income producing activity is performed in this state than in any other state, based on costs of performance the sales shall be divided between those states having jurisdiction to tax such business in proportion to the direct costs of performance incurred in each such state in rendering this service. Services performed in states which do not have jurisdiction to tax the business shall be deemed to have been performed in the state to which compensation is allocated by par. (b) 4.~~

SECTION 353. 71.09 (6m) (intro.) of the statutes is amended to read:

71.09 (6m) (intro.) On income of the calendar ~~year~~ years 1972 and 1973 and corresponding fiscal years ~~and calendar and fiscal years thereafter~~, there may be deducted from the tax after the same has been computed according to the rates of this section, personal exemptions for natural persons as follows:

SECTION 354. 71.09 (6p) of the statutes is created to read:

71.09 (6p) On income of the calendar year 1974 and corresponding fiscal years and thereafter, there may be deducted from the tax after it has been computed according to the rates of this section, personal exemptions for natural persons as follows:

(a) An exemption of \$20 for the taxpayer and an additional exemption of \$20 for the spouse of the taxpayer, to the extent such exemption is not used as a deduction on the separate tax of the spouse, and provided the spouse is not the dependent of another taxpayer; but for each taxpayer and also for the spouse of a married taxpayer who has reached the age of 65 prior to the close of the calendar or fiscal year, the exemption shall be \$25. The determination of whether an individual is married shall be made as of the close of the taxable year, unless the spouse dies during the taxable year, in which case such determination shall be made as of the time of death. An individual separated from his spouse under a decree of divorce or separate maintenance shall not be considered married.

(b) An exemption of \$20 for each person for whom the taxpayer is entitled to an exemption for the taxable year under section 151 (e) of the federal internal revenue code.

(c) An additional exemption of \$20 for a head of family. In this paragraph, a "head of family" means a taxpayer, deemed not married for purposes of par. (a), who maintained a household and supported therein himself and at least one other individual with respect to whom the taxpayer was entitled to an exemption under par. (b).

SECTION 355. 71.09 (7) (intro.), (a) 5 and 8, (g) 3, (gm) 1 and 2 and (p) of the statutes are amended to read:

71.09 (7) (title) HOMESTEAD CREDIT. (intro.) The purpose of this subsection is to provide ~~relief credit~~ to certain persons ~~65 years of age and over~~ who own or rent their homestead, through a system of income tax credits and refunds, and appropriations from the general fund.

CHAPTER 90

(a) 5. "Claimant" means a person who has filed a claim under this subsection, and who was domiciled in this state during the entire calendar year preceding the year in which he files claim for relief credit under this subsection ~~and who, if certified by the department of health and social services as totally and permanently disabled within the meaning of s. 49.61 (1), has reached the age of 60, or who otherwise has reached the age of 62 prior to the close of such calendar year.~~ When 2 or more individuals of a household are able to meet the qualifications for a claimant, they may determine between them as to who the claimant shall be. If they are unable to agree, the matter shall be referred to the secretary of revenue and his decision shall be final. When a homestead is occupied by 2 or more individuals and more than one such individual is able to qualify as a claimant, and some or all such qualified individuals are not related as determined under subd. 2, such individuals may determine between them as to who the claimant shall be. If they are unable to agree, the matter shall be referred to the secretary of revenue and his decision shall be final.

8. "Property taxes accrued" means property taxes, exclusive of special assessments, delinquent interest and charges for service, levied on a claimant's homestead in 1964 or any calendar year thereafter pursuant to ch. 70, less the tax credit, if any, afforded in respect of such property by s. 79.10 (3). When a homestead is owned by 2 or more persons or entities as joint tenants or tenants in common and one or more such persons or entities is not a member of claimant's household, "property taxes accrued" is that part of property taxes levied on such homestead (reduced by the tax credit hereinbefore referred to) as reflects the ownership percentage of the claimant and his household. For purposes of this paragraph property taxes are "levied" when the tax roll is delivered to the local treasurer with his warrant for collection. ~~When a claimant and his household own their homestead part of a calendar year and rent the same or a different homestead for part of the same year "property taxes accrued" means only taxes levied on the homestead when both owned and occupied as such by claimant and his household at the time of the levy, multiplied by the percentage of 12 months that such property was owned and occupied by such household as its homestead in such year. When a household sells or otherwise disposes of ownership of its homestead in any year prior to the levy of taxes on such homestead in such year and rents the same or another homestead, "rent constituting property taxes accrued" for such year shall be 25% of gross rent paid after annualization of gross rent paid in such year. (Gross rent paid shall be annualized by dividing actual gross rent paid by the number of months for which paid and multiplying the resulting figure by 12.) When a household owns and occupies 2 or more different homesteads in the same calendar year, property taxes accrued shall relate only to that property occupied by the household as a homestead on the levy date occurring in such calendar year. When a homestead is sold during the calendar year of the levy the "property taxes accrued" for the seller and buyer shall be the amount of the tax levy prorated to each in the closing agreement pertaining to the sale of the homestead or, if not so provided for in the closing agreement, the tax levy shall be prorated between seller and buyer in proportion to months of their respective ownership, provided that the seller and buyer occupy the homestead during the periods of their respective ownership. When a household owns and occupies 2 or more homesteads in the same calendar year "property taxes accrued" shall be the sum of the prorated taxes attributable to the household for each of such homesteads. If the household owns and occupies the~~

homestead for part of the calendar year and rents a household for part of the calendar year, it may include both the proration of taxes on the homestead owned and "rent constituting property taxes accrued" with respect to the months the homestead is rented, in computing the amount of the claim under par. (g). Whenever a homestead is an integral part of a larger unit such as a farm, or a multipurpose or multidwelling building, property taxes accrued shall be that percentage of the total property taxes accrued as the value of the homestead is of the total value, except that the claimant may use the total property taxes accrued for the larger unit, but not exceeding 40 ~~80~~ acres of land, except as the limitations of par. (h) apply. ~~For the purpose of this subsection, the "unit" refers to that parcel of property covered by a single tax statement of which the homestead is a part.~~ For claims for 1967 and subsequent years, monthly parking permit fees collected under s. 66.058 (3) (c) shall be considered property taxes.

(g) 3. The secretary of revenue shall prepare a table under which claims under this subsection shall be determined. The table shall be published in the department's official rules ~~and shall be placed on the appropriate tax blanks.~~ The amount of claim for each bracket shall be computed only to the nearest 10 cents.

(gm) 1. If the household income of the claimant's household was ~~\$1,000~~ \$3,500 or less in the year to which the claim relates, the claim shall be limited to ~~75%~~ 80% of the property taxes accrued, or rent constituting property taxes accrued, or both, in such year on the claimant's homestead.

2. If the household income of the claimant's household was more than ~~\$1,000~~ \$3,500 in the year to which the claim relates, the claim shall be limited to ~~60%~~ 80% of the amount by which the property taxes accrued, or rent constituting property taxes accrued, or both, in such year on the claimant's homestead is in excess of ~~5%~~ 14.3% of household income exceeding ~~\$1,000 but not exceeding \$1,500, 10% of household income exceeding \$1,500 but not exceeding \$2,000, and 14% of all household income over \$2,000.~~ Relief shall not be allowed if household income was \$5,000 or more \$3,500.

(p) No claim for relief credit under this section shall ~~shall~~ may be allowed to any claimant who at the time of filing such claim is a recipient of assistance under s. ~~49.18, 49.20 or 49.61~~ 49.19 or is receiving general relief from any municipality or county.

SECTION 356. 71.09 (7) (gm) 3 and 4, (hm), (r) and (s) of the statutes are created to read:

71.09 (7) (gm) 3. The secretary of revenue shall prepare a table under which claims under this subsection shall be determined. The table shall be published in the department's official rules. The amount of claim for each bracket shall be computed only to the nearest 10 cents.

CHAPTER 90

356

4. The claimant shall, at his election, not be required to record on his claim the amount claimed by him. The claim allowable to persons making this election shall be computed by the department which shall notify the claimant by mail of the amount of his allowable claim.

(hm) If the amount of a qualified claimant's claim is more than zero but less than \$10 the amount of credit paid or credited shall be \$10.

(r) No claim for credit under this subsection may be allowed to any claimant who was under 18 years of age at the close of the year the property taxes were levied or rents were paid.

(s) No claim for credit under this subsection may be allowed to any claimant who was claimed as a dependent for federal income tax purposes by another person during the year the taxes in question were levied or rents were paid or during any one of the 2 immediate preceding years but this limitation shall not apply if the claimant was 62 years of age or older at the close of the year the claimed property taxes or rent constituting property taxes accrued.

SECTION 357. 71.10 (2) (a) 3 of the statutes is amended to read:

71.10 (2) (a) 3. This subdivision applies with respect to income of the calendar year 1973 or corresponding fiscal years ~~and calendar and fiscal years thereafter~~. Every person having a gross income of \$1,800 or more if under 65 years of age, or if 65 years of age or over \$1,950 or more, and every married person receiving any gross income during the year when the combined gross income of such married person and his or her spouse is: a) \$2,300 or more if both are under 65 years of age; b) \$2,450 or more if one spouse is under 65 years of age and the other spouse is 65 years or over; or c) \$2,600 or more, if both are 65 years of age or over.

SECTION 358. 71.10 (2) (a) 4 of the statutes is created to read:

71.10 (2) (a) 4. Annually, commencing with the 1974 calendar year or corresponding fiscal year, every person having a gross income of \$1,950 or more if under 65 years of age, or if 65 years of age or over \$2,150 or more, and every married person receiving any gross income during the year when the combined gross income of such married persons is: a) \$2,600 or more if both are under 65 years of age; b) \$2,750 or more if one spouse is under 65 years of age and the other spouse is 65 years of age or over; or c) \$2,900 or more, if both are 65 years of age or over.

SECTION 359. 71.14 (8) of the statutes is amended to read:

71.14 (8) All taxes imposed and collected under this chapter on and after November 1, 1971, other than those imposed on urban transit companies under s. 71.18, shall become a part of the general fund for use of the state, except that 25.17% for the period November 1, 1971, to July 31, 1972, and 24.66% for the period August 1, 1972 to July 31, 1973 and 24.845% for the period August 1, 1973 to July 31, 1974, and 25.25% thereafter, of collections of income of persons other than corporations and 40.34% for the period November 1, 1971, to July 31, 1972, and 41.47% for the period August 1, 1972 to July 31, 1973, and 43.78% for the period August 1, 1973 to July 31, 1974, and 43.98% thereafter, of collections of income and franchise taxes of corporations shall be entered in the municipal and county shared tax account and distributed under subch. I of ch. 79.

SECTION 360. 72.01 (2) and (20) of the statutes are repealed.

SECTION 360m. 72.01 (5) of the statutes is amended to read:

72.01 (5) ~~“County treasurer” and “district~~ “District attorney” ~~mean means~~ the ~~treasurer and~~ district attorney of the county whose county court has jurisdiction under s. 72.27.

SECTION 361. 72.11 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

72.11 (2) EXCEPTION; RECIPROCITY AS TO NONRESIDENT DECEDENTS. A transfer, which is made taxable under this subchapter and is of a nonresident decedent's intangible personal property ~~having an actual situs in this state~~, is not subject to the tax imposed by this subchapter if a like exemption is allowed at the time of the death of the decedent by the laws of the state, territory or district of the decedent's residence in favor of residents of this state. This subsection does not apply unless a tax is imposed on the transfer of the decedent's property by the laws of the state, territory or district of the decedent's residence.

SECTION 361m. 72.12 (4) (c) 2. a of the statutes is amended to read:

72.12 (4) (c) 2. a. Any employe ~~benefit program~~ retirement plan of the United States, state of Wisconsin or Wisconsin municipality; or

SECTION 362. 72.18 (intro.) and (1) of the statutes are amended to read:

72.18 Rates. (intro.) When property is transferred by reason of a death to or for the use of a distributee ~~and when its clear market value exceeds the exemption in s. 72.17~~, a tax, ~~subject to the limitation under s. 72.19~~, is imposed at the following rates:

(1) Class A surviving spouse is taxed upon the balance, if any, of the first \$25,000 over the exemption at 1.25%; upon property which exceeds \$25,000 and does not exceed \$50,000 at 2.5%; upon property which exceeds \$50,000 and does not exceed \$100,000 at 3.75%; upon property which exceeds \$100,000 and does not exceed \$500,000 at 5% and upon property which exceeds \$500,000 at 6.25%. All other class A distributees are taxed upon the balance, if any, of the first \$25,000 over the exemption at 2.5%; upon nonexempt property which exceeds \$25,000 and does not exceed \$50,000, at 5%; upon property which exceeds \$50,000 and does not exceed \$100,000, at 7.5%; upon property which exceeds \$100,000 and does not exceed \$500,000, at 10%; and upon property which exceeds \$500,000, at 12.5%. The personal exemption applies against the lowest bracket.

SECTION 363. 72.22 (3) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

72.22 (3) PAYMENT. Payments must be made to the department. Full payment shall accompany the inheritance tax return. If a prepayment was made, any additional tax shown owing on the return, as filed, shall accompany the return.

SECTION 364. 72.23 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

72.23 (2) INTEREST MAY BE WAIVED. The department, ~~authorized public administrator~~ or county court may waive interest on any additional tax arising from the discovery of property which was omitted in the original determination of tax. This subsection applies only where due diligence has been exercised in marshaling the assets.

SECTION 365. 72.24 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

72.24 Refunding. Whenever any amount has been paid in excess of the tax determined, the state treasurer, upon certification by the department or county court, shall refund the excess to the payor or other person entitled thereto.

SECTION 366. 72.25 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

72.25 (1) When the department ~~or authorized public administrator~~ is satisfied that collection of the tax will not be jeopardized, ~~either it~~ may release this lien on all or part of real property. A duly executed release of the lien may be recorded with the register of deeds of the county in which the property is located. The recording fee shall be the same as for the recording of a mortgage satisfaction.

SECTION 367. 72.27 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

72.27 (2) NONRESIDENTS. The probate court of Dane county shall have jurisdiction to hear and determine all questions relating to the determination and adjustment of the tax imposed by this subchapter, where a tax appears due because of the death of a nonresident decedent and in which it does not otherwise appear necessary for regular administration. Where a nonresident dies possessed of real or tangible personal property located within this state, the probate court of the county in which the property is located shall have concurrent jurisdiction with the Dane county court. ~~In such cases the public administrator may be appointed as special administrator for purposes of the adjustment.~~

SECTION 368. 72.28 (1) (a), (b) and (c) 1. b and (2) (a) (intro.) and (b) of the statutes are amended to read:

72.28 (1) (a) *Homestead*. Where a homestead consists of a single-family dwelling or a duplex, the equalized assessed valuation may be used and appraisal dispensed with, unless any interested party, ~~or the department or public administrator~~ requests an appraisal.

(b) *Securities*. When a decedent leaves any securities issued by a business organization, owning property or doing business in this state or leaves any interest therein or in the assets thereof, all inventories, books, papers, income tax returns and records thereof are competent evidence, and shall be made accessible to the personal representative, special administrator, appraiser, ~~public administrator~~, department or referee designated by the court, to ascertain the true value of such securities or interests. The court may order any inventories, books, papers and records to be produced in court, and may require the attendance and examination in court of any officer or employe of any such business organization. In this paragraph: "business organization" means corporation, joint stock company, partnership and association; "securities" includes stocks and bonds.

(c) 1. b. If valuation cannot be established under subd. 1.a, the commissioner of insurance, upon application of the department, ~~public administrator~~ or county court, shall determine the value. The commissioner's report shall be presumptive evidence that his method of computation is correct.

(2) (a) (intro.) The department ~~or authorized public administrator with the written consent of the department~~ may enter into an agreement with the personal representative, special administrator, trustee or distributee of any property where:

(b) The department ~~or authorized public administrator with the consent of the department~~ may enter such an agreement upon terms deemed equitable and expedient and may grant releases of personal liability to the personal representative, special administrator, trustee or distributee upon payment of the tax. Any agreement made under this section shall be executed in triplicate, to be distributed as follows: one copy filed with the department; one copy with the county court; and one copy to the personal representative, special administrator, trustee or distributee who is a party thereto.

SECTION 369. 72.30 (1) and (3) (e) of the statutes are repealed and recreated to read:

72.30 (1) TAX DETERMINATION. The personal representative, special administrator, trustee, distributee or other person interested shall prepare the inheritance tax return, compute the tax, if any, due under this subchapter and file the original with the department.

(3) (e) No county court proceeding held for the transfer of property of a decedent shall be completed until the original certificate determining the tax or determining no tax, together with proof that any tax has been paid, shall be filed with the court.

SECTION 370. 72.30 (3) (a) and (c), (4) and (5) of the statutes are amended to read:

72.30 (3) (a) In making its determination of tax due under this subchapter, the department ~~or authorized public administrator~~ may require information regarding the methods of valuation used, including those under s. 72.28.

(c) Upon determination of the value of the property and the tax, the department ~~or the authorized public administrator~~ shall issue a dated certificate showing the amount of tax and any interest and penalty.

(4) HEARING IN COUNTY COURT. The attorney general, department, ~~public administrator~~, district attorney or any person dissatisfied with the appraisal, assessment or determination of the tax due under this subchapter may apply for a hearing before the county court within 6 months from the date the certificate in sub. (3) (c) is issued. The applicant must file a written notice with the court stating the grounds of the application. No statute of limitations shall run against the department in cases of fraud or collusion or where property is not disclosed in the return.

(5) PETITION FOR ANCILLARY PROBATE OR ANCILLARY ADMINISTRATION. Every petition for ancillary probate or ancillary administration shall include ~~the public administrator as a person to be notified and~~ a true statement of all the decedent's property in this state and its value. Upon presentation of the petition, the county court shall order the personal representative, special administrator, trustee or distributee to proceed under subs. (1) and (2).

SECTION 371. 72.30 (3) (b) and (d) of the statutes are amended to read:

72.30 (3) (b) Where the department ~~or authorized public administrator~~ and any interested person are unable to agree on any issue necessary for the determination of tax under this subchapter, ~~any of these parties~~ either may petition the county court to decide the issue.

(d) A copy of this certificate shall be retained by the ~~issuer~~ department and the original shall be sent to the person filing the return.

SECTION 372. 72.31 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

72.31 Special administration. (1) WHEN EXERCISED. When no administration proceeding has been commenced or no complete tax return has been filed, any person, including the department, interested in the property, the transfer of which is subject to tax under subchs. II and III, may petition for appointment of a special administrator with powers to determine the tax, if:

(a) No petition for administration of property of a decedent is made within 60 days after decedent's death and the property's transfer appears to be taxable under subch. II or III;

CHAPTER 90

360

- (b) Administration has been completed without determining the tax;
- (c) No tax is due and that fact has not been formally determined;
- (d) A certificate of survivorship, heirship or assignment has been issued under s. 867.04, 867.05 or 868.05;
- (e) Assets upon the transfer of which no tax has been paid are discovered; or
- (f) Property was transferred in contemplation of the death of the transferor and no application for the adjustment or payment of the tax has been made within 60 days of the transferor's death.

(2) PROCEDURE. (a) Prior to acting under sub. (1) the special administrator shall, by certified mail, notify the distributee of the basis of his authority under sub. (1).

(b) If, within 60 days after receiving the notice, a distributee fails to institute the appropriate proceeding or file a tax return, the special administrator shall notify the department and institute such proceeding or file the return. After the department has been so notified, the department may file a notice of lien with the register of deeds or clerk of courts, specifying the property, the transfer of which is taxable under this subchapter, and the name of the distributee.

(c) Costs and expenses properly incurred by a special administrator shall be paid out of the subject property or by the distributee thereof.

SECTION 373. 72.32 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 374. 72.34 (1), (2) and (4) of the statutes are amended to read:

72.34 (1) The department shall supervise the administration of the tax imposed by this subchapter and shall investigate and cause to be investigated the administration of this tax and the transfers to which these laws apply. The department shall make and file in its offices reports of such investigations and specific information and facts requiring special consideration by the department of justice. Whenever necessary, the department of revenue may employ accountants, appraisers or other special assistants including counsel in appraising or determining the value of property transferred. ~~Such expenses shall be paid by the county treasurer out of inheritance tax funds in his hands upon the certificate of the department of revenue.~~

(2) The department shall appoint an inheritance tax counsel who shall have charge of the inheritance tax work under the department's supervision and shall be provided with further assistance from the regular force of the department if necessary and expedient. The inheritance tax counsel shall devote his time to inheritance tax investigations and shall personally make such investigation at the county courts. He shall ~~counsel and assist public administrators and shall appear in the county courts when requested by the county court or public administrator~~ or department.

(4) The department and its inheritance tax counsel shall also gather information and make investigations and reports concerning transfers of property of nonresident decedents taxable under this subchapter, and shall especially investigate the probate and other records for such probable transfers without the state and report thereon to the department of justice ~~and to the public administrator~~ for appropriate legal action.

SECTION 375. 72.34 (7) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 376. 72.61 of the statutes is amended to read:

72.61 Estate tax imposed. In addition to the tax imposed by subch. II, an estate tax is imposed upon the transfer of all property subject to a federal estate tax where

the decedent at the time of his death was a resident of this state. The amount of this estate tax equals the excess, if any, of the credit allowable upon the federal estate tax, over the aggregate amount of all death taxes paid for transfers of property taxable because of decedent's death. This tax shall not exceed the extent to which its payment will effect a saving or diminution in the amount of the federal estate tax payable by or out of the estate of the decedent had this subchapter not been enacted. The tax imposed shall be collected and accounted for by the ~~county treasurer~~ department under ~~ss. s. 72.22 and 72.32~~. The full amount collected shall be paid to the state.

SECTION 376k. 72.80 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

72.80 Classification of donees. In determining the amount of gift tax due under this subchapter, donees are classified into 4 groups: class A, class B, class C and class D. These classes contain the same persons, by virtue of their relationship to the donor, as distributee classes A, B, C and D, respectively, in s. 72.16, except that spouses are included in donee class A instead of surviving spouses.

SECTION 376m. 72.83 of the statutes is amended to read:

72.83 Rates. When the value of transfers within the same calendar year exceeds the exemptions allowed under s. 72.82, the tax upon transfers to classes of donees specified in s. 72.80 is imposed upon the same amounts and at the same rates as imposed on classes of distributees under s. 72.18.

SECTION 377. 73.01 (4) (b) of the statutes is amended to read:

73.01 (4) (b) Any matter required to be heard by the commission may be heard by any member of the commission or its hearing examiner and reported to the full commission for determination, and hearings of matters pending before it shall be assigned to members of the commission or its hearing examiner by the chairman. Hearings shall be open to the public and all proceedings shall be conducted in accordance with the rules of practice and procedure prescribed by the commission, the power to make such rules being expressly here conferred upon it.

SECTION 378. 73.03 (2) of the statutes is renumbered 73.03 (2) (a).

SECTION 379. 73.03 (2) (b), (c) and (d) of the statutes are created to read:

~~73.03 (2) (b) To establish by rule under ch. 227 the level of certification required of the appointed or elected assessor or assessment personnel to obtain state cost-sharing funds under s. 70.052 of each unit of local government in the state. There shall be 4 levels of certification commensurate with the degree of complexity of the various classes of property within each taxation district.~~

Vetoed
in Part

(c) With the aid and assistance of the bureau of personnel, to prepare and give examinations for each level of certification. Certification shall be granted to each person who passes the examination for that level.

(d) To grant conditional certification to an expert appraiser under s. 70.055 currently in the field of assessment administration. Such conditional certification shall expire after 2 years.

SECTION 380. 73.05 (4) of the statutes is amended to read:

73.05 (4) Each assessor of incomes and supervisor of assessments shall be under the complete direction and control of the department of revenue, and shall make such reports to the department, and to such other bodies and perform such other duties, as the department shall direct. The supervisor of assessments shall meet with the

equalization committee of the county board of each county not under a county assessor system, and of each county in which the county assessor is not required under s. 70.99 (9m) to meet with the county board, not later than the first Monday in October in each year pursuant to 5 days' notice by the county clerk of the time and place of such meeting mailed to the clerk of each town, city and village in such county for the purpose of considering his taxation district values required for the purpose of determining the valuations pursuant to s. 70.61 before referring such values to the department of revenue for its approval for submission to the county board.

SECTION 381. 73.06 (5) of the statutes is amended to read:

73.06 (5) The department of revenue through its supervisor of assessments shall make a report to the county board of each county showing in detail the work of local assessors in their several districts, the failure, if any, of such assessors to comply with the law, the relative assessed and full value of property in each taxation-district, and all such information and statistics as may be obtained which will be of assistance to the county board in determining the relative value of all taxable property in each taxation-district in the county. Such report shall be filed with the county clerk at least 15 days before the annual meeting of the county board. The county clerk shall cause to be printed not less than 200 copies of such report, one of which shall be delivered immediately by the county clerk to each member of the county board and a sufficient number of copies not to exceed 5 to each municipality requesting the same by resolution of the governing body for the use of the officials of the municipality. Not less than 6 copies of such printed report, together with all statistics accompanying the same, shall be filed with the department of revenue. This subsection shall not apply to any county having a county assessor who is required under s. 70.99 (9m) to meet with the county board.

SECTION 382. 73.07 (title) and (1) of the statutes are amended to read:

73.07 (title) Assessors offices, supplies, expenses. (1) The county board of any county when requested to do so by the department of revenue or the assessor of incomes ~~or supervisor of assessments~~ shall provide suitable rooms in the courthouse or other convenient building at the county seat, for the use of such assessor ~~or supervisor~~ together with all furniture, fixtures, office equipment and office supplies necessary to properly conduct the duties of such office and necessary for the collection of income taxes of persons other than corporations by the department of revenue as provided by law. Such expense shall be paid by the county furnishing the same unless such county is a part of an income assessment district ~~or a property assessment district, in which event the expense of the office of the supervisor of assessments including rental of office space at not to exceed \$3.50 per square foot per annum together with the actual costs of heat, light and janitor service connected therewith shall be borne by all the counties in the district, each county to pay at the ratio that the county assessment of such county bears to the total county assessment of all the counties in the district, and the~~. The expense of the office of the assessor of incomes, including rental of office space at not to exceed \$3.50 per square foot per annum together with the actual cost of heat, light and janitor service connected therewith, and of the collection of income tax shall be borne by all the counties in the district, each county to pay at the ratio that the total normal income tax paid during the preceding calendar year by residents of the county bears to the total normal income tax paid during the preceding calendar year by residents of the district. Any county may agree with the department of revenue to pay the rent, heat, light and janitor service of offices outside the courthouse in

consideration of the offices being located in such county. If any county fails or refuses to furnish such quarters, equipment and supplies for the use of the assessor of incomes ~~or supervisor of assessments~~ as herein provided, the department of revenue may procure the same at the expense of the counties responsible therefor.

The rent of such office and the cost of such equipment and supplies, if procured by the department of revenue, shall in the first instance, be paid out of the state treasury as other claims against the state are audited and paid, and the department of revenue shall certify to the department of administration the part of such amount chargeable against each county and these amounts shall be included in the next apportionment and certification of state taxes and charges and collected from such counties as other special charges are certified and collected. In case any county which is a part of an income ~~or property~~ assessment district provided for in s. 73.05 has, at the request of the department of revenue or assessor of incomes ~~or supervisor of assessments~~, provided such district with office space and the heat, light and janitor service connected therewith, furniture, fixtures, office equipment or office supplies, and any other county in the district fails or refuses to pay its proper proportion thereof the amount shall be paid by the department of revenue and certified to the department of administration to be certified as a special charge against such county as provided above.

SECTION 383. 73.07 (2) of the statutes is renumbered 73.07 (3).

SECTION 384. 73.07 (2) of the statutes is created to read:

73.07 (2) Office furniture and equipment furnished to supervisors of assessments prior to January 1, 1974, shall continue to be furnished until no longer required by them.

SECTION 385. 73.10 (10) of the statutes is created to read:

73.10 (10) The council on municipal accounting shall advise the department on municipal accounting and reporting systems.

SECTION 385e. 73.11 of the statutes is created to read:

73.11 Enforcement of limitation on 1973 levy. (1) NOTIFICATIONS. Upon its determinations of the maximum levy according to ss. 60.175, 61.46 (3), 62.12 (4m), and 70.62 (4), the department of revenue shall notify the clerk of each municipality and county of the levy increase allowed under those sections. At the next meeting of the governing body of the municipality or county, the clerk shall inform the governing body of the notification, of its contents and of the legal procedures available for exceeding the amount certified by the department.

(2) DATES FOR ESTABLISHING LEVIES. In 1973 every town, village, city and county shall determine the levy to be placed on the roll for collection in December 1973 and in 1974 by November 20. The amount of levy shall be published by November 20 as a class 1 notice under ch. 985 and shall ~~separately identify the amount of levy which will be retained by that government and the amount which will be collected for other governmental jurisdictions.~~ Vetoed
in Part

(3) ENJOINING THE COLLECTION OF EXCESSIVE LEVIES. Any person having taxable real or personal property in a town, village, city or county assessed in the May 1, 1973, assessment, may bring an action in the circuit court of the county in which such property has a taxable situs on behalf of himself and all other taxpayers of the governmental unit to enjoin the collection of any property taxes levied by the governmental unit involved with respect to the May 1, 1973, assessment in any case in which the tax rate produces a levy in excess of the tax levy permitted by s. 60.175, 61.46 (3), 62.12 (4m), 65.07 (2) or 70.62 (4). Such action may be commenced by the

service of a summons and complaint upon the clerk of the town, village, city or county within 20 days of the date upon which the 1973 tax levy is determined by the governmental unit involved and the governmental unit shall be the defendant therein. Any individual responsible for the violation of such an injunction may be punished as provided in s. 295.13. Such injunction may be lifted upon a proper showing to the court that a modification has been made so as to produce a tax levy not in excess of the amount permitted in the applicable sections. Any such action shall be heard by the court within 10 days of the commencement thereof and shall be decided with a minimum of delay.

SECTION 385m. 74.08 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

74.08 (1) The county clerk of each county, unless a different official is designated by the county board, shall prepare and cause to be printed and furnished to each town, city and village treasurer of his county a book of tax receipts for each current year, with stubs to be a duplicate of the receipts; which receipts shall be printed in a form containing separate and distinct columns labeled respectively to show column by column the following taxes: Namely, state taxes, county taxes, town, city or village taxes, and all other taxes; and every town, city and village treasurer shall use only the receipts so furnished. Notwithstanding any other provisions of law, all city treasurers, and town and village treasurers, except where the information has already been placed in the receipt by the county, shall enter in each receipt given by him for the payment of taxes the name of the person, firm, company or corporation paying the same, the date thereof, the description of the property, the valuation and the aggregate amount of taxes paid, the total of the rates from which the total amount of the tax was computed and in separate and distinct columns labeled as herein provided the several amounts paid respectively for state taxes, county taxes, ~~county school taxes levied pursuant to s. 59.07 (21) (a)~~, town, city or village taxes, and all other taxes, if any, appearing on the tax roll opposite the valuations to be charged therewith. In the alternative the governing body of any city, village or town may by ordinance direct that while such ordinance is in effect the aggregate amount of state, county, local, school and other taxes shall be carried in a single column on the tax receipt, in which case there shall be printed or stamped on the tax receipt the separate proportion or rate of taxes levied for state, county, ~~county school taxes levied pursuant to s. 59.07 (21) (a)~~, local, school and other purposes.

SECTION 385q. 74.26 (1) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

74.26 (1) TO STATE TREASURER. On or before March 22 in each year the several county treasurers shall pay to the state treasurer the amounts of state trust fund loans, state taxes and state special charges certified by the department of administration to such counties under s. 70.60.

SECTION 386. 76.24 (3) of the statutes is amended to read:

76.24 (3) Of taxes paid by any light, heat and power company, conservation and regulation company or pipeline company, defined by s. 76.02, 83%, except that beginning July 1, 1974, and thereafter 93.3%, before reduction by the credit provided in s. 79.10 (1a) (b), shall be entered in the municipal and county shared tax account and distributed under subch. I of ch. 79.

SECTION 387. 76.24 (4) of the statutes is renumbered 79.04 (3) and amended to read:

79.04 (3) Taxes collected ~~hereunder~~ under ch. 76 on new production plants, owned by light, heat or power companies, assessed under s. 76.07, or by electric cooperative associations, assessed under s. 76.48, and erected on a site not within one mile of the

site of an older production plant of the same company, individually or in association with another company, shall be distributed according to s. 76.28 or 76.48, 1969 stats., in the case of assessments made after commencement of construction of the plant until 4 assessment years after the date of commencement of construction of the plant. In distributing such taxes among municipalities, "book value of the property" shall not include fossil fuel, nuclear fuel assemblies or components or nuclear by-products, materials and supplies, regardless of how listed by regulatory agencies.

SECTION 387b. 77.54 (4) of the statutes is amended to read:

77.54 (4) Gross receipts from the sale of tangible personal property, and the storage, use or other consumption in this state of tangible personal property which is the subject of any such sale, by any elementary school, or secondary school ~~or vocational, technical and adult education school~~, exempted as such from payment of income tax under ch. 71, whether public or private.

SECTION 387d. 77.54 (20) (c) 4 of the statutes is amended to read:

77.54 (20) (c) 4. Taxable sales shall not include meals, food, food products or beverages sold by hospitals, sanatoriums, nursing homes, day care centers registered under ch. 48, nor to such items when furnished by a public or private institution of higher education in accordance with any contract or agreement made or executed on or before October 1, 1969. The cost of this act shall be funded from appropriations made to the board on government operations for the state universities and university of Wisconsin, by chapter 154, laws of 1969. Neither shall taxable sales include meals, food, food products or beverages sold to the elderly or handicapped by persons providing "mobile meals on wheels".

SECTION 387h. 77.54 (20) (c) 5 of the statutes is renumbered 77.54 (20) (c) 6.

SECTION 387p. 77.54 (20) (c) 5 of the statutes is created to read:

77.54 (20) (c) 5. Taxable sales shall not include meals, food, food products or beverages furnished in accordance with any contract or agreement by a public or private institution of higher education.

SECTION 387t. 77.54 (26) of the statutes is created to read:

77.54 (26) The gross receipts from the sales of and the storage, use or other consumption of all waste treatment or pollution abatement plant and equipment, including containers for animal waste when the construction is ordered by the department of natural resources, purchased pursuant to order, recommendation or approval of the department of natural resources, department of health and social services, city council, village board or county board pursuant to s. 59.07 (53) or (85), 1971 stats., and the sales or use of such recommended or approved items will also be exempt when the sale is to a construction contractor for incorporation into real property in this state pursuant to a real property construction contract but no exemption is permitted under this subsection unless the property involved is exempt from property taxation.

SECTION 388. 78.11 (1) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

78.11 (1) AMOUNT. (a) To protect the revenues of this state, the department may require any person liable to the department for the tax imposed by this subchapter to place with it, either before or after a wholesaler's license is issued, security in the amount which the department determines. The amount of security required may be increased or decreased as the department deems necessary, but shall not exceed \$100,000. If any applicant or licensee fails or refuses to place such security, the

CHAPTER 90

366

department may refuse to issue or may revoke the license. If any taxpayer is delinquent in the payment of taxes imposed by this subchapter, the department may, upon 10 days' notice, recover the taxes, interest, penalties, costs and disbursements from the taxpayer's security placed with the department. No interest shall be paid or allowed by the state to any person for the deposit of the security.

(b) The security required by this subsection may be in the form of a surety bond furnished to the department payable to the state to secure payment of any and all motor fuel taxes, interest and penalties accrued under this subchapter, together with the costs and disbursements incurred in the collection thereof. The department shall prescribe the form and contents of the bond.

SECTION 389. 78.11 (5) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 390. 78.48 (9) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

78.48 (9) BOND. (a) To protect the revenues of this state, the department may require any person liable to the department for the tax imposed by this subchapter to place with it, either before or after a special fuel license is issued, security in an amount which the department determines. The amount of security required may be increased or decreased as the department deems necessary, but shall not exceed \$25,000. If any applicant or licensee fails or refuses to place such security, the department may refuse to issue or may revoke the license. If any taxpayer is delinquent in the payment of taxes imposed by this subchapter, the department may, upon 10 days' notice, recover the taxes, interest, penalties, cost and disbursements from the taxpayer's security placed with the department. No interest shall be paid or allowed by the state to any person for the deposit of the security.

(b) The security required by this subsection may be in the form of a surety bond furnished to the department payable to the state to secure payment of any and all special fuel taxes, interest and penalties accrued under this subchapter, together with costs and disbursements incurred in the collection thereof. The department shall prescribe the form and contents of the bond.

(c) Section 78.11 (2) to (4), regarding wholesalers' bonds, shall also apply to bonds furnished by special fuel applicants and licensees under this subsection.

SECTION 390c. 79.01 of the statutes is amended to read:

79.01 Account established. There is established an account in the general fund entitled the "Municipal and County Shared Tax Account", referred to in this chapter as the "shared tax account". There shall be recorded in such account all taxes and fees apportioned or appropriated thereto under ss. 20.395 (2) (wd), 70.996 (1) (b), 70.997 (1) (b), 71.14 (8), 71.18 (3), 76.24 (3), 76.38 (7), 76.48 (4), 86.35 and 139.13. Except for recording such amounts in the shared tax account, they shall be treated as all other money in the general fund until distributed pursuant to this chapter.

SECTION 390g. 79.02 of the statutes is amended to read:

79.02 (title) Preliminary distribution. ~~Annually beginning~~ Beginning July 31, 1972, ~~and annually thereafter on the 4th Monday in July,~~ the department of administration, upon certification by the department of revenue, shall distribute to each municipality from the shared tax account an amount equal to \$35 times its population, as defined in s. 79.07, less 16.25% thereof which shall be distributed to the county in which the municipality is located. If on any June 30 there is not sufficient money in the shared tax account to make such distributions, each municipality shall share in the amount then in the shared tax account in the proportion of its population, as defined in s. 79.07, to the total population of all municipalities, after reduction in

each case by 16.25% which shall be distributed to the county in which the municipality is located.

SECTION 390r. 79.03 (title) and (1) of the statutes are amended to read:

79.03 (title) November distribution. (1) Annually beginning on the third Monday in November 15, 1972, the department of administration, upon certification by the department of revenue, shall distribute to municipalities and counties all funds entered in the shared tax account as of the previous October 31, plus all taxes levied pursuant to ch. 76 against light, heat and power companies, conservation and regulation companies or pipeline companies and entered into the shared tax account as of the previous November 12, after reduction by the amounts necessary to make the payments under ss. 79.04 ~~and~~, 79.05 ~~and~~ 79.055. The distributable share therein of each municipality and county shall consist of an amount determined on the basis of population under sub. (2), plus an amount determined under sub. (3), less the amount distributed ~~on~~ in July ~~31~~ of that year under s. 79.02.

SECTION 391. 79.03 (3) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

79.03 (3) The remaining portion of the amount distributable under sub. (1) to each municipality and county before reduction by the amount of the July distribution of that year shall be allocated on the basis of allocable interests, determined as follows:

(a) In the case of distributions for the year 1973 the excess of the average computed full value rate over 17 mills of each participating municipality shall be multiplied by the municipality's full value of all taxable property, as equalized for state tax purposes. The allocable share of each participating municipality in the distribution under sub. (1) shall be in the same proportion as the amount determined hereunder for each municipality bears to the total amount, thus determined, of all participating municipalities.

(b) In the case of distributions for the year 1974, the differences between the computed full value rate of the municipality and one-half the state average full value rate for each of the preceding 3 years shall be averaged and, if the 3-year overall computed full value rate of the municipality is in excess of the 3-year overall one-half the state average full value rate, the resulting average shall be multiplied by the municipality's full value of all taxable property for the preceding year as equalized for state tax purposes. The allocable share of each participating municipality in the distribution under sub. (1) shall be in the same proportion as the amount determined hereunder for each municipality bears to the total amount, thus determined, of all participating municipalities.

(c) The resulting percentage for each municipality shall be reduced by 16.25% and the remaining percentage shall constitute its allocable interest in the amounts to be distributed under this subsection. The percentage thus subtracted shall be attributed to the county in which the municipality is located. The allocable interest for each county shall be the total percentages attributed to it for all municipalities located in the county.

(d) This subsection shall become void after the 1974 payments are made hereunder.

SECTION 391c. 79.03 (4) of the statutes is created to read:

79.03 (4) Annually beginning with the July and November 1975 distributions, the total amount to be distributed under ss. 79.02, 79.03 and 79.04 shall not be less than the total of \$278,000,000 plus the amount placed in the shared tax account under s. 70.996 (1) (b).

CHAPTER 90

368

SECTION 391g. 79.04 (1) (b) of the statutes is amended to read:

79.04 (1) (b) An amount determined by multiplying by 5 mills, if the average per capita full value of a municipality is less than 140% of the ~~state-wide~~ statewide average per capita full value, or by 3 mills, if the average per capita full value of a municipality is 140% or over of the ~~state-wide~~ statewide average per capita full value, the full value of all taxable property assessed in the municipality for the preceding calendar year plus production plant, exclusive of land, and "general structures" or "work in progress" for production plants and general structures under construction, less depreciation thereon, in the case of light, heat and power companies or electric cooperatives or, in the case of pipeline companies, all property, less depreciation thereon, as of December 31 of the preceding year.

SECTION 391r. 79.05 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

79.05 (2) On March 1, 1972, \$28,600,000; on March 1, 1973, \$79,900,000; on the first Monday in March 1, 1974, \$85,400,000; on the first Monday in March 1, 1975, \$115,400,000. \$105,400,000; on the first Monday in March 1, 1976, \$145,400,000 \$135,400,000; and annually, beginning the first Monday in March 1, 1977, \$175,400,000 \$165,400,000.

SECTION 391u. 79.055 of the statutes is created to read:

79.055 Distribution to counties and municipalities. Beginning April 20, 1975, and annually thereafter, there shall be paid from the shared tax account an amount necessary for making payments under s. 70.996.

SECTION 392. 79.06 of the statutes is amended to read:

79.06 Minimum payments. If the 1972 shared tax payment and the 1972 real property tax credit to a municipality is less than 90% of the 1971 shared tax payment and the 1971 real property tax credit to that municipality, it shall receive an additional amount equal to the difference, but ~~no municipality may receive more than \$600 per capita annually because of this payment~~ this additional amount may not exceed \$600 per capita to any municipality. Such 1971 and 1972 shared tax payments shall be determined before adjustment for claims under s. 71.14 (3). ~~The 1973 shared tax payment shall include 90% of the amount a municipality would have received in 1972 if the \$600 per capita maximum had not been in effect, but the 1973 payment remains subject to the \$600 per capita maximum.~~ Beginning in 1973 and thereafter, each municipality shall in any calendar year receive no less than 90% of the amount payable to it, before adjustment for claims under s. 71.14 (3), in the prior calendar year. ~~Any municipality receiving moneys under this section may share a portion determined by it of its 1972 payment under this section with its underlying school districts which received an allocation of utility tax payments under s. 76.28, 1969 stats except that in a municipality whose 1972 minimum payment was affected by the \$600 per capita limitation the total 1973 payment shall equal 90% of the amount that the municipality would have received in 1972 if the \$600 per capita maximum had not been in effect, but the 1973 minimum payment remains subject to the \$600 per capita maximum. Minimum payments in 1974 and subsequent years shall not exceed \$600 per capita to any municipality.~~

SECTION 393. 79.10 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

79.10 (1) DISTRIBUTION. On March 1 ~~of each year, 1973,~~ the amount appropriated under s. 20.835 (2) (a) shall be distributed by the department of administration to towns, villages and cities in allocable shares pursuant to sub. (2), and taxpayers subject to tax under ss. 76.13, 76.38 and 76.48 in allocable shares certified by the department of revenue pursuant to sub. (1a) (b). In addition, commencing with March

1, 1972, and ending March 1, 1973, the amount stated in s. 79.05 shall be distributed on each March 1 by the department of administration to towns, villages and cities in allocable shares pursuant to sub. (2). On the first Monday in March of each year, commencing in March 1974, the amount appropriated under s. 20.835 (2) (a) and the amount stated in s. 79.05 shall be distributed by the department of administration to towns, villages and cities in allocable shares pursuant to sub. (2), and to taxpayers subject to taxation under ss. 76.13, 76.38 and 76.48, in allocable shares pursuant to sub. (1a), all as certified by the department of revenue.

SECTION 394. 79.10 (1a) (b) of the statutes is amended to read:

79.10 (1a) (b) That portion of the ~~appropriation provided by s. 20.835 (2) (a)~~ amount distributable under sub. (1) to grant property tax relief as set forth in par. (a) to taxpayers that paid taxes and license fees levied pursuant to ss. 76.13, 76.38 and 76.48 shall be paid to such taxpayers on March 1, 1963, and on the first Monday in March 1 annually thereafter of each year. The department of revenue shall certify a refund roll to the department of administration which department shall remit directly to the taxpayers. In the case of light, heat and power companies, conservation and regulation companies, and pipeline companies, the credit shall be applied against the payment due under s. 76.13 (2) on November 10 of the preceding year and, in the case of all other companies upon which taxes are levied under s. 76.13 (1), the credit shall be paid directly to them on November 10 of the preceding year, commencing with credits otherwise payable on March 1, 1973, and on the first Monday in March in succeeding years.

SECTION 395. 79.10 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

79.10 (2) ALLOCATION. Participation in the 1973 allocation under sub. (1) shall be limited to municipalities having an average computed full value rate in excess of 17 mills. The excess of the average computed full value rate over 17 mills of each participating municipality in 1973 shall be multiplied by the municipality's full value of all taxable property except personal property entitled to tax credit under s. 79.12 for the preceding year, as equalized for state tax purposes. In the case of allocations for the year 1974 and thereafter, the differences between the computed full value rate of the municipality and one-half the state average full value rate for each of the preceding 3 years shall be averaged and, if the 3-year overall computed full value rate of the municipality is in excess of the 3-year overall one-half the state average full value rate, the resulting average shall be multiplied by the municipality's full value of all taxable property except personal property entitled to tax credit under s. 79.12 for the preceding year as equalized for state tax purposes. The allocable share of each participating municipality in the distribution under sub. (1) shall be in the same proportion as the amount determined hereunder for each municipality bears to the total amount, thus determined, of all participating municipalities.

SECTION 395m. 79.10 (3) (intro.) of the statutes is amended to read:

79.10 (3) (intro.) TAX CREDIT. On or before December 1 of the year preceding ~~each March 1~~ the distribution under sub. (1) in March of each year, the department of revenue shall notify the clerk of each town, village and city of the amount to be distributed to it under sub. (1) on the following first Monday in March 1. The anticipated receipt of such distribution shall not be taken into consideration in determining the tax rate of the municipality but shall be applied as tax credits, as follows:

SECTION 395s. 79.10 (4) (a) of the statutes is amended to read:

CHAPTER 90

370

79.10 (4) (a) "Computed full value rate" means the sum total of all general property taxes (including state, county, local and school taxes), the total amount of all special assessments made, assessed or levied for the year irrespective of the manner or time of collection, sewer service charges, occupational taxes, forest crop taxes and woodlands taxes levied and extended by a town, village or city, as reported to the department of revenue in its abstract of assessments and taxes, divided by the full value of all taxable property in such municipality as equalized for state purposes pursuant to s. 70.57. and the quotient expressed in mills per dollar of valuation.

SECTION 396. 79.12 (1) (intro.) and (b) and (2) of the statutes are amended to read:

79.12 (1) (intro.) ~~On or before February 15, 1963, and annually thereafter~~ Annually on the 3rd Monday in February, the department of administration shall remit to the treasurers of each taxation district from the appropriation made under s. 20.835 (2) (b) an amount as certified to the department of administration by the department of revenue pursuant to par. (c).

(b) If the local level of assessment on personal property is greater than the local level of assessment on real property in a tax district as determined by the department under ss. 70.57 and 73.06 (5), the amount referred to in par. (c) shall be ~~60%~~ 65% of the tax that would have been levied had the personal property been assessed at a level no higher than the real property, except that commencing with the February 1, ~~1973~~ 1974, certification, the percentage referred to herein shall be ~~65%~~ 80% and commencing with the February 1, 1976 certification the percentage referred to herein shall be 85% and commencing with the February 1, 1977 certification the percentage referred to herein shall be 90%. If the local level of assessment on personal property is no greater than the local level of assessment on real property the amount referred to in par. (c) shall be ~~60%~~ 65% of the tax levied on merchants' stock in trade, manufacturers' materials and finished products, and livestock, except that commencing with the February 1, ~~1973~~ 1974, certification, the percentage referred to herein shall be ~~65%~~ 80% and commencing with the February 1, 1976 certification the percentage referred to herein shall be 85% and commencing with the February 1, 1977 certification the percentage referred to herein shall be 90%.

(2) The clerk of each taxation district shall apportion to each taxpayer against whom a levy was made in the preceding year on merchants' stock in trade, manufacturers' materials and finished products, and livestock ~~60%~~ 65% of such levy as determined under sub. (1) (b), except that commencing with the apportionment based on the May 1, ~~1972~~ 1973, assessments, the percentage referred to herein shall be ~~65%~~ 80%, and commencing with the apportionment based on the May 1, 1975, assessments, the percentage referred to herein shall be 85% and commencing with the May 1, 1976, assessments, the percentage referred to herein shall be 90%. The department shall furnish the apportionment factor to the clerks of the tax districts on or before December 1.

SECTION 396e. Subchapter III of chapter 79 of the statutes is created to read:

SUBCHAPTER III
STATE AID FOR LOCAL LAW ENFORCEMENT COSTS

79.20 General provisions. In this subchapter:

(1) Aidable local law enforcement costs, referred to in this subchapter as "aidable costs", are total expenditures by municipalities for police purposes or by counties for sheriff and traffic patrol purposes including, but not limited to, salaries, wages, fringe benefits, equipment, general operating costs, including school crossing

guards unless paid by the school, water patrol and traffic patrol regardless of whether such traffic patrol is part of the sheriff's office; but not including capital improvements, the repayment of debt for capital improvements, traffic signs and devices or the costs of weapons; minus the aid received from ss. 20.370 (1) (xm) and 20.455 (3) (b), aid received for training law enforcement officers as defined in s. 165.85 (2) (b) and other aids specifically designated for police purposes but not minus the aid received under this subchapter.

(2) "Crimes" are the number of "index crimes" as last reported by the department of justice's report of crimes and arrests.

(3) "Equalized valuation" means the value of taxable property in a jurisdiction as certified by the department of revenue for the calendar year preceding the year the aidable costs occur.

(4) "Guaranteed tax base" means a per capita amount which is used for calculating aids under s. 79.21 (1). For the 1974 payment, this amount is \$8,250. Annually thereafter, the secretary of revenue shall establish an amount for the guaranteed tax base so that the aids calculated under s. 79.21 (1) constitute the same average per cent of aidable costs which are in excess of one mill times equalized valuation as they constitute in 1974.

(5) Municipality's or county's guaranteed tax base is the amount in sub. (4) multiplied by the population of the municipality or county.

(6) "Multiplication factor" means an amount inserted in the formula for computing aids under s. 79.21 (2). For the 1974 payment this amount shall be \$30,000,000. Annually thereafter, the secretary of revenue shall establish an amount for this factor so that aids computed under s. 79.21 (2) will constitute the same average per cent of aidable costs which are in excess of one mill times equalized valuation in the units of government eligible to receive aid under s. 79.21 (2) as they constitute in 1974.

(8) Jurisdictions eligible under s. 79.21 (1) are counties or municipalities for which an amount of aid greater than zero is calculated according to s. 79.21 (1). Jurisdictions eligible under s. 79.21 (2) are counties or municipalities for which an amount of aid greater than zero is calculated according to s. 79.21 (2).

(9) "Population" means the number of persons residing in each municipality and county of the state as ~~last~~ determined by the department of administration under s. 16.96. Vetoed
in Part

79.21 Formula for aid. Financial aid shall be paid to certain municipalities and counties according to sub. (1) or (2), whichever provides the greater amount. Payments shall be made on June 1 annually beginning in 1974. Funds appropriated under s. 20.855 (2) (c) for the purposes of this subchapter shall be awarded on a pro rata basis in 1974-75 if approved aid amounts exceed the biennial appropriation ceiling.

(1) The state shall pay aid to selected municipalities and counties which have aidable costs in excess of an amount equal to one mill on the equalized valuation of that municipality or county. The state shall pay an amount determined by dividing aidable costs, minus one mill on the equalized valuation of the municipality or county, by the municipality's or county's guaranteed tax base and multiplying the quotient so derived by the amount by which the municipality's or county's guaranteed tax base exceeds the equalized valuation of the municipality or county. Applications shall be on forms prescribed by the department of revenue and shall be received by May 1. All municipalities and counties in the state shall submit applications under this subsection.

Aid to any applicant applying late shall be reduced by 3% for every day the application is late.

(2) The state shall pay aid to certain municipalities and counties for which the department of justice publishes crimes. Aid shall be determined by the department of revenue by dividing the number of crimes in each municipality and county for the last 3 years by the total number of crimes in the state for the last 3 years and multiplying the resulting quotient by the multiplication factor and subtracting from the product so determined an amount equal to one mill on the equalized valuation of the municipality or county. For a municipality or county to be eligible to receive aid under this subsection the municipality or county must submit an application under sub. (1).

79.22 Use of funds and state review. (1) Aid received under this subchapter may be expended for any local law enforcement purpose except they may not be expended for any purpose or item which is not aidable under s. 79.20 (1).

(2) Each municipality and county must maintain accounting records and procedures adequate to reflect use of funds and to establish that such funds have not been used in violation of sub. (1).

(3) Beginning in 1975, each claim for funds under this subchapter must be accompanied by a use of funds report for such funds received in the preceding year. Claims for funds and use of funds reports are subject to site audits by the department of revenue without cost to the local unit of government. If the amount of costs claimed is found to be overstated, the next payment shall deduct an amount equal to the state aid received because of the overstated costs. If funds have been allocated in violation of sub. (1), the next payment shall deduct an amount equal to the amount spent in violation of sub. (1).

79.23 Nondiscrimination. In order to receive funds under this subchapter the recipient municipality or county must agree not to discriminate as defined in subch. II of ch. 111 against any employe or any applicant for employment in the police or sheriff service. State aids under this subchapter shall be terminated for any municipality or county if there is a final determination by a state or federal agency or by a state or federal court that the municipality or county or its police or sheriff department is discriminating in police or sheriff employment.

SECTION 396r. 84.51 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

84.51 (1) The highway commission, with the approval of the secretary of transportation and the governor subject to the limits of s. 20.866 (2) (ur) and (us) may direct that state debt be contracted for the ~~construction of highways as~~ purposes set forth in ~~sub. subs.~~ (2) and (3) subject to the limits set ~~herein~~ therein. Said debts shall be contracted in accordance with ch. 18.

SECTION 396t. 84.51 (3) of the statutes is created to read:

Vetoed
in Part 84.51 (3) It is the intent of the legislature that state debt not to exceed \$25,000,000 may be incurred for the construction, reconstruction and resurfacing of 2-lane state trunk highways under ch. 84, excluding freeways, expressways, bridges and the interstate system. The highway advisory committee of the legislative council shall review all projects approved by the department to be funded under this section.

SECTION 397. 85.01 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

85.01 Definitions. In this chapter:

(1) "Department" means the department of transportation.

(2) "Secretary" means the secretary of transportation.

SECTION 397e. 85.02 and 85.03 of the statutes are renumbered 85.03 and 85.04, respectively.

SECTION 397m. 85.02 of the statutes is created to read:

85.02 Planning, promotion and protection. The department may direct, undertake and expend state and federal aid for planning, promotion and protection activities in the areas of highways, motor vehicles, traffic law enforcement, aeronautics, mass transit systems and for any other transportation mode as well as for ports, harbors and waterways when requested by a state, regional or municipal agency or harbor commission. All state, regional and municipal agencies and commissions created under authority of law shall to the extent practicable, when dealing with transportation, follow the recommendations made by the secretary.

SECTION 397s. 85.05 and 85.06 of the statutes are created to read:

85.05 Mass transit aid program. (1) DEFINITIONS. In this section:

(a) "Eligible recipient" means any county, municipality or town, or agency thereof, providing financial assistance to or operating an urban mass transit system in operation on the effective date of this act (1973).

(b) "Total operating deficit" means the amount by which the total operating expenses (not to include return on investment) incurred in the operation of a mass transit system exceeds the amount of operating revenue derived therefrom.

(c) "Urban mass transit system" means a mass transit system, either publicly or privately owned, which provides to the public general or special service on a regular and continuing basis in any area that includes a city or village which is appropriate, in the judgment of the secretary, for an urban mass transit system.

(2) PURPOSE. The purpose of this section is to promote the general public good by preserving mass transit systems in this state, and to thereby reduce the need for even greater public expenditures for highways and afford the benefits of a transportation system to those persons who would not otherwise have an available method of transportation.

(3) ADMINISTRATION. The department shall administer the mass transit aid program and shall have all the powers necessary and convenient to implement this section, including the following powers:

(a) To receive applications for aid under this section and to prescribe the form, nature and extent of information which shall be contained in applications.

(b) To make and execute contracts with any eligible recipient to ensure the continuance of quality urban mass transit service at reasonable fares. Payments under such contracts to eligible recipients shall not exceed two-thirds of the total operating deficit of the urban mass transit system involved. No such contract shall be effective for a period of more than one year in length and shall not be enforceable against the state unless eligible recipients pay the total operating deficit of the urban mass transit system involved on a schedule approved by the department.

(c) To determine the total operating deficit of any urban mass transit system in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and practices. In determining such total operating deficit the department shall consider all increases in expenses and reductions in revenues of the urban mass transit system after the effective date of this section (1973) and may disallow portions or all of any such increase or

reduction. If more than one county, municipality or town contributes assistance to the operation of an urban mass transit system, the aid distributable under this section shall be allocated among the contributors in proportion to their contributions.

(d) To apply for and receive federal grants for the department or as requested on behalf of eligible recipients.

85.06 Mass transit planning and demonstration projects. (1) The department may engage in mass transit planning and demonstration projects. Such projects shall be designed to plan or demonstrate the effect of improved mass transit service in reducing urban vehicular travel, meeting total urban transportation needs at minimum cost, and reducing urban highway and parking facility requirements.

(2) The secretary shall determine the suitability of municipalities and counties served by mass transit systems for planning or demonstration projects.

(3) Suitable municipalities and counties may request grants from the department. Applications for such grants shall specify the program of planning or improvements for which the grant is to be used. Such programs may include:

- (a) Improvement in accessibility of public transportation;
- (b) Improvement in the quality of mass transit service to passengers;
- (c) Improvement in the economic performance of mass transit systems; and

(d) Reduction of adverse impacts of vehicular transportation on the urban environment.

(4) The secretary may approve grants up to 100% of the cost of a mass transit planning or demonstration project from funds available under s. 20.395 (7). Uniform accounting procedures and documentation requirements may be established by the department.

(5) Nothing in this section prohibits the secretary from approving planning and demonstration grants for rural areas.

SECTION 398. 86.35 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

86.35 Distribution of privilege highway tax. From the appropriation made by s. 20.395 (1) (qd), the department of transportation shall pay annually on October 15, to the state treasurer a privilege highway tax in the amount set forth in this section. Such amount shall be entered in the municipal and county shared tax account and distributed under subch. I of ch. 79. Such amount shall be determined by estimating and allocating an amount equal to 11% of the estimated net registration and title fees, derived from vehicles registered under s. 341.25 (1) (c), (d) or (e) and 20% of the estimated net registration and title fees to be derived from all other vehicles registered under ch. 341, in each fiscal year, excluding fees collected from nonresidents pursuant to reciprocity agreements.

SECTION 398m. 93.24 (7) of the statutes is created to read:

93.24 (7) **OLYMPIC ICE RINK.** The state fair park board shall manage and supervise all activities in connection with the Olympic ice rink. Operating costs of the Olympic ice rink shall be paid from the appropriation under s. 20.115 (4) (g).

SECTION 398s. 93.24 (8) of the statutes is created to read:

93.24 (8) **FUND FOR SPECIAL EVENTS AND CHANGE PURPOSES.** Of the receipts from the operation of the state fair park, not to exceed \$60,000 during the period one month preceding and one week after the annual state fair and \$25,000 at all other times may

be deposited as an imprest cash fund in a Milwaukee or West Allis bank approved by the state treasurer as a fund upon which to draw or obtain sufficient change for operation of the state fair and state fair park.

SECTION 427. 110.07 (1) (a) (intro.) of the statutes is amended to read:

110.07 (1) (a) (intro.) The administrator of the division of motor vehicles shall employ not to exceed 375 traffic officers, ~~18 of whom shall be employed as inspectors to implement the random motor vehicle inspection provisions of s. 110.075.~~ Such traffic officers, in addition to the director of the bureau of enforcement of the division of motor vehicles, shall constitute the state traffic patrol, and shall:

SECTION 428. 110.075 (title), (2) and (3) of the statutes are amended to read:

110.075 (title) Motor vehicle inspection. (2) When directed by any traffic officer or motor vehicle inspector, the operator of any motor vehicle shall stop and submit such motor vehicle to an inspection and such tests as are necessary to determine whether it meets the requirements of this section, or that its equipment is not in proper adjustment or repair, or in violation of the equipment provisions of ch. 347. Such inspection shall be made with respect to the brakes, lights, turn signals, steering, horns and warning devices, glass, mirrors, exhaust system, windshield wipers, tires, and other items of equipment designated by the administrator of the division of motor vehicles.

(3) Upon determining that a motor vehicle is in conformity with sub. (2), ~~the inspecting team traffic officers or motor vehicle inspectors~~ shall issue to the operator an official inspection sticker which shall be in such form as the administrator prescribes. The official inspection sticker issued following ~~a random or voluntary an~~ inspection shall exempt the inspected vehicle from ~~random~~ vehicle inspection for a period of one year.

SECTION 429. 110.075 (4), (5), (8), (9), (10) and (11m) of the statutes are repealed.

SECTION 430. 110.075 (6) of the statutes is renumbered 110.075 (4) and amended to read:

110.075 (4) When any motor vehicle is found to be unsafe for operation, ~~the inspecting team traffic officers or motor vehicle inspectors~~ may order it removed from the highway and not operated, except for purposes of removal and repair, until it has been repaired pursuant to a repair order as provided in sub. ~~(7)~~ (5).

SECTION 431. 110.075 (7) and (12) of the statutes are renumbered 110.075 (5) and (7), respectively.

SECTION 432. 110.075 (11) of the statutes is renumbered 110.075 (6) and amended to read:

110.075 (6) The administrator shall set standards and promulgate rules to establish a plan of inspection to implement the ~~random and voluntary~~ inspection program provided by this section, and he shall submit such standards and rules, and any subsequent changes therein, to the assembly and senate committees on highways acting jointly for their approval.

SECTION 433. 111.07 (13) of the statutes is amended to read:

111.07 (13) A transcribed copy of the evidence and proceedings or any part thereof on any hearing taken by the stenographer appointed by the commission, being certified by such stenographer to be a true and correct transcript, carefully compared by him with his original notes, and to be a correct statement of such evidence and

proceedings, shall be received in evidence with the same effect as if such reporter were present and testified to the fact so certified. ~~A copy of such transcript shall be furnished on demand free of cost to any party (all of the members of a single organization being considered a single party).~~

SECTION 434. 111.09 of the statutes is amended to read:

111.09 (title) Rules, regulations and orders; Transcripts. The commission may adopt reasonable and proper rules and regulations relative to the exercise of its powers and authority and proper rules to govern its proceedings and to regulate the conduct of all elections and hearings. The commission shall, upon request, provide transcripts of proceedings to any party to the proceeding at a rate of 60 cents per 25-line page for the first copy and 20 cents per 25-line page for each additional copy.

SECTION 435. 111.71 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

111.71 (1) The commission may adopt reasonable rules relative to the exercise of its powers and authority and its proceedings thereunder. The commission shall, upon request, provide transcripts of proceedings to any party to the proceeding at a rate of 60 cents per 25-line page for the first copy and 20 cents per 25-line page for each additional copy.

SECTION 436. 111.94 of the statutes is amended to read:

111.94 (title) Commission rules; transcripts. The commission may adopt reasonable and proper rules relative to the exercise of its powers and authority and proper rules to govern its proceedings and to regulate the conduct of all elections and hearings. The commission shall, upon request, provide transcripts of proceedings to any party to the proceeding at a rate of 60 cents per 25-line page for the first copy and 20 cents per 25-line page for each additional copy.

SECTION 437. 115.01 (3) of the statutes is amended to read:

115.01 (3) SCHOOL DISTRICTS. The school district is the territorial unit for school administration. School districts are classed as common school districts, union high school districts, unified school districts, city school districts and school systems organized pursuant to ch. 119. A joint school district is a school district whose territory is not wholly in one municipality. ~~“Basic aid district” and “integrated aid district” mean school districts which meet the requirements set forth in s. 121.02 and refer to classification for state aid purposes only.~~

SECTION 437m. 115.28 (11) of the statutes is created to read:

115.28 (11) STATE AID BUDGET CALCULATIONS. In preparing the biennial budget request of the department, calculate the amounts of general state aid which are needed by multiplying the estimated current equalized valuation of the state by an appropriate mill rate and subtracting that amount from the estimated statewide shared costs.

~~SECTION 437s. 115.295 of the statutes is created to read:~~

Vetoed
in Part

~~115.295 Deputy state superintendent and other staff. The state superintendent shall select a deputy to hold the position of deputy at the pleasure of the state superintendent. The deputy shall exercise the superintendent's powers, duties and functions in the superintendent's absence, and shall perform such other duties as the superintendent prescribes. In addition to the deputy, the superintendent may appoint 2 additional professional assistants. Such persons may be appointed either from within or without the classified service.~~

SECTION 439. 115.53 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

115.53 (1) Provide for the education of deaf-blind children of suitable capacity to receive instruction either in a special class for that purpose outside the state or in a special class to be established within the state whenever there is a sufficient number of deaf-blind children to warrant the establishment of such class. The cost of such education and the transportation cost of the children and their guardians, when required, shall be charged to the appropriation in s. 20.255 (1) (d).

SECTION 439m. 115.82 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

115.82 (2) Tuition shall be charged nonresidents admitted to special programs for handicapped children in accordance with this section. For each part of a program, the tuition for a nonresident handicapped child shall be determined on the basis of costs, aids and children in such part for the preceding year by adding together the total cost of items reported under s. 115.85 (1) ~~and~~, the actual cost of operation and maintenance not so reported and amounts expended as principal and interest on long-term indebtedness on those facilities used by such part of a program, by subtracting from such sum federal, state and county aids and then dividing this ~~amount~~ difference by the number of children in average daily membership.

SECTION 440. 115.85 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

115.85 (1) If, upon receipt of the report under s. 115.80 (3), the state superintendent is satisfied that the special school, class, center or other service has been maintained during the preceding year in accordance with law, he shall certify to the department of administration in favor of each county, cooperative educational service agency and school district maintaining such schools, classes, centers and other services a sum equal to 70% of the amount expended by the county, agency and school district during the preceding year for salaries of qualified personnel enumerated in s. 115.80 (1), transportation and board and lodging of children residing within the county, agency or school district, special books and equipment used in programs under this subchapter and other expenses approved by the state superintendent, except that salaries of school psychologists and school social workers shall be reimbursed at a rate equal to 50% of approved costs for employment in 1972-73 and 33-1/3% of approved costs for employment thereafter, without regard to whether they are employed in a program for handicapped children. The department of administration shall pay such amounts to the county, agency and school district from the appropriation under s. 20.255 (1) (d).

SECTION 442. Subchapter V of chapter 115 of the statutes is created to read:

SUBCHAPTER V
SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS
(to precede s. 115.90)

115.90 Definitions. (1) In this subchapter, "pupils with special educational needs", means pupils who have or are likely to have low levels of academic achievement, especially in relation to social and economic factors.

(2) Any public school district which is determined to have pupils with special needs according to s. 115.91 may apply for funds under s. 115.92. Nonprofit, nonsectarian agencies may apply for funds under s. 115.92. Prior to accepting applications from any such agency, the state superintendent shall determine that it has adequate management and accounting capacity and such agency shall agree that its accounts related to such programs may be audited.

115.91 Identification of pupils with special educational needs. (1) Annually the state superintendent shall establish criteria by which characteristics of social and

CHAPTER 90

378

economic factors can be measured and on which he will make grants to school districts or agencies for programs for pupils with special educational needs.

(2) Each school district or agency for which a program is approved under s. 115.92 shall select the individuals who have or are likely to have the greatest special educational needs.

115.92 Application and approval of programs to serve pupils with special educational needs. (1) Annually the state superintendent shall issue guidelines for developing and approving programs for serving pupils with special educational needs. Such guidelines shall incorporate the factors which in his judgment provide the greatest likelihood for successful programs.

(2) The school districts and other agencies eligible under s. 115.90 shall submit applications to serve the number of pupils determined under s. 115.91. Such proposals shall demonstrate how other available funds will be incorporated into the program, that funds under s. 20.255 (1) (fd) will be directed to the pupils selected under s. 115.90 and that funds under s. 20.255 (1) (fd) will not be used to supplant or replace other funds otherwise available for these pupils.

(3) The state superintendent shall approve applications which he determines will enhance the potential for academic success of the pupils. Priority shall be given to programs for preschool and primary elementary grade children.

115.94 Local advisory program councils. No application for funds under this subchapter shall be reviewed by the state superintendent unless the school district or other eligible applicant has established a local advisory program council consisting of parents, community representatives, school administrators and teachers to advise on the development of applications and the implementation of approved programs.

SECTION 442e. 116.08 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

116.08 (1) ~~Annually, there shall be paid not exceeding \$34,000~~ An amount not to exceed \$35,500 in 1973-74 and \$36,200 annually thereafter shall be paid to each agency for the maintenance and operation of the office of the board of control and agency coordinator. No state aid may be paid unless the agency submits by August 1 an annual report which includes a detailed certified statement of its expenses for the prior year to the state superintendent, and such statement reveals that the state aid was expended as provided by this section. In no case may the state aid exceed the actual expenditures for the prior year as certified in such statement.

SECTION 442m. 116.52 (3) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

116.52 (3) Each agency treasurer shall keep an account of the expenses of the committee. Annually, on or before August 1, the agency treasurer shall submit a claim for such expenses to the department on such forms as the department requires. The claim shall be audited, and the state superintendent shall certify the approved amount thereof to the department of administration which shall pay such amount to the agency from the appropriation under s. 20.255 (1) (fc).

SECTION 444. 118.08 (2) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 445. 118.08 (3) of the statutes is renumbered 118.08 (2).

SECTION 446. 119.04 of the statutes is amended to read:

119.04 Public instruction laws applicable. Subchapter I of ch. 121 and ss. ~~59.07 (21) (a),~~ 66.03 (3) (c), 115.01 (1) and (2), 115.76, 115.77, 115.79 to 115.85, 118.03 (1) (b) to (d) and (2), 118.04, 118.06, 118.07, 118.10, 118.12 (1), 118.14, 118.15,

118.16 (1), (2) and (4) to (6), 118.18, 118.19 (7), 118.20, 118.24 (2) to (5), 120.13 (1), 120.16 (6), 120.49 (6), 120.61, 121.52, 121.53, 121.54 (1), (3) and (4), 121.55, 121.58 (2) (b), (4) and (6), 121.77 (1), 121.79, 121.80, 121.81 (2), 121.82 (1), 121.83 and 121.84 (1) are applicable to the board of school directors and to schools in cities of the 1st class. The board shall exercise the powers, perform the functions and be entitled to all school aid therein provided insofar as the same are relevant to cities of the 1st class. The board and the schools in cities of the 1st class shall be governed in all matters by the general laws of the state, except as altered or modified by express amendments.

SECTION 446m. 120.12 (3) of the statutes is amended to read:

120.12 (3) TAX FOR OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE. (a) On or before the 3rd Monday in October, determine the amount necessary to be raised to operate and maintain the schools of the school district if the annual meeting has not voted a tax sufficient for such purposes for the ensuing school term. The On or before the last working day in October, the school district clerk shall certify the appropriate amount so determined to each appropriate municipal clerk who shall assess the amount certified to him and enter it on the tax rolls as other school district taxes are assessed and entered.

(b) If a tax sufficient to operate and maintain the schools of a school district for the ensuing school year has not been determined, certified and levied prior to the effective date of school district reorganization, except an attachment to a city school district, affecting any territory of the school district, the school board of the reorganized school district shall determine, on or before the 3rd Monday of October following the effective date of the reorganization, the amount of deficiency in operation and maintenance funds on the effective date of the reorganization which should have been paid by the property in the reorganized school district if such tax had been determined, certified and assessed prior to the effective date of the reorganization. The On or before the last working day in October, the school district clerk shall certify the appropriate amount to each appropriate municipal clerk who shall assess, enter and collect such amount as a special tax on such property. This paragraph does not affect the apportionment of assets and liabilities under s. 66.03.

(c) If on or before the 3rd Monday in October the school board determines that the annual meeting has voted a tax greater than that needed to operate the schools of the school district for the ensuing school year, the school board may lower the tax voted by the annual meeting. The On or before the last working day in October, the school district clerk shall certify the appropriate amount so determined to each appropriate municipal clerk who shall assess the amount certified to him and enter it on the tax rolls in lieu of the amount previously reported.

SECTION 447. 120.16 (6) of the statutes is created to read:

120.16 (6) Annually on or before June 30 make payments out of general property taxes collected for the district to the state treasurer to make settlement for any amounts certified to him by the state superintendent under s. 121.08 (3).

SECTION 447g. 120.17 (8) (a) and (c) of the statutes are amended to read:

120.17 (8) (a) Annually on or before ~~August 31~~ the last working day in October, deliver to the clerk of each municipality having territory within the school district a certified statement showing that proportion of the amount of taxes voted and not before reported, and that proportion of the amount of tax to be collected in such year, if any, for the annual payment of any loan to be assessed on that part of the school district territory lying within the municipality. Such proportion shall be determined from the full values certified to the school district clerk under s. 121.06 (2).

(c) If an order of school district reorganization or an ordinance of annexation is effective after May 1 and before October 1 of any year, the school district clerks of the school districts affected shall prepare the certified statement under par. (a) based on the equalized valuation of the school districts as altered by the order and related to the equalized valuation of the year upon which the tax levy is required to be made. If the school district clerk has filed such statement prior to the effective date of the order, he shall file a corrected certification which shall be accepted by the clerks of the municipalities affected and acted upon by them as provided in par. (a). Failure of the school district clerk to file a corrected certification of the levy based on the equalized valuation of each of the municipalities or portions thereof within the school district shall be corrected by the school district clerk by an appropriate adjustment in the levy certified in the following year.

SECTION 447r. 120.76 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 448. 121.02 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

121.02 School district standards. (1) In order to be eligible for state aids under s. 121.08, a school district shall meet the following standards under criteria established by the department in compliance with sub. (2).

(a) Every teacher, supervisor, administrator and professional staff member shall hold a certificate, license or permit to teach issued by the department before entering on duties for such position.

(b) Every teacher shall be paid at least the minimum salary and granted the sick leave specified in s. 121.17 and the district shall comply with ss. 42.39 to 42.43, 118.01, 118.02, 118.07 (2) and 120.13 (14).

(c) It shall provide a planned, continuous in-service program for the professional staff.

(d) Provision shall be made for remedial reading services for under-achieving students in grades kindergarten through grade 3.

(e) It shall operate a 5-year-old kindergarten program.

(f) It shall operate, or be part of a cooperative, or otherwise make provision for special education programs for handicapped students as identified in s. 115.76 (1).

(g) It shall make available guidance and counseling services.

(h) School shall be held and students shall receive actual instruction for at least 180 days with additional days included as provided in s. 115.01 (10).

(i) Provision shall be made for emergency nursing services.

(j) It shall provide adequate instructional materials, texts and library services which reflect the cultural diversity and pluralistic nature of American society.

(k) It shall make adequate provision for safe and healthful facilities.

(L) Provision shall be made for instruction in elementary and high schools by qualified teachers in health, physical education, art and music.

(m) A school district operating only elementary grades shall levy a tax at a rate of at least 3 mills. A school district operating only grades 9 to 12 shall levy a tax at a rate of at least 3 mills. A school district operating both elementary and high school grades shall levy a tax at a rate of at least 5 mills.

(2) A school district, in order to be eligible for state aids under s. 121.08, shall be in compliance with at least one-third of the standards established in this section by July 1, 1973, except as provided in sub. (3). A school district, in order to be eligible for state aids under s. 121.08, shall be in compliance with at least two-thirds of the standards established in this section by July 1, 1974, except as provided in sub. (3). A school district, in order to be eligible for state aids under s. 121.08, shall be in compliance with all standards established in this section by July 1, 1975, except as provided in sub. (3).

(3) Union high school districts are exempt from standards in sub. (1) (d) and (e) but are subject to all other provisions of this section.

SECTION 449. 121.03 and 121.04 of the statutes are repealed.

SECTION 449g. 121.06 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

121.06 (1) Annually on or before ~~August~~ October 1, the full value of the taxable property in each school district, in each part of a city, village and town in a joint school district and in each city authorized to issue bonds for school purposes, including territory attached only for school purposes, shall be determined by the department of revenue according to its best judgment from all sources of information available to it and shall be certified by the department to the state superintendent.

SECTION 449r. 121.07 (4) of the statutes is amended to read:

121.07 (4) SCHOOL DISTRICT EQUALIZED VALUATION. "School district equalized valuation" is the full value of the taxable property of the territory in the school district as ~~last certified~~ for the prior year under s. 121.06 (2) through aids paid for 1973-74 after which it is for the current year.

SECTION 450. 121.07 (5) (a), (b) and (d) of the statutes are amended to read:

121.07 (5) (a) The number of pupils enrolled and teacher-pupil ratio of the school district on the 3rd Friday in September and the estimated ~~net operating~~ shared cost for the current school year shall be used in computing state aid.

(b) If the school district valuation is increased or decreased due to an alteration in school district boundaries before the 3rd Friday in September, the estimated ~~net operating~~ shared cost for the current school year and the estimated mill levy rate shall be based on the school district equalized valuation of the territory comprising the altered school district.

(d) At the end of the school year, the department shall adjust state aid payments according to the actual ~~net operating~~ shared cost of the school district for that school year.

CHAPTER 90

382

SECTION 451. 121.07 (6) (title), (a) and (b) of the statutes are amended to read:

121.07 (6) (title) SHARED COST. (a) "~~Net operating~~ Shared cost" is the cost of operation and maintenance of a school district, minus its the operational receipts, ~~for the current school year. Amounts paid by school districts as rent, which are used to retire indebtedness on the buildings or properties for which the rent is paid, shall not be included in the cost of operation and maintenance in computing state aid and amounts received under s. 79.04 (1) (c), plus the principal and interest payments on long-term indebtedness and annual capital outlay, for the current school year. The sum of the principal and interest payments on long-term indebtedness and annual capital outlay included in shared cost shall not exceed \$100 per pupil.~~

(b) In computing state aid for a school district, that portion of its ~~net operating~~ shared cost per pupil which is more than ~~5%~~ 10% above the average per pupil ~~net operating shared cost~~ for the ~~current~~ previous school year for school districts of like organization, as determined by the state superintendent, shall be excluded except as provided in par. (c).

SECTION 452. 121.07 (6) (c) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

121.07 (6) (c) In computing state aid on the shared cost excluded under par. (b), the secondary guaranteed valuation shall be used.

SECTION 454. 121.07 (7) and (8) of the statutes are repealed.

SECTION 455. 121.07 (7) to (10) of the statutes are created to read:

121.07 (7) SCHOOL DISTRICT GUARANTEED VALUATIONS FOR DISTRICTS OPERATING BOTH ELEMENTARY AND HIGH SCHOOL GRADES. "School district guaranteed valuation" is the amount set forth in pars. (a) and (b) multiplied by the number of resident pupils enrolled.

(a) The primary guaranteed valuation shall be \$71,200 in the 1973-74 school year and \$74,800 thereafter.

(b) The secondary guaranteed valuation shall be an amount rounded to the nearest \$100 determined by dividing the equalized valuation of the state by the number of pupils enrolled in the state.

(8) SCHOOL DISTRICT GUARANTEED VALUATIONS FOR DISTRICTS OPERATING ONLY ELEMENTARY GRADES. "School district guaranteed valuation" is the amount set forth in pars. (a) and (b) multiplied by the number of resident pupils enrolled.

(a) The primary guaranteed valuation shall be \$68,200 in the 1973-74 school year and \$71,600 thereafter.

(b) The secondary guaranteed valuation shall be an amount rounded to the nearest \$100 determined by multiplying the amount in par. (a) by the quotient of the amount in sub. (7) (b) divided by the amount in sub. (7) (a).

(9) SCHOOL DISTRICT GUARANTEED VALUATIONS FOR DISTRICTS OPERATING ONLY HIGH SCHOOL GRADES. "School district guaranteed valuation" is the amount set forth in pars. (a) and (b) multiplied by the number of resident pupils enrolled.

(a) The primary guaranteed valuation shall be \$170,500 in the 1973-74 school year and \$179,100 thereafter.

(b) The secondary guaranteed valuation shall be an amount rounded to the nearest \$100 determined by multiplying the amount in par. (a) by the quotient of the amount in sub. (7) (b) divided by the amount in sub. (7) (a).

(10) MILL LEVY RATE. "Mill levy rate" is the sum of the rates derived in pars. (a) and (b).

(a) The primary required levy rate is the quotient of the shared cost not excluded by sub. (6) (b) divided by the school district primary guaranteed valuation.

(b) The secondary required levy rate is the quotient of the shared costs determined in sub. (6) (c) divided by the school district secondary guaranteed valuation.

SECTION 456. 121.08 of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

121.08 State aids; payments by certain districts. (1) The state shall pay to the school district a sum equal to the amount by which the primary guaranteed valuation exceeds the school district equalized valuation, multiplied by the primary required levy rate and a sum equal to the amount by which the secondary guaranteed valuation exceeds the school district equalized valuation multiplied by the secondary required levy rate.

(2) The school district shall pay to the state the sum of pars. (a) and (b).

(a) Beginning with the 1977-78 school year the amount by which the school district equalized valuation exceeds the primary guaranteed valuation, multiplied by the primary required levy rate.

(b) The amount by which the school district equalized valuation exceeds the secondary guaranteed valuation, multiplied by the secondary required levy rate.

(3) If the net amount computed under subs. (1) and (2) results in a negative sum, that amount shall constitute the negative aid payment due. The negative aid payment due shall be certified to the school district by the state superintendent on or before March 15. The school district treasurer shall transmit the amount certified to the state treasurer on or before May 15. The state treasurer shall credit this amount to the negative aid payment appropriation under s. 20.255 (1) (k). No negative aid payment shall be required under this subsection prior to the 1976-77 school year.

(4) (a) If a school district would receive less general state aid under this section in 1973-74 than it received as general state aid in 1972-73, the net amount computed under subs. (1) and (2) in 1973-74 shall be increased by 90% of the difference between its general state aid in 1972-73 and the net amount computed under subs. (1) and (2).

(b) In each year thereafter in which a school district would receive less general state aid under this section than it received as general state aid in 1972-73, the net amount computed under subs. (1) and (2) in each year shall be increased by a percentage of the difference between its general state aid in 1972-73 and the net amount computed under subs. (1) and (2) in such year. The percentage by which such difference is multiplied under this paragraph shall be reduced by 10 percentage points each year for 9 years thereafter.

(c) For the purposes of this subsection, "general state aid in 1972-73" means the sum of the amounts received as general state aids and the employer's share of teachers retirement and social security payments.

SECTION 457. 121.09 to 121.13 of the statutes are repealed.

SECTION 458. 121.14 (2) (c) of the statutes is amended to read:

121.14 (2) (c) For the purpose of computing state aid, the total number of pupils enrolled in summer classes determined under par. (b) shall be added to the number of pupils enrolled in the school district as reported under s. 121.05. ~~For nonresident high school pupils in summer classes, school districts shall be paid the amounts set forth in ss. 121.09 (3), 121.10 (3), 121.12 (3) and 121.13 (3). School districts shall be paid the sum of \$70 for each nonresident elementary school pupil and \$88 for each nonresident high school pupil in summer classes under this section.~~

SECTION 459. 121.15 of the statutes is amended to read:

121.15 State aid for driver education programs. To promote a uniformly effective driver education program among high school and vocational, technical and adult education school pupils, each school district operating high school grades and each vocational, technical and adult education district shall receive \$30 for each pupil of high school age who successfully completes a course in driver education approved by the department, but in no case may the state aid exceed the actual cost of instruction. If the appropriation under s. 20.255 (1) ~~(q)~~ (r) is inadequate in any year to provide \$30 per pupil, the state aid shall be prorated after the appropriation for administration is deducted. Such state aid shall be paid at the same time as the state aid under ~~ss. s. 121.08 to 121.13~~ is paid.

SECTION 460. 121.16 of the statutes is amended to read:

121.16 State aid to counties. If a county maintains an institution in which children are received for care and if such institution maintains the educational facilities required to be provided by a common school district, the county shall be paid state aid under ss. 115.85 and 121.08 ~~to 121.13~~. The educational facilities in such institutions shall be under the supervision of the department and the coordinator of the cooperative educational service agency in which the institution is located.

SECTION 461. 121.17 (2) (d) of the statutes is created to read:

121.17 (2) (d) File all reports as required by state law.

SECTION 461m. 121.20 of the statutes is amended to read:

121.20 Use of state aid; exemption from execution. All moneys paid to a school district under s. 20.255 (1) (e), (f), (fb) and (fh) ~~and all moneys paid by any county to a school district from taxes under s. 59.07 (21)~~ shall be used by the school district solely for the purposes for which paid. Such moneys are exempt from execution, attachment, garnishment or other process in favor of creditors, except as to claims for salaries or wages of teachers and other school employes and as to claims for school materials, supplies, fuel and current repairs.

SECTION 462. 121.21 of the statutes is amended to read:

121.21 Proration of state aid. If the appropriation under s. 20.255 (1) (f) in any one year is insufficient to pay the full amount under ~~ss. s. 121.08 to 121.13~~, state aid payments shall be prorated among the school districts entitled thereto.

SECTION 462m. 121.22 of the statutes is created to read:

121.22 Use of federal revenue sharing funds. It is the intent of the legislature that school districts receiving federal revenue sharing funds through the state under this subchapter shall utilize these funds in compliance with the federal revenue sharing requirements as defined in the state and local fiscal assistance act of 1972 (P.L. 92-512). The department of public instruction shall assure compliance with this section.

SECTION 463. 121.79 (1) (c) of the statutes is amended to read:

121.79 (1) (c) For ~~mentally~~ handicapped children, ~~including mentally retarded,~~ ~~emotionally disturbed and epileptic children,~~ in foster homes, from the appropriation under s. 20.255 (1) (fb).

SECTION 464. 121.84 (3) (a) of the statutes is amended to read:

121.84 (3) (a) A reorganized school district, in its first year of operating high school grades, may provide for its 11th and 12th grade pupils on a tuition basis and, in its 2nd such year, may provide for its 12th grade pupils on a tuition basis. The clerk of the school district in which nonresident pupils under this subsection are enrolled shall certify the number of such pupils enrolled to the department and to the clerk of their school district of residence. The school district of residence shall include such pupils in determining for state aid purposes the total number of pupils enrolled in the school district ~~and if the school district of residence is determined to be an integrated aid district and eligible for state aid under s. 121.12 (1) or 121.13 (1), it shall be paid state aid for such pupils, reduced by any amounts paid for such pupils under ss. 121.09 (3), 121.10 (3), 121.12 (3) and 121.13 (3).~~

SECTION 464m. 139.04 (9) of the statutes is created to read:

139.04 (9) Sale of wine to industrial wine permittees to be used for industrial purposes.

SECTION 465. 139.60 (2) (a) of the statutes is amended to read:

139.60 (2) (a) An occupational tax is imposed upon the sale, offering or exposing for sale, giving or delivering, of colored oleomargarine or margarine in this state. The rate of this tax shall be 5 1/4 cents per pound of colored oleomargarine or margarine. The tax shall be administered as a stamp tax by the department of revenue and the tax shall terminate on December 31, 1973.

SECTION 467. 140.02 (title) of the statutes is amended to read:

140.02 (title) State health officer; duties.

SECTION 468. 140.02 (2) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 469. 140.02 (1) of the statutes is renumbered 140.02.

SECTION 470. 140.05 (17) of the statutes is created to read:

140.05 (17) The department may by rule fix fees for the examination and approval of plans and specifications of public swimming pools, beaches and bathhouses and collect the same.

SECTION 471m. 140.82 of the statutes is created to read:

140.82 Division of health policy and planning. (1) The division of health policy and planning shall:

(a) Initiate, conduct and periodically evaluate a process for planning to effectively use the resources of the state and meet the health needs of its citizens.

(b) Annually prepare the state comprehensive health plan. The plan shall identify state health goals and priorities, determine health fund allocation priorities, provide for the coordination of federal hospital construction, mental health, alcohol, other drug abuse and developmental disability plans. In addition to coordinating the preparation of health-related federal plans, the division shall coordinate the preparation of public and private state health and health-related plans.

CHAPTER 90

386

- (c) Receive and administer federal funds for state comprehensive health planning.
 - (d) Receive and administer state funds for state health planning.
 - (e) Designate and provide for the development and organization of area-wide health planning agencies as established under P.L. 89-749.
 - (f) Ensure the development of appropriate area-wide health plans by providing technical assistance, preparing plan guidelines and other directives as necessary.
 - (g) Provide information and technical assistance to the executive office and the legislature and public and private organizations as necessary to implement the state's health plan.
 - (h) Contract with area-wide health planning agencies and other organizations to do analyses and studies required to formulate state health policy.
- (2) The administrator shall appoint under the classified service the staff necessary to perform the duties of the division.
- (3) Every department, independent agency and statutory council, and their officers and employees, shall cooperate with the administrator in these matters relating to his functions.

SECTION 472. 140.85 of the statutes is created to read:

140.85 Licensing and approval fees for in-patient health care facilities. (1) **DEFINITIONS.** In this section, "in-patient health care facility" means any hospital, nursing home, residential care facility, county home, county mental hospital, tuberculosis sanatoria or other place, without restriction because of enumeration, licensed or approved by the department under ss. 49.14, 49.16, 49.171, 50.01, 50.02, 51.24, 51.25, 58.06, 140.23, 146.30 and 146.32.

(2) **FEEES.** The annual fee for an in-patient health care facility shall be based on bed capacity as follows:

<u>Number of Beds</u>	<u>Annual License Fee</u>
3-25	\$250
26-50	\$500
51-100	\$750
101-150	\$1,000
151-200	\$1,250
201-250	\$1,500
251-300	\$1,750
300 & over	\$2,000

(a) Such fees shall be paid by the in-patient health care facility on or before May 1 of each year to the department. A new in-patient health care facility shall pay the fees under this subsection within 30 days before the opening of the facility.

(b) Any person who fails to submit the annual fee prior to May 1, or within 30 days prior to the opening of a new in-patient health care facility subject to this section shall pay an additional fee of \$10 per day for every day after the deadline.

(3) **EXEMPTIONS.** Health care facilities under ss. 45.365, 48.62, 50.06, 51.15, 51.21, 51.22 and 51.36 and ch. 142 are exempt from this section.

SECTION 474. 143.07 (6) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 475. 144.41 (4) and (5) of the statutes are amended to read:

144.41 (4) (a) If the department has reason to believe that ~~the absence of an air pollution control program or~~ a program in force pursuant to this section is inadequate

to prevent and control air pollution in the jurisdiction to which such program relates, or that such program is being administered in a manner inconsistent with the requirements of ss. 144.30 to 144.46, the department shall, on due notice, conduct a hearing on the matter.

(b) If, after such hearing, the department determines that a program ~~is required~~ ~~or~~ is inadequate to prevent and control air pollution in the county to which such program relates, or that such program is not accomplishing the purposes of ss. 144.30 to 144.46, it shall require that necessary corrective measures be taken within a reasonable period of time, not to exceed 60 days.

(c) If the county fails to take such necessary corrective action within the time required, the department shall administer within such county all of the regulatory provisions of ss. 144.30 to 144.46. Such air pollution control program shall supersede all county air pollution regulations, ordinances and requirements in the affected jurisdiction. ~~The cost of such administration shall be a charge on the county.~~

(5) Any county in which the department administers its air pollution control program under sub. (4) may, with the approval of the department, ~~establish or~~ resume a county air pollution control program which meets the requirements of sub. (1).

SECTION 475m. 144.54 (3) of the statutes is amended to read:

144.54 (3) In order to provide for adequate departmental field monitoring and related efforts, there is established an annual operating plant discharge monitoring fee to be paid by each person required to report under sub. (1). Such fee shall be based on an administrative fee of \$50 plus an additional operating plant discharge fee, to be set by the department by rule and to be based on the concentration and quantity of pollutants discharged at that plant in relation to the parameters established under sub. (2). The operating plant discharge fee under this subsection shall be paid for each plant at which pollutants are discharged. No annual operating plant discharge monitoring fee established under this subsection may exceed \$10,000.

SECTION 476. 145.02 (3) (g) of the statutes is created to read:

145.02 (3) (g) By rule, fix fees for the examination and approval of plans of plumbing systems and collect the same.

SECTION 478. 146.08 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 480. 165.055 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

165.055 (2) ~~The attorney general shall fix the deputy attorney general's salary at not to exceed \$500 more than the maximum of the highest classified salary range in the department of justice.~~ The deputy attorney general shall give a bond to the state in the sum of \$5,000, with good and sufficient sureties, to be approved by the governor, conditioned for the faithful performance of his duties and the attorney general shall be responsible for all acts of his deputy.

CHAPTER 90

388

SECTION 480c. 165.85 (2) (intro.) and (4) (a) 1 and (b) of the statutes are amended to read:

165.85 (2) (intro.) DEFINITIONS. ~~As used in~~ In this section and in ss. s. 165.86 ~~and 165.87:~~

(4) (a) 1. Law enforcement officers serving under permanent appointment prior ~~to the date to be set by the board under par. (b) January 1, 1974.~~

(b) ~~Commencing on a date to be set by the board, but no later than July 1, 1970,~~ No person shall be appointed as a law enforcement officer, except on a temporary or probationary basis, unless such person has satisfactorily completed a preparatory program of law enforcement training approved by the board and has been certified by the board as being qualified to be a law enforcement officer. The program shall include at least 240 hours of training. The period of temporary or probationary employment established at the time of initial employment shall not be extended by more than one year for an officer lacking the training qualifications required by the board. The total period during which a person may serve as a law enforcement officer on a temporary or probationary basis without completing a preparatory program of law enforcement training approved by the board shall not exceed 2 years. Law enforcement training programs including municipal, county and state programs meeting standards of the board shall be acceptable as meeting these training requirements.

SECTION 480g. 165.85 (5) (b) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

165.85 (5) (b) The board shall authorize, on a uniform percentage basis, the reimbursement to each political subdivision of 100% for the first 240 hours of training, and not less than 60% nor more than 75% for additional training up to 320 hours, of the salary and of the allowable tuition, living and travel expenses incurred by the officers in attendance at schools approved by the board. Additional funds which may be available shall be distributed for attendance at other training programs and courses on a priority basis to be decided by the board. Municipal or county law enforcement training programs meeting standards of the board shall be acceptable as meeting these training requirements.

SECTION 480k. 165.87 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 480m. 174.06 (1) and (2) (intro.) of the statutes are amended to read:

174.06 (1) Every ~~assessor including the county assessor, town, village and city~~ shall annually ascertain by diligent inquiry the dogs owned, harbored or kept within ~~his~~ the assessment district or county. Any ~~assessor other than a county assessor~~ municipal clerk shall receive as compensation therefor 15 cents for each dog listed by him, to be audited and allowed by the county board as other claims against the county and to be paid out of the dog license fund. Every person shall answer frankly and fully all questions which are put to him by the ~~district or county assessor clerk~~ relative to the ownership or keeping of dogs within the district or county. Such ~~assessor clerk~~ shall enter in his ~~blotter or other record~~ records for personal property assessments all dogs in his district or county subject to tax, to whom they are assessed, the name, number, sex, spayed or unspayed, breed and color of each such dog. Such ~~assessor clerk~~ shall make in triplicate a list of the owners of all dogs assessed ~~as shown on the assessment record and shall deliver said copies to the town, village or city clerk at the time of delivery of the assessment roll.~~

(2) (intro.) The ~~assessor of the district or county clerk~~ shall make in triplicate a list of the names of persons owning and operating kennels and the number of dogs kept in each.

SECTION 481. 174.06 (4) of the statutes is created to read:

174.06 (4) Dog licenses need not be entered on any assessment or tax roll other than the lists prepared by the clerk under subs. (1) and (2). Such lists may be deemed property assessment and tax rolls for all tax collection purposes.

SECTION 481c. 176.05 (23) (h) of the statutes is amended to read:

176.05 (23) (h) The cost of administering this subsection shall be borne by the permittees. The ~~secretary of revenue~~ department of justice shall determine such cost and shall by rule establish the procedure and method for apportioning such cost against the permittees, and provide for the method of its payment to or collection by the secretary department.

SECTION 481g. 176.401 (1) (intro.) of the statutes is amended to read:

176.401 (1) (intro.) The tax imposed by ~~chapter ch.~~ 139 shall not apply to alcohol or wine intended for use and used in the manufacture and sale of any of the following when unfit for beverage purposes, namely:

SECTION 481r. 176.407 of the statutes is created to read:

176.407 Industrial wine permit. (1) Any person who proves to the department that he uses wine for industrial purposes may be issued an "industrial wine permit" which shall allow such person to purchase and use wine for such purposes only.

(2) Shipments made of such wine shall be conspicuously labeled "for industrial purposes" and shall meet such other requirements as the department may prescribe by rule.

(3) Such permit shall be issued by the department of revenue for the fee of \$10.

SECTION 483. 204.323 of the statutes is created to read:

204.323 Tuberculosis coverage. No group, blanket, franchise or individual insurance policy of the type of insurance specified under subch. II of ch. 40, or under ss. 148.03, 185.891, 185.991, 200.26, 204.31, 204.32, 204.321, 204.322 or any other statute applicable to health or sickness or casualty insurance policies, except a policy which does not provide hospital or medical expense coverage, shall be issued or delivered in this state unless it contains a provision for a minimum 90 days' continuous coverage of costs for tuberculosis charges, fees or maintenance under ch. 50 including both inpatient care and outpatient dispensary charges or fees. This section shall apply to all such policies issued, delivered or renewed after the effective date of this act (1973).

SECTION 486. 236.12 (7) of the statutes is amended to read:

236.12 (7) The head of the planning function and the state agencies referred to in s. 236.13 (1) may charge reasonable service fees for all or part of the costs of activities and services provided by the head of the planning function under this section and s. 70.27. A schedule of such fees shall be established by rule by each such agency.

~~SECTION 486c. 245.002 of the statutes is renumbered 245.003.~~

~~SECTION 486m. 245.002 of the statutes is created to read:~~

~~**245.002 Declaration of public policy.** It is declared to be the public policy of this state that the provisions of s. 13.96, relating to the family environment and resources council, are made necessary by critical conditions and trends seriously affecting the family life of many of our citizens and thus tending to endanger the common social~~

Vetoed
in Part

good and the health, morals, peace, security and well-being of the people of this state. Such conditions and trends are reflected by:

Vetoed
in Part (1) Department of health and social services statistics, as set forth in the January 1971 final report of the state task force on welfare payments and in the welfare expenditures report of said department for the fiscal year 1969-1970, indicating a) that 48.7% of the welfare cases under the aid to families with dependent children program are families in which the parents were divorced or separated or in which one of the parents had deserted, and b) that over \$45,000,000 in public funds are expended annually in this state for the support and medical care of families which have become indigent because of marital disruption.

(2) Nation-wide surveys showing that 50% of our juvenile delinquents come from broken homes; and

(3) Prison studies revealing that divorced persons have a higher rate of criminal violations than do married persons.

SECTION 486s. 245.15 of the statutes is amended to read:

245.15 Fee to county clerk. Each county clerk shall receive as a fee for each license granted the sum of \$4.50, of which \$3 shall become a part of the funds of the county, and \$1.50 shall be paid into the state treasury appropriation under s. 20.765 (3) (h) for the functions of the family environment and resources council. The clerk shall also receive a standard notary fee of 50 cents for each license granted which may be retained by him if operating on a fee or part fee basis, but which otherwise shall become part of the funds of the county.

SECTION 487. 252.07 of the statutes is amended to read:

252.07 Salary reimbursement; and circuit. For circuits consisting of a county having a population of 500,000 or more, ~~the;~~

(1) The increase in the salary of circuit judges granted by chapter 253, laws of 1969, shall be paid by the state treasurer to the county treasurer, rather than to the circuit judges, as state reimbursement to offset the \$3,000 increase granted to such judges by the county board on January 1, 1969.

(2) The increase in the salary of circuit judges granted by chapter _____ (this act), laws of 1973, and any state increase in said salary under s. 20.923 thereafter, shall be paid by the state treasurer to the county treasurer.

SECTION 488. 252.075 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

252.075 (2) **COMPENSATION.** The retired justices and judges serving temporarily as circuit judges shall receive a per diem of \$80 until June 30, 1973, \$85 until June 30, 1974, and \$90 thereafter and while serving outside the county in which they reside shall also receive actual and necessary expenses incurred in the discharge of judicial duties. This per diem compensation is not subject to s. 41.11 (12) but in no event shall the combined amount of this compensation and any other judicial compensation together with retirement annuities under the Wisconsin retirement fund, the Milwaukee county retirement fund and other state, county, municipal, or other Wisconsin governmental retirement funds, social security or other federal retirement funds received by him during any one calendar year exceed compensation paid by the state and the counties to any circuit judge. This compensation shall be paid from the appropriation under s. 20.625 (1).

SECTION 489. 253.015 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

253.015 (2) The judge of Shawano--Menominee county court, branch one, may appoint a register in probate ~~and a public administrator~~ for each of the 2 divisions of the county court, or may appoint one register in probate ~~or public administrator~~ to serve both divisions. If a separate register in probate is appointed for the Menominee county division, he may be the same person who is the duly elected clerk of circuit court for Menominee county. If one register in probate serves for both the Shawano and Menominee county divisions of the county court, the office of such register in probate shall be in the city of Shawano.

SECTION 489m. 253.05 (1m) of the statutes is created to read:

253.05 (1m) Pepin and Buffalo counties shall be combined into one district for the purpose of electing a county judge to serve and preside in both the county court of Pepin county and the county court of Buffalo county.

SECTION 490. 253.07 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

253.07 (2) The county may pay each county judge compensation in addition to that specified in s. 20.923 ~~(1)(a)~~, but such additional compensation shall be the same for each such judge.

SECTION 490m. 253.08 (3m) of the statutes is created to read:

253.08 (3m) **BUFFALO AND PEPIN COUNTY COURTS.** The judge and court reporter for the Pepin and Buffalo county courts shall be reimbursed, one-half by each county, for the actual and necessary expenses incurred by them in the discharge of their judicial and reportorial duties, respectively, away from the county seat of the county of their residence but within the district specified in s. 253.05 (4).

SECTION 491. 253.195 of the statutes is amended to read:

253.195 Retired judges, service. Any person who has served 4 or more years as a county judge, and who was not defeated at the most recent time he sought reelection but is no longer a county judge, may serve temporarily on appointment by the chief justice of the supreme court or by any associate justice designated by the supreme court, acting through the administrative director of courts, as a judge of any circuit or county court. He shall receive from the state a per diem of \$80, until June 30, 1973, \$85 until June 30, 1974, and \$90 thereafter, for each day on which he actually serves and, while serving outside the county in which he resides, his actual and necessary expenses. This per diem compensation is not subject to s. 41.11 (12) but in no event shall the combined amount of this compensation and any other judicial compensation together with retirement annuities under the Wisconsin retirement fund, the Milwaukee county retirement fund and other state, county, municipal, or other Wisconsin governmental retirement fund, social security or other federal retirement funds received by him during any one calendar year exceed compensation paid by the state and the counties to any circuit judge. This compensation shall be paid from the appropriations provided in s. 20.625 (1).

SECTION 492. 253.25 of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 493. 253.35 (2m) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 494. 256.65 (intro.) of the statutes is amended to read:

256.65 Indigent defendants; payment of costs. (intro.) In all cases involving indigent defendants the county shall be liable for ~~only the first \$10,000~~ of costs arising from the trial of such case only to the extent of an amount determined by multiplying the population of the county by \$.50, or \$10,000, whichever is lesser. The state shall be liable for any additional costs and shall reimburse the county out of the appropriation

provided by s. 20.625 (2). Upon completion of the trial and compilation of the costs of a case, the clerk of court shall file with the administrative director of the courts the county claim for reimbursement of court costs which shall include the following items:

SECTION 495. 289.14 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

289.14 (1) All contracts with the state involving \$2,500 or more and all other contracts involving \$500 or more for the performance of labor or furnishing materials when the same pertains to any public improvement or public work shall contain a provision for the payment by the prime contractor of all claims for labor performed and materials furnished, used or consumed in making the public improvement or performing the public work, including, without limitation because of specific enumeration, fuel, lumber, building materials, machinery, vehicles, tractors, equipment, fixtures, apparatus, tools, appliances, supplies, electric energy, gasoline, motor oil, lubricating oil, greases, premiums for workmen's compensation insurance and contributions for unemployment compensation. A contract shall not be made unless the prime contractor gives a bond issued by a surety company licensed to do business in this state. The bond shall carry a penalty of not less than the contract price, and shall be conditioned for the faithful performance of the contract and the payment to every person entitled thereto of all the claims for labor performed and materials furnished under the contract, to be used or consumed in making the public improvement or performing the public work as provided in the contract and as above specified. The bond shall be approved in the case of the state by the ~~governor~~ state official authorized to enter such contract, of a county by its district attorney, of a city by its mayor, of a village by its president, of a town by its chairman, of a school district by the director or president and of any other public board or body by the presiding officer thereof. No assignment, modification or change of the contract, or change in the work covered thereby, or any extension of time for the completion of the contract shall release the sureties on the bond. Neither the invitation for bids, nor the person having power to approve the prime contractor's bond, shall require that such bond be furnished by a specified surety company or through a specified agent or broker.

SECTION 495m. 341.05 (20) of the statutes is created to read:

341.05 (20) Is an amphibious motor vehicle capable of carrying 10 or more passengers when used for sight-seeing purposes, registered as a boat with the department of natural resources and operated upon a highway for a distance not to exceed 2 miles.

SECTION 496m. 341.25 (1) (a) of the statutes is amended to read:

341.25 (1) (a) For each automobile or station wagon, a fee of \$18, except that an automobile registered in this state prior to September 1, 1947, at a fee of less than \$18 shall be registered at such lesser fee plus an additional fee of \$2. ~~Two~~ An amount equal to two dollars of each fee prescribed under this paragraph shall be estimated and allotted as provided in s. 20.395 (2) (vw) and (wd) and (3) (u) follows: Twenty percent of the estimated total amount shall be allotted to s. 20.395 (1) (qd) and 80% of the estimated total amount shall be allotted to s. 20.395 (4) (q) 6; and such \$2 shall not be considered a portion of the net registration fee under s. 86.35.

SECTION 500. 343.10 (3) of the statutes is amended to read:

343.10 (3) The division shall issue an occupational license upon receipt of a court order for such a license if at least 30 days have elapsed since the conviction or, in the case of an appeal which is subsequently ~~dropped~~ dismissed or affirmed, if at least 30 days have elapsed since the date of revocation following the ~~dropping~~ dismissal or affirmance of the appeal and if proof of ~~the~~ financial responsibility ~~of the owners of~~ covering all vehicles which the ~~holder of the occupational license applicant~~ will be permitted to operate has been furnished as specified in s. 343.38 (1) (c).

SECTION 501. 343.15 (4) (intro.) of the statutes is amended to read:

343.15 (4) (intro.) The division may issue a license to a person who is under 18 years of age even though an adult sponsor has not signed the application for license ~~provided that if~~ such person is in one of the classes specifically enumerated herein and ~~that if~~ a certificate of insurance to the effect that such person is covered by an ~~operator's a motor vehicle~~ policy of liability insurance meeting the requirements of s. 344.33 ~~or, if such person owns a motor vehicle, that he is covered by an owner's policy of liability insurance endorsed to provide coverage equivalent to that provided by an operator's policy meeting the requirements of s. 344.33 has been filed with the division.~~ Such ~~policies~~ policy may be canceled or terminated only after notice as provided in s. 344.34.

SECTION 502. 343.16 (1) (a) 1 of the statutes is amended to read:

343.16 (1) (a) 1. The examination for persons making their first application for a ~~Wisconsin an~~ operator's license and ~~persons applying for a reinstated license after termination of a revocation period, and those applicants who have received more than 6 demerit points under s. 343.32 (2) at any time since his last renewal unless during the preceding year he has participated in the driver improvement program under s. 343.32 (2),~~ shall include a test of the applicant's eyesight, his ability to read and understand highway signs regulating, warning and directing traffic, his knowledge of the traffic laws, including s. 346.26, and an actual demonstration of his ability to exercise ordinary and reasonable control in the operation of a motor vehicle. The division may require persons changing their residence to this state from another jurisdiction, persons applying for a reinstated license after termination of a revocation period and any person who has received more than 6 demerit points under s. 343.32 (2) at any time since his last renewal unless during the preceding year he has participated in the driver improvement program under s. 343.32 (2), to take all or parts of the examination required of persons making their first application for a driver's license. Any applicant who is required to give an actual demonstration of his ability to exercise ordinary and reasonable control in the operation of a motor vehicle shall furnish a vehicle in safe operating condition for use in testing his ability.

SECTION 502g. 343.21 (1) (e) of the statutes is amended to read:

343.21 (1) (e) For the reinstatement of a license previously revoked, ~~\$2 if the applicant is under 18 years of age and \$10 if the applicant is 18 years of age or older~~ \$25.

SECTION 502r. 343.21 (1) (j) of the statutes is created to read:

343.21 (1) (j) For the reinstatement of a license previously suspended under this chapter, \$10.

SECTION 503. 343.32 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

CHAPTER 90

394

343.32 (2) The administrator may suspend or revoke a person's operating privilege if such person appears by the records of the division to be an habitually reckless or negligent operator of a motor vehicle or to have repeatedly violated any of the state traffic laws or any local ordinance enacted under ch. 349. For the purpose of determining when to suspend or revoke an operating privilege under this subsection, the administrator may determine and adopt by rule a method of weighing traffic convictions by their seriousness and may change such weighted scale as experience or the accident frequency in the state makes necessary or desirable. When an operator accumulates more than 6 demerit points required for suspension or revocation of an operating privilege or has been involved in 2 or more accidents in a one-year period where the accident report indicates that such person may have been causally negligent, the administrator may require such operator to present himself at an examining station for driver improvement counseling, consisting of either group or individual counseling, reexamination or both. ~~If federal funds are available, the~~ The administrator may require any person who has had his operating privilege suspended or revoked, whether such suspension or revocation is the result of action under s. 343.30 or 343.32, or conviction for an offense which requires mandatory revocation under s. 343.31 to participate in such counseling, reexamination or both. Such reexamination may consist of all or part of the tests specified in s. 343.16 (1) (a) 1, or any other special examination as required under s. 343.16 (2). Upon conclusion of such counseling, interview and examination, the administrator shall take action as authorized at conclusion of other examinations under s. 343.16 (3) (a). In exercising the authority to suspend or revoke an operating privilege, the administrator may suspend such privilege only when the operator has not had his operating privilege suspended or revoked previously, except under s. 344.14 (1), or when his present demerit point accumulation is not more than 25% above the demerit point accumulation set for suspension or revocation. In all other cases under this section, the administrator shall revoke the operating privilege of such operator. In regard to convictions which are not by themselves grounds for mandatory revocation of a license, such rule shall provide that demerit points accumulated when a person is not operating a vehicle as a chauffeur shall not be counted against his chauffeur's license but such rule may provide that demerit points accumulated by a person when operating a vehicle as a chauffeur shall be counted against his regular license. When a person who has had his regular license revoked continues to operate as a private operator and who also has a chauffeur's license and is convicted of any traffic violation, 12 demerit points shall be assigned against his chauffeur's license.

SECTION 503m. 343.39 (1) (a) of the statutes is amended to read:

343.39 (1) (a) When, in the case of a suspended operating privilege, the period of suspension has terminated and the reinstatement fee specified in s. 343.21 (1) (j) has been paid to the division.

SECTION 504. 343.44 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

343.44 (2) Any person violating this section may be fined not less than \$100 nor more than \$400 and shall be imprisoned not less than 10 days nor more than one year in the county jail, except that if a person violates this section after having had his operating privilege revoked because of a conviction of any of the offenses mentioned in s. 343.31, he shall be imprisoned not less than 10 days nor more than one year in the county jail for the first violation of this section and shall be imprisoned not less than

90 days nor more than one year in the county jail for the 2nd such violation and shall be imprisoned for one year in the county jail for the 3rd and each subsequent violation. ~~If the revocation or suspension is pursuant to s. 343.32, 343.34, 344.08, 344.14 or 344.25 the penalties shall not apply until the person whose license has been revoked or suspended has received actual notice of such revocation or suspension or until 5 days following the delivery of such notice to the person or an adult at his address by mail as shown by return receipt. Refusal to accept or failure to receive an order of revocation or suspension mailed by 1st class mail to such person's last-known address shall not be a defense to the charge of driving after revocation or suspension.~~ If such person has changed his address and fails to notify the division as required in s. 343.22 then failure to receive notice of revocation or suspension shall not be a defense to the charge of driving after revocation or suspension.

SECTION 505. 344.01 (2) (d) of the statutes is amended to read:

344.01 (2) (d) "Proof of financial responsibility" or "proof of financial responsibility for the future" means proof of ability to respond in damages for liability on account of accidents occurring subsequent to the effective date of such proof, arising out of the ~~ownership~~, maintenance or use of a motor vehicle in the amount of \$15,000 because of bodily injury to or death of one person in any one accident and, subject to such limit for one person, in the amount of \$30,000 because of bodily injury to or death of 2 or more persons in any one accident and in the amount of \$5,000 because of injury to or destruction of property of others in any one accident.

SECTION 506. 344.29 of the statutes is amended to read:

344.29 (title) Proof of financial responsibility for the future required. Proof of financial responsibility for the future shall be furnished ~~for each motor vehicle registered~~ by any person required to give such proof under ss. 344.25 to 344.27 and in those cases in which the deposit of proof of financial responsibility for the future is a condition precedent to reinstatement of an operating privilege revoked under ch. 343.

SECTION 507. 344.30 (intro.) and (4) of the statutes are amended to read:

344.30 (title) Methods of giving proof of financial responsibility. (intro.) Whenever ~~the owner or operator of a motor vehicle~~ a person is required under ~~chs. ch.~~ 343 or 344 to give proof of financial responsibility for the future, such proof may be given by filing:

(4) A certificate of self-insurance as provided in s. 344.16, supplemented by an agreement by the self-insurer that, with respect to accidents occurring while the certificate is in force, he will pay the same amounts that an insurer would have been obligated to pay under ~~an owner's~~ a motor vehicle liability policy if it had issued such a policy to such self-insurer.

SECTION 508. 344.31 (1) of the statutes is renumbered 344.31 and amended to read:

344.31 Proof of financial responsibility for the future may be furnished by filing with the administrator the written certificate of any insurance carrier duly authorized to do business in this state certifying that there is in effect a motor vehicle liability policy for the benefit of the person required to furnish proof of financial responsibility.

CHAPTER 90

396

Such certificate shall give the effective date of such motor vehicle liability policy, which date shall be the same as the effective date of the certificate and shall ~~designate by explicit description or by appropriate reference all motor vehicles covered thereby, unless the policy is issued to a person who is not the owner of a motor vehicle~~ certify coverage for any motor vehicle operated by the named insured.

SECTION 509. 344.31 (2) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 510. 344.32 (1) (intro.) of the statutes is amended to read:

344.32 (1) (intro.) ~~The A nonresident owner of a motor vehicle not registered in this state may give proof of financial responsibility by filing with the administrator a written certificate of an insurance carrier authorized to transact business in the state in which the motor vehicle described in such certificate is registered or, if such nonresident does not own a motor vehicle, then in the state in which the insured he resides, provided such certificate otherwise conforms to the provisions of this chapter. The administrator shall accept the certificate only upon condition that such insurance carrier complies with the following provisions with respect to the policies so certified:~~

SECTION 511. 344.33 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

344.33 (1) CERTIFICATION. ~~A As used in this chapter, a “motor vehicle liability policy” as that term is used in this chapter means an owner’s policy or an operator’s a~~ motor vehicle policy of liability insurance, certified as provided in s. 344.31 or 344.32 as proof of financial responsibility for the future, and issued, except as otherwise provided in s. 344.32, by an insurance carrier duly authorized to transact business in this state to or for the benefit of the person named therein as insured.

SECTION 512. 344.33 (2) of the statutes is repealed and recreated to read:

344.33 (2) MOTOR VEHICLE LIABILITY POLICY. A motor vehicle policy of liability insurance shall insure the person named therein using any motor vehicle with the express or implied permission of the owner, against loss from the liability imposed by law for damages arising out of the maintenance or use of such motor vehicle within the United States of America or the Dominion of Canada, subject to the limits exclusive of interest and costs, with respect to each such motor vehicle as follows: \$15,000 because of bodily injury to or death of one person in any one accident and, subject to such limit for one person, \$30,000 because of bodily injury to or death of 2 or more persons in any one accident, and \$5,000 because of injury to or destruction of property of others in any one accident.

SECTION 513. 344.33 (3) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 514. 344.33 (4) to (11) of the statutes are renumbered 344.33 (3) to (10).

SECTION 515. 344.34 of the statutes is amended to read:

344.34 Notice of cancellation or termination of certified policy. When an insurance carrier has certified a motor vehicle liability policy under s. 344.31 or a policy under s. 344.32, the insurance so certified shall not be canceled or terminated

until at least 10 days after a notice of cancellation or termination of the insurance so certified has been filed in the office of the administrator, ~~except that such.~~ No insurance so certified may be canceled or terminated by the insurer prior to the expiration of 90 days from the effective date of the certificate on the grounds of failure to pay a premium when due. Such a policy subsequently procured and certified shall, on the effective date of its certification, terminate the insurance previously certified with respect to any motor vehicle designated in both certificates. Any certification or recertification filed by the same insurer following cancelation shall be accompanied by a fee of \$3 payable by the insurance carrier.

SECTION 516. 344.40 of the statutes is amended to read:

344.40 Suspension for failure to maintain proof; other proof may be required. (1) Whenever any person who has furnished proof of financial responsibility fails to maintain such proof at any time during the period when proof of financial responsibility is required, the administrator shall revoke such person's operating privilege ~~and registration~~ for a period of time running from the date of revocation until such time as either satisfactory proof of financial responsibility is again furnished or the period during which proof was required to be furnished has expired.

(2) Whenever any proof of financial responsibility filed under this chapter no longer fulfills the purposes for which required, the administrator shall require other proof meeting the requirements of this chapter and shall suspend the operating privilege ~~and registration~~ pending the filing of such other proof.

SECTION 517. 344.41 (1) (c) and (3) of the statutes are amended to read:

344.41 (1) (c) The person who has given proof surrenders his license ~~and registration~~ to the administrator.

(3) Whenever any person whose proof has been canceled or returned under sub. (1) (c) desires reinstatement of his license ~~or registration~~ prior to the expiration of the period during which proof of financial responsibility is required, he shall again furnish proof of financial responsibility. Thereupon his license is automatically reinstated as provided in s. 343.39 ~~and the division shall return his registration plates, if not expired.~~

SECTION 518. 344.41 (1) (d) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 519m. 450.02 (2) (a) of the statutes is amended to read:

450.02 (2) (a) Graduation from a school or college of pharmacy or a department of pharmacy of a university, which is recognized by the examining board and which requires for graduation at least a 4-year course. Credit for actual time of attendance at the school, college or department of pharmacy of a university shall be given on the required 48 months of pharmaceutical training; the remainder of the 48 months must be practice and experience in a retail pharmacy or drugstore under the direction and supervision of a registered pharmacist, which practice and experience shall be predominantly work directly related to the selling of drugs, preparing and compounding of pharmaceutical preparations and physicians' prescriptions, and keeping of records and making of reports required under state and federal statutes. The practice and experience shall include an aggregate of 12 calendar months commencing not earlier than the close of the sophomore college year. Credit for such periods of practice and experience shall be allowed in the discretion of the pharmacy

internship board in accordance with such regulations as it adopts. The fee for registration of interns under this subsection shall be an amount specified by the ~~examining pharmacy internship~~ board but not to exceed \$10. The fee shall be set aside for use by the pharmacy internship board, shall be used exclusively for purposes of the internship program and shall be disbursed for the purposes of the internship program upon certification of the director of internship or the pharmacy internship board. The examining board may upon satisfactory proof recognize accept evidence of practice and experience performed in whole or in part in any other state provided the same is approved and verified by the pharmacy examining board or equivalent agency of such other state.

SECTION 525. 856.07 (2) of the statutes is amended to read:

856.07 (2) AFTER 30 DAYS. If none of those named in sub. (1) has petitioned within 30 days after the death of the decedent, petition for administration may be made by ~~the public administrator~~, any person who was guardian of the decedent at the time of the decedent's death, any creditor of the decedent, anyone who has a cause of action or who has a right of appeal which cannot be maintained without the appointment of a personal representative or anyone who has an interest in property which is or may be a part of the estate.

SECTION 526. 858.15 of the statutes is amended to read:

858.15 When appraisal not necessary. Assets, the value of which is readily ascertainable without the exercise of judgment on the part of an appraiser, shall not be appraised. The value of these assets shall be shown in the inventory and verified by the personal representative, and he shall provide evidence of value as the court requires. Where evidence satisfactory to the court is produced to establish the value of any inventoried assets, no appraisal shall be required of the assets, unless a formal appraisal is requested by ~~the public administrator~~ persons interested, the department of revenue, or by the court on its own motion.

SECTION 527. 862.03 (1), (2) and (3) of the statutes are amended to read:

862.03 (1) INCOMPETENT PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE. If a personal representative is adjudged incompetent, his account shall be filed by his guardian, or if his guardian fails to file then by his bondsman. If neither the guardian nor the bondsman files an account, the court shall ~~direct the public~~ appoint a special administrator to file the account of the incompetent personal representative.

(2) DECEASED PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE. If a personal representative dies, his account shall be filed by the personal representative of his estate, or if his personal representative fails to file then by a special administrator of his estate or by his bondsman. ~~If neither his personal representative, special administrator nor his bondsman files an account, the court shall direct the public administrator to file the account of the deceased personal representative.~~

(3) REMOVED PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE. If a personal representative is removed and fails to file his account, his account shall be filed by his bondsman. If the bondsman fails to file, the court shall ~~direct the public~~ appoint a special administrator to file the account of the personal representative who has been removed.

SECTION 528. 867.01 (3) (e) of the statutes is amended to read:

867.01 (3) (e) *Determination of tax.* The department of revenue ~~or public administrator~~ may examine the property referred to in any petition under this section. Before making an order which distributes the estate, the court shall ~~make an order~~ have received a copy of a certificate issued under s. 72.30 (3) determining inheritance tax or an order such certificate finding no inheritance tax due. No notice need be given to the department of revenue unless the court so orders.

SECTION 529. 867.02 (2) (e) of the statutes is amended to read:

867.02 (2) (e) *Determination of tax.* The department of revenue ~~or public administrator~~ may examine the property referred to in a petition under this section. Before making an order assigning the estate, the court shall ~~make an order~~ have received a copy of a certificate issued under s. 72.30 (3) determining inheritance tax or an order such certificate finding no inheritance tax due. No notice need be given to the department of revenue if notice is given to the public administrator or waived by him in writing and it appears clearly evident to the court that no inheritance tax is due and payable.

SECTION 529m. 867.045 (3) of the statutes, as created by chapter 41, laws of 1973, is amended to read:

867.045 (3) The register of deeds shall then mail, or deliver, copies of such application to the ~~Wisconsin~~ department of revenue, ~~public administration~~ and county court for the county of residence of the decedent, and shall thereupon record the original application certifying thereon that the above mailing or delivery has been accomplished.

SECTION 530. 879.03 (3) of the statutes is amended to read:

879.03 (3) **DOMICILIARY OF A FOREIGN COUNTRY.** If the petition for administration shows, or if it appears, that any person interested is a domiciliary of a foreign country, the court shall cause the notice of hearing of the petition or of any subsequent proceeding that may then be pending to be given the consul, vice consul or consular agent of the foreign country by mailing a copy of the notice in a sealed envelope, postage prepaid, addressed to the consul, vice consul or consular agent at his post-office address, at least 20 days before the hearing. If it is shown to the court that there is no consul, vice consul or consular agent of the foreign country, the court may direct that the notice be so mailed to the ~~public administrator~~ attorney general.

SECTION 531. 879.21 of the statutes is amended to read:

879.21 (title) Appearance for person domiciled in foreign country. When notice has been given to the ~~public administrator~~ attorney general under s. 879.03 (3) that a person domiciled in a foreign country, not represented by a consul, vice consul or consular agent, is interested in an estate, the ~~public administrator~~ attorney general shall appear for the person and be allowed his compensation and necessary expenditures in the same manner as a guardian ad litem.

SECTION 532. 879.57 of the statutes is amended to read:

879.57 (title) Special administrator; personal representative, guardian. Whenever it is found by the court to be necessary to appoint a personal representative or guardian and there appears to be no person in the state to petition for the appointment or there

appears to be no suitable person to be so appointed, the court shall, upon its own motion or upon the petition of ~~the public administrator~~ any interested party, grant administration of an estate of a decedent or guardianship of the estate of a minor or incompetent person to ~~the public~~ such interested party or a special administrator, and he shall thereupon take possession of the estate and protect and preserve it, and proceed with the administration and with the care and management of the estate. Such authority to ~~the public~~ a special administrator in the administration or guardianship may be revoked at any time upon the appointment and qualification of a personal representative or guardian, or when for any other cause the court deems it just or expedient; but revocation does not invalidate his acts performed prior to revocation of his authority and does not impair the public special administrator's rights to receive from the estate his legal charges and disbursements, to be determined by the probate court.

SECTION 533. 879.59 (4) of the statutes is amended to read:

879.59 (4) PERSONS UNKNOWN OR NOT IN BEING. If it appears to the satisfaction of the court that the interests of persons unknown or the future contingent interests of persons not in being are or may be affected by the compromise, the court shall appoint some suitable person to represent those interests in the compromise and to make all proper instruments necessary to carry into effect any compromise sanctioned by the court. If by the terms of any compromise made under this section money or property is directed to be set apart or held for the benefit of or to represent the interest of persons subject to guardianship or persons unknown or unborn, the same may be deposited in any trust company, or any state or national bank within this state, authorized to exercise trust powers, or with ~~the public~~ a special administrator, and shall remain subject to the order of the court.

SECTION 534. 895.42 (1) and (2) of the statutes are amended to read:

895.42 (1) In case in any proceeding in any court of record it is (a) determined that moneys or other personal property in the custody of or under the control of any administrator, executor, trustee, receiver or other officer of the court, belongs to a natural person if he is alive, or to an artificial person if it is in existence and entitled to receive, otherwise to some other person, and the court or judge making such determination finds that there is not sufficient evidence showing that the natural person first entitled to take is alive, or that the artificial person is in existence and entitled to receive, or (b) in case such money or other personal property, including any legacy or share of intestate property cannot be delivered to the legatee or heir or person entitled thereto because of the fact that such person is a member of the military or naval forces of the United States or any of its allies or is engaged in any of the armed forces abroad or with the American Red Cross society or other body or other similar business, then in either or any of such cases, the court or judge may direct that the officer having custody or control of such money or other personal property, deposit the same in any trust company, or any state or national bank within the state of Wisconsin authorized to exercise trust powers, ~~or with the public administrator~~, taking its ~~or his~~ receipt therefor, and the said receipt shall, to the extent of the deposit so made, constitute a complete discharge of the said officer in any accounting by him made in said proceeding.

(2) In case such deposit is directed to be made, the court shall require the trust company or bank in which said deposit is ordered to be made, ~~or the public administrator~~, as a condition of the receipt thereof, to accept and handle, manage and invest the same as trust funds to the same extent as if it ~~or he~~ had received the same as a testamentary trust, unless the court shall expressly otherwise direct, except that the reports shall be made to the court of its ~~or his~~ appointment.

SECTION 535. 973.01 (4) of the statutes is repealed.

SECTION 536. 973.02 of the statutes is amended to read:

973.02 Place of imprisonment when none expressed. When a statute authorizes imprisonment for its violation but does not prescribe the place of imprisonment, 1) a sentence of less than one year shall be to the county jail, 2) a sentence of more than one year shall be to the Wisconsin state prisons and the minimum under the indeterminate sentence law shall be one year, and 3) a sentence of one year may be to either the Wisconsin state prisons or the county jail. But in any proper case sentence and commitment may nevertheless be to the ~~Wisconsin home for women, the~~ department or any house of correction or other institution as provided by law.

SECTION 537. 973.15 (1) of the statutes is amended to read:

973.15 (1) All sentences to the Wisconsin state prisons shall be for one year or more, ~~except as provided in s. 973.01 (4).~~ Except as otherwise provided in this section, all sentences commence at noon on the day of sentence, but time which elapses after sentence while the defendant is in the county jail or is at large on bail shall not be computed as any part of his term of imprisonment. The court may impose as many sentences as there are convictions and may provide that any such sentence be concurrent or that it shall commence at the expiration of any other sentence; and if the defendant is then serving a sentence, the present sentence may provide that it shall commence at the expiration of the previous sentence. If a convict escapes, the time during which he is unlawfully absent from the prison after such escape shall not be computed as part of his term. Courts may impose sentences to be served in whole or in part concurrently with a sentence being served in a federal institution or an institution of another state.

SECTION 537m. **Authorized state building program.** (1) For the 1973-75 fiscal biennium, the authorized state building program shall be as follows:

(a) University of Wisconsin system.			
Projects financed by building trust funds.			
System - maintenance and stores buildings at			
Green Bay, Oshkosh and River Falls	\$ 2,000,000		
- minor projects	5,904,600		
Eau Claire - heating plant expansion and		431,000	Vetoed
conversion			in Part
Green Bay - physical education building	3,357,100		
La Crosse - heating plant expansion and con-		431,000	
version			
Madison - west campus chillers and medical		1,830,000	
center utilities			
- medical center-phases lb and c			
(total project all funding sources			
\$32,000,000)	16,000,000		
- engineering library		3,395,000	
- physical sciences laboratory addi-			
tion (total project all funding			
sources \$1,900,000)		200,000	
- Bascom/Commerce remodeling		1,399,000	
Milwaukee - Mitchell hall remodeling-phase II		2,014,000	
- Kenilworth building remodeling		300,000	
- physical education building		5,485,800	
River Falls - physical science building		3,000,000	
- heating plant conversion		282,500	
Total building trust funds		\$46,030,000	
Projects financed by borrowing - self-			
amortizing supported.			
Eau Claire - student center addition	\$ 2,477,700		
Madison - medical center - phases lb and c			
(total project all funding sources			
\$32,000,000)		9,791,500	
- Camp Randall Memorial sports center			
modification		750,000	
Parkside - parking lot and lighting		280,800	
System - minor projects		640,800	
Total self-amortizing bonding		\$13,940,800	

	Projects financed by gifts, grants or other agency funds.	
	Madison - medical center - phases 1b and c (total project all funding sources \$32,000,000)	\$ 6,208,500
	- physical science laboratory addition and storage ring at Stoughton (total project all funding sources \$1,900,000)	1,700,000
	- Emmons Blaine Dairy cattle center (Arlington Farms)	375,000
	- agriculture public events facility (Arlington Farms)	500,000
	- arboretum education center	250,000
	- food research institute remodeling (total project of \$700,000 including 1974-73 building trust funds)	500,000
	Total gifts, grants and agency funds	\$ 9,533,500
(b)	Historical society	
	Projects financed by building trust funds.	
	Minor projects	786,200
	Total building trust funds	\$ 786,200
(c)	Department of health and social services	
	Projects financed by building trust funds.	
	Southern Colony - remodel cottages 8, 9, 10 and 11	\$ 1,641,200
	- replace underground steam system	453,000
	Central Colony - air conditioning Murphy Hall and hospital	632,000
	Fox Lake correctional institution - maximum security conversion	583,000
	Kettle Moraine correctional institution - conversion to medium security	957,000
	Minor projects	1,591,900
	Total building trust funds	\$ 5,858,100
(d)	Educational communications board	
	Projects financed by building trust funds.	
	Menomonie - local TV origination equipment	\$ 163,500
	Systemwide - modernize F.M. network	165,800
	Total building trust funds	\$ 329,300
(e)	Administration - state office facilities	
	Projects financed by building trust funds.	
	Minor projects	483,500
	Total building trust funds	\$ 483,500
(f)	Department of military affairs.	
	Projects financed by building trust funds.	
	Antigo - armory (total project of \$336,900 including federal funds)	\$ 87,100
	One additional armory at either Fond du Lac or Rhinelander (total project of \$353,000 including federal funds)	91,000
	Minor projects	88,000
	Total building trust funds	\$ 266,100
(g)	Department of public instruction.	
	Projects financed by building trust funds.	
	Minor projects	489,500
	Total building trust funds	\$ 489,500
(h)	Department of veterans affairs.	
	Projects financed by building trust funds.	
	Minor projects	171,200
	Total building trust funds	\$ 171,200
(i)	Statewide.	
	Projects to be financed by building trust funds.	
	Deferred maintenance	\$ 6,979,000
	Advance planning	2,000,000
	Land acquisition	750,000
	Total building trust funds	\$ 9,729,000
(j)	Summary.	
	Total building trust funds	\$64,142,900
	Total self-amortizing supported bonding authority	\$13,940,800
	Total gifts, grants and other agency funds	\$ 9,533,500

(2) In addition to those projects enumerated under sub. (1), the building projects and bonding authority enumerated in the authorized building programs for previous biennia are continued in the 1973-75 biennium.

(3) The building trust funds enumerated under sub. (1) (i) for deferred maintenance, advance planning and land acquisition may be allocated by the building commission as it determines the need for projects to be undertaken by any state agency.

(4) The building commission may establish and modify project priorities for the minor project allocations under sub. (1) and may revise the amount of building trust funds allocated among agencies within the total provided for minor projects.

(5) In addition to the 2 armories enumerated in sub. (1) (f), the building commission may approve the construction of a new armory to replace the Whitefish Bay armory if the community is in agreement with the sale of the existing armory, if receipts from the sale are sufficient to cover the state's share of the cost and if sufficient federal funds are available for the replacement facility.

(6) Beginning with the effective date of this act (1973), the unencumbered and unexpended portion of the higher education land acquisition bonding authority created by section 518 (1) (ca) of chapter 125, laws of 1971, shall be available for allocation by the building commission to any state agency for the acquisition of land.

(7) Advanced planning for the modern industries building at the university of Wisconsin-Parkside campus is recommended with a reevaluation of campus space needs to start immediately. The project shall be ready for bidding in the summer of 1974, if fall 1973 enrollments are adequate and funding in the annual review shall be provided.

~~(8) The amounts under sub. (1) (a) for the physical education building at the university of Wisconsin-Green Bay campus may be released by the building commission after the annual budget review if the project has been further recommended and approved by the board of regents.~~ Vetoed in Part

(9) In addition to the \$675,000 of general fund supported bonding authority provided for the adult education center by chapter 236, laws of 1971, the building commission may authorize an additional \$300,000 for the adult education center from unused bonding authority appropriated under section 20.866 (2) (s) or (t) of the statutes. If the additional authority is granted by the commission under the academic facilities authority provided by section 20.866 (2) (s) of the statutes, the university shall be required to lapse into the general fund from adult education center operating receipts an amount each year equivalent to the principal payment and interest on the additional bonding authority utilized.

SECTION 538. Natural resources fees. In the sections of the statutes listed in Column A the fees listed in Column B are changed to the fees shown in Column C.

A		B	C
Statute Sections		Present Fee	New Fee
27.01(2r)(a)	Resident Annual Sticker, Park and Forest Areas	\$3	\$5
27.01(2r)(a)	Nonresident Annual Sticker, Park and Forest Areas	6	8
27.01(2r)(a)	Resident Daily Sticker, Park and Forest Areas	1	1.50
27.01(2r)(a)	Nonresident Daily Sticker, Park and Forest Areas	2	2.50
29.10	Resident Small Game Hunting	4	5
29.104(1)	Resident Archer, age 19 and over	5	6
29.104(1)	Resident Archer, Under age 19	1	3
29.105(1)	Resident Deer Hunting	5	7
29.12 (1)	Nonresident Hunting - General	50	100
29.12 (1)	Nonresident Hunting - Deer and bear	35	70
29.12 (1)	Nonresident Hunting - Small Game	25	50
29.12 (1)	Nonresident Hunting - Shooting Preserve	5	10

CHAPTER 90

404

29.14 (2)	Nonresident Fishing	6	12
29.14 (2)	Nonresident Combination Fishing 15 days	7	14
29.145(2)	Resident Fishing	3	4
29.146	Resident Husband and Wife Fishing	5	7
29.147(1)	Sportsmen's license	11	16

SECTION 538m. Supplements for federal aid reductions. The legislature finds it in the public interest to supplement those critical programs of significant value to the state, which due to reductions in federal funding would otherwise be severely curtailed or discontinued. Funds are provided in the 1973-74 appropriations to supplement specific federal funding reductions. Any funds provided under this act are subject to the condition that if the reduction or termination of federal aids upon which the appropriation is based does not occur, the agency to which such funds were appropriated shall repay the total amount of funds so appropriated; or when such resumption of federal aid occurs during the fiscal year for which the supplement was made, the unexpended balance of the supplement shall revert to the general fund. In addition, it shall be state policy that any federal aid reductions in the research subprogram of the university of Wisconsin system under section 20.285 (1) (mb) of the statutes shall not be supplemented by state general purpose revenues. Any reductions in federal research funds which would have otherwise been supplemented by the state, shall be supplemented by the system through the allocation of funds under section 20.285 (1) (n) of the statutes. The amounts of state supplements in lieu of federal aids are appropriated to the respective state agencies as recommended by the governor and amended by the legislature.

SECTION 539. Rent reductions due to property tax relief. On or before January 15, 1974, each owner of property in this state which is rented for use by others shall reduce that portion of the annual rent due to property taxes on that property by a dollar amount equal to the amount, if any, by which taxes paid devoted to property for 1972 exceed property taxes paid on that property for 1973. If the property includes more than one rental unit the amount of reduction shall be in the same proportion that the rent from that unit bears to the rent of the entire property.

SECTION 539m. Law enforcement aids; 1973 levy limits. Funds received under subchapter III of chapter 79 of the statutes as created by this act shall be considered as a "state grant for matching fund or specifically requested programs" in the limitation on the 1973 tax levy as enacted by this act.

SECTION 540m. Nonactive treatment patients in county hospitals. (1) Beginning January 1, 1974, the state shall make payments for only those long term nonactive treatment patients so designated by the county mental hospital or the Milwaukee County Mental Health Center, North Division in which the patient is receiving care, subject to review by the department. Such payments shall only be made for patients admitted to such facilities prior to December 31, 1973.

(2) The cost of care of such patients shall be determined by multiplying the per day per patient rate for such facility as determined by applying the formula under section 49.45 (6m) (a) 1 and 3 to 7 of the statutes, except that interest on capital expenditures which are reimbursable under section 51.40 of the statutes shall be excluded, times the number of days of care of such patients in the time period being considered. Any amounts received by the facility from the patient or resident shall be deducted from the costs determined under this subsection. This section shall not be construed to require that as a condition of reimbursement any facility must meet any skilled or intermediate care standards established by the department of health and social services.

(3) Beginning January 1, 1974, the state shall pay 50% of the costs determined under subsection (2) if the patient has legal settlement in this state and the county of legal settlement shall pay 50% of such costs. State payments shall be 100% of such costs if the patient does not have legal settlement in the state. Beginning January 1, 1975, the state shall pay 100% of such costs. State payments shall be made from the appropriation under s. 20.435 (4) (d).

SECTION 540p. Mental hospital aid payments. On or before February 1, 1974, each officer in charge of each county mental hospital and the Milwaukee county mental health center, north division, shall prepare a statement of the amount due from the state to the county for the maintenance, care and treatment of patients at public charge on forms supplied by the department. Such statement shall cover the period from July 1, 1973, to December 31, 1973, and shall give the name of each inmate whose support is partly or wholly chargeable to the state, his legal settlement, the number of weeks for which support is charged and the amount due to the county from the state. The statement shall be verified by the officer making it and certified by the trustees of the institution to the department, and a duplicate thereof shall be forwarded to the county clerk. The department shall credit the county with the amount due the county for any recovery of maintenance and shall certify the statement to the department of administration which shall pay the amount found due each county in April 1974 from the appropriation made by section 20.435 (2) (d) of the statutes. The amounts due under section 46.106 (2) of the statutes for the period July 1, 1973, to December 31, 1973, shall be computed and paid in accordance with section 46.106 (2) of the statutes. Payments under this subsection shall be conditional upon approval of the joint committee on finance.

SECTION 541j. State assumption of county share of costs of public assistance, medical assistance, administration, social services and mental health services. (1) For care and aid provided as of January 1, 1974, the department of health and social services shall assume the cost of the entire nonfederal share of: a) the federally aided programs of public assistance to the blind under section 49.18 of the statutes, to the aged under section 49.20 of the statutes, to the totally and permanently disabled under section 49.61 of the statutes; b) the federally aided program of medical assistance provided under sections 49.45 to 49.47 of the statutes; and c) the state supplemental payments to the federal supplemental security income program under section 49.177 of the statutes.

(2) For care and aid provided as of January 1, 1975, the department of health and social services shall assume the total cost of mental health services authorized under section 51.42 (8) or 51.437 (8).

(3) For care and aid provided as of January 1, 1975, the department of health and social services shall assume the cost of the entire nonfederal share of federally aided programs of aid to families with dependent children under section 49.19 of the statutes, and the cost of county administration as defined in section 49.51 of the statutes except for the administration of and aid granted under sections 49.02 and 49.03 of the statutes. The department shall assume the entire nonfederal costs but shall continue to contract with county agencies for the administration of public assistance and related services and for county purchase of care and services. The department shall specify the services to be provided under the contracts and assure the efficient management of the programs as provided in section 49.51 of the statutes.

(4) The departments of health and social services and administration shall review chapters 46, 48, 49, 50 and 51 of the statutes and submit to the joint committee on finance by September 1, 1973, all statutory changes necessary to fully implement the provisions of this section. After review by the committee the proposed statutory

changes shall be introduced in bill form by September 15, 1973, for consideration by the legislature.

~~SECTION 541k. Purchase of day care services for developmentally disabled. The department of health and social services may make payments from section 20.435 (2) (c) of the statutes for the state share of purchase of day care services under section 49.51 (3) of the statutes.~~

~~SECTION 541m. State aid payments continued. For the period July 1, 1973, to December 31, 1973, the department of health and social services shall continue to make payments under sections 49.18, 49.20 and 49.61 of the statutes for individuals in a private institution which meets state licensing standards. The standard setting authority shall be responsible for establishing and maintaining such standards.~~

~~SECTION 542. Income disregard for adult categories. For the period from the effective date of this act to January 1, 1974, in determining eligibility and amount of aid under sections 49.18, 49.20 and 49.61 of the statutes, \$7.50 per month of income from any source of the applicant or recipient shall be excluded from budgetable income.~~

~~SECTION 542e. Foster care funding. It is the intent of the legislature in providing the amounts included in the schedule for foster care and institutional child care expenditures by the division of family services in the department of health and social services that the level of funding provided shall not be construed as creating a requirement upon the department to freeze or otherwise restrict increases in rates charged by child care institutions. However, no increase in rates above the levels in effect on April 1, 1973, may be granted until the department and the individual institution affected have established a child placement review program as required under section 48.525 of the statutes.~~

~~SECTION 542m. State supplement to federal supplemental security income program. The department of health and social services shall review chapter 49 of the statutes and P.L. 92-603 and submit to the joint committee on finance by September 1, 1973 all statutory changes necessary to fully implement at the state level the transfer of recipients of aid under sections 49.18, 49.20 and 49.61 of the statutes to the federal supplemental security income program authorized under Title XVI of the federal social security act as amended and to fully implement the provisions of section 49.177 of the statutes.~~

~~SECTION 542s. County hospital aids. In fiscal years 1973-74 and 1974-75, notwithstanding sections 51.08 (2) and 51.24 (2) of the statutes, the state aid rate for 1972-73 care costs and care costs for the first 6 months of fiscal year 1973-74 of patients hospitalized in a county hospital in the county of their legal settlement shall be paid in accordance with the following:~~

(1) "Net cost" as used in this section means the net cost for individual average per capita cost purposes as determined in compliance with the mandatory uniform cost record-keeping requirements of section 46.18 (8), (9) and (10) of the statutes.

(2) (a) The state shall contribute toward the expense of maintenance, care and treatment of patients who were hospitalized during the 1972-73 fiscal year in a county hospital in the county of their legal settlement in an amount equal to 60% of such hospital's cost for care of such patients or the percentage rate of participation of the state set forth in section 49.52 (2) (a) 1 and 2 of the statutes, whichever is higher. The cost of such care shall be determined by subtracting from the net cost for the hospital for the year in which care is furnished an amount equal to 83.33% of the charge to the state for care of patients not having legal settlement within the county in which they

are hospitalized. The state aid payable under such calculation shall not exceed 115% of the previous year's audited state aid payable under SECTION 150c. of chapter 215, laws of 1971, but this limitation shall not apply to aid payable in fiscal year 1973-74 to counties with new hospital facilities with a total cost of \$1,000,000 or more for buildings and equipment and which are approved by the department during the 1972-73 fiscal year for county hospital patient occupancy; nor shall this limitation apply to aid payable in fiscal year 1973-74 to counties with new hospital facilities with a total cost of \$1,000,000 or more for buildings and equipment and which were approved by the department during the 1971-72 fiscal year for county hospital patient occupancy, but which had not operated a county hospital program in the new facilities for 12 months as of June 30, 1972. The percentage rate of participation under section 49.52 (2) (a) of the statutes on January 1 of the fiscal year in which the care is provided shall determine, by the method established by this section, the percentage rate of the state contribution.

(b) The state shall contribute toward the expense of maintenance, care and treatment of patients hospitalized during the period July 1, 1973 through December 31, 1973 in a county hospital in the county of their legal settlement in an amount equal to 60% of such hospital's cost for care of such patients or the percentage rate of participation of the state set forth in section 49.52 (2) (a) 1 and 2 of the statutes, whichever is higher. The cost of such care shall be determined by subtracting from the net cost for the hospital for the 6-month period from July 1, 1973 through December 31, 1973 an amount equal to 83.33% of the charge to the state for care of patients not having legal settlement within the county in which they are hospitalized. The state aid payable under such calculation shall not exceed 57.5% of the previous year's audited state aid payable under this section, but this limitation shall not apply to aid payable in fiscal year 1974-75, except as otherwise provided in SECTION 540p of this act to counties with new hospital facilities with a total cost of \$1,000,000 or more for buildings and equipment and which are approved by the department during the period July 1, 1973 through December 31, 1973 for county hospital patient occupancy; nor shall this limitation apply to aid payable in the fiscal year 1974-75, except as otherwise provided in SECTION 540p of this act to counties with new hospital facilities with a total cost of \$1,000,000 or more for buildings and equipment and which were approved by the department during the 1972-73 fiscal year for county hospital patient occupancy but which had not operated a county hospital program in the new facilities for 12 months as of June 30, 1973. The 57.5% limitation represents the 6-month proration of the annual 115% limitation listed in paragraph (a). The percentage rate of participation under section 49.52 (2) (a) of the statutes on January 1 of the fiscal year in which the care is provided shall determine, by the method established by this section, the percentage rate of the state contribution.

(3) (a) The state shall contribute toward the expense of maintenance, care and treatment of patients hospitalized in the Milwaukee County Mental Health Center, North Division during the 1972-73 fiscal year, who have legal settlement in that county, an amount equal to 60% of such hospital's cost for care of such patients. The cost of such care shall be determined by subtracting from the net cost for the hospital for the year in which care is furnished an amount equal to 83.33% of the charge to the state for care of patients not having legal settlement within the county in which they are hospitalized, computed under sections 51.24 (4) and (5) of the statutes. The state aid payable under such calculations shall not exceed 115% of the previous fiscal year's audited state aid payable under SECTION 150c. of chapter 215, laws of 1971. The records and accounts of the Milwaukee County Mental Health Center, North Division shall be audited annually. Such audit shall be made by the department of revenue under section 73.10 (4), (5) and (6) of the statutes as soon as practicable following the

close of the institution's fiscal year. In addition to other findings, such audits shall ascertain compliance with the mandatory uniform cost record-keeping requirements of section 46.18 (8), (9), and (10) of the statutes and verify the individual average per capita costs and the allowable per capita costs of maintenance, care and treatment of patients as defined in section 51.001 (5) and (6) of the statutes. Any resulting adjustments to settlements already made under section 46.106 of the statutes shall be carried into the next settlement.

(b) The state shall contribute toward the expense of maintenance, care and treatment of patients hospitalized in the Milwaukee County Mental Health Center, North Division during the period from July 1, 1973 through December 31, 1973, who have legal settlement in that county, in an amount equal to 60% of such hospital's cost for care of such patients. The cost of such care shall be determined by subtracting from the net cost for the hospital for the 6-month period from July 1, 1973 through December 31, 1973 an amount equal to 83.33% of the charge to the state for care of patients not having legal settlement within the county in which they are hospitalized, computed under sections 51.24 (4) and (5) of the statutes. The state aid payable under such calculations shall not exceed 57.5% of the previous year's audited state aid payable under this section. The 57.5% limitation represents the 6-month proration of the annual 115% limitation listed in paragraph (a). The records and accounts of the Milwaukee County Mental Health Center, North Division shall be audited annually. Such audit shall be made by the department of revenue under section 73.10 (4), (5) and (6) of the statutes as soon as practical following the close of the institution's fiscal year. In addition to other findings, such audit shall ascertain compliance with the mandatory uniform cost record-keeping requirements of section 46.18 (8), (9) and (10) of the statutes and verify the individual average per capita costs and the allowable per capita costs of maintenance, care and treatment of patients as defined in section 51.001 (5) and (6) of the statutes. Any resulting adjustments to settlements already made under section 46.106 of the statutes shall be carried into the next settlement.

SECTION 542v. Special study committee on the Wisconsin child center. (1) There is created a special study committee on the Wisconsin child center composed of 9 members, as follows:

(a) Three members of the senate health, education and welfare committee and 3 members of the assembly health and social services committee, to be appointed as are standing committees in the respective houses. The members appointed from each house shall consist of 2 members from the most predominant political party and one member from the second most predominant political party.

Vetoed
in Part (b) Three members of the public ~~nominated~~ by the governor ~~and, with the advice and consent of the senate,~~ appointed who have recognized knowledge and experience in the field of residential care and treatment of disturbed and delinquent children.

(2) The committee is to review and make recommendations to the governor and the legislature regarding the child center, its programs and operations. The committee shall file its report with the governor and the legislature by January 15, 1975.

(3) It is the intent of the legislature that the special study committee consider the following in its review of the child center and its programs: a) programs and services offered by the child center and their estimated effectiveness; b) alternative programs and services available and their estimated effectiveness; c) the comparative total and state costs of the various programs and services reviewed; and d) such other factors as the committee considers appropriate to the review of the child center, its programs and operations.

(4) The department of health and social services shall cooperate fully with the inquiries of the committee.

SECTION 543. Welfare reform. The department of health and social services shall review the welfare reform and administrative control recommendations that are contained in the executive budget policy papers. By October 1, 1973, the department shall report to the governor and the legislature regarding implementation and establishment of the following cost control and administrative control mechanisms: a) prepaid health maintenance organization; b) medical service and professional activity study system; c) drug product equivalent formulae and quality review board; d) prospective rate negotiation for hospital services; d) standards for medical care services and vendor review; f) flat grant assistance program; g) check issuance system to eliminate fraud; and h) establishment of contracts for locator services within the department of justice and other applicable and appropriate measures.

~~SECTION 543m. Division of vocational rehabilitation matching funds. Of the amounts in the schedule for general program operations of the division of vocational rehabilitation in the department of health and social services, \$1,126,400 shall be placed in unallocated reserve to be released only upon approval of the joint committee on finance if sufficient federal matching funds are available.~~ Vetoed
in Part

SECTION 544. Executive salary group implementation. (1) On the effective date of this section, the dollar values of the salary ranges 18 to 23 of the general salary schedule of the state compensation plan shall be modified as shown below, and the minimum and maximum of such salary ranges shall also be established as the minimum and maximum of executive salary groups 1 to 6, respectively. Salary ranges 24 to 27 of the general salary schedule are established and executive salary groups 7 to 10, respectively, shall be assigned to these ranges.

EXECUTIVE SALARY GROUP PLAN

	Executive Salary Group	Monthly		Annual	
		Minimum	Maximum	Minimum	Maximum
SR 1-18	1	1,454	1,893	17,448	22,716
SR 1-19	2	1,584	2,063	19,008	24,756
SR 1-20	3	1,727	2,249	20,724	26,988
SR 1-21	4	1,882	2,451	22,584	29,412
SR 1-22	5	2,052	2,672	24,624	32,064
SR 1-23	6	2,237	2,912	26,844	34,944
SR 1-24	7	2,438	3,072	29,256	36,864
SR 1-25	8	2,657	3,348	31,884	40,176
SR 1-26	9	2,896	3,649	34,752	43,788
SR 1-27	10	3,157	3,978	37,884	47,736

(2) This modification of the dollar value of salary ranges 18 to 23 and establishment of the dollar value of salary ranges 24 to 27 shall be effective through June 30, 1973, and on July 1, 1973, the salary ranges shall be changed by the amount of adjustment approved by the joint committee on employment relations in its approval of the state compensation plan under section 16.086 (3) (b) of the statutes. Thereafter, the dollar value of all salary ranges covered by this section shall be adjusted in the same manner and frequency as those adjustments made for employes in the classified service covered by section 16.086 (3) of the statutes.

(3) Increased costs to those departments and agencies, headed by a constitutional officer, not having a sum sufficient appropriation, related to the increased salaries of such constitutional officers under section 20.923 of the statutes, as affected by this act, shall be paid from the appropriation under section 20.865 (1) (c) of the statutes.

SECTION 544m. Personnel study. The department of administration shall perform a study to determine the salary structures for examiners employed by the

offices of the commissioners of banking, credit unions and savings and loan and report its findings and recommendations to the joint committee on finance by February 1, 1974.

SECTION 544q. Career executive selection. The joint committee on employment relations shall, prior to publication, hold a public meeting on the proposed rules of the director of personnel relative to implementing section 16.19 of the statutes. The director of personnel shall consult with the committee on the proposed program.

SECTION 546. State air pollution program implementation. The department of natural resources and Milwaukee county shall, by February 1, 1974, jointly submit a report to the joint committee on finance indicating the progress being made toward implementing the January 1, 1975, transfer of the Milwaukee county air pollution control program responsibilities to state control. The program for implementation shall include the incorporation of present Milwaukee county air pollution program personnel and facilities into a regional control program in southeastern Wisconsin to be effected by contract with Milwaukee county to provide air pollution control services to the department of natural resources in southeastern Wisconsin. The committee may require such other reports as it deems necessary to ensure that this transfer is completed in as orderly a manner as possible.

Vetoed
in Part

SECTION 546e. Special study committee on personal property tax exemption. (1) There is created a special study committee on the exemption of manufacturers' materials and finished products, merchants' stock in trade and livestock, composed of 7 members, as follows:

a. Two members appointed from each house of the legislature, including one member from the most predominant political party in each house and one member from the second most predominant political party in each house, to be appointed as are standing committees in the respective houses.

b. Three members of the public appointed by the governor who have recognized knowledge and experience in local government operations and finance.

(2) The committee shall study and make recommendations to the governor and the legislature regarding the effects of exempting from property taxation manufacturers' materials and finished products, merchants' stock in trade and livestock. The committee shall submit its report to the governor and legislature no later than December 31, 1974.

(3) It is the intent of the legislature that the special study committee review and make recommendations concerning the following: a) The method of distributing to counties, towns, villages and cities that portion of the shared tax account reserved for reimbursement of municipalities for revenue lost due to the exemption referred to in sub. (2); and b) the effects of the exemption referred to in sub. (2) upon constitutional limitations on bonded indebtedness, local operating levies and all other statutory uses of equalized or assessed valuation.

SECTION 546m. Physician's assistant program, UW-Madison. (1) The legislature recognizes the growing shortage and geographic maldistribution of health care service personnel in this state and the need for establishing a new category of health manpower -- the physician's assistant. To that end, the university of Wisconsin system is directed to plan and implement a program for training physician's assistants at the undergraduate level, to be located in the school of allied health, university of Wisconsin-Madison center for health sciences. For this purpose \$50,000 in 1973-74 and \$100,000 in 1974-75 is provided in the university of Wisconsin system general program operations appropriation.

(2) Criteria for certification of physician's assistants shall be established by the council on physician's assistants in consultation with the university. The general purpose of the program shall be to train personnel capable of performing many of the duties of a physician in a clinical setting; and such training should not require more than the equivalent of a bachelor of science degree. This program shall be complementary to rather than in lieu of the proposed master's level physician's assistant program at the school of allied health, university of Wisconsin-Madison.

(3) These funds shall be released for actual expenditure only upon the enactment of separate legislation which establishes the physician's assistant program, establishes the council on physician's assistants and articulates the functions of the council in developing this educational program. In addition, release of funds for the second year of the biennium is contingent upon a determination by the joint committee on finance that sufficient progress has been made toward the implementation of the program. The board of regents shall report on program experience to the joint committee on finance and the governor no later than December 1, 1973.

SECTION 547. UW system fee and tuition policy; 1974-75. The 1974-75 fee and tuition policy of the university of Wisconsin system:

(1) Shall reflect total direct and indirect instructional costs in calculating fee and tuition levels;

(2) Shall differentiate these costs between at least 3 levels of instruction (i.e., level A, freshman and sophomore; level B, junior and senior; and level C, graduate and professional);

(3) May differentiate cost between cluster categories; and

(4) Shall differentiate between resident and nonresident students.

SECTION 547e. UW system user fee study. (1) The board of regents of the university of Wisconsin system shall study means by which user fees can be assessed to defray the general purpose revenue costs of noninstructional activities and the utilization of educational facilities for noninstructional purposes.

~~/// (2) Increases in user fees directly attributable to reductions in the 1974-75 general purpose revenue subsidy for noninstructional activities may apply to faculty, administrators and to other university personnel, but shall not apply to students. ///~~ Vetoed in Part

(3) The board shall report the results of their study to the legislature and the governor no later than December 1, 1973.

SECTION 547m. Vietnam veteran education grants. Pursuant to section 45.28 of the statutes, as created by this act, the department of veterans affairs shall report to the joint committee on finance no later than December 31, 1973, as to program experience and necessary adjustments required to fulfill legislative intent in 1973-75.

SECTION 548. Educational innovation. The governor and the legislature encourage innovative arrangements in higher education to foster improved services and reduced costs by cooperation between agencies and institutions providing post-high school education. In this regard, all state agencies are directed to cooperate with such efforts involving the university of Wisconsin system, the vocational, technical and adult education system, the educational communications board, the higher educational aids board, and private institutions of higher education. The state educational agencies involved shall report on their efforts and the results thereof to the governor and to the joint committee on finance no later than December 1, 1973.

SECTION 548m. Uniform need analysis. The higher educational aids board shall develop a uniform method of need analysis for all state-funded grant programs to be implemented in 1974-75. Legislative approval of the uniform need analysis during the budget review session of the legislature shall be a prerequisite to approval of a comprehensive grant program.

SECTION 549. Higher education financing study. The membership of the joint committee on finance, together with the majority leaders of the senate and assembly and the chairmen of the assembly committee on education and the senate committee on health, education and welfare, or their designated representatives, shall constitute an interim study committee on financing higher education. The committee shall examine alternative methods of financing higher education, which shall include consideration of an equalized aid formula for vocational, technical and adult education districts, various tuition and fee policies for students in public institutions of higher education, policies governing state-funded loans and financial aids; and in addition shall study the efficiencies and economies to be gained through the consolidation and elimination of low enrollment and duplicative academic programs and a study of various means of effectuating early retirement for system faculty, including the possible lowering of the mandatory retirement age. The committee may draw upon legislative staff and other staff as it deems appropriate. The committee shall report to the legislature no later than February 1, 1974.

SECTION 549e. Educational technology and computing improvement funds. Of the amounts appropriated in section 20.285 (1) (a) of the statutes, \$1,050,300 for educational technology and \$284,100 for computing improvements in 1974-75 shall not be released except by an affirmative action of the legislature indicating satisfactory compliance by the system in designating the purposes of these funds and justifying their intended expenditure in a report to the legislature and the governor no later than December 1, 1973.

SECTION 549m. Regents academic program evaluation study. The board of regents of the university of Wisconsin system shall develop specific criteria for the evaluation of academic degree programs, the range of programs which can be reasonably and efficiently offered at each institution, criteria for minimum and maximum class size and the number of comparable programs which can be justified among the several institutions of the system. The board shall eliminate or consolidate no later than the 1974-75 academic year academic programs identified as unnecessarily duplicative. A report on program elimination and consolidation and a plan for the rational and equitable dismissal of faculty members and transfer of faculty within the system necessary to accomplish program consolidation and elimination shall also be submitted to the legislature and the governor no later than December 1, 1973.

SECTION 549s. UW System facilities utilization study. It is the finding of the legislature that due to the rapid increase in enrollments during the decade of the 1960's and the more recent stabilization and decline of enrollments, the university of Wisconsin system is currently overextended and overbuilt in its facilities. The board of regents is directed to reexamine the current and projected utilization of its facilities and campuses, and report to the legislature and the governor no later than December 1, 1973, how facilities utilization can be improved and which campuses shall be closed. The regents shall also report reasonable criteria for minimum and maximum campus size and acceptable ranges in cost per student for various disciplinary and instructional categories.

SECTION 550. School district cost limitation. (1) For school districts budgeting for July 1, 1973, to June 30, 1974, the shared cost limitation shall be computed as follows:

(a) In 1973-74, the budgeted per pupil shared cost increase for each school district, exclusive of transportation, principal and interest payments on long-term indebtedness, annual capital outlay and that portion of the sum of the employer's share of teachers retirement and social security payments which exceeds \$7.50, shall be limited to \$55.

(b) For the purpose of computing the shared cost for 1973-74, districts may use pupils enrolled in 1972-73 or 1973-74 whichever is greater.

(2) For school districts budgeting for January 1, 1974, to December 31, 1974, the shared cost limitation shall be computed as follows:

(a) For the year involved, the budgeted per pupil shared cost increase for each school district, exclusive of transportation, principal and interest payments on long-term indebtedness, annual capital outlay and that portion of the sum of the employer's share of teachers retirement and social security payments which exceeds \$7.50, shall be limited to \$55.

(b) For the purpose of computing the shared cost under this subsection, districts may use pupils enrolled in 1972-73 or 1973-74 whichever is greater.

(c) For the purpose of computing the shared cost increase under this subsection, the "year involved" may be either the 1974 calendar year or the 1973-74 fiscal year.

(3) The state superintendent may exempt school districts from this limitation to the extent necessary to offset the following conditions:

(a) Evidence that the cost limitation would leave no alternative but to reduce educational programs below an adequate level.

(b) Evidence that the cost limitation will not permit the establishment of programs required to meet the state educational standards in section 121.02 of the statutes.

(c) Evidence that the cost limitation will not permit the continuation of programs which previously were funded wholly or partially by federal aids.

(4) The state superintendent's exemption of school districts from this limitation shall be based on evidence that such school districts have made every prudent effort to control costs in all areas of spending.

SECTION 550b. 1974-75 Guaranteed valuations. In 1974-75, each of the guaranteed valuations set forth in section 121.07 (7), (8) and (9) of the statutes shall be adjusted by an amount determined as though section 121.07 (4) but not section 70.11 (27) of the statutes had been enacted. The total state aid payment under section 121.08 shall be equal to the total payment which would have been made had this section not been enacted. On or before October 1, 1974, the state superintendent of public instruction and the department of administration shall certify the guaranteed valuations to the joint committee on finance. Upon approval by the committee that the guaranteed valuations certified have been determined according to this section, such guaranteed valuations shall be used in computing aid payments in 1974-75 and the revisor of statutes shall substitute such guaranteed valuations in section 121.07 (7), (8) and (9) in the next printing of the statutes.

Vetoed
in Part

~~SECTION 550d. School finance study. The members of the assembly committee on education and the senate committee on health, education and welfare shall constitute a committee to study the implementation and results of the changes in financing of public elementary and high school education enacted during the 1973-75 biennium. This committee shall study, without limitation because of enumeration, the effects of exempting from taxation manufacturing machinery and equipment, the effects of exempting from taxation personal property, the effects of using income as a factor in calculating state aids and the effects of computing state aids on current equalized valuations. The committee shall submit its findings and recommendations to the 1975 legislature no later than January 31, 1975.~~

SECTION 550h. **Teacher retirement and social security payments.** A school district may, upon request to the state superintendent, have its 1973-74 elementary and high school aid reduced by an amount necessary to make required payments for the employer's share of teachers retirement and social security for the period July 1, 1973 through December 31, 1973. The amount of reduction under this section shall not exceed amounts to be received for 1973-74 as determined under section 121.08 of the statutes.

SECTION 550m. **Special educational needs.** The state superintendent shall, prior to January 1, 1974, report to the joint committee on finance the planning and development of programs and use of funding pursuant to subchapter V of chapter 115 of the statutes. Upon review of such report the joint committee on finance may release funds appropriated in section 20.255 (1) (fd) of the statutes for 1974-75.

SECTION 552. **Arts board.** (1) **INITIAL MEMBERS.** Of the initial members of the arts board, 4 members shall serve for one year, 4 for 2 years and 4 for 3 years. Thereafter all appointments shall be made under section 15.53 of the statutes. Of the initial appointments 3 members shall be members of the board of Wisconsin arts council.

(2) **TRANSFER.** The authority granted to the Wisconsin arts foundation by executive order No. 2, dated January 25, 1971 is hereby revoked. The Wisconsin arts council and the arts board shall provide for the orderly transfer of information, files, grant requests, ongoing grant commitments and federal funds received from the national endowment on the arts under the state's grants program to the arts board created by this act.

Vetoed
in Part

~~SECTION 552g. Ethics board, initial appointments. In making the initial appointments under section 15.56 of the statutes, as created by this act, the governor shall designate one nominee each for a term expiring in 1975, 1976, 1977, 1978, 1979 and 1980, respectively. Thereafter, all appointments shall be made for the balance of an unexpired term, or for the full 6-year term.~~

SECTION 552r. **Representation by state public officials before departments study.** The legislature recognizes that the representation by state public officials, as defined in chapter 11 of the statutes, of private interest before departments, as defined in chapter 11 of the statutes, for the purpose of financial gain represents a matter requiring study. The ethics board shall conduct a study of this matter and report its findings and recommendations for legislation to the legislature and the governor no later than January 15, 1974.

SECTION 553m. **Select committee on health and social services.** (1) There is created a select committee on health and social services composed of 15 members selected as follows:

(a) Five members from the assembly, at least 2 of whom shall be from the assembly health and social services committee and at least one of whom shall be from the committee on finance, appointed as are members of standing committees and representing each of the major political parties.

(b) Five members from the senate, at least 2 of whom shall be from the senate health, education and welfare committee and at least one of whom shall be from the committee on finance, appointed as are members of standing committees and representing each of the major political parties.

(c) Five members appointed by the governor who are knowledgeable in the administration, policies and programs of the department of health and social services and related programs of local agencies.

(2) It is the intent of the legislature to assure that state and local government and privately sponsored programs of health and social services and financial support are administered in an effective and efficient manner that promotes to the maximum extent feasible the economic and social independence of individuals and families and prevents social, economic and legal conditions that lead to dependence. To achieve such ends, it is the intent of the legislature that the select committee established under this section review and make recommendations regarding broad changes and fundamental reforms in the financing, organization, legal framework, and administration of public assistance, social services and mental health services. In keeping with this intent the committee shall:

(a) Review the desirability and feasibility of reorganizing the department of health and social services to provide more efficient and effective administration of the 4 major services provided by the department: health standards and regulations; income maintenance; social and rehabilitative services; and residential treatment services. Such review should include but not be limited to the following reorganization objectives:

1. Implementation of the new program relationships contained in this act to reduce the financial burden of the programs on the local property tax and assure the availability of services to individuals and families in need throughout all communities in Wisconsin;

2. Realignment of the services and funds in a new program structure to more clearly identify distinct client groups and provide the flexibility to ensure the delivery of comprehensive services;

3. Simplification of the administration of services;

4. Creation of a single point responsibility for the planning, programming and control of programs, and creation of single-point accountability at the local level for the actual delivery of services;

5. Establishment of uniform funding arrangements for institutional care and social services;

6. Encouragement of the development of more community-based treatment programs;

7. Development of greater consumer and public citizen participation in the planning and review of services;

8. Creation of nonoverlapping community-based human resource boards which have responsibility for the development of an integrated social and rehabilitative service system for those residing in a specific geographic area.

CHAPTER 90

416

(b) Review the financing and organization of public assistance, social services and mental health services including the desirability of complete state responsibility for all such programs and services.

(c) Review of relative merits of a cabinet type secretary for the department of health and social services, as opposed to the existing secretary appointed by the health and social services board.

(d) Review of the welfare reform proposals outlined in section 543 of this act and any other materials and proposals it considers appropriate including recommendations of the state task force on welfare payments involving the reduction of cost of and improvement of services and administration of welfare programs in the state and including specific consideration of the following:

1. Methods for separation of the delivery of social services from the administration of grants and from enforcement of support, recovery and collection machinery so that the latter responsibility can be improved and pinpointed, accountability established and emphasis applied through the mechanism of the courts and other enforcement agencies.

2. Procedures for institution of record management controls to accurately reflect the financial distribution of aids and services and thereby identify eligibility problems associated with fraudulent endeavors or mismanagement of public funds appropriated for program purposes.

3. The select committee may expend funds for the purposes of this study from the appropriation under section 20.855 (8) (a) of the statutes.

Vetoed in Part 4. The committee shall submit its report to the governor and the legislature by January 15, 1974.

5. The department of health and social services shall cooperate fully with the committee during the course of its studies.

Vetoed in Part ~~SECTION 554m. Family environment and resources council, transfer. The records and property of the council for home and family shall become records and property of the family environment and resources council.~~

SECTION 555. Investment board reimbursement to general fund. The treatment of section 20.536 (1) (a) of the statutes by this act shall not invalidate the responsibility of the investment board to bill and collect the amounts due from the funds which it controls for amounts expended in fiscal year 1972-73 in investing such funds, and the general fund shall be reimbursed by the income of such funds or through s. 25.17 (9) for the amount expended in fiscal year 1972-73 under the appropriation made by section 20.536 (1) (a).

SECTION 555m. Bond board; transitional provisions. (1) BOND BOARD ACTIONS. All authorizing resolutions adopted by the bond board under chapter 18 of the statutes shall remain in effect. All policies and procedures of the bond board shall remain in effect until altered or repealed by the building commission.

(2) NAME CHANGE. Wherever the terms "bond board" or "board" appear in section 20.866 (1) (intro.) and chapter 18 of the statutes, the terms "building commission" or "commission" are respectively substituted.

(3) BONDING OBLIGATIONS. The treatment of sections 20.866 (2) (q), (r), (s), (t), (z), (zd), (zh) and (zm) of the statutes by this act shall not alter the status of bond obligations previously incurred by the state under section 20.866, 1971 stats. These sections do not alter the cumulative bonding authority under section 20.866, 1971

stats., except for section 20.866 (2) (t) wherein an increase of \$13,940,800 is provided to support self-amortizing projects for the university of Wisconsin under the 1973-75 authorized state building program.

SECTION 555s. Transportation; revenue study. The department of transportation shall study, in coordination with the legislative council highway advisory committee, the problem of securing adequate state revenues on a long-term basis for mass transit purposes, for necessary minimum maintenance and improvement needs of the state trunk highway system and for an equitable formula for the distribution of future state highway aids to local units of government. The results of the study and accompanying recommendations shall be submitted to the governor and the legislature not later than January 1, 1974, for the purpose of including any necessary legislative recommendations in the 1974 annual budget review bill.

SECTION 556. Proceeds from land sales to fund community correctional programs. During the 1973-75 biennium, receipts from the sale of lands previously used for farming in the correctional services program shall be deposited in the general fund as an offset to expenditures authorized in section 20.435 (3) (d) of the statutes as affected by this act for new and expanded community programs. This provision shall supersede section 46.06 (4) for the 1973-75 biennium as it relates to proceeds of such sales.

SECTION 556b. Correctional institutions. The legislature recognizes the growing need for a modern, efficient correctional system in the state of Wisconsin which can provide effective and varied rehabilitative programs with proper regard for the safety of society. The legislature further recognizes that the state should continue to provide for an efficient correctional system and, therefore, it is the intent of the legislature to make the following modifications in the use of the state facilities:

(1) The Wisconsin Correctional Institution--Youth in Adams County shall be disposed of through an outright sale, a lease-purchase agreement, a lease with option to purchase, a land purchase contract or similar arrangement with the federal government, or such other arrangements as may be agreed to by the legislature.

(2) The Kettle Moraine Boys School shall be remodeled and operated as an adult medium security institution.

(3) The Wisconsin Correctional Institution--Fox Lake shall be remodeled and operated as a youthful offenders institution.

(4) After remodeling is completed as provided in subs. (2) and (3), and when it is administratively feasible, the Wisconsin state reformatory shall be operated at a level not to exceed 300 inmates with an appropriate reduction of staff from the 1972-73 authorized level while the total number of adult male inmates is approximately 2,000 or less.

SECTION 556c. UW system; student employment budgeting. The board of regents of the university of Wisconsin system shall develop a method of budgeting and accounting for student employment as a separate decision item in the annual and biennial university budgets, that shall be implemented prior to submission of the university budget request to the governor and the legislature in 1975.

SECTION 556g. UW system public service. The board of regents of the university of Wisconsin system shall strengthen the public service activities of the system and develop an "open university" which will make campus resources more available to nontraditional students. No later than December 1, 1973, the board shall report to the governor and the legislature its plans to utilize funding appropriated under section 20.285 (1) (a) of the statutes for these purposes in the 1974-75 fiscal

year. Such funds shall not be released except by affirmative action of the legislature. Such plans shall promote the utilization of existing campus and extension resources in meeting public service needs efficiently and effectively and in the development of an "open university". Regional consortia of campuses and other means of coordinating campus efforts shall be incorporated in the plan as are practicable.

SECTION 556p. Educational TV coverage study. The educational communications board shall study alternative methods of providing educational television coverage to areas in the state that are unlikely to receive state educational television network programs, and report to the governor and the joint committee on finance by December 1, 1974.

SECTION 556t. Educational TV policy study. The educational communications board, the department of administration and the legislative fiscal bureau shall study policies governing program development for the educational television network and governing the relationship of WHA-TV to the educational communications board, in order to determine what policies can ensure most effective and efficient state investment in educational television. Results of the study shall be reported to the legislature and governor no later than December 1, 1973.

SECTION 556x. Statewide communications network study. The department of administration shall contract with a private consultant for a complete analysis of communication systems affecting all state agencies. Such study and recommendations shall be submitted to the joint committee on finance by February 1, 1974.

SECTION 556y. Medical college of Wisconsin study. (1) The legislature recognizes the growing shortage and maldistribution of medical doctors in the state. It further recognizes that the medical college of Wisconsin, inc., offers a potential for contributing to the alleviation of this problem of undersupply and maldistribution. The legislature expresses concern, however, regarding the accountability of the medical college of Wisconsin, inc., to the state, and its effectiveness in the utilization of state funds. The legislature recognizes the private character of the medical college of Wisconsin, inc., and does not challenge the status of medical college of Wisconsin, inc., nor its ownership, management or control of the college.

(2) The governor is requested to appoint a special committee to study the relationship of the medical college of Wisconsin, inc., to the state. Three members of the committee are to be selected from the membership of the joint committee on finance, as designated by the cochairmen of the joint committee on finance. It is the intent of the legislature that the study committee study and make recommendations concerning the following:

(a) The effective allocation and coordination of Wisconsin's limited financial resources for medical resources and health manpower education and research including a review of the relationship of the medical college of Wisconsin, inc., to the university of Wisconsin medical school, to state government and to Milwaukee county government.

Vetoed
in Part

(b) Hospital affiliations of the medical college of Wisconsin, inc., ~~in Milwaukee and Madison.~~

(c) Admission procedures of the medical college of Wisconsin, inc., with special reference to the admission of Wisconsin residents and minority groups.

(d) The adequacy and reliability of cost reporting systems at the medical college of Wisconsin, inc.

(e) The improvement of public accountability mechanisms.

(f) The capital construction and financial planning of the medical college of Wisconsin, inc.

(g) The role of public participation in college governance, while maintaining the private identity of the medical college.

(h) The relationship of dental education at Marquette university to the medical college and to health education in general.

(3) The study committee is requested to report its findings and recommendations to the joint committee on finance not later than January 10, 1974.

SECTION 557. Program responsibilities. (1) In the list of program responsibilities specified for the department of administration in section 15.101 (intro.) of the statutes, delete reference to "49.173 (4), 51.08 (6) and 51.24 (2) and (9)".

(2) In the list of program responsibilities specified for the department of natural resources in section 15.341 (intro.) of the statutes, delete reference to "70.118".

(3) In the list of program responsibilities specified for the higher educational aids board in section 15.671 of the statutes, delete references to "36.161" and "37.11 (12)".

(4) At the appropriate place in the list of program responsibilities specified for the department of justice in section 15.251 (intro.) of the statutes, insert reference to "176.05 (23) (h)".

(5) In the list of program responsibilities specified for the department of health and social services under section 15.191 (intro.) of the statutes delete reference to "13.53 (4) and (5)".

(6) At the appropriate place in the list of program responsibility citations specified for the department of revenue under section 15.431 of the statutes, insert references to "11.04 (2)" and "79.20, 79.21, 79.22 and 79.23".

(7) At the appropriate place in the list of program responsibility citations specified for the office of secretary of state under section 14.361 (intro.) of the statutes, insert reference to "11.03 (3) and (7)".

SECTION 558. Appropriation transfers. (1) The unencumbered balance in section 20.395 (1) (h), 1971 stats., on June 30, 1973, shall be transferred to the appropriation under section 20.395 (6) (g) of the statutes.

(2) The unencumbered balance in sections 20.395 (3) (u), (v) and (vw), 20.155 (1) (u), 20.355 (1) (u), 20.370 (4) (z), 20.525 (2) (q), 20.566 (1) (u) and 20.765 (2) (u), 1971 stats., on June 30, 1973, shall be transferred to the appropriation under section 20.395 (4) (q) of the statutes.

SECTION 559. Cross reference changes. In the sections listed below in column A, the cross references shown in column B are changed to the cross references shown in column C.

A	B	C
Statute Sections	Old Cross References	New Cross References
14.011 (intro.)	20.445 (9)(x) 5 & 6	20.445 (1)(x) 5 & 6
101.23 (2), 108.14 (17)	20.445 (9)(u) & (v)	20.445 (1)(u) & (v)
108.14 (12)(d) and 108.20 (3), (5), (6), (7), (8) & (9)	20.445 (9)(v)	20.445 (1)(v)

SECTION 560. Name change. (2) **HOMESTEAD TAX CREDIT.** Wherever the term "relief" appears in the following sections of the statutes and refers to homestead tax

relief, the term "credit" is substituted: 52.01 (1) and 71.09 (7) (a) 1, (f), (im), (n) and (p).

(3) **MENTAL HEALTH INSTITUTES.** Wherever in the following sections of the statutes, the term "state hospital" or "state hospitals" appears, except where it appears as part of the term "central state hospital" the term "mental health institute" or "mental health institutes" is substituted: 20.916 (3), 46.041 (1), 46.10 (14), 46.22 (5) (a) 2, 46.37, 51.09 (1) (b), 51.10 (1a), 51.13 (1), 51.21 (3) (a) and (e) and (6) and 155.02 (3).

(4) **TRANSPORTATION PLANNING.** Wherever in the following sections of the statutes the term "department of transportation" appears substitute the term "department" and wherever the term "secretary of transportation" appears substitute the term "secretary" therefor: 85.03 and 85.04, as renumbered.

SECTION 561. Effective dates. All sections of this act shall take effect on July 1, 1973, or on the day following publication, whichever is later, unless another date is provided in such sections and except as further provided in this section.

(1) **HOMESTEAD RELIEF.** The treatment of section 71.09 (7) of the statutes by this act shall first apply to claims based on property taxes accrued and rent constituting property taxes accrued for 1973 and payable in 1974.

(2) **MILWAUKEE AIR POLLUTION CONTROL; STATE ASSUMPTION.** The treatment of sections 59.07 (53) and (85), 70.11 (21) (a), 71.04 (2b) (intro.) and (a) and 71.05 (1) (h) of the statutes by this act shall take effect January 1, 1975.

(3) **PUBLIC ADMINISTRATOR AND INHERITANCE TAX CHANGES.** The treatment of sections 72.01 (2), (5) and (20), 72.11 (2), 72.14 (4) (c) 2. a, 72.18 (intro.) and (1), 72.22 (3), 72.23 (2), 72.24, 72.25 (1), 72.27 (2), 72.28 (1) (a), (b) and (c) 1. b and (2) (a) (intro.) and (b), 72.30 (1), (3) (a), (b), (c) and (e), (4) and (5), 72.31, 72.32, 72.34 (1), (2), (4) and (7), 72.61, 253.015 (2), 253.25, 856.07 (2), 858.15, 862.03 (1), (2) and (3), 867.01 (3) (e), 867.02 (2) (e), 879.03 (3), 879.21, 879.57, 879.59 (4) and 895.42 (1) and (2) of the statutes by this act shall take effect January 1, 1974. All duties and responsibilities of the public administrators and county treasurers in the determination and collection of inheritance taxes under chapter 72 of the statutes pending on January 1, 1974, shall be assumed by the department of revenue.

(3m) **ASSESSORS' OFFICES, SUPPLIES, AND EXPENSES CHANGE.** The treatment of section 73.07 of the statutes by this act shall take effect January 1, 1974.

Vetoed
in Part (6) **STATE ASSUMPTION OF COSTS OF MENTAL HEALTH, SOCIAL, MEDICAL AND PUBLIC ASSISTANCE SERVICES.** (a) The treatment of the following sections of the statutes by this act shall take effect January 1, 1974: ~~15.101 (intro.)~~, 20.435 (2) (b) and (c), (4) (cc) and (9) (n) 1, 46.10 (8) (f), 46.101, 49.175, 49.52, 51.001 (2), (4) and (5), 51.002, 51.08, 51.19, 51.22 (4) and (5), 51.24, 51.26, 51.36, 51.38, 51.42 (3) (c), (d) (intro.), (5) (h), (8), (10), (11) and (13), 51.437 (8) and 143.07 (6). For care rendered prior to January 1, 1974, the above provisions shall remain in effect.

(b) The treatment of section 48.58 of the statutes by this act shall take effect January 1, 1975. For care rendered prior to January 1, 1975, the above provision shall remain in effect.

(8) **BUFFALO AND PEPIN COUNTY COURT CHANGES.** The treatment of sections 253.05 (1m) and 253.08 (3m) of the statutes by this act shall take effect August 1, 1974, and the first election to fill the judgeship created by those sections shall be held at the spring election in 1977. After August 1, 1974, and prior to the commencement of the term of the judge elected at such election, the judge of the Buffalo county court

shall serve and preside in both the county court of Pepin county and the county court of Buffalo county.

(9) SALES TAX EXEMPTIONS. The treatment of sections 77.54 (4), (20) (c) 4 and (26) of the statutes by this act shall take effect on the 61st day following publication of this act. The treatment of section 77.54 (20) (c) 5 of the statutes by this act shall be effective with meals, food, food products or beverages furnished for the fall semester of 1973 and thereafter.

(10) PURCHASE OF CARE AND SERVICES. The secretary of the department of health and social services may waive such provisions of section 46.036 of the statutes as created by this act, until July 1, 1974, where implementation cannot be readily achieved and the services to be provided under the contract are essential to the responsibilities of the department and furthering the purposes of the authority granted to the department.

(11) TUBERCULOSIS AIDS; GOVERNING RULES AND STANDARDS. Any tuberculosis facility of dispensary receiving state aid under chapter 50 of the statutes shall be governed by any applicable existing rules and procedures of the department of health and social services until such time as new rules and standards are promulgated under the provisions of this act.

(12) ELEMENTARY AND HIGH SCHOOL AID. If the publication date of this act is July 1, 1973 or later, the changes made in chs. 40, 42 and 121 relating to financial assistance to schools shall be effective as if the effective date had been July 1, 1973.

~~(13) FAMILY ENVIRONMENT AND RESOURCES COUNCIL. The treatment of section 13.53 of the statutes by this act shall take effect on the day on which the members of the family environment and resources council are appointed and qualified.~~

Vetoed
in Part

(14) MOTOR VEHICLE FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY LAW. The treatment of the following sections of the statutes by this act shall take effect January 1, 1974: 344.01 (2) (d), 344.29, 344.30 (intro.) and (4), 344.31 (1) and (2), 344.32 (1) (intro.), 344.33, 344.34, 344.40 and 344.41 (1) (c) and (d) and (3).

(15) ETHICS CODE APPLICABILITY. The creation of the obligations of chapter 11 of the statutes by this act shall take effect upon nonelected state public officials and all other persons other than elected state public officials covered by chapter 11 of the statutes on January 1, 1974. The creation of the obligations of chapter 11 of the statutes by this act shall take effect upon elected state public officials covered by chapter 11 of the statutes on the day such elected officials take office after their respective next elections, but the requirements of section 11.03 of the statutes with respect to candidates for state public office shall take effect as to such candidates at the time for filing nomination papers for each such office covered by this act.

(16) LAW ENFORCEMENT AIDS. The treatment of sections 20.855 (2) (c), 165.85 (2) (intro.) and (4) (a) 1 and (b) and 165.87 and subchapter III of chapter 79 of the statutes shall take effect January 1, 1974.

(17) MEDICAID ADMISSION STANDARDS AT VETERANS HOME. The treatment of section 45.37 (17) of the statutes by this act shall take effect January 1, 1974.

(18) COUNTY ADMINISTRATION AND PURCHASE OF CARE AND SERVICES. The secretary of health and social services may waive provisions of sections 49.51 (3) (c) and 49.51 (4) of the statutes, as created by this act, until January 1, 1974, where implementation cannot be readily achieved.

CHAPTER 90

422

(19) INCOME TAX; CORPORATE INCOME, EXCLUSIONS FROM TAX. The treatment of sections 71.02 (1) (a) and 71.03 (2) (a) of the statutes by this act shall take effect commencing with the 1973 calendar year and corresponding fiscal years.

(20) WELFARE GRANTS. The treatment of sections 49.176, 49.18 (12), 49.19 (11), 49.20 (3) and 49.61 (10) of the statutes by this act shall take effect on the first day of the month following publication of this act.
